# A few topics related to maximum principles

(最大値原理に関連する諸課題)

浜向 直

Nao Hamamuki

Graduate School of Mathematical Sciences, University of Tokyo 3-8-1 Komaba, Meguro-ku, Tokyo, 153-8914 Japan, hnao@ms.u-tokyo.ac.jp

### Contents

kno	wledg	ments	
Hamilton-Jacobi equations with discontinuous source terms			
1	Intro	duction	
2	$\operatorname{Prop}$	er definition of solutions and comparison principles $\ . \ . \ .$	
	2.1	Definition of solutions	
	2.2	Comparison principles	
3	Exist	ence results	
	3.1	Unique existence of envelope solutions	
	3.2	Coercive Hamiltonians	
4	Rela	xed Hamiltonians	
	4.1	Uniqueness revisited	
	4.2	Existence of $\overline{D}$ -solutions	
5	Some	e examples of solutions	
	5.1	Representation by optimal control theory	
	5.2	Solutions without coercivity assumption	
	5.3	Remark on relation to Dirichlet boundary problems	
6	Large time behavior		
	6.1	Self-similar solution	
	6.2	Source terms with compact support	
	6.3	Periodic source terms	
7	Stationary problem		
	7.1	Profile function	
	7.2	Comparison principle	
	7.3	Existence result	
	7.4	Explicit solutions	
А	Prese	ervation of Lipschitz and uniform continuity	
В	Exist	sence of $\overline{D}$ -solutions to general equations $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	
$\mathbf{C}$	On o	facts of discontinuity and measures	

<b>2</b>	2 Asymptotically self-similar solutions to curvature flow equa				
	wit	h prescribed contact angle and their applications to groove			
	profiles due to evaporation-condensation				
	1	Introduction	71		
	2	A well-posedness of Neumann problems	81		
		2.1 Definition of solutions	81		
		2.2 Comparison principle	83		
		2.3 Existence result	86		
	3	Asymptotic behavior	88		
	4	Profile functions	92		
	5	Depth of the thermal groove	101		
	Refe	erences	104		
3	Ad	liscrete isoperimetric inequality on lattices 1	09		
	1	Introduction	109		
	2	A proof of the discrete isoperimetric inequality	112		
	3	An existence result for the Poisson-Neumann problem 1	116		
	А	Maximum principles	121		
		A.1 An ABP maximum principle	121		
		A.2 A strong maximum principle	122		
	Refe	erences	123		
		·			
4	An	improved level set method for Hamilton-Jacobi equations 1	.26		
	1		126		
	2	Transport equations	127		
	3	Viscosity solutions	129		
	4	Preservation of the zero level set	131		
	5 D (	Comparison with the signed distance function	132		
	References				

### Abstract

In this paper we present a few topics related to maximum principles (comparison principles) in partial differential equations. The equations we consider include Hamilton-Jacobi equations and curvature flow equations appearing in crystal growth phenomena. On the basis of the theory of viscosity solutions, we establish a unique solvability of the initial value problems via maximum principles and track behavior of the solution. We also apply the method for proving maximum principles to discrete analysis.

In Chapter 1 we study the initial-value problem for a Hamilton-Jacobi equation whose Hamiltonian is discontinuous with respect to state variables. Our motivation comes from a model describing the two-dimensional nucleation in crystal growth phenomena. A typical equation has a semicontinuous source term. We introduce a new notion of viscosity solutions and prove, among other results, that the initial-value problem admits a unique global-in-time uniformly continuous solution for any bounded uniformly continuous initial data. For Bellman equations we give a representation formula of the solution as a value function of the optimal control problem with a semicontinuous running cost function. The large time behavior of the unique solution is also studied. We prove that, when the source term has a compact support, the scaling limit of the solution to the initial-value problem is characterized as the unique self-similar solution of the limit problem with a jump discontinuity at the origin. In the case where the source term is periodic, it turns out that the solution is asymptotically constant. We also study equations for the profile function of the self-similar solution, and establish a comparison principle and an existence result of solutions to general stationary problems.

Chapter 2 is devoted to the asymptotic behavior of solutions to fully nonlinear second order parabolic equations including a generalized curvature flow equation which was introduced by Mullins in 1957 as a model of evaporation-condensation. We prove that, in the multi-dimensional half space, solutions of the problem with prescribed contact angle asymptotically converge to a self-similar solution of the associated problem under a suitable rescaling. Several properties of the profile function of the self-similar solution are also investigated. We show that the profile function has a corner and that its angle is determined by points at which the equation is degenerate. We also study the depth of the groove, which is represented by the value of the profile function at the boundary. Among other results it turns out that, as the contact angle tends to zero, the depth of the groove is well approximated by the linearized problem.

In Chapter 3 we establish an isoperimetric inequality constrained by n-

dimensional lattices. We prove that, among all sets which consist of lattice translations of a given rectangular parallelepiped, a cube is the optimal shape that minimizes the ratio involving its perimeter and volume as long as the cube is realizable by the lattice. For its proof, the solvability of finite difference Poisson-Neumann problems is verified. Our approach to the isoperimetric inequality is based on the technique used in a proof of the Aleksandrov-Bakelman-Pucci maximum principle, which was originally proposed by Cabré in 2000 to prove the classical isoperimetric inequality.

Chapter 4 is concerned with the level set method. In the classical level set method, a slope of a solution to level set equations can be close to zero as time develops even if the initial slope is large, and this prevents one from computing interfaces given as the level set of the solution. To overcome this issue we introduce an improved equation by adding an extra term to the original equation. Then, by applying a comparison principle to the signed distance function to the interface, we prove that, globally in time, the slope of a solution of the initial value problem is preserved near the zero level set.

Chapter 1 is combination of papers [1] and [4], while Chapter 2 is essentially based on [3]. Chapter 3 is essentially based on [2].

All Sections, formulas and theorems, etc., are cited only in the chapter where they appear.

#### References

- Y. Giga, N. Hamamuki, Hamilton-Jacobi equations with discontinuous source terms, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 38 (2013), no. 2, 199– 243.
- [2] N. Hamamuki, A discrete isoperimetric inequality on lattices, preprint, UTMS Preprint Series 2012-16 (http://faculty.ms.u-tokyo.ac.jp/users/preprint/preprint2012.html).
- [3] N. Hamamuki, Asymptotically self-similar solutions to curvature flow equations with prescribed contact angle and their applications to groove profiles due to evaporation-condensation, preprint, UTMS Preprint Series 2012-17 (http://faculty.ms.u-tokyo.ac.jp/users/preprint/preprint2012.html).
- [4] N. Hamamuki, On large time behavior of Hamilton-Jacobi equations with discontinuous source terms, preprint.

### Acknowledgments

The author would like to first express his gratitude to his supervisor, Professor Yoshikazu Giga, for many helpful discussions and valuable suggestions. Without his constant support and encouragement, it would have been impossible to complete this paper. He also thanks Professor Etsuro Yokoyama for giving him several important references on crystal growth. Many discussions with Professor Yokoyama helped him to understand the mechanism of crystal growth.

The author is grateful to Dr. Qing Liu for many useful suggestions, especially on the optimal control theory discussed in Chapter 1. He would next send his gratitude to Professor Yoshihito Kohsaka, who gave him informative remarks on curvature flow equations studied in Chapter 2. He would also like to thank Professor Xavier Cabré for his explanation of a proof of the classical isoperimetric inequality by the ABP method in a school "New Trends in Nonlinear PDEs" held at Centro di Ricerca Matematica Ennio De Giorgi during 18–22 June 2012. The lectures in the school led him to the study of the discrete isoperimetric inequality in Chapter 3.

The work of the author is supported by Grant-in-aid for Scientific Research of JSPS Fellows No. 23-4365.

### Chapter 1

## Hamilton-Jacobi equations with discontinuous source terms

#### 1 Introduction

We consider the initial-value problem for the Hamilton-Jacobi equation of the form

$$(\mathrm{HJ}) \begin{cases} \partial_t u + H(x, \nabla u) = 0 & \text{in } \mathbf{R}^n \times (0, T) =: Q, \qquad (1.1) \end{cases}$$

$$||u|_{t=0} = u_0 \qquad \text{in } \mathbf{R}^n, \qquad (1.2)$$

when the Hamiltonian H is discontinuous in space variable  $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$ . Here  $\nabla u$  denotes the spatial gradient, i.e.,  $\nabla u = \nabla_x u = (\partial_{x_1} u, \dots, \partial_{x_n} u)$ . A typical example we consider is the case when

$$H(x,p) = -|p| - cI(x) \quad (c > 0)$$
(1.3)

with

$$I(x) := \begin{cases} 1 & (x = 0), \\ 0 & (x \neq 0), \end{cases}$$
(1.4)

where  $|\cdot|$  stands for the standard Euclidean norm in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . In other words, the source term can be discontinuous. Our main goal is to introduce a suitable definition of weak solution (by extending the theory of viscosity solutions) so that the initial-value problem admits a unique global-in-time solution for a general bounded Lipschitz continuous initial data  $u_0 \in BLip(\mathbb{R}^n)$  or even just bounded uniformly continuous initial data  $u_0 \in BUC(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

Our motivation comes from crystal growth phenomena. One of key mechanisms of crystal growth is the *two dimensional nucleation* ([6, 36]). This growth is started by external supply of crystal molecules for a flat face. Such a source of supply is called a *step source*. This is a macroscopic understanding of crystal growth. At a very initial stage of the two dimensional nucleation the step source catches crystal molecules so that a small disk-like island is formed at the step source on a flat face. Then the island grows to be a "wedding cake" consisting of several disks. The other mechanism is the spiral growth ([6]). As pointed out by [6] a pair of two spirals (with opposite orientations) whose centers are very close essentially forms a small island just like the two dimensional nucleation; see, e.g., [38] and [33]. According to [37], some high-temperature superconductor provides such a model and the authors proposed a macroscopic model including (1.1)-(1.3) approximating spiral growth on a crystal surface. Both situations can be modeled by Hamilton-Jacobi equations with discontinuous source terms if we interpret the phenomena in macroscopic point of view.

Let us consider the typical case that there is a step source only at the origin and crystals grow at the uniform velocity 1 horizontally. Assume that the step source supplies crystal molecules at a rate of  $c \ (> 0)$  and let u(x, t) be the height of crystals at position  $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$  and time  $t \in (0, T)$ . (See Figure 1.) Then,



Figure 1: The step source at the origin.

the horizontal outward growth rate of crystals is given by  $\partial_t u/|\nabla u|$ . Since the horizontal growth speed is one, we have

$$\partial_t u = |\nabla u|$$

provided that  $\nabla u \neq 0$ . However, this equation does not include the effect of step sources. It is natural to postulate that the growth rate  $\partial_t u$  at the origin should increase by c due to the step source. The resulting equation is formally of the form

$$\partial_t u - |\nabla u| = cI(x). \tag{1.5}$$

The corresponding Hamiltonian (1.3) is not continuous but lower semicontinuous. The equation (1.5) is a Hamilton-Jacobi equation with a discontinuous source term. The physical intuition suggests that

$$u^{c}(x,t) = c(t - |x|)_{+}$$
(1.6)

is a solution for (1.5) when the initial-value equals zero (see Figure 2), where  $a_+$  denotes the positive part of  $a \in \mathbf{R}$ , i.e.,  $a_+ = \max\{a, 0\}$ . Such a "solution" is proposed in [30, 37] by variational principle. The function  $u^c$  is also obtained via approximation. More precisely, if we consider approximate Hamiltonians

$$H^{\varepsilon}(x,p) = -|p| - cI^{\varepsilon}(x) \tag{1.7}$$

$$I^{\varepsilon}(x) = \left(1 - \frac{|x|}{\varepsilon}\right)_{+} \tag{1.8}$$

for  $\varepsilon > 0$  and solve (HJ) with  $H^{\varepsilon}$  and  $u_0 \equiv 0$ , it turns out that the unique viscosity solution of the approximate problem uniformly converges to  $u^c$  as  $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$ . (See Example 3.2 for more details.) However, it is an important issue how to characterize  $u^c$ .



Figure 2: The intuitive solution of  $\partial_t u - |\nabla u| = I(x), u_0 \equiv 0.$ 

Unfortunately, we cannot expect the uniqueness of solutions for (1.5) even in Ishii's sense of viscosity solutions [26], where a discontinuous Hamiltonian is treated. Indeed,  $u^c$  is a solution but  $u^{\alpha}(x,t) := \alpha(t-|x|)_+$  for  $\alpha \in [0,c]$  is also a solution with the zero initial data. This is caused by an inadequate effect of the discontinuous term. More precisely, in the standard definition of supersolutions we use the upper semicontinuous envelope of H, that is  $H^*(x,p) = -|p|$ , but then the term cI(x), which is a key term of our equation (1.5), disappears. Hence, in order to guarantee the uniqueness we must introduce some proper notion of supersolutions reflecting discontinuities and keep the notion of a subsolution in a standard way. Instead of using  $H^*$  we are tempted to define a supersolution (D-supersolution) by requiring

$$\tau + H(\hat{x}, p) \ge 0 \quad \text{for all } (\hat{x}, \hat{t}) \in Q \text{ and } (p, \tau) \in D^{-}u(\hat{x}, \hat{t}), \tag{1.9}$$

where  $D^-u$  denotes the subdifferential. However,  $u^{\alpha}$  is a *D*-supersolution no matter how  $\alpha \in (0, c]$  is taken. We are led to introduce a notion of  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution by replacing  $D^-u$  in (1.9) with  $\overline{D}^-u$ , a kind of "closure" of  $D^-u$ . We shall establish a general comparison principle for  $\overline{D}$ -super- and subsolutions (Theorem 2.6). Applying this comparison principle we are able to establish a comparison principle for Lipschitz continuous  $\overline{D}$ -super- and subsolutions for (1.5) (Theorem 2.9). The reason we need Lipschitz continuity is that our general comparison principle needs continuity of H in x for large |p| which excludes (1.5).

We next discuss the existence problem. Unfortunately, the intuitive solution  $u^c$  in (1.6) is not a  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution. We have to weaken the definition of supersolutions by regarding the infimum of a family of  $\overline{D}$ -supersolutions as a "supersolution". We call such a supersolution an *envelope supersolution*. By

with

definition we have a comparison principle for envelope super- and subsolutions. In this way, we introduce a notion of an *envelope solution* (envelope super- and subsolution) and construct a global-in-time solution by approximating equations with continuous Hamiltonians (Proposition 3.7). It turns out that the envelope solution is a proper notion of the solution. Indeed, it is easy to see that  $u^c$  is a unique envelope solution of (1.5) with the zero initial data. Moreover, we show that our solution preserves the Lipschitz continuity and uniform continuity of the initial data if Hamiltonian is coercive. Thus the envelope solution is unique for Lipschitz continuous initial data. Moreover, by a suitable approximation argument one is able to conclude that the envelope solution we constructed is unique even for bounded uniformly continuous initial data (Theorem 3.19). The typical H(x, p) we are concerned with is

$$H(x,p) = H_0(x,p) - r(x), \qquad (1.10)$$

where  $H_0$  is a continuous coercive Hamiltonian and r is a bounded lower semicontinuous function. No convexity (concavity) assumption on  $p \mapsto H(x,p)$  is imposed, though our example (1.3) is concave in p. In this case, we prove that there exists a unique uniformly continuous envelope solution for all bounded uniformly continuous initial data (Theorem 3.20).

The name "an envelope solution" was also introduced in [2] and [1] in order to deal with boundary conditions. They considered equations with continuous Hamiltonians, and defined the notion of envelope supersolutions as the infimum of standard viscosity supersolutions. Except on the boundary their envelope supersolution is a standard viscosity supersolution since the infimum of supersolutions in a domain is known to be a supersolution. Different from their solutions, our envelope solutions for discontinuous Hamiltonians may not be a  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution. Moreover, it is not clear whether or not there is a way to characterize our envelope solutions by using a suitable class of test functions.

In the argument above we obtain the unique existence result for a Hamiltonian with the form (1.10) only when it is coercive. This is caused by a limitation of our comparison principle. In order to guarantee the continuity of H(x, p) in xfor large |p|, we define a relaxed Hamiltonian  $\hat{H}$  by regularizing the discontinuity of H. It turns out in several interesting examples that our envelope solution of (1.1) is also an envelope solution of (1.1) with a relaxed Hamiltonian  $\hat{H}$  which permits a general comparison principle without assuming the Lipschitz continuity of solutions. Then, by regarding our envelope solution of the original problem as that of the relaxed problem, we establish the uniqueness of the envelope solutions but only for more restrictive Hamiltonians (Proposition 4.5). Fortunately, this still applies to the problem with finitely many source terms. (See (1.11) with (1.12).) It turns out that the relaxed Hamiltonian corresponding to (1.3) is

$$H(x,p) = -|p| - (cI(x) - |p|)_+,$$

which is continuous if  $|p| \ge c$ . (This Hamiltonian is coercive but it is very instructive to calculate  $\hat{H}$ .) Also,  $u^c$  in (1.6) becomes an envelope solution of the relaxed problem.

If we consider the relaxed problem, there are more chances that an envelope solution is a  $\overline{D}$ -solution. We give its sufficient condition. Note that there still exists an envelope solution which is not a  $\overline{D}$ -solution.

Our theory applies to more physically interesting examples including

$$\partial_t u - |\nabla u| = r(x), \tag{1.11}$$

where  $r : \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}$  is bounded and upper semicontinuous, i.e.,  $r \in BUSC(\mathbf{R}^n)$ . A typical example in our mind is

$$r(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} c_j I(x - a_j) \quad (c_j > 0, \ a_j \in \mathbf{R}^n, \ a_i \neq a_j (i \neq j)).$$
(1.12)

This is the case that the step source is distributed at several singletons. It turns out that the resulting unique envelope solution with zero initial data is

$$u(x,t) = \max_{j=1}^{N} c_j (t - |x - a_j|)_+, \qquad (1.13)$$

which tells us that the envelope solution is the maximum of solutions for each step source. As an another example we have

$$r(x) = c\chi_S(x)$$
 ( $c > 0$  and S is a nonempty closed subset of  $\mathbf{R}^n$ ). (1.14)

Then (1.11) means that the step source is concentrated at a general set S. Here  $\chi_S$  is the characteristic function of S, namely

$$\chi_S(x) := \begin{cases} 1 & (x \in S), \\ 0 & (x \notin S). \end{cases}$$

Our theory guarantees the unique existence of envelope solutions of (1.11) for general bounded uniformly continuous initial data. We are interested in establishing a representation formula of solutions based on the optimal control theory. However, the traditional method can be applied only for continuous equations. In this paper we adopt a discontinuous function appearing in our equation as a running cost function and prove that our envelope solution can be given via the value function of this discontinuous control problem under the some kind of controllability condition. Such an interpretation gives several explicit representation formulas of solutions. For example it guarantees that (1.13) is an envelope solution of (1.11) with (1.12) and  $u_0 \equiv 0$ .

Our theory applies to more general growth models including anisotropy. The typical form is

$$\partial_t u - |\nabla u| U\left(\frac{-\nabla u}{|\nabla u|}\right) \sigma(x) = r(x).$$
(1.15)

Here  $U(\mathbf{n}): S^{n-1} = \{x \in \mathbf{R}^n \mid |x| = 1\} \to \mathbf{R}$  is the growth rate in the direction  $\mathbf{n} \in S^{n-1}$  and  $-\nabla u/|\nabla u|$  means the outward unit normal vector to the level sets of u. The function  $\sigma : \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}$  is called the *surface supersaturation*.

Since  $|p|U(-p/|p|) \to 0$  as  $|p| \to 0$  provided that U is continuous, (1.15) has no singularity contrary to its seemingly singular appearance. The unique existence result for (1.15) is included in Theorem 3.20.

When the Hamiltonian is non-coercive ([37, 42]), the problem becomes more complicated. We cannot expect uniqueness results similar to the coercive cases. The difficulty may be seen from the following two examples. The first one is

$$H(x,p) = -cI(x) \quad (c > 0), \tag{1.16}$$

which means that there is no horizontal growth. Obviously u(x,t) = ctI(x) seems to be the solution when the initial-value equals zero. However, the solution is not continuous and the uniqueness of solutions breaks down in our definition as will be mentioned in Example 3.16. The second one is

$$H^{c}(x,p) = -\frac{|p|}{1+|p|} - cI(x) \quad (c>0).$$
(1.17)

This Hamiltonian arises in physical phenomena ([37]) where growth velocity is dependent on the gradient of the crystal surface. For 0 < c < 1 we show in Theorem 4.8 that there exists a unique envelope solution for any bounded uniformly continuous initial data.

In [42] and [24] a step source is considered as a Dirichlet boundary condition. One may think that our envelope solution of (1.5) coincides with a solution of the Dirichlet boundary problem with  $u(0,t) = ct + u_0(0)$  at the origin. This guess is correct provided that a slope of the initial data is less than or equal to c. However, if not, it turns out that the Dirichlet problem may give a different solution from our problem with (1.3). We also discuss a relation to the dynamic boundary condition  $\partial_t u(0,t) = c$ .

In the latter part of this chapter, we study the large time behavior of the unique envelope solution to the following problem:

(HJ1) 
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u(x,t) - H_1(\nabla u(x,t)) = r(x) & \text{in } \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,\infty), \\ (1.2). \end{cases}$$
 (1.18)

Here  $H_1$  is a continuous and coercive Hamiltonian and  $r \in BUSC(\mathbf{R}^n)$  is nonnegative. The large time behavior is discussed via the scaling method. Namely, we study the limit of the rescaled function of the solution u which is defined as

$$u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) := \frac{1}{\lambda} u(\lambda x, \lambda t)$$

for  $\lambda > 0$ . Our goal is to find a function v which is a solution to the associated problem of (HJ1) and characterizes the limit of  $u_{(\lambda)}$  in the sense that

$$u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) \to v(x,t) \quad \text{as } \lambda \to \infty.$$
 (1.19)

Once the convergence of the type (1.19) is obtained, putting t = 1 and  $\lambda = t$ , we get

$$\frac{1}{t}u(tx,t) \to v(x,1) \quad \text{as } t \to \infty, \tag{1.20}$$

which is the large time behavior of u. To study the scaling limit of u we consider the equation for  $u_{(\lambda)}$ . Differentiating the rescaled function, we see  $u_{(\lambda)}$  satisfies the equation

$$\partial_t u_{(\lambda)} - H_1(\nabla u_{(\lambda)}) = r(\lambda x) \quad \text{in } \mathbf{R}^n \times (0, \infty)$$
 (1.21)

and the initial data

$$u_{(\lambda)}(x,0) = \frac{1}{\lambda}u_0(\lambda x).$$

Assuming that  $u_0$  is bounded, the above initial data uniformly converges to zero. However, the source term in (1.21) may oscillate as  $\lambda \to \infty$ . In this paper we treat source terms r with special forms for which we are able to compute the scaling limit of solutions. The results include two types of source terms; source terms with compact support and periodic source terms.

We first suppose that the support of r(x), which is

$$\operatorname{supp}(r) := \overline{\{x \in \mathbf{R}^n \mid r(x) \neq 0\}},$$

is compact in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . In this case, since the graph of  $r(\lambda x)$  concentrates into the origin and keeps its maximum value  $c := \max_{\mathbb{R}^n} r$  as  $\lambda \to \infty$ , it is reasonable to expect that the scaling limit of the solution is characterized as the unique envelope solution of

$$\partial_t v - H_1(\nabla v) = cI(x) \quad \text{in } \mathbf{R}^n \times (0, \infty)$$

$$(1.22)$$

with the zero initial data. In fact, it will be shown in Theorem 6.5 that the convergence (1.19) holds locally uniformly in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times [0, \infty)$  for the solution v. Under some restrictive assumptions we also give an example of the scaling limit of solutions when r has non-compact support (Example 6.7).

We are also interested in periodic source terms. It turns out that, if r(x) = r(x+a) for all  $a \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ , then we have (1.19) in the sense of uniform convergence for v(x,t) = ct with  $c = \max_{\mathbb{R}^n} r$ . This is a natural result since the source term is uniformly distributed in space as  $\lambda \to \infty$ . Our problem for periodic source terms is closely related to homogenization problems ([29, 18, 41]), and, when r is continuous, our result on the large time behavior is indeed consistent with the classical result in the homogenization theory (Remark 6.12).

The envelope solution (1.6) of (1.5) with the zero initial data is self-similar in the sense that  $u^c$  is scaling invariant, i.e.,  $u^c = (u^c)_{(\lambda)}$  for all  $\lambda > 0$ . More generally, as long as solutions are unique, the envelope solution v of (1.22) with the zero initial data is self-similar. Thus the result (1.19) means convergence to the self-similar solution of the limit problem. In other words, the solution u of the original problem is asymptotically self-similar although u itself is not necessarily self-similar. When a function v(x,t) is self-similar, it is represented as v(x,t) = tv(x/t,1) = tV(x/t), where V(x) := v(x,1) is called a profile function of v. The profile function also appears in (1.20) as the limit of u, and so (1.20) asserts asymptotic convergence of u to the profile function. In Section 7 we will derive a stationary equation for the profile function and show that an envelope solution V of the stationary equation gives that of the time-dependent problem by letting v(x,t) = tV(x/t). We also establish a comparison principle and an existence result of solutions to general stationary problems. In this paper we mainly discuss the case when the given Hamiltonian H(x, p)is lower semicontinuous with respect to x. We here recall some preceding studies about the viscosity solution theory for PDEs with discontinuous Hamiltonians. Shortly after the establishment of notions of viscosity solution, Ishii [26] studied discontinuous Hamiltonians with respect to the variables t and u. Discontinuities in the space variable x are investigated in many other works later.

For the stationary problem, the equation of eikonal type was studied by Newcomb and Su [32], Ostrov [34], Deckelnick and Elliott [13] and Soravia [40]. In [32] the authors considered the equation  $H(\nabla u) = n(x)$ . Here H(p) is convex, coercive and positive except at p = 0 and n is assumed to be lower semicontinuous and positive. They introduced a suitable notion called Monge solutions, which, in the case of continuous Hamiltonians, are consistent with the usual viscosity solution. Briani and Davini [5] generalized the approach of Monge solutions for the equation  $H(x, \nabla u) = 0$ , where H(x, p) is only assumed to be Borel measurable and quasi-convex in p. Although we did not check, we expect that our envelope solution should agree with the Monge solution when the latter is available. The work by Soravia [39] is related to our results concerning the optimal control theory. The author of [39] considered the equation

$$\lambda u(x) + \sup_{a \in A} \{ -\langle f(x, a), \nabla u(x) \rangle - h(x, a) \} = g(x)$$

with a Borel measurable function g. Here  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  denotes the standard Euclidean inner product. The author established a general uniqueness result in the sense of lower semicontinuous solutions, which was introduced by Barron and Jensen [4]. However, the uniqueness result does not apply to our setting since the definition of solutions like lower semicontinuous solutions is not suitable for (1.4). The reason is that it is impossible to choose the intuitive solution  $u^c$  exclusively even if we impose an additional condition about test functions from the opposite side no matter which definition of solutions (standard, D- or  $\overline{D}$ -) we use.

For the time-dependent problem, Camilli and Siconolfi [9] considered the equation  $\partial_t u + H(x, \nabla u) = 0$ , where the Hamiltonian H(x, p) is measurable in x and convex, coercive in p. The convexity is used to guarantee the Legendre transform and the equivalence of a.e. subsolution and viscosity subsolution. However, such measure theoretic approach does not give a suitable notion of solutions to our problems because the jump discontinuity such as cI(x) is negligible with respect to the Lebesgue measure. Actually, it is reasonable to understand that the discontinuity depends on what kind of measure we consider as discussed at the end of this paper (Appendix C). See also [8] for an earlier work where a solution formula established for this type of equation under similar assumptions on H with positive 1-homogeneity on the function  $p \mapsto H(x, p)$ . For discontinuity of different types, there are a few works on the equations of the form

$$\partial_t u + f(x,t)h(x,\nabla u) = 0$$

with discontinuous f, which has important applications in front propagations. Deckelnick and Elliott [14] obtained the unique existence of continuous viscosity solutions for the one space dimensional case when f(x,t) = a(x) and  $h(x,p) = \sqrt{1+p^2}$ , where *a* is assumed to be bounded, of bounded variation and one-sided Lipschitz continuous. Afterwards Chen and Hu [10] studied a more general case when *f* depends on *t* but *h* depends only on *p*. They assumed that *f* is positive, bounded and measurable and *h* is non-negative and Lipschitz continuous. More recently, with the optimal control theory involved De Zan and Soravia [15] discussed the unique existence of solutions when *h* depends also on *x* while *f* is independent of *t* and piecewise Lipschitz continuous across Lipschitz hypersurfaces. Our results are therefore different from these above. The discontinuity of Hamiltonians we are concerned with is given as a source term instead of the jump of propagating speed, which is also studied recently in [23].

For the second order equation, Caffarelli, Crandall, Kocan and Swięch [7] studied fully nonlinear and uniformly elliptic PDEs by utilizing  $L^p$ -viscosity solution theory. However, the situation is quite different from ours.

The large time behavior of solutions u to Hamilton-Jacobi equations is well studied in the sense that

$$u(x,t) \sim \lambda t + \phi(x) \quad \text{as } t \to \infty$$
 (1.23)

when equations are continuous ([31, 20, 3, 35, 12]). However, the scaling limit of u in our sense gives a different limit from (1.23) both in the non-periodic case (Example 6.6) and in the periodic case (Example 6.13).

For the scaling limit of solutions to second order equations, the reader is referred to the book [22]. There, via the scaling method, self-similar solutions are analyzed for various equations including the heat equation, Navier-Stokes equation, porous medium equation and so on. The papers [16, 27] are concerned with the curvature flow equations for graphs. Under a suitable growth condition, the authors of these papers study the asymptotic behavior of solutions to the curvature flow equations over the whole space. Recently, the author of the present paper studied the asymptotic behavior of solutions to fully nonlinear parabolic equations including a generalized curvature flow equation which appears in a model of evaporation-condensation; see Chapter 2 in this paper. It was shown that the scaling limit of solutions to the problem is characterized as a self-similar solution to the associated problem, which is, in the evaporationcondensation model, the usual mean curvature flow equation for graphs.

This paper is organized as follows. In Section 2 we first define some notions of solutions. Then we establish two types of comparison principles for  $\overline{D}$ -solutions; a general version which excludes (1.5) and a Lipschitz version which includes (1.5) but needs Lipschitz continuity of solutions. Section 3 is devoted to existence problems of solutions. We prove that there exists a unique envelope solution of (HJ) when H is coercive. Section 4 deals with relaxed Hamiltonians. After introducing the relaxed Hamiltonians, we deduce a unique existence result of envelope solutions. Section 5 is dedicated to showing some examples of envelope solutions. We also mention the relation between our envelope solutions and solutions of Dirichlet boundary problems. In Section 6 we study the large time behavior of envelope solutions to (HJ1). We prove that, if the support of the source term r is compact, then the solution converges to the self-similar

solution of (1.22) under rescaling. Periodic source terms are also investigated. Section 7 is devoted to stationary problems. We first study equations for profile functions of the self-similar solutions. We next establish a comparison principle and an existence result of solutions to general stationary problems.

#### 2 Proper definition of solutions and comparison principles

#### 2.1 Definition of solutions

We first recall the notion of super- and subdifferentials to define a viscosity solution. For  $u: Q \to \mathbf{R}$  and  $(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) \in Q$  we set a superdifferential  $D_Q^+ u(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$  and an extended superdifferential  $\overline{D}_Q^+ u(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$  by

$$D_{Q}^{+}u(\hat{x},\hat{t}) := \begin{cases} \left(p,\tau\right) \in \mathbf{R}^{n} \times \mathbf{R} \mid \exists \phi \in C^{1}(Q) \text{ such that } (p,\tau) = (\nabla\phi,\partial_{t}\phi)(\hat{x},\hat{t}) \\ \text{and } \max_{Q}(u-\phi) = (u-\phi)(\hat{x},\hat{t}) \end{cases} \right\}, \quad (2.1)$$

$$\overline{D}_{Q}^{+}u(\hat{x},\hat{t}) := \begin{cases} \left(p,\tau\right) \in \mathbf{R}^{n} \times \mathbf{R} \mid \exists \{(x_{m},t_{m})\}_{m \in \mathbf{N}} \subset Q, \exists \{(p_{m},\tau_{m})\}_{m \in \mathbf{N}} \subset \mathbf{R}^{n} \times \mathbf{R}, \\ \text{such that } (p_{m},\tau_{m}) \in D_{Q}^{+}u(x_{m},t_{m}), (x_{m},t_{m}) \to (\hat{x},\hat{t}), \\ (p_{m},\tau_{m}) \to (p,\tau) \text{ and } u(x_{m},t_{m}) \to u(\hat{x},\hat{t}) \text{ as } m \to \infty \end{cases}$$

where  $\mathbf{N} := \{1, 2, 3, ...\}$ . We denote a subdifferential  $D_Q^- u(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$  and an extended subdifferential  $\overline{D}_Q^- u(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$  by

$$D_Q^-u(\hat{x},\hat{t}):=-D_Q^+(-u)(\hat{x},\hat{t}) \quad \text{and} \quad \overline{D}_Q^-u(\hat{x},\hat{t}):=-\overline{D}_Q^+(-u)(\hat{x},\hat{t}).$$

We can also define  $D_Q^-$  and  $\overline{D}_Q^-$  by replacing, respectively, max by min in (2.1) and  $D_Q^+$  by  $D_Q^-$  in (2.2). Index Q is often omitted. It is known that  $D^+$  and  $D^$ are closed convex subset of  $\mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}$ . (See [2, Lemma II.1.8.(a)].)

We call  $\phi \in C^1(Q)$  a corresponding test function for  $(p,\tau) \in D^+u(\hat{x},\hat{t})$ , where  $\phi$  appears in (2.1). One can take such  $\phi$  as a separated form, i.e.,  $\phi(x,t) = \psi(x) + g(t)$  with  $\psi \in C^1(\mathbf{R}^n)$  and  $g \in C^1(0,T)$ . (See [21, Proposition 2.2.3.(i)].) Moreover we call  $\{(x_m, t_m), (p_m, \tau_m)\}_{m \in \mathbf{N}} \subset Q \times D^+u(x_m, t_m)$  a defining approximate sequence for  $(p,\tau) \in \overline{D}^+u(\hat{x},\hat{t})$ , where  $(x_m, t_m)$  and  $(p_m, \tau_m)$  are given in (2.2).

**Definition 2.1.** Let H = H(x, p) be a real valued function defined in  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$ and let u be a real valued function in Q.

(1) We call u a *(standard) viscosity supersolution* (resp. *subsolution*) of (1.1) if u is bounded from below (resp. from above) in Q and

$$\tau + H^*(\hat{x}, p) \ge 0 \quad \text{for all } (\hat{x}, \hat{t}) \in Q \text{ and } (p, \tau) \in D_Q^- u_*(\hat{x}, \hat{t}).$$
(2.3)  
(resp.  $\tau + H_*(\hat{x}, p) \le 0 \quad \text{for all } (\hat{x}, \hat{t}) \in Q \text{ and } (p, \tau) \in D_Q^+ u^*(\hat{x}, \hat{t}).$ )

We denote by SUP(H) and SUB(H) respectively the set of all supersolutions and subsolutions of (1.1).

- (2) If  $u \in SUP(H)$  (resp.  $u \in SUB(H)$ ) defined in  $Q_0 := \mathbf{R}^n \times [0, T)$  is continuous on  $\mathbf{R}^n \times \{0\}$  and satisfies the initial condition (1.2), it is called a viscosity supersolution (resp. subsolution) of (HJ) and then we write  $u \in SUP(H, u_0)$  (resp.  $u \in SUB(H, u_0)$ ).
- (3) We say that u is a viscosity solution if it is both a viscosity supersolution and a viscosity subsolution. Define  $SOL(H) := SUP(H) \cap SUB(H)$  and  $SOL(H, u_0) := SUP(H, u_0) \cap SUB(H, u_0).$
- Remark 2.2. (1) For any subset  $L \subset \mathbf{R}^N$  and  $h : L \to \mathbf{R}$  we denote the upper semicontinuous envelope (resp. lower semicontinuous envelope) by  $h^*$  (resp.  $h_*$ ):  $\overline{L} \to \mathbf{R} \cup \{\pm \infty\}$ , which is as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} h^*(z) &:= \limsup_{y \to z} h(y) = \limsup_{\delta \downarrow 0} \sup\{h(y) \mid y \in \overline{B}_{\delta}(z) \cap L\} \\ (\text{resp. } h_*(z) &:= \liminf_{y \to z} h(y) = \liminf_{\delta \downarrow 0} \inf\{h(y) \mid y \in \overline{B}_{\delta}(z) \cap L\}) \quad (z \in \overline{L}), \end{aligned}$$

where  $\overline{B}_r(x)$  stands for the closed ball with center x and radius r. (We denote the open ball by  $B_r(x)$ .) The function  $h^*$  is characterized as the smallest upper semicontinuous function on  $\overline{L}$  that is greater than h on L, while  $h_*$  is the greatest lower semicontinuous function on  $\overline{L}$  that is smaller than h on L.

- (2) We can replace  $D_Q^-$  in (2.3) by  $\overline{D}_Q^-$  since  $H^*$  is applied in the definition. This can be easily shown by taking limits.
- (3) It often assumes one side local boundedness of sub- and supersolutions instead of global boundedness in the literature. We impose the boundedness assumption to simplify the argument. Also, when we think of the initial value problem (HJ), we require solutions to be continuous at t = 0 for the sake of simplicity.

**Example 2.3.** Let us consider (HJ) with (1.3) and  $u_0 \equiv 0$ . It is easy to verify that functions  $u^{\alpha}(x,t) := \alpha(t-|x|)_+$   $(0 \leq \alpha \leq c)$  are all viscosity solutions of this initial-value problem in the standard sense above. We must therefore strengthen the definition of solutions in order to get uniqueness. As mentioned in Section 1, we adopt a new definition in which H instead of  $H^*$  is used in (2.3). However, notice that in this case the definition by  $D_Q^-$  and that by  $\overline{D}_Q^-$  are different.

**Definition 2.4.** Let  $u : Q \to \mathbf{R}$ . We call u a *D*-viscosity supersolution (resp.  $\overline{D}$ -viscosity supersolution) of (1.1) if u is bounded from below in Q and

$$\tau + H(\hat{x}, p) \ge 0$$
 for all  $(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) \in Q$  and  $(p, \tau) \in D_O^- u_*(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$ .

(resp.  $\tau + H(\hat{x}, p) \ge 0$  for all  $(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) \in Q$  and  $(p, \tau) \in \overline{D}_Q^- u_*(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$ .)

We denote by D-SUP(H) (resp.  $\overline{D}$ -SUP(H)) a set which consists of all D-supersolutions (resp.  $\overline{D}$ -supersolutions) of (1.1). Moreover we similarly define a corresponding viscosity subsolution, solution, solution of the initial-value problem, and set notations by marking D- or  $\overline{D}$ -.

About three notions of supersolutions defined so far we have the inclusion relation  $SUP(H) \supset D\text{-}SUP(H) \supset \overline{D}\text{-}SUP(H)$  in general, and these sets are the same for upper semicontinuous H. Since we mainly think of a lower continuous H, as for subsolutions we have  $SUB(H) = D\text{-}SUB(H) = \overline{D}\text{-}SUB(H)$  in many cases.

**Example 2.5.** We revisit the Example 2.3. How about solutions of our equation in the sense of D- or  $\overline{D}$ -solutions? Since there is no smooth function that touches  $u^{\alpha}$  from below at  $(0, \hat{t})$  ( $\hat{t} > 0$ ) when  $\alpha \in (0, c]$ , they all become D-solutions. (When  $\alpha = 0$ , the function  $u \equiv 0$  is not a D-supersolution.) This suggests that D-solutions are still not unique. For this reason we adopt  $\overline{D}$ -solutions as a proper definition for the moment, and we will show comparison principles for such solutions in the next subsection.

#### 2.2 Comparison principles

We will show comparison principles (CP for short), which are important to prove uniqueness of solutions. The following two assumptions are standard for usual CP.

- (H<sub>p</sub>) There exists a modulus  $\omega_1 \in \mathcal{M}$  such that  $|H(x,p) H(x,q)| \leq \omega_1(|p-q|)$  for all  $x, p, q \in \mathbf{R}^n$ .
- (H<sub>x</sub>) There exists a modulus  $\omega_2 \in \mathcal{M}$  such that  $|H(x,p) H(y,p)| \leq \omega_2((1 + |p|)|x y|)$  for all  $x, y, p \in \mathbf{R}^n$ .

Here we denote by  $\mathcal{M}$  the set of all moduli of continuity, namely

$$\mathcal{M} := \left\{ \omega : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty) \middle| \begin{array}{c} \omega(0) = 0, \ \omega \text{ is continuous at } 0 \\ \text{and nondecreasing on } [0, \infty). \end{array} \right\}$$

We still use  $(H_p)$  now. Since we should treat discontinuous Hamiltonians with respect to the space variable, we weaken  $(H_x)$  in the following manner.

(H<sub>xN</sub>) There exist a modulus  $\omega_2 \in \mathcal{M}$  and a constant N > 0 such that  $|H(x, p) - H(y, p)| \leq \omega_2((1+|p|)|x-y|)$  for all  $x, y \in \mathbf{R}^n$  and  $p \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus B_N(0)$ .

This condition means that  $(H_x)$  holds if |p| is large. Note that (1.3) does not satisfy  $(H_{xN})$ .

Before stating our CP, we check that H satisfying  $(\mathbf{H}_p)$  and  $(\mathbf{H}_{xN})$  is locally bounded in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}^n$ . This fact will be used in the proof of CP. Since the local boundedness is clear in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times (\mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{B}_N(0))$ , we show that H is bounded in  $\overline{B}_1(x) \times \overline{B}_1(p)$  for any  $(x, p) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times \overline{B}_N(0)$ . Take any  $(y, q) \in \overline{B}_1(x) \times \overline{B}_1(p)$ and  $p' \in \mathbf{R}^n$  such that  $N \leq |p'| \leq N + 1$ . Then, we calculate

$$|H(x,p) - H(y,q)| \le |H(x,p) - H(y,p')| + |H(x,p') - H(y,p')| + |H(y,p') - H(y,q)| \le 2\omega_1(|p-p'|+1) + \omega_2((1+|p'|)|x-y|) \le 2\omega_1(2N+2) + \omega_2(N+2),$$

which yields our claim.

**Theorem 2.6** (CP–general version). Assume that H satisfies  $(H_p)$  and  $(H_{xN})$ . Let u and  $v : Q_0 \to \mathbf{R}$  be, respectively, bounded from above and bounded from below in  $Q_0$ . Assume that  $u \in \overline{D}$ -SUB(H) and  $v \in \overline{D}$ -SUP(H). If  $u^*(\cdot, 0) \leq v_*(\cdot, 0)$  in  $\mathbf{R}^n$ , then  $u^* \leq v_*$  in Q.

Though our assumption for H is weaker than the classical one, our definition of solutions is stronger, and so we can keep balance.

*Proof.* 1. Suppose by contradiction that there would exist  $(x_0, t_0) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times (0, T)$ such that  $u^*(x_0, t_0) - v_*(x_0, t_0) =: A > 0$ . We define a function  $\mathcal{F} : (\mathbf{R}^n \times [0, T])^2 \to \mathbf{R} \cup \{-\infty\}$  by

$$\mathcal{F}(x,t,y,s) := u^*(x,t) - v_*(y,s) - \Psi(x,t,y,s)$$
  
with  $\Psi(x,t,y,s) := \frac{1}{2\varepsilon^2} \left( |x-y|^2 + |t-s|^2 \right) + \beta f(x) + \frac{\alpha}{T-t}$ ,

where  $\alpha \in (0, A(T - t_0)), \beta > 0, \varepsilon > 0$  and  $f(x) = \sqrt{1 + |x - x_0|^2} - 1$ . Note that  $f \ge 0, f \in C^1(\mathbf{R}^n)$  and  $|\nabla f| \le 1$ . Also, by the choice of  $\alpha$ , we have

$$\mathcal{F}(x_0, t_0, x_0, t_0) = u^*(x_0, t_0) - v_*(x_0, t_0) - \frac{\alpha}{T - t_0} > 0$$

Since u and -v are bounded from above,  $\mathcal{F}$  attains its maximum in  $(\mathbf{R}^n \times [0, T])^2$ at some  $(x^{\varepsilon}, t^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}, s^{\varepsilon}) \in (\mathbf{R}^n \times [0, T))^2$ . Then, we see

$$\mathcal{F}(x^{\varepsilon}, t^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}, s^{\varepsilon}) \ge \mathcal{F}(x_0, t_0, x_0, t_0) > 0.$$
(2.4)

2. Set  $M := \sup_{Q_0} u^* + \sup_{Q_0} (-v_*) \ (< \infty)$ . Then we have  $\beta f(x^{\varepsilon}) < M$  by (2.4), and hence  $\{x^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon>0}$  is bounded. Furthermore, since we also have  $|x^{\varepsilon} - y^{\varepsilon}| \leq \sqrt{2M\varepsilon}$  and  $|t^{\varepsilon} - s^{\varepsilon}| \leq \sqrt{2M\varepsilon}$  by (2.4), we may assume that there exists some  $(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times [0, T]$  such that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} (x^{\varepsilon}, t^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}, s^{\varepsilon}) = (\hat{x}, \hat{t}, \hat{x}, \hat{t}).$$
(2.5)

Here, we claim that  $\hat{t} \in (0, T)$ . By (2.4) we observe

$$0 < \limsup_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \mathcal{F}(x^{\varepsilon}, t^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}, s^{\varepsilon}) \leq \mathcal{F}(\hat{x}, \hat{t}, \hat{x}, \hat{t}).$$

However, since we have

$$\mathcal{F}(\hat{x}, 0, \hat{x}, 0) = u^*(\hat{x}, 0) - v_*(\hat{x}, 0) - \beta f(\hat{x}) - \frac{\alpha}{T} < 0,$$
  
$$\mathcal{F}(\hat{x}, T, \hat{x}, T) = -\infty,$$

it follows that  $\hat{t} \neq 0$  and  $\hat{t} \neq T$ .

3. We remark that

$$\mathcal{F}(\hat{x}, \hat{t}, \hat{x}, \hat{t}) \leq \mathcal{F}(x^{\varepsilon}, t^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}, s^{\varepsilon})$$
(2.6)

because  $(x^{\varepsilon}, t^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}, s^{\varepsilon})$  is the maximizer of  $\mathcal{F}$ . In view of (2.6) we calculate

$$\begin{split} &\limsup_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{2\varepsilon^2} \left( |x^{\varepsilon} - y^{\varepsilon}|^2 + |t^{\varepsilon} - s^{\varepsilon}|^2 \right) \\ &\leq \limsup_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \left\{ -\mathcal{F}(\hat{x}, \hat{t}, \hat{x}, \hat{t}) + u^*(x^{\varepsilon}, t^{\varepsilon}) - v_*(y^{\varepsilon}, s^{\varepsilon}) - \beta f(x^{\varepsilon}) - \frac{\alpha}{T - t^{\varepsilon}} \right\} \\ &\leq -\mathcal{F}(\hat{x}, \hat{t}, \hat{x}, \hat{t}) + u^*(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) - v_*(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) - \beta f(\hat{x}) - \frac{\alpha}{T - \hat{t}} = 0. \end{split}$$

Hence

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \frac{|x^{\varepsilon} - y^{\varepsilon}|}{\varepsilon} = 0, \quad \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \frac{|t^{\varepsilon} - s^{\varepsilon}|}{\varepsilon} = 0.$$
(2.7)

Also, by (2.6) and the upper semicontinuity of  $\mathcal{F}$ , we observe

$$\mathcal{F}(\hat{x}, \hat{t}, \hat{x}, \hat{t}) \leq \liminf_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \mathcal{F}(x^{\varepsilon}, t^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}, s^{\varepsilon}) \leq \limsup_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \mathcal{F}(x^{\varepsilon}, t^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}, s^{\varepsilon}) \leq \mathcal{F}(\hat{x}, \hat{t}, \hat{x}, \hat{t}),$$

which means

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \mathcal{F}(x^{\varepsilon}, t^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}, s^{\varepsilon}) = \mathcal{F}(\hat{x}, \hat{t}, \hat{x}, \hat{t}).$$

This equality and (2.7) implies

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \{ u^*(x^\varepsilon, t^\varepsilon) - v_*(y^\varepsilon, s^\varepsilon) \} = u^*(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) - v_*(\hat{x}, \hat{t}).$$

Now, we also observe

$$u^{*}(\hat{x},\hat{t}) \geq \limsup_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} u^{*}(x^{\varepsilon},t^{\varepsilon}) \geq \liminf_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} u^{*}(x^{\varepsilon},t^{\varepsilon})$$
$$= \liminf_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \{ (u^{*}(x^{\varepsilon},t^{\varepsilon}) - v_{*}(y^{\varepsilon},s^{\varepsilon})) + v_{*}(y^{\varepsilon},s^{\varepsilon}) \}$$
$$\geq (u^{*}(\hat{x},\hat{t}) - v_{*}(\hat{x},\hat{t})) + v_{*}(\hat{x},\hat{t}) = u^{*}(\hat{x},\hat{t}).$$

Consequently it follows that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} u^*(x^{\varepsilon}, t^{\varepsilon}) = u^*(\hat{x}, \hat{t}), \quad \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} v_*(y^{\varepsilon}, s^{\varepsilon}) = v_*(\hat{x}, \hat{t}).$$
(2.8)

4. We next calculate the first derivatives of  $\Psi$  at  $(x^{\varepsilon}, t^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}, s^{\varepsilon})$ .

$$\begin{split} p_x^{\varepsilon} &:= \nabla_x \Psi(x^{\varepsilon}, t^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}, s^{\varepsilon}) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} (x^{\varepsilon} - y^{\varepsilon}) + \beta \nabla f(x^{\varepsilon}), \\ p_y^{\varepsilon} &:= \nabla_y \Psi(x^{\varepsilon}, t^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}, s^{\varepsilon}) = -\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} (x^{\varepsilon} - y^{\varepsilon}), \\ \tau^{\varepsilon} &:= \partial_t \Psi(x^{\varepsilon}, t^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}, s^{\varepsilon}) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} (t^{\varepsilon} - s^{\varepsilon}) + \frac{\alpha}{(T - t^{\varepsilon})^2}, \\ \sigma^{\varepsilon} &:= \partial_s \Psi(x^{\varepsilon}, t^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}, s^{\varepsilon}) = -\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} (t^{\varepsilon} - s^{\varepsilon}). \end{split}$$

By the definitions of  $D^{\pm}$  we have

$$\begin{cases} (p_x^{\varepsilon}, \tau^{\varepsilon}) \in D^+ u^*(x^{\varepsilon}, t^{\varepsilon}), \\ (-p_y^{\varepsilon}, -\sigma^{\varepsilon}) \in D^- v_*(y^{\varepsilon}, s^{\varepsilon}), \end{cases}$$
(2.9)

and therefore

$$\begin{cases} \tau^{\varepsilon} + H(x^{\varepsilon}, p_x^{\varepsilon}) \leq 0, \\ -\sigma^{\varepsilon} + H(y^{\varepsilon}, -p_y^{\varepsilon}) \geq 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.10)

since  $u \in D$ -SUB(H) and  $v \in D$ -SUP(H).

Here we discuss two different cases for subsequences of  $\{p_y^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon>0}$ :

There exists a sequence  $\{\varepsilon(j)\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$  such that  $\varepsilon(j)\downarrow 0 \ (j\to\infty)$  and

Case 1: 
$$|p_y^{\varepsilon(j)}| \to \infty$$
.

**Case 2:**  $p_y^{\varepsilon(j)} \to -\bar{p}$  for some  $\bar{p} \in \mathbf{R}^n$ .

We will reach to contradiction for both cases. From now on we simply write  $\varepsilon$  for  $\varepsilon(j)$ .

**Case 1.** In terms of  $(H_{xN})$  it is enough to apply the classical method. Combining two inequalities in (2.10), we have

$$\frac{\alpha}{(T-t^{\varepsilon})^2} \leq \{H(y^{\varepsilon},-p_y^{\varepsilon}) - H(x^{\varepsilon},-p_y^{\varepsilon})\} + \{H(x^{\varepsilon},-p_y^{\varepsilon}) - H(x^{\varepsilon},p_x^{\varepsilon})\}.$$

Letting  $\varepsilon$  small and applying (H<sub>xN</sub>) and (H<sub>p</sub>), we compute

$$\frac{\alpha}{(T-t^{\varepsilon})^2} \leq \omega_2((1+|p_y^{\varepsilon}|)|x^{\varepsilon}-y^{\varepsilon}|) + \omega_1(|p_x^{\varepsilon}+p_y^{\varepsilon}|)$$
$$= \omega_2\left(|x^{\varepsilon}-y^{\varepsilon}| + \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2}|x^{\varepsilon}-y^{\varepsilon}|^2\right) + \omega_1(|\beta\nabla f(x^{\varepsilon})|)$$

Sending  $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$  in the above and using  $1/T^2 \leq 1/(T-\hat{t})^2$ , we obtain  $\alpha/T^2 \leq \omega_1(\beta|\nabla f(\hat{x})|) \leq \omega_1(\beta)$ . This is a contradiction for very small  $\beta$ .

Case 2. By (2.10) we see

$$\frac{\alpha}{(T-t^{\varepsilon})^2} + H(x^{\varepsilon}, p_x^{\varepsilon}) \le \sigma^{\varepsilon} \le H(y^{\varepsilon}, -p_y^{\varepsilon}).$$

Thus we may assume that  $\sigma^{\varepsilon}$  converges to some  $-\bar{\tau}$  as  $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$  by the local boundedness of *H*. Now, since (2.5), (2.8) and

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} (p_x^{\varepsilon}, \tau^{\varepsilon}, p_y^{\varepsilon}, \sigma^{\varepsilon}) = \left( \bar{p} + \beta \nabla f(\hat{x}), -\bar{p}, \bar{\tau} + \frac{\alpha}{(T-\hat{t})^2}, -\bar{\tau} \right)$$

hold, the definitions of  $\overline{D}^{\pm}$  and (2.10) yield

$$\begin{cases} \left(\bar{p} + \beta \nabla f(\hat{x}), \bar{\tau} + \frac{\alpha}{(T-\hat{t})^2}\right) \in \overline{D}^+ u^*(\hat{x}, \hat{t}), \\ (\bar{p}, \bar{\tau}) \in \overline{D}^- v_*(\hat{y}, \hat{s}). \end{cases}$$

Therefore

$$\begin{cases} \bar{\tau} + \frac{\alpha}{(T-\hat{t})^2} + H(\hat{x}, \bar{p} + \beta \nabla f(\hat{x})) \leq 0, \\ \bar{\tau} + H(\hat{x}, \bar{p}) \geq 0 \end{cases}$$

since  $u \in \overline{D}$ -SUB(H) and  $v \in \overline{D}$ -SUP(H). Consequently

$$\frac{\alpha}{T^2} \le H(\hat{x}, \bar{p}) - H(\hat{x}, \bar{p} + \beta \nabla f(\hat{x})) \le \omega_1(\beta |\nabla f(\hat{x})|) \le \omega_1(\beta),$$

 $\square$ 

which is a contradiction for very small  $\beta$ .

- Remark 2.7. (1) In general, whenever CP holds, we have  $||u_1-u_2||_Q \leq ||(u_1|_{t=0}) (u_2|_{t=0})||_{\mathbf{R}^n}$  for any two solutions  $u_1$  and  $u_2$  of (1.1), no matter which definition of solutions we use. This is continuous dependence of the solutions on the initial data. Here we write  $||f||_U := \sup_U |f|$  for  $f: U \to \mathbf{R}$ .
  - (2) The term  $\beta f(x)$  in the definition of  $\Psi$  is added in order that  $\mathcal{F}$  attains the maximum in  $(\mathbf{R}^n \times [0,T])^2$ . If both u and v are periodic in  $\mathbf{R}^n$ , namely  $u(x,t) = u(x + \sum_{i=1}^n e_i, t)$  and  $v(x,t) = v(x + \sum_{i=1}^n e_i, t)$  for some linearly independent  $e_1, \ldots, e_n \in \mathbf{R}^n$ , the function  $\mathcal{F}$  attains the maximum without  $\beta f(x)$ , and then we have  $p_x^{\varepsilon} = -p_y^{\varepsilon}$ . Therefore it is unnecessary to assume  $(\mathbf{H}_p)$  in this periodic case.

**Corollary 2.8** (uniqueness of  $\overline{D}$ -solutions). Assume that H satisfies  $(H_p)$  and  $(H_{xN})$ . Then there exists at most one  $\overline{D}$ -solution of (HJ) and it is continuous.

*Proof.* Let  $u, v \in \overline{D}$ -SOL $(H, u_0)$ . Applying Theorem 2.6 to a subsolution u and a supersolution v, we get  $u^* \leq v_*$  in Q. Next changing roles of u and v, we also see  $v^* \leq u_*$  in Q. Hence it follows that  $u^* \leq v_* \leq v^* \leq u_*$  in Q, which yields our claim.

The assumption  $(\mathcal{H}_{xN})$  was used only in Case1 in the proof of Theorem 2.6 for the situation that elements in  $D^+u^*$  and  $D^-v_*$  are unbounded. For any Lipschitz continuous function w in Q, we have  $|p| \leq \text{Lip}[w]$  and  $\tau \leq \text{Lip}[w]$ whenever  $(p,\tau) \in D^+w(\hat{x},\hat{t})$  or  $(p,\tau) \in D^-w(\hat{x},\hat{t})$ , where Lip[w] stands for the Lipschitz constant of w. Therefore it is unnecessary to assume  $(\mathcal{H}_{xN})$  in order to prove CP when one of solutions is Lipschitz continuous.

**Theorem 2.9** (CP–Lipschitz version). Assume that H satisfies  $(H_p)$ . Let u and  $v: Q_0 \to \mathbf{R}$  be, respectively, bounded from above and bounded from below in  $Q_0$ . Assume that  $u \in \overline{D}$ -SUB(H) and  $v \in \overline{D}$ -SUP(H). Furthermore assume that either u or v is (space-time) Lipschitz continuous in Q. If  $u^*(\cdot, 0) \leq v_*(\cdot, 0)$  in  $\mathbf{R}^n$ , then  $u^* \leq v_*$  in Q.

As mentioned in Remark 2.7 (2), the assumption  $(H_p)$  is unnecessary for the periodic case. It is not difficult to find that this version of CP applies to (1.3).

#### **3** Existence results

#### 3.1 Unique existence of envelope solutions

We adopted *D*-solutions as a proper definition in Section 2.1 in order to guarantee the uniqueness of solutions of (HJ) with (1.3) and  $u_0 \equiv 0$ , but the existence turns out to be an issue for a discontinuous Hamiltonian. We give two examples to show the non-existence of  $\overline{D}$ -solutions. **Example 3.1.** Let us consider (HJ) with (1.16) and  $u_0 \equiv 0$ . Then  $u \equiv 0$  is a subsolution but is not a  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution. Also, one observes that  $u^{\varepsilon}(x,t) = ctI^{\varepsilon}(x)$  with (1.8) is a  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution but is not a subsolution for each  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Therefore, if there would exist a  $\overline{D}$ -solution v, then  $0 \leq v_* \leq v^* \leq u^{\varepsilon}$  in Q by Theorem 2.9. Sending  $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$ , we see  $0 \leq v_* \leq v^* \leq ctI(x)$ . Hence  $v_* \equiv 0$  in Q, which contradicts the fact that 0 is not a  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution. (See Figure 3.)



Figure 3:  $\overline{D}$ -supersolutions  $tI^{\varepsilon}(x)$  of  $\partial_t u = I(x)$ ,  $u_0 \equiv 0$  (the left) and their limit tI(x) (the right). The latter is an envelope solution.

**Example 3.2.** Let us consider (HJ) with (1.3) and  $u_0 \equiv 0$ . The intuitive solution  $u(x,t) = c(t-|x|)_+$  is a subsolution but is not a  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution because  $(p,c) \in \overline{D}^- u(0,1)$  (|p| = c) and c - |p| < cI(0). Now we think of approximate problems

$$(\varepsilon.\mathrm{HJ}) \begin{cases} \partial_t u + H^{\varepsilon}(x, \nabla u) = 0 & \text{ in } Q, \\ u|_{t=0} = u_0 & \text{ in } \mathbf{R}^n, \end{cases}$$

where  $H^{\varepsilon}$  is given by (1.7). Since we can write  $H^{\varepsilon}(x,p) = -\max_{a \in \overline{B}_1(0)} \langle a, p \rangle - cI^{\varepsilon}(x)$ , the representation formula by the optimal control theory (see Section 5.1 for more details) implies that  $u^{\varepsilon}$  given by

$$u^{\varepsilon}(x,t) = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \int_{0}^{t} c I^{\varepsilon}(X^{\alpha}(s)) ds$$

is a unique viscosity solution of  $(\varepsilon.\text{HJ})$ . Here  $\mathcal{A} = \{\alpha : [0,T] \to \overline{B}_1(0), \text{measurable}\}$ and  $X^{\alpha}(s)$  is the solution of the state equation:  $X'(s) = \alpha(s)$  in (0,t), X(0) = x. In other words,  $X^{\alpha}(s)$  describes a trajectory which leaves at time 0 from x and moves at velocity 1 or less. In this case for each  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  the optimal control is the one that leads to a straight trajectory before it comes to the origin and stays there after that moment. A direct calculation yields

$$u^{\varepsilon}(x,t)/c = \begin{cases} \left(1 - \frac{|x|}{\varepsilon}\right)t + \frac{t^2}{2\varepsilon} & (t \le |x|), \\ t - \frac{|x|^2}{2\varepsilon} & (t \ge |x|), \end{cases} & \text{for } |x| \le \varepsilon, \\ \text{and } u^{\varepsilon}(x,t)/c = \begin{cases} 0 & (t \le |x| - \varepsilon), \\ \frac{(t - |x| + \varepsilon)^2}{2\varepsilon} & (|x| - \varepsilon \le t \le |x|), \\ t - |x| + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} & (t \ge |x|), \end{cases} & \text{for } |x| \ge \varepsilon. \end{cases}$$

The inequality  $H \ge H^{\varepsilon}$  implies that each  $u^{\varepsilon}$  is a  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution of the original (HJ). However, since  $u^{\varepsilon} \downarrow u$  as  $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$ , it is shown by the similar argument in the previous example that there is no  $\overline{D}$ -solution of (HJ). (See Figure 4.)



Figure 4:  $\overline{D}$ -supersolutions  $u^{\varepsilon}$  of  $\partial_t u - |\nabla u| = I(x)$ ,  $u_0 \equiv 0$  (the left) and their limit  $(t - |x|)_+$  (the right). The latter is an envelope solution.

For (HJ) with (1.3) and  $u_0 \equiv 0$ , there are infinitely many *D*-solutions while there is no  $\overline{D}$ -solution. This suggests that we must define another proper notion of solutions.

**Definition 3.3** (envelope solutions). Let S be a nonempty subset of  $\overline{D}$ -SUP(H). If  $v := \inf_{w \in S} w$  is bounded from below in Q, it is said to be an *envelope viscosity* supersolution of (1.1). Let e.SUP(H) denote the set of all such solutions. If v is also an envelope viscosity subsolution (write  $v \in e.SUB(H)$ ), i.e.,  $v = \sup_{w \in \mathcal{T}} w$  for some  $\mathcal{T} \subset \overline{D}$ -SUB(H) and v is bounded from above in Q, we call it an *envelope viscosity solution*. Set  $e.SOL(H) := e.SUB(H) \cap e.SUP(H)$ . We also define  $e.SUB(H, u_0)$ ,  $e.SUP(H, u_0)$  and  $e.SOL(H, u_0)$  as the sets of all (sub, super)solutions of (HJ) similarly as before.

- Remark 3.4. (1) The function ctI(x) is an envelope solution in Example 3.1 and  $c(t - |x|)_+$  is an envelope solution in Example 3.2. Also, Example 3.1 suggests that our envelope solution is not always continuous.
  - (2) Since standard viscosity supersolutions have stability, that is, the infimum of them is still a supersolution (see for instance [11, Lemma 4.2]), the

class of solutions does not become large by taking infimum. As for  $\overline{D}$ -supersolutions, however, we observed that  $\inf_{\varepsilon>0} u^{\varepsilon} \notin \overline{D}$ -SUP(H) in Examples 3.1 and 3.2. In other words, stability under infimum does not hold for  $\overline{D}$ -supersolutions in general. By contrast, our envelope supersolutions have such stability by the definition. We also learn by Example 3.2 that  $\overline{D}$ -supersolutions are not stable even under the uniform limit.

(3) We have  $\overline{D}$ - $SUP(H) \subset e.SUP(H) \subset SUP(H)$ , but the inclusion relation  $e.SUP(H) \subset D$ -SUP(H) does not hold in general. (See Figure 5.) The function ctI(x) in Example 3.1 is its counter-example. If H is lower semicontinuous, then e.SUB(H) = SUB(H).



Figure 5: The notion of envelope solutions.

As was pointed out in Remark 3.4 (2) we do not have the stability under infimum for  $\overline{D}$ -supersolutions in general, but it is shown that the infimum of finitely many  $\overline{D}$ -supersolutions is still a  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution.

**Proposition 3.5** (stability under infimum of finitely many solutions). Let  $u_i \in \overline{D}$ -SUP(H) for all  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., M\}$ . Then  $u := \min_{i=1}^{M} u_i \in \overline{D}$ -SUP(H).

*Proof.* We first remark that  $u_* = \min_{i=1}^M (u_i)_*$ . Fix  $(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) \in Q$ ,  $(p, \tau) \in \overline{D}^- u_*(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$ and take a defining sequence  $(x_m, t_m) \in Q$ ,  $(p_m, \tau_m) \in D^- u_*(x_m, t_m)$   $(m \in \mathbf{N})$ . Then we have  $\lim_{m\to\infty} u_*(x_m, t_m) = u_*(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$ , and there exists a subsequence  $\{m(k)\}_{k\in\mathbf{N}}$  of  $\{m\}_{m\in\mathbf{N}}$  such that

$$u_*(x_{m(k)}, t_{m(k)}) = (u_i)_*(x_{m(k)}, t_{m(k)}) \quad (\forall k \in \mathbf{N})$$

for some  $i \in \{1, 2, \dots, M\}$ . Observe that

$$u_*(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) = \lim_{m \to \infty} u_*(x_m, t_m) \\ = \lim_{k \to \infty} u_*(x_{m(k)}, t_{m(k)}) \\ = \lim_{k \to \infty} (u_i)_*(x_{m(k)}, t_{m(k)}) \ge (u_i)_*(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$$

Therefore, it follows that  $u_*(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) = (u_i)_*(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$ . We thus have

$$(p_{m(k)}, \tau_{m(k)}) \in D^{-}(u_{i})_{*}(x_{m(k)}, t_{m(k)}), \quad \lim_{k \to \infty} (u_{i})_{*}(x_{m(k)}, t_{m(k)}) = (u_{i})_{*}(\hat{x}, \hat{t}),$$

and hence  $(p,\tau) \in \overline{D}^{-}(u_i)_*(\hat{x},\hat{t})$ . Since  $u_i \in \overline{D}$ -SUP(H), we deduce that  $\tau + H(\hat{x},p) \ge 0$ .

We now present the uniqueness result for envelope solutions.

**Proposition 3.6** (uniqueness of envelope solutions). Assume that H satisfies  $(H_p)$  and  $(H_{xN})$ . Then there exists at most one envelope solution of (HJ). Moreover if H is lower semicontinuous, the unique envelope solution is upper semicontinuous.

*Proof.* Let  $u, v \in e.SOL(H, u_0)$ . We first use the fact that  $u \in e.SUB(H, u_0)$  and  $v \in e.SUP(H, u_0)$ . By the definition of envelope sub- and supersolutions there exists some  $\mathcal{T} \subset \overline{D}$ -SUB $(H, u_0)$  and  $\mathcal{S} \subset \overline{D}$ -SUP $(H, u_0)$  such that  $u = \sup_{w \in \mathcal{T}} w$  and  $v = \inf_{W \in \mathcal{S}} W$ . Then applying Theorem 2.6 to  $w \in \mathcal{T}$  and  $W \in \mathcal{S}$ , we get  $w^* \leq W_*$  in Q, which yields  $u \leq v$  in Q. Next changing roles of u and v, we also see  $v \leq u$  in Q, and hence our first claim is proved.

If *H* is lower semicontinuous, we apply Theorem 2.6 to *u* and  $W \in S$ . Then we deduce that  $u^* \leq W_*$  in *Q*, hence that  $u^* \leq v$  in *Q*. Since we also have  $v^* \leq u$  in *Q*, it follows that  $u^* \leq v \leq v^* \leq u$  in *Q*, and so our second claim follows.

We next consider the existence of envelope solutions. We will construct the solution as the infimum of  $u^{\varepsilon}$ , which are solutions for "good" Hamiltonians  $H^{\varepsilon}$  approximating H. Here "good" means that comparison and existence properties are ensured for solutions. We use the following assumption.

- (H $_{\varepsilon}$ ) There exists a family  $\{H^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon>0} \subset C(\mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}^n)$  such that  $H^{\varepsilon} \uparrow H$  ( $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$ ) pointwise, and for all  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $u_0 \in BUC(\mathbf{R}^n)$  the following two statements hold.
  - (i) If  $w^{\varepsilon} \in SUB(H^{\varepsilon}, u_0)$  and  $v^{\varepsilon} \in SUP(H^{\varepsilon}, u_0)$ , then  $(w^{\varepsilon})^* \leq (v^{\varepsilon})_*$  in Q.
  - (ii) There exists a bounded solution  $u^{\varepsilon} \in SOL(H^{\varepsilon}, u_0)$ .

If there is some  $u^{\varepsilon} \in SOL(H^{\varepsilon}, u_0)$ , it is automatically continuous and a unique solution by the comparison (i). Also, H satisfying  $(H_{\varepsilon})$  is lower semicontinuous.

We here recall the *Perron's method* for constructing standard viscosity solutions. (See for instance [11, Theorem 4.1.].) Let  $v \in SUB(H, u_0)$ ,  $V \in SUP(H, u_0)$  and  $v \leq V$  in Q. Then u defined by

$$u := \sup\{w \in SUB(H, u_0) \mid v \le w \le V \text{ in } Q\}$$

is a viscosity solution of (HJ). Functions v and V are called respectively a *lower* barrier and an upper barrier. One can construct these barriers for all  $u_0 \in BUC(\mathbf{R}^n)$  provided that H(x, p) is bounded locally in p (see [21, Lemma 4.3.4.]), i.e.,

$$(\mathbf{H}_m) \ m(\rho) := \sup\{|H(x,p)| \mid (x,p) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times \overline{B}_\rho(0)\} < \infty \text{ for all } \rho \ge 0.$$

**Proposition 3.7** (existence). Assume that H satisfies  $(H_{\varepsilon})$  and  $(H_m)$ . Let  $u^{\varepsilon} \in SOL(H^{\varepsilon}, u_0)$  in  $(H_{\varepsilon})$ . Then  $\overline{u} := \inf_{\varepsilon > 0} u^{\varepsilon}$  is an envelope solution of (HJ).

We call  $\overline{u}$  constructed in this way a solution approximated from above. By the definition  $\overline{u}$  is upper semicontinuous.

*Proof.* We first show that  $u^{\varepsilon}$  is monotone in  $\varepsilon$ . Let  $0 < \varepsilon < \varepsilon'$ . Then  $u^{\varepsilon} \in SUB(H^{\varepsilon}, u_0)$ , and also we see  $u^{\varepsilon'} \in SUP(H^{\varepsilon'}, u_0) \subset SUP(H^{\varepsilon}, u_0)$  since  $H^{\varepsilon'} \leq H^{\varepsilon}$ . Therefore we conclude that  $u^{\varepsilon} \leq u^{\varepsilon'}$  by the comparison. This monotonicity implies that  $\overline{u} = \limsup_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} u^{\varepsilon}$  and that  $\overline{u}$  is bounded from above. Now, we are able to take an upper semicontinuous lower barrier  $v \in SUB(H, u_0)$  on account of the assumption  $(H_m)$ . Since  $v \in SUB(H^{\varepsilon}, u_0)$ , we see by the comparison that  $v \leq u^{\varepsilon}$ , and so  $v \leq \overline{u}$ . We also find that  $\overline{u}$  is bounded from below.

Since  $u^{\varepsilon} \in SUB(H^{\varepsilon})$ , we see  $\overline{u} \in SUB(\liminf_{* \varepsilon \downarrow 0} H^{\varepsilon}) = SUB(H)$  by the stability of viscosity subsolutions. Also,  $\overline{u}$  is an envelope supersolution of (HJ) because  $\overline{u} = \inf_{\varepsilon > 0} u^{\varepsilon}$  and  $u^{\varepsilon} \in SUP(H^{\varepsilon}) \subset \overline{D}$ -SUP(H). We finally show that  $\overline{u}$  is continuous at the initial time. Take any  $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$  and  $(y, s) \in Q_0$ . Then  $v(y, s) - u_0(x) \leq \overline{u}(y, s) - u_0(x) \leq u^{\varepsilon}(y, s) - u_0(x)$  and both v(y, s) and  $u^{\varepsilon}(y, s)$  converge to  $u_0(x)$  as  $(y, s) \to (x, 0)$ . As a result we deduce that  $\overline{u}(y, s) \to u_0(x)$ .

Remark 3.8. For any subset  $L \subset \mathbf{R}^N$  and  $h^{\varepsilon} : L \to \mathbf{R}$  ( $\varepsilon > 0$ ) we denote the upper relaxed limit (resp. lower relaxed limit) by  $\overline{h} = \limsup_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0}^* h^{\varepsilon}$  (resp.  $\underline{h} = \liminf_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} h^{\varepsilon}$ ) :  $\overline{L} \to \mathbf{R} \cup \{\pm \infty\}$ , which is defined as

$$\overline{h}(z) := \limsup_{(\varepsilon,y)\to(0,z)} h^{\varepsilon}(y) = \lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \sup\{h^{\varepsilon}(y) \mid y \in \overline{B}_{\delta}(z) \cap L, \ 0 < \varepsilon < \delta\}$$
  
(resp.  $\underline{h}(z) := \liminf_{(\varepsilon,y)\to(0,z)} h^{\varepsilon}(y) = \liminf_{\delta \downarrow 0} \inf\{h^{\varepsilon}(y) \mid y \in \overline{B}_{\delta}(z) \cap L, \ 0 < \varepsilon < \delta\}$ )

for  $z \in \overline{L}$ . The following properties are easily seen by the definition: If  $h^{\varepsilon} \equiv h$ , then  $\overline{h} = h^*$  and  $\underline{h} = h_*$ . If  $h^{\varepsilon} \downarrow h$  (resp.  $h^{\varepsilon} \uparrow h$ ) monotonously, then  $\overline{h} = h^*$ (resp.  $\underline{h} = h_*$ ). Also,  $\overline{h} = \limsup_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} (h^{\varepsilon})^*$  and  $\underline{h} = \liminf_{\ast \varepsilon \downarrow 0} (h^{\varepsilon})_*$  in general.

We next present examples of H which satisfies the assumption  $(H_{\varepsilon})$ . In order to obtain the comparison and existence properties in  $(H_{\varepsilon})$ , it is sufficient that each  $H^{\varepsilon}$  satisfies  $(H_p), (H_x)$  and  $(H_m)$ .

**Example 3.9.** If H is lower semicontinuous and bounded in  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$ , then  $(\mathbb{H}_{\varepsilon})$  is fulfilled. In this case we take  $H^{\varepsilon}$  as the inf-convolution of H over  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$ . (See below about sup- and inf-convolution.) Each  $H^{\varepsilon}$  satisfies  $(\mathbb{H}_p)$  and  $(\mathbb{H}_x)$  since it is globally Lipschitz continuous, and  $(\mathbb{H}_m)$  is clear from the boundedness of  $H^{\varepsilon}$ .

**Example 3.10.** Let H have the form of (1.10) with  $r \in BUSC(\mathbf{R}^n)$ . Assume that  $H_0$  is uniformly continuous in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}^n$  and satisfies  $(\mathbf{H}_m)$ . Then  $(\mathbf{H}_{\varepsilon})$  is fulfilled. The conditions  $(\mathbf{H}_p), (\mathbf{H}_x), (\mathbf{H}_m)$  are all satisfied by  $H^{\varepsilon}(x, p) = H_0(x, p) - r^{\varepsilon}(x)$ , where  $r^{\varepsilon}$  is the sup-convolution of r.

Remark 3.11 (sup- and inf-convolution). For bounded  $f : \mathbf{R}^N \to \mathbf{R}$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$ we define the sup-convolution  $f^{\varepsilon}$  (resp. inf-convolution  $f_{\varepsilon}$ ) of f by

$$f^{\varepsilon}(x) := \sup_{y \in \mathbf{R}^N} \left\{ f(y) - \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} |x - y|^2 \right\}.$$
  
(resp.  $f_{\varepsilon}(x) := \inf_{y \in \mathbf{R}^N} \left\{ f(y) + \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} |x - y|^2 \right\}.$ )

The following properties are easily found, and so we omit the verification.

- $-\|f\|_{\mathbf{R}^n} \leq f \leq f^{\delta} \leq f^{\varepsilon} \leq \|f\|_{\mathbf{R}^n}$  for  $0 < \delta < \varepsilon$ .
- $f^{\varepsilon}$  is Lipschitz continuous in  $\mathbf{R}^N$ .
- If f is upper semicontinuous, then  $f^{\varepsilon}(x) \downarrow f(x)$  ( $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$ ) for each  $x \in \mathbf{R}^N$ .
- If f is uniformly continuous, then  $f^{\varepsilon}$  converges to f uniformly in  $\mathbf{R}^{N}$ .

We mainly use these convolutions in order to approximate semicontinuous functions by Lipschitz continuous ones.

Combining Proposition 3.6 and Proposition 3.7, we obtain the unique existence result.

**Theorem 3.12** (unique existence–general version). Assume that H satisfies  $(H_p)$ ,  $(H_{xN})$ ,  $(H_{\varepsilon})$  and  $(H_m)$ . Then  $\overline{u}$ , a solution approximated from above, is a unique envelope solution of (HJ).

If we do not accept the assumption  $(H_{xN})$ , Lipschitz continuities of solutions are needed for CP.

**Theorem 3.13** (unique existence–Lipschitz version). Assume that H satisfies  $(H_p)$ ,  $(H_{\varepsilon})$  and  $(H_m)$ . Let  $u^{\varepsilon} \in SOL(H^{\varepsilon}, u_0)$  in  $(H_{\varepsilon})$  and assume that  $u^{\varepsilon}$  ( $\varepsilon > 0$ ) and  $\inf_{\varepsilon > 0} u^{\varepsilon}$  are Lipschitz continuous in Q. Then  $\overline{u}$ , a solution approximated from above, is a unique envelope solution of (HJ).

*Proof.* We only need to show the uniqueness. Let  $v \in e.SOL(H, u_0)$ . An analogue of the proof of Proposition 3.6 works and yields the inequality  $\overline{u} \leq v_*$  in Q (but we use Theorem 2.9 here). Next, since  $v \in SUB(H, u_0)$ ,  $u^{\varepsilon} \in \overline{D}$ -SUP $(H, u_0)$  and  $u^{\varepsilon}$  is Lipschitz continuous, Theorem 2.9 yields that  $v^* \leq u^{\varepsilon}$  in Q, and so  $v^* \leq \overline{u}$  in Q. Thus  $\overline{u} = v$ .

Remark 3.14. Let  $u \in e.SOL(H, u_0)$  and  $(H_p)$  hold. If there exists some  $\mathcal{T} \subset \overline{D}$ -SUB $(H, u_0) \cap BLip(Q)$  (resp.  $\mathcal{S} \subset \overline{D}$ -SUP $(H, u_0) \cap BLip(Q)$ ) such that  $u = \sup_{v \in \mathcal{T}} v$  (resp.  $u = \inf_{w \in \mathcal{S}} w$ ), then u is the minimal (resp. maximal) envelope solution. These facts are easily shown by using Theorem 2.9.

Remark 3.15. If the Lipschitz constants of  $u^{\varepsilon}$  are estimated uniformly in  $\varepsilon$ , then  $\overline{u} = \inf_{\varepsilon>0} u^{\varepsilon}$  is also Lipschitz continuous (provided that  $u^{\varepsilon}$  are bounded uniformly in  $\varepsilon$ ). In general, if  $u^{\varepsilon}$  have their modulus  $\omega \in \mathcal{M}$  independent of  $\varepsilon$ , their infimum  $\overline{u}$  also has the same  $\omega$  as its modulus.

**Example 3.16.** In Example 3.2 the function  $u(x,t) = c(t-|x|)_+$  is a unique envelope solution by Theorem 3.13 since  $u^{\varepsilon}$  and u are Lipschitz continuous. In Example 3.1, on the other hand, the envelope solutions are not unique in that  $v^{\alpha}(x,t) = \alpha t I(x)$  ( $\alpha \in (0,c]$ ) are all envelope solutions. Let us show this claim. It is easily seen that they are all subsolutions. Set  $v^{\alpha,\varepsilon}(x,t) := \alpha t \{(1 - \sqrt{|x|/\varepsilon})_+\}^2$  for  $\varepsilon > 0$ . (See Figure 6.) Then one observes that  $v^{\alpha,\varepsilon} \in \overline{D}$ -SUP(H,0) since  $\partial_t v^{\alpha,\varepsilon} \ge 0$  and  $\overline{D}^- v^{\alpha,\varepsilon}(0,t) = \emptyset$ . Hence the equality  $v^{\alpha} = \inf_{\varepsilon > 0} v^{\alpha,\varepsilon}$  implies our claim. Moreover  $v^0 \equiv 0$  is also an envelope solution since  $v^0 = \inf_{\alpha \in (0,c],\varepsilon > 0} v^{\alpha,\varepsilon}$ . The function  $v^c$  is the maximal envelope solution by

Remark 3.14 because  $v^c(x,t) = \inf_{\varepsilon>0} ctI^{\varepsilon}(x)$  and  $ctI^{\varepsilon}(x) \in \overline{D}$ - $SUP(H,0) \cap BLip(Q)$ , where  $I^{\varepsilon}(x) := (1 - |x|/\varepsilon)_+$ . Also,  $v^0 \equiv 0$  is the minimal envelope solution.

For a general initial data  $u_0 \in BUC(\mathbf{R}^n)$ , it is also seen that  $u_0(x) + \alpha tI(x)$  ( $\alpha \in [0, c]$ ) are all envelope solutions. Uniqueness, therefore, always goes wrong for the initial-value problem with the equation  $\partial_t u = cI(x)$ . Such bad behavior can happen when a Hamiltonian is non-coercive. Indeed, we establish the uniqueness result for coercive Hamiltonians in the next subsection (Theorem 3.20).



Figure 6:  $\overline{D}$ -supersolutions  $v^{\alpha,\varepsilon}$  of  $\partial_t u = I(x), u_0 \equiv 0$ .

#### 3.2 Coercive Hamiltonians

In order to apply Theorem 3.13, we need to know what conditions guarantee the Lipschitz continuities of  $u^{\varepsilon}$  and  $\inf_{\varepsilon>0} u^{\varepsilon}$ . We therefore consider in this subsection whether the solutions preserve the continuity of initial data. For continuous Hamiltonians it is known that such preserving properties hold if they are *coercive*, namely

$$\lim_{|p|\to\infty} \inf_{x\in\mathbf{R}^n} H(x,p) = \infty \quad \text{or} \quad \lim_{|p|\to\infty} \sup_{x\in\mathbf{R}^n} H(x,p) = -\infty.$$

The coercivity of H is equivalent to  $(H_{R+})$  or  $(H_{R-})$  below.

$$(\mathbf{H}_{R+}) \ R_+(m) := \sup\{|p| \mid \exists x \in \mathbf{R}^n, \ H(x,p) \le m\} < \infty \text{ for all } m \ge 0.$$

$$(\mathbf{H}_{R-}) \ R_{-}(m) := \sup\{|p| \mid \exists x \in \mathbf{R}^n, \ H(x,p) \ge -m\} < \infty \text{ for all } m \ge 0.$$

Here we use the convention that  $\sup \emptyset = 0$ . We first present Lipschitz continuity and BUC (bounded uniform continuity) preserving properties for continuous Hamiltonians. These results are more or less known. See for example [9], where they discussed for a.e. (sub)solutions. We give proofs based on the theory of viscosity solutions without using a.e. solutions in Appendix for completeness. By using these results we establish our preserving properties for discontinuous Hamiltonians via approximation by continuous ones. For a function  $u: Q \to \mathbf{R}$ , we define

$$\text{Lip}_t[u] := \sup_{x \in \mathbf{R}^n} \sup_{\substack{t, s \in (0,T) \\ t \neq s}} \frac{|u(x,t) - u(x,s)|}{|t-s|}, \\ \text{Lip}_x[u] := \sup_{\substack{t \in (0,T) \\ x \neq y}} \sup_{\substack{x, y \in \mathbf{R}^n \\ x \neq y}} \frac{|u(x,t) - u(y,t)|}{|x-y|}.$$

**Proposition 3.17** (Lipschitz continuity preserving property). Assume that H satisfies  $(H_p)$ ,  $(H_x)$ ,  $(H_m)$  and  $(H_{R+})$ . Let  $u_0 \in BLip(\mathbf{R}^n)$  and  $u \in SOL(H, u_0)$ . Then  $u \in BLip(Q)$  with the Lipschitz constant satisfying

$$\operatorname{Lip}_t[u] \le m, \qquad \operatorname{Lip}_x[u] \le R_+(m),$$

where  $m := m(\operatorname{Lip}[u_0])$  and  $m(\cdot)$  is the function in  $(\operatorname{H}_m)$ .

The assumption  $(H_{R+})$  is able to be replaced by  $(H_{R-})$ . (The same is valid for Proposition 3.18.) For the proof see Appendix.

**Proposition 3.18** (BUC preserving property). Assume that H satisfies  $(H_p)$ ,  $(H_x)$ ,  $(H_m)$  and  $(H_{R+})$ . Let  $u_0 \in BUC(\mathbf{R}^n)$  and  $u \in SOL(H, u_0)$ . Furthermore let  $\{u_0^{\delta}\}_{\delta>0} \subset BLip(\mathbf{R}^n)$  and assume that  $u_0^{\delta}$  converges to  $u_0$  uniformly in  $\mathbf{R}^n$  as  $\delta \downarrow 0$ . Then  $u \in BUC(Q)$  with modulus of continuity

$$\omega(r) := \inf_{\delta > 0} \left( 2 \| u_0 - u_0^{\delta} \|_{\mathbf{R}^n} + \sqrt{(m^{\delta})^2 + (R_+(m^{\delta}))^2} r \right),$$

where  $m^{\delta} := m(\operatorname{Lip}[u_0^{\delta}]), m(\cdot)$  is the function in  $(\operatorname{H}_m)$  and  $R_+(\cdot)$  is the function in  $(\operatorname{H}_{R+})$ .

For a given  $u_0 \in BUC(\mathbf{R}^n)$  one can always construct the family  $\{u_0^{\delta}\}_{\delta>0}$  like the above by taking  $u_0^{\delta}$  as the sup- or inf-convolution of  $u_0$  for  $\delta > 0$ . For the proof of Proposition 3.18 see Appendix.

Since we should treat discontinuous H, we apply the above results to the solutions  $u^{\varepsilon}$  of the approximate equations and confirm that their infimum has a desired property. We use the fact in Remark 3.15 that if  $u^{\varepsilon}$  share a modulus independent of  $\varepsilon$ , then their infimum has the same modulus. In the case of non-coercive Hamiltonian, solutions cannot preserve even continuity of the initial data as we observed in Example 3.1, in which the envelope solution u(x,t) = ctI(x) is not continuous in contrast to the initial data  $u_0 \equiv 0$ .

**Theorem 3.19.** Assume that H satisfies  $(H_{\varepsilon})$ ,  $(H_m)$  and that each  $H^{\varepsilon}$  in  $(H_{\varepsilon})$  satisfies  $(H_m)$ ,  $(H_{R+})$ . Assume furthermore that

$$\sup_{\varepsilon > 0} m^{\varepsilon}(\rho) < \infty, \quad \sup_{\varepsilon > 0} R^{\varepsilon}_{+}(m) < \infty$$

for all  $\rho \geq 0$  and  $m \geq 0$ , where

$$m^{\varepsilon}(\rho) := \sup\{|H^{\varepsilon}(x,p)| \mid (x,p) \in \mathbf{R}^{n} \times B_{\rho}(0)\} \ (<\infty),\$$
$$R^{\varepsilon}_{+}(m) := \sup\{|p| \mid \exists x \in \mathbf{R}^{n}, \ H^{\varepsilon}(x,p) \leq m\} \ (<\infty).$$

Let  $u_0 \in BUC(\mathbf{R}^n)$ . Then u, a solution approximated from above, has the following properties.

- (1)  $u \in BUC(Q)$ .
- (2) If  $u_0 \in BLip(\mathbf{R}^n)$ , then  $u \in BLip(Q)$ .
- (3) If H satisfies  $(H_p)$ , then u is a unique envelope solution of (HJ).

The condition  $(\mathcal{H}_{R+})$  is able to be replaced by  $(\mathcal{H}_{R-})$ . In this case, if H itself satisfies  $(\mathcal{H}_{R-})$ , then the assumption  $\sup_{\varepsilon>0} R^{\varepsilon}_{-}(m) < \infty$  always holds since we have  $R^{\varepsilon}_{-}(m) \leq R_{-}(m)$  by  $H^{\varepsilon} \leq H$ .

*Proof.* We first prove (2) and next show (1) by approximating the initial data. Take  $u^{\varepsilon} \in SOL(H^{\varepsilon}, u_0)$  in  $(H_{\varepsilon})$ .

(2) Denote  $l := \text{Lip}[u_0]$ . Now, Proposition 3.17 ensures that  $u^{\varepsilon} \in BLip(Q)$  and

$$\mathrm{Lip}_t[u^\varepsilon] \leq m^\varepsilon(l) \leq \sup_{\varepsilon > 0} m^\varepsilon(l), \quad \mathrm{Lip}_x[u^\varepsilon] \leq R^\varepsilon_+(m^\varepsilon(l)) \leq \sup_{\varepsilon > 0} R^\varepsilon_+(m^\varepsilon(l)).$$

Since both Lipschitz constants are estimated independently of  $\varepsilon$ , we conclude  $u = \inf_{\varepsilon > 0} u^{\varepsilon} \in BLip(Q).$ 

(1) Let  $u_0^{\delta} = (u_0)^{\delta}$  be the sup-convolution of  $u_0$  and denote  $l^{\delta} := \text{Lip}[u_0^{\delta}]$ . Then, Proposition 3.18 ensures that  $u^{\varepsilon} \in BUC(Q)$  and each  $u^{\varepsilon}$  has a modulus

$$\omega^{\varepsilon}(r) := \inf_{\delta > 0} \left( 2 \|u_0 - u_0^{\delta}\|_{\mathbf{R}^n} + \sqrt{\{m^{\varepsilon}(l^{\delta})\}^2 + \{R^{\varepsilon}_+(m^{\varepsilon}(l^{\delta}))\}^2} r \right).$$

Since  $m^{\varepsilon}(l^{\delta})$  and  $R^{\varepsilon}_{+}(m^{\varepsilon}(l^{\delta}))$  are similarly estimated independently of  $\varepsilon$ , there exists a common modulus for  $u^{\varepsilon}$ . Thus we conclude  $u \in BUC(Q)$ .

(3) Since  $u_0^{\delta} \in BLip(\mathbf{R}^n)$ , there exists a Lipschitz continuous envelope solution  $u^{\delta} \in e.SOL(H, u_0^{\delta}) \cap BLip(Q)$  for each  $\delta > 0$  by (2) above. Moreover, there exist solutions of approximate equations  $(u^{\delta})^{\varepsilon} \in SOL(H^{\varepsilon}, u_0^{\delta})$ , which satisfy

$$u^{\delta} = \inf_{\varepsilon > 0} (u^{\delta})^{\varepsilon} \quad \text{and} \quad (u^{\delta})^{\varepsilon} \in \overline{D}\text{-}SUP(H, u^{\delta}_0) \cap BLip(Q).$$

Then, by Theorem 2.9 we have  $||v - u^{\delta}||_Q \leq ||u_0 - u_0^{\delta}||_{\mathbf{R}^n}$  for any envelope solution v of (HJ). Hence the uniqueness of u follows because  $\lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} ||u_0 - u_0^{\delta}|| = 0$ .  $\Box$ 

We have given some examples of H satisfying  $(H_{\varepsilon})$ . In Example 3.9  $H^{\varepsilon}$  are not coercive because of their boundedness. We therefore impose the coercivity assumption on H in Example 3.10 so as to apply Theorem 3.19.

**Theorem 3.20.** Assume that H has the form of (1.10) with  $r \in BUSC(\mathbf{R}^n)$ . Assume that  $H_0$  is coercive, uniformly continuous in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}^n$  and satisfies  $(\mathbf{H}_m)$ . Let  $u_0 \in BUC(\mathbf{R}^n)$ . Then there exists a unique envelope solution u of (HJ) and it has the following properties.

- (1)  $u \in BUC(Q)$ .
- (2) If  $u_0 \in BLip(\mathbf{R}^n)$ , then  $u \in BLip(Q)$ .

Proof. We assume  $(\mathcal{H}_{R+})$  because the proof in the case of  $(\mathcal{H}_{R-})$  is similar. Let  $R_{0+}(\cdot)$  be the function in  $(\mathcal{H}_{R+})$  for  $H_0$ . It is clear that the above H fulfills  $(\mathcal{H}_m)$ . As observed in Example 3.10, we also learn that H satisfies  $(\mathcal{H}_{\varepsilon})$  by the approximation  $H^{\varepsilon}(x,p) = H_0(x,p) - r^{\varepsilon}(x)$ , where  $r^{\varepsilon}$  is the sup-convolution of r. Thus by Proposition 3.7 we obtain a solution approximated from above  $u \in e.SOL(H, u_0)$ . It remains to show the uniform boundedness of  $m^{\varepsilon}(\rho)$  and  $R^{\varepsilon}_{+}(m)$  in  $\varepsilon$  in order to apply Theorem 3.19. Since  $H^{\varepsilon} \leq |H_0| + ||r||_{\mathbf{R}^n}$ , we have  $m^{\varepsilon}(\rho) \leq \max_{\mathbf{R}^n \times \overline{B}_{\rho}(0)} |H_0| + ||r|| < \infty$ , and hence  $\sup_{\varepsilon > 0} m^{\varepsilon}(\rho) < \infty$ . Also, when  $m \geq H^{\varepsilon}(x,p)$ , one observes that  $H_0(x,p) \leq m + r^{\varepsilon} \leq m + ||r||$  and so  $|p| \leq R_{0+}(m+||r||)$  by  $(\mathcal{H}_{R+})$ . Therefore we obtain  $R^{\varepsilon}_{+}(m) \leq R_{0+}(m+||r||) < \infty$ , which yields  $\sup_{\varepsilon > 0} R^{\varepsilon}_{+}(m) < \infty$ .

#### 4 Relaxed Hamiltonians

In this section we establish a unique existence result without the coercivity assumption for H. Our existence result (Proposition 3.7) does not require the coercivity. The problem lies in the uniqueness part. In fact, we cannot expect the uniqueness in general as we observed in Example 3.16. However, we are able to show the uniqueness for more restrictive Hamiltonians without the coercivity. To apply our Lipschitz version of CP (Theorem 2.9) we need Lipschitz continuity of one of solutions, but the continuity preserving property does not hold in general without the coercivity. On the other hand, our general version of CP (Theorem 2.6) excludes Hamiltonians with discontinuous source terms. We solve this difficulty by considering a *relaxed problem*. If an envelope solution u of (HJ) can be regarded as an envelope solution of another problem (relaxed problem):

(r.HJ) 
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u + \hat{H}(x, \nabla u) = 0 & \text{in } Q, \\ (1.2). \end{cases}$$
(4.1)

with a relaxed Hamiltonian  $\hat{H}$  satisfying  $(H_{xN})$ , then we conclude the uniqueness of u as envelope solutions of (HJ) by Theorem 2.6.

We define the relaxed Hamiltonians so that  $H \ge H$ . Then it is obvious that a supersolution of (1.1) is also a supersolution of (4.1). Therefore it is an important issue whether or not a subsolution of (1.1) is also a subsolution of (4.1). We will solve this problem after defining  $\hat{H}$ . In addition, as another topics about  $\hat{H}$  we discuss existence of  $\overline{D}$ -solutions which are not guaranteed for original H.

#### 4.1 Uniqueness revisited

In this section we treat special Hamiltonians with the following properties.

(H<sub>r</sub>) (i) *H* is lower semicontinuous in  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$  and is continuous in  $(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \Gamma) \times \mathbb{R}^n$  with some discrete set  $\Gamma$ , i.e.,

for every 
$$a \in \Gamma$$
 there exists a open set  $V_a$  such that  $\{a\} = \Gamma \cap V_a$ .  
(4.2)

- (ii)  $H^*$  is continuous in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}^n$ .
- (iii)  $H(a,p) \leq \inf_{0 \leq \mu \leq 1} H^*(a,\mu p)$  for each  $a \in \Gamma$  and  $p \in \mathbf{R}^n$ .

For such H, we define a relaxed Hamiltonian  $\hat{H} : \mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}$  by

$$\hat{H}(x,p) := \begin{cases} H(x,p) & (x \notin \Gamma), \\ \min\{\inf_{0 \le \mu \le 1} H^*(x,\mu p), \ \sup_{0 \le \mu \le 1} H(x,\mu p)\} & (x \in \Gamma). \end{cases}$$

(See Figure 7.) The continuity of  $H^*$  implies that

$$H^{*}(x,p) = \lim_{\substack{(y,q) \to (x,p) \\ y \neq x}} H(y,q)$$
(4.3)

for all  $(x,p) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}^n$ . Also, since  $H(x,p) \leq \sup_{0 \leq \mu \leq 1} H(x,\mu p)$  and  $(\mathbf{H}_r)(\mathrm{iii})$  holds, we have  $H \leq \hat{H}$  in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}^n$ . Besides, it is seen that  $\hat{H} \leq H^*$  in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}^n$  and  $\hat{H}$  is lower semicontinuous.



Figure 7: The definition of  $\hat{H}(0, p)$  in the case  $0 \in \Gamma$ .

**Example 4.1.** Let *H* have the form of (1.10). Then the following (i)'-(iii)' is one sufficient condition for  $(H_r)$ .

- (i)'  $H_0$  is continuous in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}^n$ . r is upper semicontinuous in  $\mathbf{R}^n$  and is continuous in  $\mathbf{R}^n \setminus \Gamma$  for some  $\Gamma$  which satisfies (4.2).
- (ii)'  $r_*$  is continuous in  $\mathbf{R}^n$ .

(iii)' 
$$H_0(a,p) - r(a) \leq \inf_{0 \leq \mu \leq 1} H_0(a,\mu p) - r_*(a)$$
 for each  $a \in \Gamma$  and  $p \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

To show (iii)' it is enough to prove that

a function  $\mu \mapsto H_0(a, \mu p)$  is nonincreasing on  $\{\mu \ge 0\}$  for each  $a \in \Gamma$  and  $p \in \mathbf{R}^n$ . (4.4)

We here assume (4.4) and let  $0 \in \Gamma$  (, i.e., r is discontinuous at 0). Then, since  $H^*(0, \mu p) = H_0(0, \mu p) - r_*(0)$  and  $H(0, \mu p) = H_0(0, \mu p) - r(0)$ , we have

$$H(0,p) = \min\{H_0(0,p) - r_*(0), H_0(0,0) - r(0)\}$$

for all  $p \in \mathbf{R}^n$ . By this equality we find that  $\hat{H}(0,p)$  is a constant  $H_0(0,0)-r(0) = H(0,0)$  on  $P := \{p \in \mathbf{R}^n \mid H_0(0,p) \ge H_0(0,0)-(r(0)-r_*(0))\}$ . Furthermore, if P is bounded, namely  $P \subset B_N(0)$  for some N > 0, then  $\hat{H}(x,p) = H_0(x,p) - r_*(x)$  holds in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times (\mathbf{R}^n \setminus B_N(0))$ . Therefore assumptions  $(\mathbf{H}_p)$  and  $(\mathbf{H}_{xN})$  required in Theorem 2.6 are fulfilled if  $H_0$  and  $r_*$  are uniformly continuous.

**Example 4.2.** We see for (1.3) that  $\hat{H}(x,p) = -|p| - (cI(x) - |p|)_+$ . As for a unique envelope solution  $u(x,t) = c(t - |x|)_+$  with  $u_0 \equiv 0$ , an easy computation shows that  $u \in SUB(\hat{H}, 0)$ , which implies  $u \in e.SOL(\hat{H}, 0)$ . Moreover one can also verify  $u \in \overline{D}$ -SOL $(\hat{H}, 0)$ . This suggests that an envelope solution of (HJ) has a more chance to be a  $\overline{D}$ -solution of (r.HJ) than the original equation. The details will be discussed in the next subsection.

**Example 4.3.** For (1.16) we have  $\hat{H} = H$ . Hence the relaxation method does not give any new information to us.

The following is the key fact for relaxed Hamiltonians.

**Lemma 4.4.** Assume that H satisfies  $(H_r)$ . If  $u \in SUB(H)$ , then  $u \in SUB(\hat{H})$ .

Proof. We simply write u for  $u^*$ . Take any  $(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) \in Q$  and  $(p, \tau) \in D^+ u(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$ . If  $\hat{x} \notin \Gamma$  or p = 0, we deduce  $\tau + \hat{H}(\hat{x}, p) \leq 0$  since  $\hat{H}(\hat{x}, p) = H(\hat{x}, p)$  and  $u \in SUB(H)$ . Therefore we need only consider the case that  $\hat{x} \in \Gamma$  and  $p \neq 0$ . We may assume  $\hat{x} = 0$  to simplify the notation. Our goal is now to show  $\tau + \hat{H}(0, p) \leq 0$ , namely

$$\tau + \inf_{0 \le \mu \le 1} H^*(0, \mu p) \le 0 \qquad \text{or} \qquad \tau + \sup_{0 \le \mu \le 1} H(0, \mu p) \le 0.$$

Define

$$\Sigma := \{ \mu \in [0,1] \mid (\mu p, \tau) \in D^+ u(0,\hat{t}) \}, \quad \mu_0 := \inf\{ \mu \in [0,1] \mid [\mu,1] \subset \Sigma \}.$$

Then  $1 \in \Sigma$  and we also have  $\mu_0 \in \Sigma$  since superdifferentials are closed. We discuss two different cases about  $\mu_0$ .

**Case 1:**  $\mu_0 = 0$ . Since  $(\mu p, \tau) \in D^+ u(0, \hat{t})$  for each  $\mu \in [0, 1]$ , it follows from  $u \in SUB(H)$  that

$$\tau + H(0, \mu p) \leq 0.$$

Thus we obtain

$$\tau + \sup_{0 \le \mu \le 1} H(0, \mu p) \le 0.$$

**Case 2:**  $0 < \mu_0 \leq 1$ . Take a corresponding test function  $\phi \in C^1(Q)$  for  $(\mu_0 p, \tau) \in D^+ u(0, \hat{t})$ . We may assume  $u - \phi$  attains its strict maximum at  $(0, \hat{t})$ . By the definition of  $\mu_0$  there exists a sequence  $\{\mu_m\}_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$  such that  $\mu_m \uparrow \mu_0$  and  $\mu_m \notin \Sigma$ . Define

$$\phi_m(x,t) = \phi(x,t) - (\mu_0 - \mu_m) \langle x, p \rangle$$

for each *m*. Since  $\phi_m$  converges to  $\phi$  locally uniformly, there exists some sequence  $\{(x_m, t_m)\}_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$  such that  $(x_m, t_m) \to (0, \hat{t})$  and  $\max_{Q'}(u - \phi_m) = (u - \phi_m)(x_m, t_m)$ . Here Q' is an arbitrary bounded open subset of Q containing  $(0, \hat{t})$ .

The facts that  $\mu_m \notin \Sigma$  and  $\nabla \phi_m(0, \hat{t}) = \mu_m p$  imply  $(x_m, t_m) \neq (0, \hat{t})$ . Moreover we find that  $x_m \neq 0$  since  $\phi_m(0, t) = \phi(0, t)$ . Thus it follows from  $u \in SUB(H)$  that

$$\partial_t \phi(x_m, t_m) + H(x_m, \nabla \phi(x_m, t_m) - (\mu_0 - \mu_m)p) \le 0$$

and by letting  $m \to \infty$  we obtain

$$\tau + H^*(0, \mu_0 p) \le 0$$

on account of (4.3). As a result we have

$$\tau + \inf_{0 \le \mu \le 1} H^*(0, \mu p) \le 0,$$

which concludes the proof.

We present a uniqueness result in a general form.

**Proposition 4.5** (uniqueness by relaxation). Assume that H satisfies  $(H_r)$  and that  $\hat{H}$  satisfies  $(H_p)$ ,  $(H_{xN})$ . Then there exists at most one envelope solution of (HJ) and it is upper semicontinuous.

Proof. If  $u_1, u_2 \in e.SOL(H, u_0)$ , then  $u_1, u_2 \in e.SOL(\hat{H}, u_0)$  by Lemma 4.4 and  $H \leq \hat{H}$ . Since  $\hat{H}$  satisfies  $(H_p)$ ,  $(H_{xN})$  and is lower semicontinuous, we see  $u_1 = u_2$  and they are upper semicontinuous in terms of Proposition 3.6.

Here we give one sufficient condition to apply Proposition 4.5.

**Proposition 4.6.** Assume that H has the form of (1.10) with (1.12). Assume that  $H_0$  is uniformly continuous in  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$ , satisfies (4.4) and

$$R(\gamma) := \sup\{|p| \mid \exists x \in \mathbf{R}^n, \ H_0(x,p) \ge -\gamma\} < \infty,$$
(4.5)

where  $\gamma := \max_{j=1}^{N} (c_j - H_0(a_j, 0))$ . Then  $\hat{H}$  satisfies  $(\mathbf{H}_p)$  and  $(\mathbf{H}_{xN})$ .

*Proof.* According to Example 4.1 we have

$$\hat{H}(x,p) := \begin{cases} H_0(x,p) & (x \neq a_j), \\ \min\{H_0(a_j,p), \ H_0(a_j,0) - c_j\} & (x = a_j) \end{cases}$$

under the above assumptions. It suffices to check  $(\mathbf{H}_{xN})$ . By (4.5) we see  $H_0(a_j, p) < H_0(a_j, 0) - c_j$  for all  $p \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{B}_{R(\gamma)}(0)$  and  $j \in \{1, 2, \dots, N\}$ . Consequently

$$\hat{H}(x,p) = H_0(x,p) \quad \text{if } (x,p) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times (\mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{B}_{R(\gamma)}(0)),$$

and so  $(H_{xN})$  is satisfied.

**Example 4.7.** Let us consider the non-coercive Hamiltonian (1.17). Then (4.5) is fulfilled if and only if 0 < c < 1, and therefore the uniqueness of envelope solutions follows. We will later see in Example 5.15 that there are infinitely many  $\overline{D}$ -solutions even with  $u_0 \equiv 0$  when c > 1.

**Theorem 4.8.** Assume that H has the form of (1.17). Let  $u_0 \in BUC(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and 0 < c < 1. Then there exists a unique envelope solution  $u^c$  of (HJ). Moreover  $u^c \in BLip(Q)$  provided that  $Lip[u_0] < (1-c)/c$ .

*Proof.* Since  $H = H^c$  satisfies  $(H_{\varepsilon})$  and  $(H_m)$  for Proposition 3.7 (refer to Example 3.9 or 3.10 about  $(H_{\varepsilon})$ ), there exists  $u^c \in e.SOL(H^c, u_0)$ , a solution approximated from above, and its uniqueness follows from Example 4.7.

We next show the Lipschitz continuity preserving property of  $u^c$ . Define  $H^{c,\varepsilon}(x,p) = -|p|/(1+|p|) - cI^{\varepsilon}(x)$  with (1.8). Observe that for fixed  $\rho_0 > 0$ 

$$m^{c,\varepsilon}(\rho) := \sup\{|H^{c,\varepsilon}(x,p)| \mid (x,p) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times \overline{B}_{\rho}(0)\} \le c + \frac{\rho_0}{1+\rho_0} \quad (\forall \rho \in [0,\rho_0])$$

and

$$R^{c,\varepsilon}_{-}(m) := \sup\{|p| \mid \exists x \in \mathbf{R}^n, \ H^{c,\varepsilon}(x,p) \ge -m\} \le \frac{m}{1-m} \quad (\forall m \in [0,1)).$$

Therefore we learn by Remark A.1 that solutions of (HJ) with  $H^{c,\varepsilon}$  are Lipschitz continuous provided that  $c+\rho_0/(1+\rho_0) < 1$ , i.e.,  $\rho_0 < (1-c)/c$ . Furthermore, we see by the estimate above that their Lipschitz constants are bounded uniformly in  $\varepsilon$ . Hence their infimum, which is  $u^c$  by the uniqueness, is also Lipschitz continuous if  $\text{Lip}[u_0] < (1-c)/c$ .

We think that the Lipschitz continuity preserving property may not hold if  $\operatorname{Lip}[u_0] > (1-c)/c$ .

#### 4.2 Existence of $\overline{D}$ -solutions

For (HJ) with (1.3) and  $u_0 \equiv 0$ , the unique envelope solution  $u(x,t) = c(t-|x|)_+$ is not only an envelope solution of (r.HJ) but also a  $\overline{D}$ -solution of (r.HJ). In other words, we obtained a  $\overline{D}$ -solution by the relaxation method while our original problem (HJ) has no  $\overline{D}$ -solution. Unfortunately, for a general initial-value it is not always true that  $u \in \overline{D}$ -SOL $(\hat{H}, u_0)$  when  $u \in e.SOL(H, u_0)$ . Its counterexample is given by the lower left function in Figure 10 later. It is the envelope solution of (HJ) with  $H(x, p) = -|p| - I(x), u_0(x) = 2\min\{(|x|-1)_+, 1\}$  and is written as

$$u(x,t) = \max\left\{\max_{\overline{B}_t(x)} u_0, \ (t-|x|)_+\right\}.$$
(4.6)

For this u, we observe that  $u \notin \overline{D}$ - $SOL(\hat{H}, u_0)$  because  $(0, 0) \in \overline{D}^- u(0, 2)$  and  $0 + \hat{H}(0, 0) = -1 < 0$ . In this subsection we consider what conditions lead an envelope solution of (HJ) to a  $\overline{D}$ -solution of (r.HJ).

Recall that an envelope supersolution is not always a  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution because of a lack of stability. If it is guaranteed for (r.HJ), one can obtain a  $\overline{D}$ -solution. We shall explain the difficulty to show the stability in general. Let  $u := \inf_{\varepsilon > 0} u^{\varepsilon}$ ,  $u^{\varepsilon} \in \overline{D}$ -SUP( $\hat{H}$ ),  $(p, \tau) \in \overline{D}^{-}u_{*}(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$  and take a defining approximate sequence  $(p_m, \tau_m) \in D^{-}u_{*}(x_m, t_m)$ . Since  $u^{\varepsilon} \in SUP(\hat{H})$  in particular, the stability for standard solutions ensures  $\tau_m + (\hat{H})^{*}(x_m, p_m) \geq 0$ . Sending  $m \to \infty$ , we see
$\tau + (\hat{H})^*(\hat{x}, p) \geq 0$  and  $\tau + \hat{H}(\hat{x}, p) \geq 0$  if  $\hat{H}$  is continuous at  $(\hat{x}, p)$ . Hence the remaining problem is whether  $\tau + \hat{H}(\hat{x}, p) \geq 0$  holds for every  $(p, \tau) \in \overline{D}^- u_*(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$  such that  $(\hat{x}, p)$  is a discontinuous point of  $\hat{H}$ .

Let us come back to the example of (1.3). Since the set of discontinuous points of  $\hat{H}(x,p) = -|p| - (cI(x) - |p|)_+$  is  $\{(0,p) \mid |p| < c\}$ , the problem is whether  $\tau - c \ge 0$  holds for all  $(p,\tau) \in \overline{D}^- u_*(0,\hat{t})$  such that |p| < c. This can be regarded as a condition about growth rates of u in the t-direction near  $\{0\} \times (0,T)$  and is satisfied for example if u has the form  $u(x,t) = c(t-|x|)_+ + k$ for some  $k \in \mathbf{R}$ . According to Example 5.7 later, if the initial-value  $u_0$  satisfies

$$u_0(x) < c|x| + u_0(0) \quad \text{for all } x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \{0\},$$
(4.7)

then

$$u(x,t) = c(t - |x|)_{+} + u_0(0) \quad \text{near } \{0\} \times (0,T).$$
(4.8)

Thus we obtain a  $\overline{D}$ -solution of (r.HJ). Summarizing the above arguments we conclude

**Theorem 4.9.** Let H(x,p) = -|p| - cI(x) for c > 0. Let  $u \in e.SOL(H, u_0)$ . If (4.7) holds, then  $u \in \overline{D}$ -SOL $(\hat{H}, u_0)$ .

Remark 4.10. The assumption (4.7) is optimal since (4.6) is not a  $\overline{D}$ -solution of (r.HJ). (Note that  $u_0(x) = |x|$  if |x| = 0 or 2 and  $u_0(x) < |x|$  if  $|x| \neq 0$  and 2 in the example.)

In Appendix B we discuss the existence of  $\overline{D}$ -solutions for more general equations.

# 5 Some examples of solutions

### 5.1 Representation by optimal control theory

Let us recall the representation formula of viscosity solutions by *optimal control theory*. (See for instance [19].) We consider the following *state equation*.

$$X'(s) = f(X(s), \alpha(s)) \quad \text{in } (0, t), \qquad X(0) = x.$$
(5.1)

Here the unknown is  $X : [0, t] \to \mathbf{R}^n$  and

- $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$  is a given initial state and  $t \in [0, T]$  is a terminal time.
- $A \subset \mathbf{R}^m$  is a compact control set and  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A} := \{\alpha : [0,T] \to A, \text{ measurable}\}$  is a control.
- $f = f(x, a) : \mathbf{R}^n \times A \to \mathbf{R}^n$  is a given bounded and continuous function. Moreover f(x, a) is Lipschitz continuous in x uniformly in a, that is  $\operatorname{Lip}_x[f] < \infty$ .

As for this ODE there exists for each  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  a unique Lipschitz continuous solution X(s) which satisfies the first equation of (5.1) a.e.  $s \in (0, t)$ . Let us write  $X(s) = X^{\alpha}(s) = X(s; \alpha, x, t)$  to denote the solution. Since  $|X^{\alpha}(s_1) - X^{\alpha}(s_2)| =$  $|\int_{s_2}^{s_1} f(X^{\alpha}(s), \alpha(s)) ds| \leq ||f||_{\mathbf{R}^n \times A} \cdot |s_1 - s_2|$  for each  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ , the solutions  $X^{\alpha}$ are Lipschitz continuous uniformly in  $\alpha$  with the Lipschitz constant smaller than ||f||.

Next, for given  $(x,t) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times [0,T]$  and  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$  we define a corresponding *cost* functional  $C_{x,t}[\alpha]$  by

$$C_{x,t}[\alpha] := \int_0^t r(X^\alpha(s), \alpha(s))ds + u_0(X^\alpha(t)),$$

where

- r = r(x, a) :  $\mathbb{R}^n \times A \to \mathbb{R}$  is a given bounded and continuous function. Moreover r(x, a) is Lipschitz continuous in x uniformly in a, that is  $\operatorname{Lip}_x[r] < \infty$ .
- $u_0 \in BUC(\mathbf{R}^n)$ .

We call the above r a running cost function while  $u_0$  serves as a terminal cost function. Then the value function  $u : \mathbf{R}^n \times [0, T] \to \mathbf{R}$  is defined by

$$u(x,t) := \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} C_{x,t}[\alpha].$$
(5.2)

We are able to prove that u is a viscosity solution of a Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman equation.

**Theorem 5.1** (a PDE for the value function). Let u be defined as above. Then u is a unique viscosity solution of the initial-value problem

(HJB) 
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u - \max_{a \in A} \{ \langle f(x, a), \nabla u \rangle + r(x, a) \} = 0 & \text{in } Q, \end{cases}$$
(5.3)

$$\int \left( u \right|_{t=0} = u_0 \qquad \qquad \text{in } \mathbf{R}^n. \tag{5.4}$$

*Remark* 5.2. When the value function is defined as the infimum of costs, namely

$$u(x,t) := \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} C_{x,t}[\alpha], \tag{5.5}$$

u becomes a solution of the same equation as above except that the max is replaced by min.

Our goal is to extend the classical theory above for discontinuous equations. Now we study Hamiltonians written by the form  $H(x, p) = -\max_{a \in A} \langle f(x, a), p \rangle - r(x)$  with  $r \in BUSC(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . We hereafter assume that running costs are independent of the control variable a. Recall that as Example 3.2 and Proposition 3.7 we are able to construct an envelope solution by regularizing r from above to get  $r^{\varepsilon}$  (the sup-convolution method enables us to do that) and taking the infimum of solutions of the approximate problems. That means we take

$$u^{\varepsilon}(x,t) := \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} C^{\varepsilon}_{x,t}[\alpha] \quad \text{with } C^{\varepsilon}_{x,t}[\alpha] = \int_0^t r^{\varepsilon}(X^{\alpha}(s))ds + u_0(X^{\alpha}(t)), \quad (5.6)$$

$$u(x,t) := \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} u^{\varepsilon}(x,t) = \inf_{\varepsilon > 0} u^{\varepsilon}(x,t),$$
(5.7)

and prove that u is an envelope solution. On the other hand, since upper semicontinuous functions are integrable, it is possible to define a cost and value function for our original r which is not necessarily continuous, that is

$$v(x,t) := \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} C_{x,t}[\alpha] \quad \text{with } C_{x,t}[\alpha] = \int_0^t r(X^\alpha(s))ds + u_0(X^\alpha(t)). \tag{5.8}$$

What is the relationship between this v of the discontinuous problem and u via the approximation (5.7)? Since problems including no  $\varepsilon$ -perturbation can be directly handled, if u = v, it characterizes the limit of  $u^{\varepsilon}$ . (See Figure 8.)



Figure 8: Control theory for a discontinuous running cost. The commutativity of this diagram is a problem.

In Example 3.2 we deduced that  $u(x,t) = \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} u^{\varepsilon}(x,t) = c(t-|x|)_{+}$  by regarding the Hamiltonian as  $H(x,p) = -\max_{a \in \overline{B}_{1}(0)} \langle a, p \rangle - cI(x)$ . On the other hand, as for discontinuous case  $v(x,t) = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \int_{0}^{t} cI(X^{\alpha}(s)) ds$ , for each  $x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$  the optimal control is still the one that leads to a straight trajectory before it comes to the origin and stays there after that moment. Therefore we conclude that  $v(x,t) = c(t-|x|)_{+}$ , and so u = v. However, situations are different for another compact set A. For example if the control set A' is taken as  $S^{n-1}$ , the resulting Hamiltonian is the same as  $H(x,p) = -\max_{a \in S^{n-1}} \langle a, p \rangle - cI(x)$ . However, since  $X^{\alpha}$  moves at a velocity of 1 all the time for each control  $\alpha$ , it cannot stay at the origin. Hence we conclude that  $v \equiv 0$ .

We here give one sufficient condition for guaranteeing u = v.

**Lemma 5.3** (controllability). Let  $r \in BUSC(\mathbf{R}^n)$ ,  $r^{\varepsilon} \in BLip(\mathbf{R}^n)$  ( $\varepsilon > 0$ ) and  $r^{\varepsilon} \downarrow r$  in  $\mathbf{R}^n$  pointwise, and define  $u^{\varepsilon}, u$  and v by (5.6)–(5.8). Assume furthermore that

(A1) there exists a measurable function  $\theta : \mathbf{R}^n \times \overline{B}_{\|f\|}(0) \to A$  such that  $p = f(x, \theta(x, p))$  for all  $(x, p) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times \overline{B}_{\|f\|}(0)$ ,

where  $||f|| = \sup_{\mathbf{R}^n \times A} |f|$ . Then u = v.

Proof. 1. We find that  $v \leq u$  because  $C_{x,t}[\cdot] \leq C_{x,t}^{\varepsilon}[\cdot]$  for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ . It remains to prove  $u \leq v$ . Fix  $(x,t) \in Q$ . For each  $\varepsilon > 0$  there is some  $\alpha^{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{A}$  such that  $u^{\varepsilon}(x,t) - \varepsilon \leq C_{x,t}^{\varepsilon}[\alpha^{\varepsilon}]$ . Set  $X^{\varepsilon}(s) := X(s; \alpha^{\varepsilon}, x, t)$ , then one can easily check that the family  $\{X^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon>0} \subset C[0,t]$  is equicontinuous and uniformly bounded by using Lipschitz continuities of  $X^{\alpha}$ . Consequently Ascoli-Arzelà theorem ensures that there exists a subsequence  $\{X^{\varepsilon(j)}\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$  such that  $X^{\varepsilon(j)}$  uniformly converges to some  $\overline{X} \in C[0,t]$  as  $j \to \infty$ . The estimate  $\operatorname{Lip}[X^{\alpha}] \leq ||f||$  ( $\forall \alpha$ ) implies Lip $[\bar{X}] \leq ||f||$ , and so  $\bar{X}$  is a.e. differentiable and  $\bar{X}'(s) \in \overline{B}_{||f||}(0)$ . Therefore by setting  $\bar{\alpha}(s) := \theta(\bar{X}(s), \bar{X}'(s))$  we have  $\bar{X}'(s) = f(\bar{X}(s), \bar{\alpha}(s))$  a.e. s, and also  $\bar{X}(s) = X(s; \bar{\alpha}, x, t)$ .

2. Fix d > 0. If  $0 < \varepsilon(j) < d$ , then we have

$$u^{\varepsilon(j)}(x,t) \leq \varepsilon(j) + C_{x,t}^{\varepsilon(j)}[\alpha^{\varepsilon(j)}] \leq \varepsilon(j) + C_{x,t}^d[\alpha^{\varepsilon(j)}]$$

and

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} C_{x,t}^d [\alpha^{\varepsilon(j)}] = \lim_{j \to \infty} \left\{ \int_0^t r^d (X^{\varepsilon(j)}(s)) ds + u_0(X^{\varepsilon(j)}(t)) \right\}$$
$$= \int_0^t r^d (\bar{X}(s)) ds + u_0(\bar{X}(t)).$$

Hence it follows that

$$u(x,t) \le \int_0^t r^d(\bar{X}(s))ds + u_0(\bar{X}(t)).$$

Sending  $d \downarrow 0$ , we obtain by monotone convergence theorem

$$u(x,t) \leq \int_0^t r(\bar{X}(s))ds + u_0(\bar{X}(t)) = C_{x,t}[\bar{\alpha}] \leq v(x,t),$$

which completes the proof.

Remark 5.4. To prove u = v in the case that value functions are defined by (5.5), there is no need to assume (A1). It suffices to show  $u \leq v$  again. Take a minimizing sequence  $\{\alpha_m\}$  of v(x,t) (, i.e.,  $\lim_{m\to\infty} C_{x,t}[\alpha_m] = v(x,t)$ ), and then  $u^{\varepsilon}(x,t) \leq C_{x,t}^{\varepsilon}[\alpha_m]$  holds for all  $\varepsilon$  and m. Letting  $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$ , we see that  $u(x,t) \leq C_{x,t}[\alpha_m]$  by monotone convergence theorem. Finally send  $m \to \infty$ .

Let us calculate some examples of solutions by applying Lemma 5.3 or Remark 5.4.

At first we consider the case that  $H(x,p) = -|p|-r(x) = -\max_{a \in \overline{B}_1(0)} \langle a, p \rangle - r(x)$  with  $r \in BUSC(\mathbf{R}^n)$ . Then (A1) is satisfied by taking  $\theta(x,p) = p$ , and so Lemma 5.3 guarantees that v defined by

$$v(x,t) := \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \left\{ \int_0^t r(X^{\alpha}(s)) ds + u_0(X^{\alpha}(t)) \right\}$$

is the unique envelope solution.

**Example 5.5.** Let us consider the case of (1.14) and  $u_0 \equiv 0$ . In this case, for each  $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$  the optimal control forces the state to move straight towards the nearest point in S and to stop moving after the arrival. Therefore we conclude that

$$v(x,t) = c(t - \operatorname{dist}(x,S))_+.$$

The solution in the case that S = [-1, 1] and c = 1 is given in Figure 9 (the left).

**Example 5.6.** Let us consider the case of (1.12) and  $u_0 \equiv 0$ . In this case, since we have obtained the optimal control for the case  $r(x) = c_j I(x - a_j)$  for every  $j \ (= 1, 2, ..., N)$ , we only need to pick up the maximum of them. Hence we have

$$v(x,t) = \max_{j=1}^{N} c_j (t - |x - a_j|)_+.$$

The solution in the case that  $a_1 = 1, v_1 = 1, a_2 = -1, v_2 = 1/3$  is given in Figure 9 (the right).



Figure 9: The envelope solution of  $\partial_t u - |\nabla u| = \chi_{[-1,1]}(x)$ ,  $u_0 \equiv 0$  (the left) and that of  $\partial_t u - |\nabla u| = I(x+1)/3 + I(x-1)$ ,  $u_0 \equiv 0$  (the right).

**Example 5.7.** Let us consider the case that r(x) = cI(x) (c > 0) with a general initial condition  $u_0 \in BUC(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . In this case, for each  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  all of the controls can be categorized into two types. One type is to force the state to approach the origin. The other type results in trajectories without passing the origin. The optimal value for the former type is

$$\max_{s \in [0,t-|x|]} \left\{ cs + \max_{\overline{B}_{t-|x|-s}(0)} u_0 \right\} =: V(x,t)$$

provided that  $t \ge |x|$  while

$$\max_{\overline{B}_t(x)} u_0$$

is the maximal value for the latter type. Thus we conclude that

$$v(x,t) = \begin{cases} \max_{\overline{B}_t(x)} u_0 & (t \le |x|), \\ \max\left[\max_{\overline{B}_t(x)} u_0, V(x,t)\right] & (t \ge |x|). \end{cases}$$

We will make this formula simpler by imposing some conditions on  $u_0$ . Assume that  $u_0(0) = 0$  hereafter.

[1] The case that  $u_0(x) \leq c|x|$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Since V(x,t) = c(t-|x|) (s=t-|x|), we have

$$v(x,t) = \begin{cases} \max_{\overline{B}_t(x)} u_0 & (t \le |x|), \\ \max\left[\max_{\overline{B}_t(x)} u_0, \ c(t-|x|)\right] & (t \ge |x|). \end{cases}$$

In particular, we see u(0,t) = ct for all  $t \in (0,T)$  because  $\max_{\overline{B}_t(0)} u_0 \leq ct$ .



Figure 10: The envelope solutions of  $\partial_t u - |\nabla u| = I(x)$  under several initial data  $u_0$ . The upper left is the case that  $u_0(x) = -|x|/(1+|x|)$  and the solid curve is (x, t, u) = (s, |s|, 0). The upper right is the case that  $u_0(x) = |x|/(1+|x|)$  and the solid curve is  $(s, \sqrt{s^2 + 2|s|}, \sqrt{s^2 + 2|s|} - s)$ . The lower left is the case that  $u_0(x) = 2\min\{(|x| - 1)_+, 1\}$ . The lower right is the case that  $u_0(x) = 2\min\{|x|, 1\}$ . Each function is the unique envelope solution.

- (a) If  $u_0(x) \leq 0$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , then v(x,t) = c(t |x|) for  $t \geq |x|$ . The solution for c = 1 and  $u_0(x) = -|x|/(1 + |x|)$  is given in Figure 10 (the upper left).
- (b) If  $u_0(x) < c|x|$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ , then for all  $\hat{t} \in (0, T)$  we have v(x, t) = c(t |x|) in some open neighborhood of  $(0, \hat{t}) \in Q$  because  $\max_{\overline{B}_t(0)} u_0 < ct$ . The solution for c = 1 and  $u_0(x) = |x|/(1 + |x|)$  is given in Figure 10 (the upper right).
- (c) If there is some  $\hat{x} \neq 0$  such that  $u_0(\hat{x}) = c|\hat{x}|$ , it is unable to take the open neighborhood described in (b) at  $(0, |\hat{x}|)$ . The solution for c = 1 and  $u_0(x) = 2\min\{(|x|-1)_+, 1\}$  is given in Figure 10 (the lower left), where  $\hat{x} = 2$ .
- [2] The case that  $u_0(x) \leq c|x|$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . We assume that  $u_0$  has the form  $u_0(x) = b(|x|)$  and that  $b(\rho_2) b(\rho_1) > c(\rho_2 \rho_1)$   $(0 \leq \rho_1 < \rho_2 \leq R)$ ,  $b(\rho) = b(R)$   $(\rho \geq R)$  for some R > 0. Note that we have  $\max_{\overline{B}_t(x)} u_0 = b(|x| + t)$ . Then we observe that V(x,t) = b(t - |x| - s) (s = 0) for  $0 \leq t - |x| \leq R$  and it is smaller than b(|x|+t), and also V(x,t) = c(t-|x|-R) + b(R) (s = t - |x| - R) for  $t - |x| \geq R$  and it is bigger than b(|x|+t) = b(R). Thus we conclude that

$$v(x,t) = \begin{cases} b(|x|+t) & (t \le |x|+R), \\ c(t-|x|-R) + b(R) & (t \ge |x|+R). \end{cases}$$

It is seen that  $v(x,t) \equiv b(R)$  if  $-|x| + R \leq t \leq |x| + R$ . In this case, there is no effect of the step source by time R on account of rapid growth of the initial data and v becomes flat at time R. The solution for c = 1 and  $b(\rho) = 2\min\{\rho, 1\}$  (R = 1) is given in Figure 10 (the lower right).

We next consider the case that  $H(x,p) = |p| - r(x) = -\min_{a \in \overline{B}_1(0)} \langle a, p \rangle - r(x)$ with  $r \in BUSC(\mathbf{R}^n)$ , which describes the isotropic shrink at a velocity of 1. Then Remark 5.4 guarantees that v defined by

$$v(x,t) := \inf_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \left\{ \int_0^t r(X^{\alpha}(s)) ds + u_0(X^{\alpha}(t)) \right\}$$

is the unique envelope solution.

**Example 5.8.** Let us consider the case of (1.12) with a general initial condition  $u_0 \in BUC(\mathbf{R}^n)$ . In this case, since for each  $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$  the optimal control forces the corresponding state to go to the minimizer of  $u_0$  on  $\overline{B}_t(x)$  (and not to stay each  $a_j$  for a positive time), we have

$$v(x,t) = \min_{\overline{B}_t(x)} u_0.$$

This coincides with the solution of  $\partial_t u + |\nabla u| = 0$ , and hence we may think that there is no effect of the source term r(x).

**Example 5.9.** Let us consider the case of (1.14) and  $u_0 \equiv 0$ . In this case, since for each  $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$  the optimal control forces the corresponding state to leave S for the shortest time and stay in the outside of S after the exit, we have

$$v(x,t) = c \cdot \min\{t, \operatorname{dist}(x, S^c)\},\$$

where  $S^c$  means a complementary set of S in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . In particular, if S has no interior point, we see v(x,t) = 0, which reduces to a special case of Example 5.8. We also learn for a bounded S that  $v(x,t) = c \cdot \operatorname{dist}(x,S^c)$  for every  $t \geq \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \operatorname{dist}(x,S^c) \neq \infty$ . The solution in the case that S = [-1,1] and c = 1 is given in Figure 11.



Figure 11: The envelope solution of  $\partial_t u + |\nabla u| = \chi_{[-1,1]}(x), u_0 \equiv 0.$ 

### 5.2 Solutions without coercivity assumption

In this subsection we focus on the equations of the form

$$(\text{HJ1c}) \begin{cases} \partial_t u - H_1(\nabla u) = cI(x) & \text{in } Q, \\ u|_{t=0} \equiv 0 & \text{in } \mathbf{R}^n, \end{cases}$$
(5.9)

i.e.,  $H(x,p) = -H_1(p) - cI(x)$  with  $H_1 : \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}$  and c > 0. We do not impose the coercivity assumption on  $H_1$  here. Also, without loss of generality we may take

$$H_1(0) = 0; (5.10)$$

if not, we replace  $H_1(\nabla u)$  in (5.9) with  $H_1(\nabla u) - H_1(0)$  and solve the new problem. For any solution u(x,t) of the new one,  $u(x,t) + H_1(0)t$  is a solution of the original (HJ1c).

The next proposition helps us to construct envelope supersolutions when the step source consists of a singleton.

**Proposition 5.10** (construction of envelope supersolutions). Assume (5.10). Assume that  $u: Q \to \mathbf{R}$  is bounded from below and satisfies the following three conditions.

(i) 
$$\tau + H(\hat{x}, p) \geq 0$$
 for all  $(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) \in (\mathbf{R}^n \setminus \{0\}) \times (0, T)$  and  $(p, \tau) \in \overline{D}^- u_*(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$ .

- (ii) u is continuous on  $\{0\} \times (0, T)$ .
- (iii) u(0,t) = ct in (0,T) and  $u(x,t) \leq ct$  in Q.

Then  $u \in e.SUP(H)$ .

Set  $Q_* := (\mathbf{R}^n \setminus \{0\}) \times (0, T)$ . We say that u is a  $\overline{D}$ -viscosity supersolution in  $Q_*$  (write  $u \in \overline{D}$ -SUP(H) in  $Q_*$ ) if u satisfies the condition (i) and is bounded from below.

*Proof.* For  $\varepsilon > 0$  we define

$$u^{\varepsilon}(x,t) := \min\{u(x,t) + \varepsilon t, ct\}.$$

(See Figure 12.) Then, we deduce by Proposition 3.5 that  $u^{\varepsilon} \in \overline{D}$ -SUP(H) since we have the following three facts.

- $u(x,t) + \varepsilon t \in \overline{D}$ -SUP(H) in  $Q_*$ .
- $ct \in \overline{D}$ -SUP(H).
- $u(x,t) + \varepsilon t > ct$  in some open neighborhood of  $(0, \hat{t}) \in Q$ , where  $\hat{t} \in (0,T)$ .

Also, it is clear that  $u = \inf_{\varepsilon > 0} u^{\varepsilon}$ . We thus conclude that  $u \in e.SUP(H)$ .  $\Box$ 



Figure 12: The definition of  $u^{\varepsilon}$ .

Let a, b > 0 and define a "cone-shaped" function  $W_{a,b}(x,t) := (at - b|x|)_+$ . Before describing the first existence result of (HJ1c), which claims that  $W_{c,b}$  is an envelope solution for suitable b and  $H_1$ , we give simple observations about sub- and superdifferentials of the cone-shaped functions.

(CS) Let 
$$(p_+, \tau_+) \in D^+ W_{a,b}(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$$
 and  $(p_-, \tau_-) \in D^- W_{a,b}(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$  for  $(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) \in Q$ .

- (1) If  $a\hat{t} < b|\hat{x}|$ , we have  $p_{\pm} = 0$  and  $\tau_{\pm} = 0$ .
- (2) If  $a\hat{t} > b|\hat{x}|$  and  $\hat{x} \neq 0$ , we have  $|p_{\pm}| = b$  and  $\tau_{\pm} = a$ .
- (3) If  $a\hat{t} = b|\hat{x}|$ , we have  $|p_-| \leq b$ ,  $0 \leq \tau_- \leq a$  and  $b\tau_- = a|p_-|$ . Also,  $D^+W_{a,b}(\hat{x},\hat{t}) = \emptyset$ .
- (4) If  $\hat{x} = 0$ , we have  $|p_+| \leq b$  and  $\tau_+ = a$ . Also,  $D^- W_{a,b}(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) = \emptyset$ .

**Proposition 5.11.** Assume (5.10) and let b > 0. Assume that  $H_1$  satisfies the following.

$$0 \le H_1(p) \le \frac{c}{b}|p| \quad for \ all \ p \in \mathbf{R}^n \ such \ that \ |p| \le b.$$
(5.11)

$$H_1(p) = c \quad for \ all \ p \in \mathbf{R}^n \ such \ that \ |p| = b.$$
(5.12)

Then  $W_{c,b}(x,t) = (ct - b|x|)_+$  is an envelope solution of (HJ1c).

*Proof.* In view of (5.11), (5.12) and (CS) we see that  $W_{c,b}$  is a  $\overline{D}$ -subsolution of (5.9) and is a  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution of (5.9) in  $Q_*$ . Since  $W_{c,b}$  fulfills the assumptions in Proposition 5.10, we conclude that  $W_{c,b}$  is an envelope solution of (HJ1c).  $\Box$ 

Of course, if  $H_1$  fulfills the regularity assumption  $(H_p)$  required in our comparison principles, it follows that the Lipschitz continuous function  $W_{c,b}$  is a unique envelope solution.

**Example 5.12.** We consider the case that  $H_1(p) = |p|^{\alpha}$  with  $\alpha > 1$ . Then, the conditions (5.11) and (5.12) are satisfied if we take  $b = c^{1/\alpha}$ . Hence we see that  $W_{c,b}(x,t) = (ct - c^{1/\alpha}|x|)_+$  is an envelope solution of (HJ1c).

**Example 5.13.** We next consider the case that  $H_1(p) = \sqrt{1 + |p|^2} - 1$ . Then, the conditions (5.11) and (5.12) are satisfied if we take  $b = \sqrt{c^2 + 2c}$ . Hence we see that  $W_{c,b}(x,t) = (ct - \sqrt{c^2 + 2c}|x|)_+$  is a unique envelope solution of (HJ1c). Equivalently, the function  $u(x,t) = (ct - \sqrt{c^2 + 2c}|x|)_+ + t$  is a unique envelope solution of

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u - \sqrt{1 + |\nabla u|^2} = cI(x) & \text{ in } Q, \\ u|_{t=0} \equiv 0 & \text{ in } \mathbf{R}^n. \end{cases}$$

Unfortunately, Proposition 5.11 does not include the case that  $H_1$  is "spokewisely concave" from the origin, that is, the case when

$$H_1(p) = h(|p|), \text{ where } h: [0, \infty) \to \mathbf{R} \text{ is strictly concave.}$$
(5.13)

Here we say h is strictly concave if  $h((1 - \lambda)x + \lambda y) > (1 - \lambda)h(x) + \lambda h(y)$  for every  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$  and  $x, y \in [0, \infty)$  with  $x \neq y$ . For the purpose of finding envelope solutions of (HJ1c) in such cases we further assume that

$$h \in C^2(0,\infty) \cap C[0,\infty), \quad h \text{ is strictly increasing on } [0,\infty).$$
 (5.14)

Then, it is easily seen by (CS) that

$$W_{a,h^{-1}(a)}(x,t) = (at - h^{-1}(a)|x|)_{+}$$

is a  $\overline{D}$ -subsolution of (HJ1c) for each  $a \in (0, c)$  with  $c \leq ||h||_{[0,\infty)}$ . Besides, it turns out that these supremum

$$U_c(x,t) = \sup_{a \in (0,c)} (at - h^{-1}(a)|x|) \quad (c \le ||h||)$$

becomes an envelope solution of (HJ1c).

**Proposition 5.14.** Assume (5.10), (5.13) and (5.14).

- (1) Assume c < ||h||. Then  $U_c$  is a unique envelope solution of (HJ1c).
- (2) Assume c = ||h||. Then  $U_{||h||}$  is a  $\overline{D}$ -solution of (HJ1c) and a unique envelope solution.
- (3) Assume c > ||h||. Then  $U_{||h||} + ktI(x)$  are  $\overline{D}$ -solutions of (HJ1c) for all  $k \in [0, c ||h||]$ .

We remark that the assumption  $(H_p)$  is satisfied because of the concavity of h; indeed, we now have  $|H_1(p) - H_1(q)| \leq h(|p-q|)$ . Hence the uniqueness in (1) follows from the Lipschitz continuity of  $U_c$ .

*Proof.* At first, it is obvious that  $U_c$  is a standard subsolution due to the stability under supremum. In order to prove that  $U_c$  is an envelope supersolution we utilize Proposition 5.10. Notice that  $U_c$  is rewritten as

$$U_{c}(x,t) = \begin{cases} ct - b|x| & (|x| \le h'(b)t), \\ h\left(g\left(\frac{|x|}{t}\right)\right)t - g\left(\frac{|x|}{t}\right)|x| & (h'(b)t < |x| < h'(0)t), \\ 0 & (h'(0)t \le |x|) \end{cases}$$
(5.15)

by a direct calculation. Here h'(0) means the right derivative at 0 and possibly equals  $+\infty$ . Also, we write  $b = h^{-1}(c)$  and  $g = (h')^{-1}$  for the inverse function of h'. If c = ||h||, we read (5.15) as

$$U_{c}(x,t) = \begin{cases} ct & (x=0), \\ h\left(g\left(\frac{|x|}{t}\right)\right)t - g\left(\frac{|x|}{t}\right)|x| & (0 < |x| < h'(0)t), \\ 0 & (h'(0)t \le |x|). \end{cases}$$
(5.16)

By the formula (5.15) we find  $U_c \in C^1(Q_*)$  and its derivatives are as follows:

$$\partial_t U_c(x,t) = \begin{cases} c & (|x| \le h'(b)t), \\ h\left(g\left(\frac{|x|}{t}\right)\right) & (h'(b)t < |x| < h'(0)t), \\ 0 & (h'(0)t \le |x|). \end{cases}$$
$$\nabla U_c(x,t) = \begin{cases} -b\frac{x}{|x|} & (0 < |x| \le h'(b)t), \\ -g\left(\frac{|x|}{t}\right)\frac{x}{|x|} & (h'(b)t < |x| < h'(0)t), \\ 0 & (h'(0)t \le |x|). \end{cases}$$

Thus we deduce that

$$\partial_t U_c(x,t) - h(|\nabla U_c(x,t)|) = 0 \text{ for all } (x,t) \in Q_*,$$

and hence  $U_c$  satisfies the condition (i) in Proposition 5.10. Since the conditions (ii) and (iii) are clear, we conclude that  $U_c$  is an envelope supersolution. If

c = ||h|| in particular, we see that  $U_c$  is also a  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution of (HJ1c) since  $\overline{D}^- U_c(0,t) = \emptyset$ .

(2) To show the uniqueness of  $U_c$  as an envelope solution we use the idea of Remark 3.14. It is seen that  $U_c$  is the minimal envelope solution because  $U_c = \sup_{a \in (0,c)} W_{a,h^{-1}(a)}$  and  $W_{a,h^{-1}(a)} \in SUB(H,0) \cap BLip(Q)$ . Next, let  $u^{\varepsilon}(x,t) := \min\{U_c(x,t) + \varepsilon t, ct\}$  for  $\varepsilon > 0$ . As we showed in the proof of Proposition 5.10, it turns out that  $u^{\varepsilon} \in \overline{D}$ -SUP(H). We also have  $u^{\varepsilon} \in BLip(Q)$  and  $U_c = \inf_{\varepsilon > 0} u^{\varepsilon}$ , and therefore  $U_c$  is the maximal envelope solution.

(3) This claim follows from (2) and the fact that  $(U_{\parallel h \parallel} + ktI(x))_* = U_{\parallel h \parallel}$ .  $\Box$ 

**Example 5.15.** We consider the case that  $H_1(p) = |p|/(1 + |p|)$ , which is a non-coercive Hamiltonian. Then, by substituting

$$b = \frac{c}{1-c}, \quad h(r) = \frac{r}{1+r}, \quad g(r) = \frac{1-\sqrt{r}}{\sqrt{r}}$$

into (5.15) we see that

$$U_c(x,t) = \begin{cases} ct - \frac{c}{1-c} |x| & (|x| \le (1-c)^2 t), \\ \{(\sqrt{t} - \sqrt{|x|})_+\}^2 & (|x| \ge (1-c)^2 t) \end{cases}$$

is a unique envelope solution of (HJ1c) when  $c \leq 1 = ||h||$ , and in particular  $U_1(x,t) = \{(\sqrt{t} - \sqrt{|x|})_+\}^2$  is a  $\overline{D}$ -solution of (HJ1c) with c = 1. In the case when c > 1, functions  $U_1(x,t) + ktI(x)$  are all  $\overline{D}$ -solutions of (HJ1c) for  $k \in [0, c - 1]$ . (See Figure 13.) Also, we see that the Lipschitz continuity preserving property breaks down for  $c \geq 1$  since  $U_1$  is not Lipschitz continuous in Q.

**Example 5.16.** We next consider the case that  $H_1(p) = |p|^{\alpha}$  with  $0 < \alpha < 1$ . Then, by substituting

$$b = c^{1/\alpha}, \quad h(r) = r^{\alpha}, \quad g(r) = \left(\frac{\alpha}{r}\right)^{1/(1-\alpha)}$$

into (5.15) we see that

$$U_{c}(x,t) = \begin{cases} ct - c^{1/\alpha} |x| & (|x| \leq \alpha t/c^{(1-\alpha)/\alpha}), \\ \left(\frac{\alpha t}{|x|}\right)^{\alpha/(1-\alpha)} t - \left(\frac{\alpha t}{|x|}\right)^{1/(1-\alpha)} |x| & (|x| \geq \alpha t/c^{(1-\alpha)/\alpha}) \end{cases}$$

is a unique envelope solution of (HJ1c) for any c > 0. This formula means that the present equation (HJ1c) has a some kind of infinite propagation property for a step source because u > 0 in Q. (See Figure 14.)

The formula (5.15) also applies to Hamiltonians with the hyperbolic tangent form ([42])

$$H(x,p) = -|p| \tanh \frac{1}{|p|} - cI(x),$$

but it is complicated to calculate the inverse function  $g = (h')^{-1}$  in this case.



Figure 13: Solutions of  $\partial_t u - |\nabla u|/(1 + |\nabla u|) = cI(x)$ ,  $u_0 \equiv 0$ . The envelope solution for c = 1/2 (the upper left), the  $\overline{D}$ -solution for c = 1 (the upper right) and one of the  $\overline{D}$ -solutions for c = 2 (the bottom).

## 5.3 Remark on relation to Dirichlet boundary problems

Let u be the unique envelope solution of the problem with a single step source:

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{ll} \partial_t u - |\nabla u| = cI(x) & \text{ in } \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T), \\ u(x,0) = u_0(x) & \text{ in } \mathbf{R}^n. \end{array} \right.$$

We study in this subsection whether u is also a solution of the Dirichlet boundary problem:

(Di) 
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u - |\nabla u| = 0 & \text{ in } (\mathbf{R}^n \setminus \{0\}) \times (0, T), \\ u(x, 0) = u_0(x) & \text{ in } \mathbf{R}^n, \\ u(0, t) = ct & \text{ in } (0, T). \end{cases}$$



Figure 14: The envelope solution of  $\partial_t u - \sqrt{|\nabla u|} = I(x), u_0 \equiv 0.$ 

To simplify the argument we assume  $u_0(0) = 0$ . We first recall the following facts about u from the observation in Example 5.7.

- (1)  $u(0,t) \ge ct$  for all  $t \in (0,T)$ .
- (2) u(0,t) = ct for all  $t \in (0,T)$  provided that  $u_0(x) \leq c|x|$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .
- (3) If

$$u_0(x) = 2c \min\{|x|, 1\}, \tag{5.17}$$

whose slope is larger than c near the origin, then the unique envelope solution is

$$v(x,t) = \begin{cases} 2c\min\{|x|+t, 1\} & (t \le 1), \\ c(t-|x|-1)_+ + 2c & (t \ge 1). \end{cases}$$

In particular, we have  $v(0,t) = \min\{2ct, c(t+1)\} > ct$ .

We see by (1) that u is always a supersolution of (Di). Also, by virtue of (2), if  $u_0(x) \leq c|x|$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , then u is a viscosity solution of (Di) which indeed attains the boundary condition. What happens in the case that  $u_0(x) \leq c|x|$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ? Unfortunately, we cannot expect that u is a subsolution on the boundary even in the weak sense, i.e.,  $u(0,t) \leq ct$  or  $\tau - |p| \leq 0$  whenever  $(p,\tau) \in D^+_{\mathbb{R}^n}u(0,t)$ . In fact, when the initial data is given by (5.17), we have v(0,2) > 2c and  $\tau - |p| > 0$  for  $(p,\tau) = (0,c) \in D^+v(0,2)$ . Instead of v, if we set

$$v^{\tau}(x,t) = \begin{cases} v(x,t) & (t \le 1), \\ 2c & (1 \le t \le 1+\tau), \\ v(x,t-\tau) & (t \ge 1+\tau), \end{cases}$$

then each  $v^{\tau}$  ( $\tau \geq 1$ ) becomes a solution of (Di) with (5.17) in the weak sense. One can interpret the constant  $\tau$  as a "waiting time". The Dirichlet problem (Di) forces its solution to stop the growth until it satisfies the Dirichlet boundary data at the origin.

As an another type of the boundary condition in the weak sense, one may think of the dynamic boundary condition ([17]); namely

$$(\mathrm{Dy}) \begin{cases} \partial_t u - |\nabla u| = 0 & \text{ in } (\mathbf{R}^n \setminus \{0\}) \times (0, T), \\ u(x, 0) = u_0(x) & \text{ in } \mathbf{R}^n, \\ \partial_t u(0, t) = c & \text{ in } (0, T). \end{cases}$$

However, one cannot expect the uniqueness of solutions for (Dy) as well. Indeed, each  $v^{\tau}$  ( $\tau \ge 0$ ) is a solution of (Dy) with (5.17).

# 6 Large time behavior

### 6.1 Self-similar solution

We study the large time behavior of solutions to (HJ1). Hereafter we use a notation (HJ1;  $r, u_0$ ) to represent the source term r and the initial data  $u_0$  of

(HJ1). Our goal is to prove that a rescaled function of a solution to (HJ1) converges to a self-similar solution of the associated problem, which is (HJ1; cI, 0) if r has a compact support. In the case where r is periodic, we show that (HJ1; c, 0) with a constant source term gives the associated problem. Throughout our arguments we assume  $u_0 \in BLip(\mathbf{R}^n)$  and

$$\begin{cases} (i) & H_1 \text{ is coercive and uniformly continuous in } \mathbf{R}^n. \\ (ii) & r \in BUSC(\mathbf{R}^n) \text{ and } r \geq 0 \text{ in } \mathbf{R}^n. \end{cases}$$
(6.1)

These conditions guarantee that there exists a unique envelope solution of (HJ1) which is bounded in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times [0, T)$  for all T > 0. Moreover, the unique solution is Lipschitz continuous in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times [0, \infty)$  since Proposition 3.17 implies that the Lipschitz constant of the solution in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times [0, T)$  does not depend on T.

**Definition 6.1.** Let  $u : \mathbf{R}^n \times [0, \infty) \to \mathbf{R}$ . For  $\lambda > 0$  we define a rescaled function  $u_{(\lambda)} : \mathbf{R}^n \times [0, \infty) \to \mathbf{R}$  of u by

$$u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) := \frac{1}{\lambda} u(\lambda x, \lambda t).$$

If  $u = u_{(\lambda)}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n \times [0, \infty)$  for all  $\lambda > 0$ , we say u is *self-similar*.

When u is self-similar, letting  $\lambda = 1/t$ , we see  $u(x,t) = u(\lambda x, \lambda t)/\lambda = tu(x/t, 1)$ . Thus, setting  $U(\xi) := u(\xi, 1)$ , we get

$$u(x,t) = tU\left(\frac{x}{t}\right).$$

The function U is called a *profile function* of u. It is easy to see that the function (1.6), which is the unique envelope solution of (1.5) with the zero initial data, is self-similar in the sense of Definition 6.1 and that its profile function is

$$U(\xi) = c(1 - |\xi|)_+.$$
(6.2)

Self-similar solutions exist not only for the typical problem (1.5) but also for more general equations with a *positively 0-homogeneous* source term r, i.e.,  $r(\lambda x) = r(x)$  for all  $\lambda > 0$  and  $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$ . The function cI(x) is a trivial example of such positively 0-homogeneous functions.

**Proposition 6.2.** Assume that  $H_1$  and r satisfy (6.1). Assume that r is positively 0-homogeneous. Then the unique envelope solution of (HJ1; r, 0) is self-similar.

The proof uses the uniqueness result. When u is an envelope solution of (HJ1; r, 0), noting that  $\partial_t u_{(\lambda)}(x, t) = \partial_t u(\lambda x, \lambda t)$  and  $\nabla u_{(\lambda)}(x, t) = \nabla u(\lambda x, \lambda t)$ , we compute

$$\partial_t u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) - H_1(\nabla u_{(\lambda)}(x,t)) = \partial_t u(\lambda x, \lambda t) - H_1(\nabla u(\lambda x, \lambda t)) = r(\lambda x) = r(x)$$

as long as u is smooth. Thus by the uniqueness of solutions we obtain  $u = u_{(\lambda)}$ . In the general case where u is not smooth, we take smooth test functions in the definition of viscosity solutions and apply a similar calculation to them.

### 6.2 Source terms with compact support

Before we show a general result on the large time behavior, we present two simple examples of solutions which converge to the self-similar solution (1.6) under rescaling.

**Example 6.3.** We study (HJ1; r, 0) with  $H_1(p) = |p|$  and r of the form (1.12). As we discussed in Example 5.6, the unique envelope solution is given by the formula 1.13. Now, let us compute the scaling limit of this solution. For  $\lambda > 0$  we have

$$u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) = \frac{1}{\lambda}u(\lambda x,\lambda t) = \frac{1}{\lambda}\max_{j=1}^{N}c_j(\lambda t - |\lambda x - a_j|)_+ = \max_{j=1}^{N}c_j\left(t - \left|x - \frac{a_j}{\lambda}\right|\right)_+.$$

Set  $c := \max_{j=1}^{N} c_j = c_J$ . Then

$$u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) \ge c_J \left(t - \left|x - \frac{a_J}{\lambda}\right|\right)_+ \to c(t - |x|)_+$$

uniformly as  $\lambda \to \infty$ , while

$$u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) \leq \max_{j=1}^{N} c\left(t - \left|x - \frac{a_j}{\lambda}\right|\right)_{+} \to c(t - |x|)_{+}$$

since each functions  $c(t - |x - (a_j/\lambda)|)_+$  uniformly converges to  $c(t - |x|)_+$ . We therefore conclude that

$$u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) \to c(t-|x|)_+ \tag{6.3}$$

uniformly as  $\lambda \to \infty$ .

**Example 6.4.** Let us consider (HJ1; r, 0) with  $H_1(p) = |p|$  and r of the form (1.14). We further assume that S is bounded. The unique envelope solution which was computed in Example 5.5 is

$$u(x,t) = c(t - \operatorname{dist}(x,S))_+$$

(This formula is valid even if S is unbounded.) For  $\lambda > 0$  we observe

$$u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) = \frac{1}{\lambda}u(\lambda x,\lambda t) = \frac{c}{\lambda}(\lambda t - \operatorname{dist}(\lambda x,S))_{+} = c\left(t - \frac{1}{\lambda}\operatorname{dist}(\lambda x,S)\right)_{+}$$

We now choose R > 0 large so that  $S \subset \overline{B}_R(0)$  to see

$$\frac{1}{\lambda}\operatorname{dist}(\lambda x, S) \ge \frac{1}{\lambda}\operatorname{dist}(\lambda x, \overline{B}_R(0)) = \frac{1}{\lambda}(|\lambda x| - R)_+ = \left(|x| - \frac{R}{\lambda}\right)_+ \to |x|$$

uniformly as  $\lambda \to \infty$ . Also, for a fixed  $z \in S$  we compute

$$\frac{1}{\lambda}\operatorname{dist}(\lambda x, S) \leq \frac{1}{\lambda}\operatorname{dist}(\lambda x, \{z\}) = \frac{1}{\lambda}|\lambda x - z| = \left|x - \frac{z}{\lambda}\right| \to |x|.$$

Hence the same conclusion (6.3) as the previous example holds.

We now state our result on the asymptotic behavior in the case the support of r is compact.

**Theorem 6.5** (Large time behavior for source terms with compact support). Assume that  $H_1$  and r satisfy (6.1). Assume that  $\operatorname{supp}(r)$  is a compact set in  $\mathbf{R}^n$ . Let u and v be, respectively, the unique envelope solution of  $(\operatorname{HJ1}; r, u_0)$  and  $(\operatorname{HJ1}; cI, 0)$  with  $c = \max_{\mathbf{R}^n} r$ . Then  $u_{(\lambda)}$  converges to v locally uniformly in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times [0, \infty)$  as  $\lambda \to \infty$ .

This theorem especially implies that (1.20) holds locally uniformly in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . This is an asymptotic convergence to a profile function of v.

*Proof.* 1. We fist show the relaxed limits  $\overline{u} := \limsup_{\lambda \to \infty} u_{(\lambda)}$  and  $\underline{u} := \lim \inf_{*\lambda \to \infty} u_{(\lambda)}$  fulfill the zero initial data. Set  $M_0 := \sup_{\mathbf{R}^n} |u_0|$ . Then it is easy to see that functions  $H_1(0)t - M_0$  and  $(c + H_1(0))t + M_0$  are, respectively, a subsolution and a  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution of (HJ1;  $r, u_0$ ). From the comparison principle it follows that  $H_1(0)t - M_0 \leq u(x,t) \leq (c + H_1(0))t + M_0$ , and hence

$$H_1(0)t - \frac{M_0}{\lambda} \le u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) \le (c + H_1(0))t + \frac{M_0}{\lambda}$$

We take  $\limsup_{\lambda\to\infty}^*$  and  $\liminf_{*\lambda\to\infty}$  in the above inequalities to obtain

$$H_1(0)t \le \underline{u}(x,t) \le \overline{u}(x,t) \le (c+H_1(0))t.$$

This ensures that these two relaxed limits are real-valued in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times [0, \infty)$  and

$$\lim_{(y,t)\to(x,0)}\underline{u}(y,t) = \underline{u}(x,0) = 0, \qquad \lim_{(y,t)\to(x,0)}\overline{u}(y,t) = \overline{u}(x,0) = 0$$

for all  $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$ .

2. Take  $z \in \mathbf{R}^n$  as a maximum point of r. We define  $\tilde{v}(x,t) := v(x-z,t) - M_0$ . Then  $\tilde{v}$  solves  $(\text{HJ1}; cI(\cdot - z), u_0(\cdot - z) - M_0)$ . Since  $cI(\cdot - z) \leq r$  and  $u_0(\cdot - z) - M_0 \leq u_0$ , our comparison principle implies  $\tilde{v} \leq u$ . We thus have

$$\frac{1}{\lambda}v(\lambda x - z, \lambda t) - \frac{M_0}{\lambda} \le u_{(\lambda)}(x, t)$$
(6.4)

for  $\lambda > 0$ . Now, by the self-similarity of v

$$\frac{1}{\lambda}v(\lambda x - z, \lambda t) = \frac{1}{\lambda}v\left(\lambda\left(x - \frac{z}{\lambda}\right), \lambda t\right) = v\left(x - \frac{z}{\lambda}, t\right).$$

Taking  $\liminf_{*\lambda\to\infty}$  in (6.4), we obtain

$$v \le \liminf_{\lambda \to \infty} {}_*u_{(\lambda)}. \tag{6.5}$$

Here we have used the continuity of v.

3. Define  $g(x) := c\chi_{\overline{B}_R(0)}(x)$ , where we choose R > 0 large so that  $\operatorname{supp}(r) \subset \overline{B}_R(0)$ . We let w be the unique envelope solution of  $(\operatorname{HJ1}; g, 0)$ . Since  $cI \leq g$ , by the comparison principle we have  $u \leq g + M_0$ . This implies  $u_{(\lambda)} \leq w_{(\lambda)} + (M_0/\lambda)$  and

$$\limsup_{\lambda \to \infty} {}^* u_{(\lambda)} \le \limsup_{\lambda \to \infty} {}^* w_{(\lambda)}.$$
(6.6)

We write  $g_{\lambda}(x) = g(\lambda x)$ . Then  $\limsup_{\lambda \to \infty}^{*} g_{\lambda} = cI$  by the definition of g. Now  $w_{(\lambda)}$  is a standard viscosity subsolution of  $(\text{HJ1}; g_{\lambda}, 0)$  since w is a viscosity subsolution of (HJ1; g, 0) in the standard sense. Thus, the stability result for subsolutions under the relaxed limit ([11, Lemma 6.1, Remark 6.3]) ensures that  $\limsup_{\lambda \to \infty}^{*} w_{(\lambda)}$  is a subsolution of  $(\text{HJ1}; \lim \sup_{\lambda \to \infty}^{*} g_{\lambda}, 0) = (\text{HJ1}; cI, 0)$ . This relaxed limit of  $w_{(\lambda)}$  exists for the same reason as in Step 1. Since v is a solution of (HJ1; cI, 0), it follows from the comparison principle that

$$\limsup_{\lambda \to \infty} {}^* w_{(\lambda)} \le v. \tag{6.7}$$

Finally, combining (6.5), (6.6) and (6.7), we conclude

$$v = \limsup_{\lambda \to \infty} {}^* u_{(\lambda)} = \liminf_{\lambda \to \infty} {}_* u_{(\lambda)}$$

which implies the locally uniform convergence of  $u_{(\lambda)}$  to v.

**Example 6.6.** We consider the large time behavior in the sense (1.23). Let  $H_1(p) = |p|$ . A direct computation implies that, for the solution (1.6) of (HJ1; cI, 0), we have

$$u(x,t) - (ct - c|x|) \to 0 \text{ as } t \to \infty$$

locally uniformly in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Thus the limit ct - c|x| is different from our scaling limit, which is (1.6) itself. More generally, the solution (1.13) of (HJ1; r, 0) with (1.12) satisfies

$$u(x,t) - (ct - c|x - a_J|) \to 0 \text{ as } t \to \infty,$$

where  $c := \max_{j=1}^{N} c_j = c_J$ , locally uniformly in  $\mathbf{R}^n$  provided that  $c_j < c_J$  $(j \neq J)$ . Therefore the scaling limit in (6.3) gives another function.

In the next example we discuss the scaling limit of solutions when r has a non-compact support.

**Example 6.7.** We study the source term r which is non-zero near finitely many half-lines starting from the origin, but assume that r attains its maximum at the origin. We set half-lines  $l_i$  (i = 1, ..., M) as  $l_i := \{\lambda z_i \in \mathbf{R}^n \mid \lambda > 0\}$ , where  $z_i \in \mathbf{R}^n$  (i = 1, ..., M) are different points satisfying  $|z_i| = 1$ . Then  $l_i \cap l_j = \emptyset$  if  $i \neq j$ . We next take positive constants  $c_i$  (i = 0, 1, ..., M) such that  $c_0 \ge \max_{i=1}^M c_i$ . Now, we define functions  $\overline{r}, g \in BUSC(\mathbf{R}^n)$  as follows:

$$\overline{r}(x) := c_0 I(x) + \sum_{i=1}^M c_i \chi_{l_i}(x), \quad g(x) := \max\left\{c_0 \chi_{\overline{B}_{\delta}(0)}(x), \ \max_{i=1}^M c_i \chi_{\overline{l_{i,\varepsilon}}}(x), \right\},$$

where  $\delta, \varepsilon > 0$  and  $l_{i,\varepsilon} := \bigcap_{x \in l_i} B_{\varepsilon}(x)$  is an  $\varepsilon$ -neighborhood of  $l_i$ . The function  $\overline{r}$  plays a role as a source term of the limit problem, which is cI in Theorem 6.5. Typical examples of such  $\overline{r}$  are

$$\overline{r}(x) = cI(x_1)$$
 and  $\overline{r}(x) = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i I(x_i),$ 

where  $I : \mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{R}$  is the function in (1.4). Since  $\overline{r}$  is positively 0-homogeneous by definition, the unique envelope solution of (HJ1;  $\overline{r}, 0$ ) is self-similar.

We now take the source term  $r \in BUSC(\mathbf{R}^n)$  such that  $\overline{r} \leq r \leq g$  in  $\mathbf{R}^n$ ; clearly, this r has non-compact support. Then the same conclusion as Theorem 6.5 holds, i.e., if u is the unique envelope solution of  $(\text{HJ1}; r, u_0)$ , the rescaled function  $u_{(\lambda)}$  converges to the self-similar solution v of  $(\text{HJ1}; \overline{r}, 0)$  locally uniformly as  $\lambda \to \infty$ . The proof is similar to that of Theorem 6.5. Indeed, from the same argument as in Step 2, where we take z = 0 and replace " $cI(\cdot - z)$ " by " $\overline{r}$ ", we deduce  $v \leq \liminf_{\lambda \to \infty} u_{(\lambda)}$ . Also, when we let w be the unique envelope solution of (HJ1; g, 0), a similar argument to Step 3 yields  $\limsup_{\lambda \to \infty} u_{(\lambda)} \leq \limsup_{\lambda \to \infty} w_{(\lambda)} \leq v$ .

#### 6.3 Periodic source terms

We begin with a simple example where the source terms  $cI(\cdot)$  are periodically distributed.

**Example 6.8.** We study (HJ1; cI, 0) with  $H_1(p) = |p|$  and

$$\tilde{I}(x) := \max_{a \in \mathbf{Z}^n} I(x-a) = \begin{cases} 1 & (x \in \mathbf{Z}^n), \\ 0 & (x \notin \mathbf{Z}^n). \end{cases}$$

By Example 5.5 the unique envelope solution is given as

$$u(x,t) = c(t - \operatorname{dist}(x, \mathbf{Z}^n))_+ = \max_{a \in \mathbf{Z}^n} c(t - |x - a|)_+.$$
(6.8)

We shall show

$$u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) \to ct$$
 uniformly in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times [0,\infty)$  as  $\lambda \to \infty$ . (6.9)

Obviously, we have  $u(x,t) \leq ct$  by (6.8), so that  $u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) \leq ct$ . We next estimate  $u_{(\lambda)}$  from below. Compute

$$u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) = \frac{1}{\lambda}u(\lambda x,\lambda t) = \frac{1}{\lambda}\max_{a\in\mathbf{Z}^n}c(\lambda t - |\lambda x - a|)_+ = \max_{a\in\mathbf{Z}^n}c\left(t - \left|x - \frac{a}{\lambda}\right|\right)_+.$$

Now, for fixed  $(x,t) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times [0,\infty)$  and  $\lambda > 0$ , we choose  $a \in \mathbf{Z}^n$  such that  $|x - (a/\lambda)| \leq \sqrt{n}/(2\lambda)$ . We then see

$$u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) \ge c\left(t - \frac{\sqrt{n}}{2\lambda}\right)_+ \to ct$$
 uniformly in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times [0,\infty)$  as  $\lambda \to \infty$ ,

which gives (6.9).

It turns out in the next theorem that, for more general periodic source terms and general initial data, the scaling limits are still ct, where c is the maximum of r in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . We remark that  $\limsup_{\lambda\to\infty}^* r(\lambda x) = c$  by periodicity and that ct is the unique envelope solution of (HJ1; c, 0) provided that  $H_1(0) = 0$ . **Theorem 6.9** (Large time behavior for periodic source terms). Assume that  $H_1$  and r satisfy (6.1). Assume that r(x) = r(x + a) for all  $(x, a) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{Z}^n$ ,  $H_1(0) = 0$  and  $H_1 \ge 0$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Let u and v be, respectively, the unique envelope solution of (HJ1;  $r, u_0$ ) and (HJ1; c, 0) with  $c = \max_{\mathbb{R}^n} r$ . Then v(x, t) = ct and  $u_{(\lambda)}$  converges to v uniformly in  $\mathbb{R}^n \times [0, \infty)$  as  $\lambda \to \infty$ .

*Proof.* Take  $z \in \mathbf{R}^n$  as a maximum point of r, so that  $c\tilde{I}(x-z) \leq r(x)$ . We now claim

$$ct\tilde{I}(x-z) - M_0 \le u(x,t), \tag{6.10}$$

where  $M_0 := \sup_{\mathbf{R}^n} |u_0|$ . To prove (6.10) it is enough to show that  $v_0(x,t) := ct\tilde{I}(x-z) - M_0$  is a standard subsolution of (HJ1;  $r, u_0$ ). Let  $(p, \tau) \in D^+ v_0(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$ . If  $\hat{x} - z \notin \mathbf{Z}^n$ , then  $(p, \tau) = (0, 0)$  since  $v_0 \equiv -M_0$  near  $(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$ . Thus

$$\tau - H_1(p) = 0 \le r(\hat{x}).$$

We turn to the case  $\hat{x} - z \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ . Since  $v_0(\hat{x}, t) = ct - M_0$ , we then have  $\tau = c$ . Therefore

$$-H_1(p) \le c = c\tilde{I}(\hat{x} - z) \le r(\hat{x}),$$

which proves (6.10). By the Lipschitz continuity of u we next see that (6.10) gives

$$\max_{a \in \mathbf{Z}^n} (ct - L|x - z - a|)_+ - M_0 \le u(x, t), \tag{6.11}$$

where L is the Lipschitz constant of u with respect to x, i.e.,

$$L = \sup_{\substack{t \ge 0}} \sup_{\substack{x,y \in \mathbf{R}^n \\ x \neq y}} \frac{|u(x,t) - u(y,t)|}{|x-y|}.$$

Rescaling the both functions in (6.11), we get

$$\max_{a \in \mathbf{Z}^n} \left( ct - L \left| x - \frac{z - a}{\lambda} \right| \right)_+ - \frac{M_0}{\lambda} \le u_{(\lambda)}(x, t)$$

for  $\lambda > 0$ . In the same manner as in Example 6.8 we see that the left hand side converges to *ct* uniformly in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times [0, \infty)$  as  $\lambda \to \infty$ .

It remains to estimate  $u_{(\lambda)}$  from above. Since  $r \leq c$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , the comparison principle implies  $u(x,t) \leq ct + M_0$ . Thus  $u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) \leq ct + (M_0/\lambda)$ , and the right hand side converges to ct uniformly in  $\mathbb{R}^n \times [0,\infty)$  as  $\lambda \to \infty$ .

The following two examples show that the conclusion of Theorem 6.9 may not hold if we remove the non-negativity or coercivity of  $H_1$ .

Example 6.10. Let us study

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u + |\nabla u| = c \tilde{I}(x) & \text{ in } \mathbf{R}^n \times (0, \infty), \\ u(x, 0) = 0 & \text{ in } \mathbf{R}^n. \end{cases}$$
(6.12)

Here  $H_1(p) = -|p|$  is non-positive. According to Example 5.9, where we considered the value function defined as the imfimum of costs, the unique envelope solution of (6.12) is

$$u(x,t) = 0$$

since the interior of  $\mathbf{Z}^n$  is empty. The rescaled function is  $u_{(\lambda)} = 0$ , but this does not converge to ct.

One can directly check that u = 0 is an envelope solution of (6.12). Indeed, it is easily seen that u is a subsolution. Next, since

$$u^{\varepsilon}(x,t) := \begin{cases} \max_{a \in \mathbf{Z}^n} c(t - |x - a|)_+ & (0 \le t \le \varepsilon), \\ \max_{a \in \mathbf{Z}^n} c(\varepsilon - |x - a|)_+ & (\varepsilon \le t) \end{cases}$$

is a  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution of (6.12) for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ , the infimum of  $u^{\varepsilon}$ , which equals zero, is an envelope supersolution.

**Example 6.11.** When a Hamiltonian is non-coercive, solutions may not have the scaling limit even in the sense of pointwise convergence. To see this let us consider the following problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u = c \tilde{I}(x) & \text{ in } \mathbf{R}^n \times (0, \infty), \\ u(x, 0) = 0 & \text{ in } \mathbf{R}^n. \end{cases}$$
(6.13)

In the same manner as in Example 3.1 we see that  $u(x,t) = ct\tilde{I}(x)$  is an envelope solution of (6.13). (This is not a unique envelope solution of the problem. In fact,  $u^{\alpha}(x,t) = \alpha t \tilde{I}(x)$  solves the same problem for every  $\alpha \in [0,c)$ ; see Example 3.16. However, among such solutions u is a natural one since it vertically grows at a speed c at each step source.) We now compute

$$u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) = \frac{1}{\lambda}u(\lambda x, \lambda t) = ct\tilde{I}(\lambda x),$$

and so the limit of  $u_{(\lambda)}(x,t)$  as  $\lambda \to \infty$  does not exist for every  $(x,t) \in (\mathbf{R}^n \setminus \{0\}) \times (0,\infty)$ . We also have

$$\limsup_{\lambda \to \infty} {}^*u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) = ct, \quad \liminf_{\lambda \to \infty} {}_*u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) = 0.$$

Remark 6.12. The result in Theorem 6.9 is consistent with the classical homogenization theory for continuous equations ([29]). To check this we set  $H(x,p) = H_1(p) + r(x)$  so that H is coercive in the sense  $\lim_{|p|\to\infty} \inf_{x\in\mathbf{R}^n} H(x,p) = \infty$ , and solve (HJ) with this Hamiltonian. We let u be the unique envelope solution (an envelope subsolution and a standard supersolution) of (HJ), and set  $u^{\varepsilon} := u_{(1/\varepsilon)}$ . Then Theorem 6.9 implies that  $u^{\varepsilon}$ , which is a solution to

$$\partial_t u^{\varepsilon} - H_1(\nabla u^{\varepsilon}) = r\left(\frac{x}{\varepsilon}\right) \quad \text{in } \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,\infty),$$

uniformly converges to -ct as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , where  $c = \max_{\mathbf{R}^n} r$ . On the other hand, according to the homogenization theory,  $u^{\varepsilon}$  converges to the viscosity solution v of

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t v + \overline{H}(\nabla v) = 0 & \text{ in } \mathbf{R}^n \times (0, \infty), \\ v(x, 0) = 0 & \text{ in } \mathbf{R}^n \end{cases}$$
(6.14)

when r is continuous. Here  $\overline{H}$  is called an *effective Hamiltonian* chosen so that, for each  $p \in \mathbf{R}^n$ , the cell problem

$$H(x, p + \nabla w) = \overline{H}(p) \quad \text{in } \mathbf{R}^n \tag{6.15}$$

admits a periodic viscosity solution w. If  $\overline{H}(0) = c$ , then we see that the solution v of (6.14) is v(x,t) = -ct, and hence the conclusion is the same as Theorem 6.9.

Let us show  $\overline{H}(0) = c$ . (This fact is more or less known, but we give the proof for completeness.) We take p = 0 in (6.15). Then (6.15) is

$$H_1(\nabla w) = \overline{H}(0) - r(x) \quad \text{in } \mathbf{R}^n.$$
(6.16)

Suppose  $\overline{H}(0) > c$ . Since  $0 \in D^-w(\hat{x})$  at a minimum point  $\hat{x}$  of w, we would have

$$0 = H_1(0) \ge \overline{H}(0) - r(\hat{x}) > c - r(\hat{x}) \ge 0,$$

which is a contradiction. We next suppose  $\overline{H}(0) < c$ . Then, since  $\overline{H}(0) - r(x) < 0$  in a small open neighborhood of a maximum point of r, we would reach a contradiction by substituting any element of  $D^+w$  in the neighborhood into (6.16); recall that  $H_1$  is now assumed to be non-negative. As a result, we conclude  $\overline{H}(0) = c$ .

**Example 6.13.** We revisit Example 6.8 and consider the large time behavior in the sense (1.23). Since the unique envelope solution of  $(\text{HJ1}; c\tilde{I}, 0)$  is of the form (6.8), we see

$$u(x,t) - \left(ct - \max_{a \in \mathbf{Z}^n} |x - a|\right) \to 0 \quad \text{as } t \to \infty$$

uniformly in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Obviously, this limit is different from our scaling limit *ct*.

# 7 Stationary problem

We define a notion of solutions to stationary problems of the form

$$F(x, u(x), \nabla u(x)) = 0 \quad \text{in } \mathbf{R}^n \tag{7.1}$$

in the same way as the time-dependent problems. Namely, a function  $u : \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}$  such that  $u_* > -\infty$  in  $\mathbf{R}^n$  is called a  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution of (7.1) if

$$F(x, u_*(x), p) \ge 0$$
 for all  $x \in \Omega$  and  $p \in \overline{D}^- u_*(x)$ . (7.2)

Also, we call u an envelope supersolution of (7.1) if  $u(x) = \inf_{w \in S} w(x)$  ( $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ) for some family  $S \subset \{w \mid w \text{ is a } \overline{D}\text{-supersolution of (7.1)}\}$ . A (standard) viscosity supersolution of (7.1) is defined by replacing "F" by " $F^*$ " and " $\overline{D}$ " by "D" in (7.2). Notions of subsolutions are defined in a similar way, i.e., we say u is a subsolution if -u is a supersolution. For stationary problems we do not impose global boundedness on solutions.

#### 7.1 Profile function

We first derive an equation for a profile function of a self-similar solution to (HJ1; r, 0). Let u be self-similar and suppose that its profile function U is smooth. Since u(x,t) = tU(x/t), we compute

$$\partial_t u(x,t) = U(x/t) - \langle x/t, \nabla U(x/t) \rangle, \quad \nabla u(x,t) = \nabla U(x/t).$$

Here  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  denotes the standard Euclidean inner product in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Thus, if u solves (HJ1; r, 0) with a 0-homogeneous r, substituting the above derivatives of u for (1.18) and letting  $\xi := x/t$ , we obtain

$$U(\xi) - \langle \xi, \nabla U(\xi) \rangle - H_1(\nabla U(\xi)) = r(\xi) \quad \text{in } \mathbf{R}^n.$$
(7.3)

The next proposition asserts that an envelope solution of the stationary problem (7.3) gives that of the time-dependent problem (HJ1; r, 0).

**Proposition 7.1.** Assume  $H_1 \in C(\mathbf{R}^n)$ ,  $r \in BUSC(\mathbf{R}^n)$  and that r is positively 0-homogeneous. Let  $U : \mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{R}$  be a bounded envelope solution of (7.3). Then  $u : \mathbf{R}^n \times [0, \infty) \to \mathbf{R}$  defined as

$$u(x,t) := \begin{cases} 0 & (t=0), \\ tU(x/t) & (t>0) \end{cases}$$

is an envelope solution of (HJ1; r, 0).

In contrast, it is not trivial whether the self-similar solution u gives the profile function U in the sense of envelope solutions.

*Proof.* 1. By the boundedness of U we easily see that u is continuous at t = 0, i.e.,  $u(x,0) = \lim_{(y,t)\to(x,0)} u(y,t) = 0$  for all  $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$ .

2. Let us show that u is an envelope supersolution of (HJ1; r, 0). Since U is an envelope supersolution of (7.3), there is a family  $\mathcal{T} \subset \{\overline{D}$ -supersolutions of (7.3)  $\}$  such that  $U(\xi) = \inf_{W \in \mathcal{T}} W(\xi)$ . Then  $u(x,t) = tU(x/t) = \inf_{W \in \mathcal{T}} tW(x/t)$ . We claim that w(x,t) := tW(x/t) is a  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution of (1.18) for every  $W \in \mathcal{T}$ . To do this we first prove

$$\tau - H_1(p) \ge r(\hat{x}) \tag{7.4}$$

for  $(p,\tau) \in D^- w_*(\hat{x},\hat{t})$ . Take a test function  $\phi$  for  $(p,\tau)$ , so that  $w_*(x,t) - \phi(x,t) \ge w_*(\hat{x},\hat{t}) - \phi(\hat{x},\hat{t})$  for all  $(x,t) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,\infty)$ . Letting  $\xi = x/t$ , we see

$$tW_*(\xi) - \phi(\xi t, t) \ge \hat{t}W_*(\hat{\xi}) - \phi(\hat{\xi}\hat{t}, \hat{t}) \quad \text{for all } (\xi, t) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times (0, \infty), \tag{7.5}$$

where  $\hat{\xi} := \hat{x}/\hat{t}$ . We now choose  $t = \hat{t}$  in (7.5) to get

$$D^-W_*(\hat{\xi}) \ni \nabla_{\xi}(\phi(\xi\hat{t},\hat{t})/\hat{t})|_{\xi=\hat{\xi}} = \nabla_x \phi(\hat{x},\hat{t}) = p.$$

Since W is a  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution of (7.3), we have

$$W_*(\hat{\xi}) - \langle \hat{\xi}, p \rangle - H_1(p) \ge r(\hat{\xi}) = r(\hat{x}).$$
 (7.6)

Here we have used the 0-homogeneity of r. We next take  $\xi = \hat{\xi}$  in (7.5). Since a map  $t \mapsto tW_*(\hat{\xi}) - \phi(\hat{\xi}t, t)$  is smooth, we observe

$$0 = \left. \frac{d}{dt} (tW_*(\hat{\xi}) - \phi(\hat{\xi}t, t)) \right|_{t=\hat{t}}$$
  
=  $W_*(\hat{\xi}) - \langle \hat{\xi}, \nabla_x \phi(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) \rangle - \partial_t \phi(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$   
=  $W_*(\hat{\xi}) - \langle \hat{\xi}, p \rangle - \tau.$  (7.7)

Substituting (7.7) into (7.6), we obtain (7.4).

3. We shall show that the inequality (7.4) holds for every  $(p, \tau) \in \overline{D}^- w_*(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$ . Let us take an approximate sequence  $\{((x_m, t_m), (p_m, \tau_m))\}_{m=1}^{\infty}$  for  $(p, \tau)$  which appears in the definition of  $\overline{D}^-$ . Since  $(p_m, \tau_m) \in D^- w_*(x_m, t_m)$  for each m, a similar argument to Step 2 yields  $p_m \in D^- W_*(\xi_m)$  with  $\xi_m = x_m/t_m$ . Now, compute

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} W_*(\xi_m) = \lim_{m \to \infty} \frac{w_*(x_m, t_m)}{t_m} = \frac{w_*(\hat{x}, \hat{t})}{\hat{t}} = W_*(\hat{\xi}),$$

where  $\hat{\xi} = \hat{x}/\hat{t}$ . We thus have  $p \in \overline{D}^- W_*(\hat{\xi})$ , which implies (7.6). In the same manner as in Step 2 we also see  $0 = W_*(\xi_m) - \langle \xi_m, p_m \rangle - \tau_m$ . Sending  $m \to \infty$  gives (7.7), and hence (7.4) holds.

4. We now apply the argument in Step 2 again in order to show that u is a standard viscosity subsolution of (HJ1; r, 0). Then, for  $(p, \tau) \in D^+ u^*(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$  we get  $p \in D^+ U^*(\hat{\xi})$  and  $U^*(\hat{\xi}) - \langle \hat{\xi}, p \rangle - \tau = 0$ . Here  $\hat{\xi} = \hat{x}/\hat{t}$ . Using the fact that U is a subsolution of (7.3), we conclude  $\tau - H_1(p) \leq r(\hat{x})$ .

**Example 7.2.** The corresponding stationary problem to our typical equation (1.5) is

$$U(\xi) - \langle \xi, \nabla U \rangle - |\nabla U(\xi)| = cI(\xi) \quad \text{in } \mathbf{R}^n.$$
(7.8)

In Section 7.4 we will solve approximated problems of (7.8) with continuous source terms and show that (6.2), which is the profile function of the self-similar solution to (1.5), is indeed an envelope supersolution of (7.8). By contrast one can check that (6.2) is a subsolution of (7.8) in a direct way. Let us take  $p \in D^+U(\xi)$ , where U is given as (6.2). We first notice that  $|\xi| \neq 1$  since  $D^+U(\xi)$  is a empty set if  $|\xi| = 1$ . When  $|\xi| > 1$ , we have p = 0 and  $U(\xi) = 0$ . Thus  $U(\xi) - \langle \xi, p \rangle - |p| = 0 - \langle \xi, 0 \rangle - |0| = 0$ . We next study the case  $0 < |\xi| < 1$ . Since  $p = -c\xi/|\xi|$  and  $U(\xi) = c(1 - |\xi|)$ , we compute

$$U(\xi) - \langle \xi, p \rangle - |p| = c(1 - |\xi|) - \left\langle \xi, -c\frac{\xi}{|\xi|} \right\rangle - \left| -c\frac{\xi}{|\xi|} \right| = c(1 - |\xi|) + c|\xi| - c = 0.$$

Finally, in the case  $\xi = 0$  we observe  $U(\xi) - \langle \xi, p \rangle - |p| = c - \langle 0, p \rangle - |p| \le c$ .

### 7.2 Comparison principle

We study uniqueness of solutions to stationary problems with discontinuity. Let us consider a general equation of the form

$$\nu u(x) + H(x, \nabla u) = 0 \quad \text{in } \mathbf{R}^n, \tag{7.9}$$

where  $\nu > 0$ . We establish a comparison principle for  $\overline{D}$ -sub- and  $\overline{D}$ -supersolutions of (7.9) under a suitable growth condition for solutions.

**Theorem 7.3** (Comparison principle). Assume that H satisfies  $(H_p)$  with  $\omega_1(r) = L_1 r$  for some constant  $L_1 > 0$ . Let u and  $v : \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}$  be, respectively, a  $\overline{D}$ -subsolution and a  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution of (7.9) such that

$$u(x) \le C_0(1+|x|) \quad and \quad v(x) \ge -C_0(1+|x|) \quad for \ all \ x \in \mathbf{R}^n$$
(7.10)

for some  $C_0 > 0$ . Assume either  $(\mathbf{H}_{xN})$  or Lipschitz continuity of u or v in  $\mathbf{R}^n$ . Then  $u^* \leq v_*$  in  $\mathbf{R}^n$ .

Unfortunately, the assumption of Theorem 7.3 excludes Hamiltonians having the inner product  $\langle x, p \rangle$  such as (7.3). The reader is referred to [28, Proposition 5.5] for the proof of a comparison principle in the whole space for standard viscosity solutions satisfying the same growth condition.

*Proof.* 1. Suppose by contradiction that there would exist some  $x_0 \in \mathbf{R}^n$  such that  $u^*(x_0) - v_*(x_0) =: A > 0$ . Take a constant  $\delta > 0$  small so that  $0 < \delta \leq A/4(1 + |x_0|^2)$ , and define

$$\theta := \sup_{x \in \mathbf{R}^n} \{ u^*(x) - v_*(x) - 2\delta(1 + |x|^2) \}.$$

Since u and v satisfy the growth condition (7.10), there exists a maximizer  $z \in \mathbf{R}^n$  of the function in the right hand side; namely  $\theta = u^*(z) - v_*(z) - 2\delta(1+|z|^2)$ . Also, by the choice of  $\delta$ , we have

$$\theta \ge u^*(x_0) - v_*(x_0) - 2\delta(1 + |x_0|^2) \ge A - \frac{A}{2} = \frac{A}{2}.$$
 (7.11)

We next define a function  $\Psi : \mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}$  by

$$\Psi(x,y) := u^*(x) - v_*(y) - \phi(x,y),$$

where  $\phi : \mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}$  is a smooth function given as

$$\phi(x,y) := \frac{|x-y|^2}{2\varepsilon^2} + \delta(2+|x|^2+|y|^2).$$

Here  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ . Then  $\Psi$  attains its maximum over  $\mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}^n$  at some  $(x^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}^n$  thanks to the growth condition (7.10). We observe

$$\Psi(x^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}) \ge \Psi(z, z) = u^{*}(z) - v_{*}(z) - 0 - \delta(2 + |z|^{2} + |z|^{2}) = \theta.$$
(7.12)

From this inequality and (7.10) it follows that

$$\frac{|x^{\varepsilon} - y^{\varepsilon}|^2}{2\varepsilon^2} + \delta(2 + |x^{\varepsilon}|^2 + |y^{\varepsilon}|^2) \le C_0(2 + |x^{\varepsilon}| + |y^{\varepsilon}|).$$

This implies that  $\{x^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$  and  $\{y^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$  are bounded, so that we may assume

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} (x^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}) = (\hat{x}, \hat{x})$$
(7.13)

for some  $\hat{x} \in \mathbf{R}^n$ .

2. We shall show

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{|x^{\varepsilon} - y^{\varepsilon}|}{\varepsilon} = 0$$
(7.14)

and

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} u^*(x^{\varepsilon}) = u^*(\hat{x}), \quad \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} v_*(y^{\varepsilon}) = v_*(\hat{x}).$$
(7.15)

Since  $(x^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon})$  is a maximizer of  $\Psi$ , we have

$$\Psi(\hat{x}, \hat{x}) \le \Psi(x^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}). \tag{7.16}$$

Using this inequality, we calculate

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{|x^{\varepsilon} - y^{\varepsilon}|^2}{2\varepsilon^2} \leq -\Psi(\hat{x}, \hat{x}) + \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left\{ u^*(x^{\varepsilon}) - v_*(y^{\varepsilon}) - \delta(2 + |x^{\varepsilon}|^2 + |y^{\varepsilon}|^2) \right\}$$
$$\leq -\Psi(\hat{x}, \hat{x}) + u^*(\hat{x}) - v_*(\hat{x}) - \delta(2 + |\hat{x}|^2 + |\hat{x}|^2) = 0,$$

which implies (7.14). Next, by (7.16) and the upper semicontinuity of  $\Psi$ , we observe

$$\Psi(\hat{x}, \hat{x}) \leq \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \Psi(x^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}) \leq \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \Psi(x^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}) \leq \Psi(\hat{x}, \hat{x}).$$

Thus

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \Psi(x^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon}) = \Psi(\hat{x}, \hat{x}).$$
(7.17)

This equality and (7.14) implies

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \{ u^*(x^\varepsilon) - v_*(y^\varepsilon) \} = u^*(\hat{x}) - v_*(\hat{x}).$$

We now compute

$$u^*(\hat{x}) \ge \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} u^*(x^{\varepsilon}) \ge \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} u^*(x^{\varepsilon}) = \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \{ (u^*(x^{\varepsilon}) - v_*(y^{\varepsilon})) + v_*(y^{\varepsilon}) \}$$
$$\ge (u^*(\hat{x}) - v_*(\hat{x})) + v_*(\hat{x}) = u^*(\hat{x}).$$

Consequently we obtain the both assertions in (7.15). Also, it is now easy to derive the inequality

$$\frac{A}{2} \le \Psi(\hat{x}, \hat{x}) \tag{7.18}$$

by (7.11), (7.12) and (7.17).

3. Set  $p^{\varepsilon} := (x^{\varepsilon} - y^{\varepsilon})/\varepsilon^2$ . The first derivatives of  $\phi$  at  $(x^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon})$  are given as follows:

$$\nabla_x \phi(x^\varepsilon, y^\varepsilon) = p^\varepsilon + 2\delta x^\varepsilon, \quad \nabla_y \phi(x^\varepsilon, y^\varepsilon) = -p^\varepsilon + 2\delta y^\varepsilon.$$

Since  $\Psi$  attains its maximum at  $(x^{\varepsilon}, y^{\varepsilon})$ , we have

$$\begin{cases} p^{\varepsilon} + 2\delta x^{\varepsilon} \in D^+ u^*(x^{\varepsilon}), \\ p^{\varepsilon} - 2\delta y^{\varepsilon} \in D^- v_*(y^{\varepsilon}). \end{cases}$$
(7.19)

Now we divide the situation into two different cases.

**Case 1:**  $\{p^{\varepsilon}\}_{0 < \varepsilon < 1}$  is unbounded, **Case 2:**  $\{p^{\varepsilon}\}_{0 < \varepsilon < 1}$  is bounded.

We will reach to contradiction for both cases. Note that, if u or v is assumed to be Lipschitz continuous, then Case 1 does not occur because  $D^+u^*$  or  $D^-v_*$  is a bounded set by the Lipschitz continuity. On the other hand, Case 1 can happen when we assume  $(\mathbf{H}_{xN})$  instead of the Lipschitz continuity.

In Case 1 there exists a sequence  $\{\varepsilon(j)\}_{j=1}^{\infty} \subset (0,1)$  such that  $\lim_{j\to\infty} \varepsilon(j) = 0$ and  $\lim_{j\to\infty} |p^{\varepsilon(j)}| = \infty$ . To simplify the notation let us write  $\varepsilon$  for  $\varepsilon(j)$ . By (7.19) we see

$$\begin{cases} \nu u^*(x^{\varepsilon}) + H(x^{\varepsilon}, p^{\varepsilon} + 2\delta x^{\varepsilon}) \leq 0, \\ \nu v_*(y^{\varepsilon}) + H(y^{\varepsilon}, p^{\varepsilon} - 2\delta y^{\varepsilon}) \geq 0 \end{cases}$$

since u and v are a sub- and supersolution, respectively. Combining these two inequalities, we have

$$\begin{split} \nu(u^*(x^\varepsilon) - v_*(y^\varepsilon)) &\leq \{H(y^\varepsilon, p^\varepsilon - 2\delta y^\varepsilon) - H(y^\varepsilon, p^\varepsilon)\} + \{H(y^\varepsilon, p^\varepsilon) - H(x^\varepsilon, p^\varepsilon)\} \\ &\quad + \{H(x^\varepsilon, p^\varepsilon) - H(x^\varepsilon, p^\varepsilon + 2\delta x^\varepsilon)\}. \end{split}$$

We now let  $\varepsilon$  small so that  $|p^{\varepsilon}| \geq N$ , where N is the constant in the assumption  $(\mathbf{H}_{xN})$ . Applying  $(\mathbf{H}_p)$  and  $(\mathbf{H}_{xN})$ , we calculate

$$\nu(u^*(x^{\varepsilon}) - v_*(y^{\varepsilon})) \leq 2\delta L_1 |y^{\varepsilon}| + \omega_2((1 + |p^{\varepsilon}|)|x^{\varepsilon} - y^{\varepsilon}|) + 2\delta L_1 |x^{\varepsilon}|$$
$$= \omega_2 \left( |x^{\varepsilon} - y^{\varepsilon}| + \frac{|x^{\varepsilon} - y^{\varepsilon}|^2}{\varepsilon^2} \right) + 2\delta L_1(|x^{\varepsilon}| + |y^{\varepsilon}|).$$

Sending  $\varepsilon \to 0$  yields

$$\nu(u^*(\hat{x}) - v_*(\hat{x})) \le 4\delta L_1 |\hat{x}|, \tag{7.20}$$

where we have used (7.14). Adding  $-2\nu\delta(1+|\hat{x}|^2)$  to the both sides, we compute

$$\nu \Psi(\hat{x}, \hat{x}) \leq 4\delta L_1 |\hat{x}| - 2\nu \delta (1 + |\hat{x}|^2) = 2\delta \left\{ -\nu \left( |\hat{x}| - \frac{L_1}{\nu} \right)^2 + \frac{L_1^2}{\nu} - \nu \right\} \leq 2\delta \left( \frac{L_1^2}{\nu} - \nu \right).$$

Finally, we apply the inequality (7.18) to get

$$\frac{\nu A}{2} \le 2\delta \left(\frac{L_1^2}{\nu} - \nu\right).$$

This is a contradiction for small  $\delta$ .

We next study Case 2. In this case we may assume  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} p^{\varepsilon} = \bar{p}$  for some  $\bar{p} \in \mathbf{R}^n$ . Since we have (7.13), (7.15) and

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} (p^{\varepsilon} + 2\delta x^{\varepsilon}, p^{\varepsilon} - 2\delta y^{\varepsilon}) = (\bar{p} + 2\delta \hat{x}, \bar{p} - 2\delta \hat{x}),$$

taking a limit in (7.19), we obtain

$$\begin{cases} \bar{p} + 2\delta \hat{x} \in \overline{D}^+ u^*(\hat{x}), \\ \bar{p} - 2\delta \hat{x} \in \overline{D}^- v_*(\hat{x}) \end{cases}$$

by the definitions of  $\overline{D}^{\pm}$ . Now u and v are solutions in the  $\overline{D}$ -sense, and so it follows that

$$\begin{cases} \nu u^{*}(\hat{x}) + H(\hat{x}, \bar{p} + 2\delta \hat{x}) \leq 0, \\ \nu v_{*}(\hat{x}) + H(\hat{x}, \bar{p} - 2\delta \hat{x}) \geq 0. \end{cases}$$

From these inequalities and  $(H_p)$  we are able to deduce (7.20) without  $(H_{xN})$ . The rest of the proof is similar to Case 1.

#### 7.3 Existence result

We turn to the existence problem for (7.9). Similarly to the time-dependent case, we construct envelope solutions via approximated problems. More precisely, for each  $\varepsilon > 0$  we first solve

$$\nu u^{\varepsilon}(x) + H^{\varepsilon}(x, \nabla u^{\varepsilon}) = 0 \quad \text{in } \mathbf{R}^n, \tag{7.21}$$

where  $H^{\varepsilon}$  is a continuous Hamiltonian approximating H. We next show that the infimum of  $u^{\varepsilon}$  gives an envelope solution of the original problem (7.9). The following assumption requires an approximability of H:

The following assumption requires an approximability of *H* 

- (H'\_{\varepsilon}) There exists  $\{H^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon>0} \subset C(\mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}^n)$ , a family of continuous Hamiltonians, such that  $H^{\varepsilon} \uparrow H$  pointwise as  $\varepsilon \to 0$  and the following conditions hold.
  - (i) If u and  $v : \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}$  be, respectively, a standard viscosity sub- and supersolution of (7.21) satisfying (7.10) for some  $C_0 > 0$ , then  $u^* \leq v_*$  in  $\mathbf{R}^n$ .
  - (ii) There exists a standard viscosity solution  $u^{\varepsilon}$  of (7.21) such that  $-C^{\varepsilon}(1+|x|) \leq u^{\varepsilon}(x) \leq C^{\varepsilon}(1+|x|)$  in  $\mathbf{R}^{n}$  for some  $C^{\varepsilon} > 0$ .

The condition (i) implies that the solution in (ii) is unique and continuous. We also remark that H satisfying  $(H'_{\varepsilon})$  is always lower semicontinuous, so that we may discuss subsolutions of (7.9) in the standard viscosity sense.

**Proposition 7.4** (Existence of envelope solutions). Assume that H satisfies  $(H'_{\varepsilon})$ . Let  $u^{\varepsilon}$  be the unique solution of (7.21), and set  $\overline{u} := \inf_{\varepsilon>0} u^{\varepsilon}$ . Assume furthermore that there exists a subsolution w of (7.9) such that  $-C'(1+|x|) \leq w(x)$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  for some C' > 0. Then  $\overline{u}$  is an envelope solution of (7.9). Moreover, it hold that  $-C'(1+|x|) \leq \overline{u}(x) \leq C^{\varepsilon}(1+|x|)$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ , where  $C^{\varepsilon}$  is the constant in  $(H'_{\varepsilon})$ .

The proof of Proposition 7.4 uses a similar argument to that of Proposition 3.7.

*Proof.* Since  $H^{\varepsilon'} \leq H^{\varepsilon} \leq H$  for  $0 < \varepsilon < \varepsilon'$ , the comparison principle (i) in  $(H_{\varepsilon})$  implies  $w \leq u^{\varepsilon} \leq u^{\varepsilon'}$ . Thus taking the infimum over  $\{\varepsilon > 0\}$  yields  $w \leq \overline{u} \leq u^{\varepsilon'}$ . The growth condition on  $\overline{u}$  follows from these inequalities.

We shall show that  $\overline{u}$  is an envelope solution. Since  $u^{\varepsilon}$  is a standard subsolution of (7.21), the stability result for subsolutions under the relaxed limit ([11, Lemma 6.1, Remark 6.3]) implies that  $\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} u^{\varepsilon}$ , which is now equal to  $\overline{u}$  by the monotonicity of  $u^{\varepsilon}$ , is a subsolution of (7.9). Here we have used  $\liminf_{\ast \varepsilon \to 0} H^{\varepsilon} = H$ . We also see that  $\overline{u}$  is an envelope supersolution of (7.9) since  $u^{\varepsilon}$  is a  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution of (7.9) by  $H^{\varepsilon} \leq H$ .

One of sufficient conditions for existence of the subsolution w in the statement of Proposition 7.4 is

$$m := \sup_{x \in \mathbf{R}^n} H(x, 0) < \infty.$$

In fact, if H satisfies this condition, then  $w(x) = -m/\nu$  is a bounded subsolution of (7.9) since

$$\nu w(x) + H(x, \nabla w(x)) = -m + H(x, 0) \le 0.$$

#### 7.4 Explicit solutions

Let us solve (7.8) via approximation. As we studied in Example 3.1 and 3.2, one of simple approximation to (7.8) is

$$u^{\varepsilon}(x) - \langle x, \nabla u^{\varepsilon} \rangle - |\nabla u^{\varepsilon}| = cI^{\varepsilon}(x) \text{ in } \mathbf{R}^{n},$$
 (7.22)

where  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$  and  $I^{\varepsilon}$  is given by (1.8). Let us compute the exact solutions of the approximated problems (7.22). We fix  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$  and simply write u for  $u^{\varepsilon}$ . Since (7.22) is written as a Bellman equation of the form

$$u(x) - \sup_{a \in \overline{B}_1(0)} \langle x + a, \nabla u \rangle = cI^{\varepsilon}(x) \text{ in } \mathbf{R}^n,$$

we are able to apply the classical optimal control theory. According to [2, Proposition III.2.8] the value function of the infinite horizon problem defined as

$$u(x) := \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \int_0^\infty e^{-s} c I^{\varepsilon}(X^{\alpha}(s)) ds$$

is a standard viscosity solution of (7.22). Here  $\alpha \in \mathcal{A} := \{\alpha : [0, \infty) \to \overline{B}_1(0), \text{measurable}\}\$  is a control (the control set is  $\overline{B}_1(0)$ ) and  $X^{\alpha} : [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}^n$  solves the state equation

$$(X^{\alpha})'(s) = X^{\alpha}(s) + \alpha(s) \quad \text{in } (0, \infty), \qquad X^{\alpha}(0) = x$$

A discount factor  $\lambda$ , which usually appears in the exponential term  $e^{-\lambda s}$ , is now chosen as one. Studying the optimal strategy for each  $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$ , we shall simplify the representation formula of u.

We first notice that, if  $|x| \ge 1$ , it is impossible for the state  $X^{\alpha}(s)$  to reach  $\overline{B}_{\varepsilon}(0)(=\operatorname{supp}(r))$  whatever control  $\alpha$  is chosen because, for each  $x' \in \mathbf{R}^n$  such that  $|x'| \ge 1$ , the set  $\{x' + a \mid a \in \overline{B}_1(0)\}$  is disjoint from the half space  $\{y \in \mathbf{R}^n \mid \langle x', y \rangle < 0\}$ . This implies that the state cannot get close to the origin. Thus

$$u(x) = 0 \quad (|x| \ge 1). \tag{7.23}$$

We next study the case where  $0 \leq |x| < 1$ . Then the optimal control forces to the state to move straight from x to the origin at a maximal speed and to stop at the origin after the arrival. In other words, the optimal strategy satisfies

$$|X^{\alpha}(s)| = \begin{cases} 1 - (1 - |x|)e^s & (0 \le s \le -\log(1 - |x|)), \\ 0 & (-\log(1 - |x|) \le s < \infty). \end{cases}$$

Therefore

$$\frac{u(x)}{c} = \int_0^{-\log(1-|x|)} e^{-s} \left(1 - \frac{|X^{\alpha}(s)|}{\varepsilon}\right)_+ ds + \int_{-\log(1-|x|)}^{\infty} e^{-s} ds$$
$$= \int_0^{-\log(1-|x|)} e^{-s} \left(1 - \frac{1 - (1-|x|)e^s}{\varepsilon}\right)_+ ds + (1-|x|).$$
(7.24)

When  $|x| \leq \varepsilon$ , the first term is

$$\int_0^{-\log(1-|x|)} e^{-s} \left(1 - \frac{1 - (1-|x|)e^s}{\varepsilon}\right) ds = -\left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon} - 1\right) |x| - \frac{1 - |x|}{\varepsilon} \log(1 - |x|),$$

and consequently

$$\frac{u(x)}{c} = 1 - \frac{|x|}{\varepsilon} - \frac{1 - |x|}{\varepsilon} \log(1 - |x|) \quad (0 \le |x| \le \varepsilon).$$
(7.25)

We next compute the first term in (7.24) when  $\varepsilon \leq |x| < 1$ . Then

$$\int_{-\log\{(1-|x|)/(1-\varepsilon)\}}^{-\log\{(1-|x|)/(1-\varepsilon)\}} e^{-s} \left(1 - \frac{1 - (1-|x|)e^s}{\varepsilon}\right) ds = \left(\frac{\log(1-\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon} - 1\right) (1-|x|),$$

which yields

$$\frac{u(x)}{c} = -\frac{\log(1-\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon}(1-|x|) \quad (\varepsilon \le |x| < 1).$$
(7.26)

Summarizing the above computations, we established the solution formula (7.23), (7.25) and (7.26). The solution  $u^{\varepsilon}$  of (7.22) is a  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution of (7.8) since  $cI(x) \leq cI^{\varepsilon}(x)$  for all  $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$ . Also, the infimum of  $u^{\varepsilon}$  is equal to (6.2), and therefore we conclude that (6.2) is an envelope supersolution of (7.8). (In this example,  $u^{\varepsilon}$  uniformly converges to (6.2) as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ .)

One can obtain functions of the form (7.25) and (7.26) via solving ordinary differential equations. To get the solutions we first simplify the equation (7.22). We consider (7.22) in the one-dimensional half space  $(0, \infty)$  and suppose that the solution u is non-increasing in  $(0, \infty)$  so that |u'(x)| = -u'(x). Then the equation (7.22) simplifies to

$$u(x) + (1 - x)u'(x) = cI^{\varepsilon}(x) \quad \text{in } (0, \infty).$$
(7.27)

Since this is a linear differential equation, we are able to employ the solution formula of the linear equation. For 0 < x < 1 we have

$$u(x) = \left(u(0) + \int_0^x \frac{c}{1-s} I^{\varepsilon}(s) e^{\int_0^s dz/(1-z)} ds\right) e^{\int_0^x -ds/(1-s)}.$$
 (7.28)

We consider the value of u(0). If we suppose u is radially symmetric and differentiable at the origin, then  $\nabla u(0) = 0$ . Thus letting x = 0 in the original equation (7.22) implies u(0) = c. Substituting this for (7.28) and computing the integrals, we finally obtain (7.25) and (7.26), where "|x|" is replaced by "x", for  $0 < x \leq \varepsilon$  and  $\varepsilon \leq x < 1$ , respectively.

In Example 3.2, considering a finite horizon optimal control problem, we computed the exact solution to the approximated time-dependent equation of the form  $\partial_t v^{\varepsilon} - |\nabla v^{\varepsilon}| = cI^{\varepsilon}(x)$  under the zero initial data. However, the shape of the solution  $v^{\varepsilon}(x,t)$  to this problem is different from that to the stationary problem (7.22). Indeed, for a fixed t > 0 the solution  $v^{\varepsilon}$  is a quadratic function of |x| near the origin with the vertex (0, ct), and the solution is smooth in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times (0, T)$ . Obviously, the solution of (7.22) does not enjoy these properties.

In Lemma 5.3 we proved that, under a suitable controllability condition, the value function of a finite horizon problem with a discontinuous running cost gives the unique envelope solution of Bellman equations. As its analogue let us study the value function

$$v(x) = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \int_0^\infty e^{-s} c I(X^\alpha(s)) ds$$
(7.29)

with a discontinuous integrand. The optimal control for this problem is the same one as before, i.e., to maximize the cost the state first goes to the origin straight at a maximal speed, and, after the state arrives at the origin at a time  $-\log(1-|x|)$ , it stays there. Consequently, we see

$$\frac{v(x)}{c} = \int_{-\log(1-|x|)}^{\infty} e^{-s} ds = 1 - |x|.$$

In other words, (7.29) gives the envelope solution of (7.8). However, if we choose a control set as  $\partial \overline{B}_1(0)$  instead of  $\overline{B}_1(0)$ , the value function with the discontinuous cost cI becomes zero because the state  $X^{\alpha}(\cdot)$  is enable to stop at the origin whatever  $\alpha$  is chosen. This implies that we need to take the control set suitably to represent the envelope solution.

# A Preservation of Lipschitz and uniform continuity

Proof of Proposition 3.17. We first remark that  $w(x,t) := u_0(x) + mt \in SUP(H, u_0)$ . Take any  $(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) \in Q$ ,  $h \in (0, T - \hat{t})$  and define

$$\tilde{u}(x,t) := \begin{cases} w(x,t) & (t \in [0,h]), \\ u(x,t-h) + mh & (t \in (h,T)). \end{cases}$$

We claim  $\tilde{u} \in SUP(H, u_0)$ . Let  $(p, \tau) \in D^-\tilde{u}(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$ . Then it follows easily that  $\tau + H(\hat{x}, p) \geq 0$  when  $\hat{t} \neq h$ , and so we only consider the case  $\hat{t} = h$ . Since  $u \in SUB(H, u_0)$  and  $w \in SUP(H, u_0)$ , we see by the comparison principle that  $u \leq w$  in Q. Take  $(x, t) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times (h, T)$ , and substitute (x, t - h) into the inequality. Then we find  $u(x, t - h) \leq u_0(x) + m(t - h)$ , namely  $\tilde{u}(x, t) \leq w(x, t)$ . This implies the relation  $D^-\tilde{u}(\hat{x}, h) \subset D^-w(\hat{x}, h)$ , and hence our claim follows from  $w \in SUP(H, u_0)$ .

Applying the comparison principle to  $u \in SUB(H, u_0)$  and  $\tilde{u} \in SUP(H, u_0)$ , we obtain  $u \leq \tilde{u}$  in Q. In particular, we have  $u(\hat{x}, \hat{t} + h) \leq \tilde{u}(\hat{x}, \hat{t} + h) = u(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) + mh$ , that is

$$\frac{u(\hat{x}, \hat{t} + h) - u(\hat{x}, \hat{t})}{h} \le m.$$

By the similar argument we also deduce

$$\frac{u(\hat{x}, \hat{t} + h) - u(\hat{x}, \hat{t})}{h} \ge -m$$

from the fact that  $u_0(x) - mt \in SUB(H, u_0)$  and so on. Thus  $\operatorname{Lip}_t[u] \leq m$  is proved.

We next estimate  $\operatorname{Lip}_x[u]$ . Take any  $(p, \tau) \in D^+u(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$ . Since the estimate  $\operatorname{Lip}_t[u] \leq m$  implies  $|\tau| \leq m$ , we see from  $u \in SUB(H)$  that  $H(\hat{x}, p) \leq -\tau \leq m$ , hence that  $|p| \leq R_+(m)$  by  $(\operatorname{H}_{R+})$ . This observation means

$$\sup_{\substack{(\hat{x},\hat{t})\in Q\\(p,\tau)\in D^+u(\hat{x},\hat{t})}} |p| \le R_+(m),$$

and moreover Lemma A.2 (1) and (2) below ensure that

$$\sup_{\hat{t} \in (0,T)} \sup_{\substack{x,y \in \mathbf{R}^n \\ x \neq y}} \frac{|u(x,\hat{t}) - u(y,\hat{t})|}{|x - y|} \le R_+(m).$$

We thus conclude that  $\operatorname{Lip}_{x}[u] \leq R_{+}(m)$ .

Remark A.1. From the proof it turns out that it is sufficient to assume that H satisfies  $(\mathcal{H}_{R+})$  or  $(\mathcal{H}_{R-})$  only for all  $m \in I$ , where I is the range of  $m(\cdot)$  in  $(\mathcal{H}_m)$  on  $[0, \infty)$ . For example H(x, p) = -|p|/(1 + |p|) is not coercive but the same conclusion in Proposition 3.17 still holds since we have  $0 \leq m(\rho) < 1$  ( $\rho \geq 0$ ) and  $R_{-}(m) < \infty$  ( $0 \leq m < 1$ ).

**Lemma A.2.** (1) Let  $f : \mathbf{R}^N \to \mathbf{R}$  be bounded. Then we have

$$\sup_{\substack{x,y \in \mathbf{R}^N \\ x \neq y}} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|}{|x - y|} = \sup_{\substack{\hat{x} \in \mathbf{R}^N \\ p \in D^+ f(\hat{x})}} |p|.$$

(2) Let  $u: Q \to \mathbf{R}$  be continuous. Assume that  $\operatorname{Lip}_t[u] < \infty$ . Then we have

$$\sup_{\substack{(\hat{x},\hat{t})\in Q\\(p,\tau)\in D^+u(\hat{x},\hat{t})}} |p| = \sup_{\hat{t}\in(0,T)} \sup_{\substack{\hat{x}\in\mathbf{R}^n\\p\in D^+(u|_{t=\hat{t}})(\hat{x})}} |p|.$$

*Proof.* (1) This is well-known even in multi-dimensional setting; see, e.g., [25, Proposition 5.8].

(2) Denote by  $L_u$  and  $R_u$  respectively the left hand side and the right hand side. Then we obtain  $L_u \leq R_u$  by the separation of variables of a test function. Let us show  $L_u \geq R_u$ . Fix  $(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) \in Q$ ,  $p \in D^+(u|_{t=\hat{t}})(\hat{x})$  and take a corresponding test function  $\psi \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . We may assume that  $u|_{t=\hat{t}} - \psi$  attains its strict maximum at  $\hat{x}$ . Define  $C := \operatorname{Lip}_t[u] + 1$ ,  $g(t) := C|t - \hat{t}|$ ,  $\phi := \psi + g$ ,  $g^{\varepsilon}(t) := C\sqrt{|t - \hat{t}|^2 + \varepsilon}$  and  $\phi^{\varepsilon} := \psi + g^{\varepsilon}$ . Then  $u - \phi$  attains its strict maximum at  $(\hat{x}, \hat{t})$  and  $u - \phi^{\varepsilon}$  converges to  $u - \phi$  uniformly. Therefore, by the lemma on convergence of maximum points (see [21, Lemma 2.2.5]), there exists a sequence  $\{(x^{\varepsilon}, t^{\varepsilon})\}_{\varepsilon>0}$  such that  $(x^{\varepsilon}, t^{\varepsilon}) \to (\hat{x}, \hat{t})$  and  $u - \phi^{\varepsilon}$  attains its local maximum at  $(x^{\varepsilon}, t^{\varepsilon})$  for each  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Then we have  $(\nabla \psi(x^{\varepsilon}), (g^{\varepsilon})'(t^{\varepsilon})) \in D^+ u^{\varepsilon}(x^{\varepsilon}, t^{\varepsilon})$  and  $\nabla \psi(x^{\varepsilon}) \to \nabla \psi(x) = p$ , which yield  $L_u \geq R_u$ .

We next prove Proposition 3.18. In the following proof we use the fact that if uniformly continuous functions  $f^{\delta}$  ( $\delta > 0$ ) converges to f uniformly as  $\delta \downarrow 0$ , then f is also uniformly continuous. Let  $\omega^{\delta}$  be a modulus of  $f^{\delta}$ . Then

$$\begin{split} |f(x) - f(y)| &\leq |f(x) - f^{\delta}(x)| + |f^{\delta}(x) - f^{\delta}(y)| + |f^{\delta}(y) - f(y)| \\ &\leq 2||f - f^{\delta}|| + \omega^{\delta}(|x - y|), \end{split}$$

and hence our claim follows. We also find that f has

$$\omega(r) = \inf_{\delta > 0} \left( 2\|f - f^{\delta}\| + \omega^{\delta}(r) \right)$$

as its modulus and that there is no need to assume the existence of a common modulus of  $f^{\delta}$ .

Proof of Proposition 3.18. By the assumption  $(\mathbf{H}_m)$  there exists a solution  $u^{\delta} \in SOL(H, u_0^{\delta})$  for each  $\delta > 0$ , and Proposition 3.17 implies that  $u^{\delta} \in BLip(Q)$  since  $u_0^{\delta} \in BLip(\mathbf{R}^n)$ . Now, by using the inequality

$$\|u - u^{\delta}\|_{Q} \le \|u_{0} - u_{0}^{\delta}\|_{\mathbf{R}^{n}}$$
(A.1)

in Remark 2.7 (1) we find that  $u^{\delta}$  converges to u uniformly in Q as  $\delta \downarrow 0$ . Besides, recalling the remark before this proof, we see  $u \in BUC(Q)$  and

$$\omega_0(r) := \inf_{\delta > 0} \left( 2 \|u - u^{\delta}\|_Q + \operatorname{Lip}[u^{\delta}]r \right)$$

is a modulus of u. Applying (A.1) and the estimate of  $\text{Lip}[u^{\delta}]$  in Proposition 3.17, we obtain the desired form of  $\omega$ .

# **B** Existence of $\overline{D}$ -solutions to general equations

In this section we discuss a sufficient condition which guarantees that an envelope solution of the original problem is a  $\overline{D}$ -solution of the relaxed problem. As the original problem, we consider (HJ) with H of the form (1.10); that is

(HJ0) 
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u + H_0(x, \nabla u) = r(x) & \text{in } Q, \\ (1.2). \end{cases}$$
 (B.1)

To study the relaxed problem we make the following assumptions on  $H_0$  and r:

$$\begin{cases} (i) & H_0 \in C(\mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}^n) \text{ and the map } \mu \mapsto H_0(0, \mu p) \text{ is nonincreasing} \\ & \text{on } \{\mu \ge 0\} \text{ for all } p \in \mathbf{R}^n. \\ (ii) & r \in C(\mathbf{R}^n \setminus \{0\}) \text{ and } r_* \in C(\mathbf{R}^n). \end{cases}$$
(B.2)

The condition (B.2) implies (i)', (ii)' and (4.4) in Example 4.1, and therefore  $(H_r)$  is satisfied. The corresponding relaxed Hamiltonian  $\hat{H}$  is

$$\hat{H}(x,p) := \begin{cases} H(x,p) & (x \neq 0), \\ \min\{H^*(0,p), \ H(0,0)\} & (x=0). \end{cases}$$

Setting  $P := \{ p \in \mathbf{R}^n \mid H^*(0, p) \ge H(0, 0) \}$ , we have

$$\hat{H}(0,p) = \begin{cases} H(0,0) & (p \in P), \\ H^*(0,p) & (p \notin P), \end{cases}$$

and so  $\hat{H}$  is continuous in  $\{(x, p) \mid x \neq 0 \text{ or } p \notin P\}$ . We also notice that P is a closed set in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  by the continuity of  $H^*$ . We have already shown in Section 4 that an envelope solution of (HJ0) is also an envelope solution of (r.HJ).

Our gold in the rest of this section is to prove that an envelope solution of (r.HJ) is a  $\overline{D}$ -solution of the same problem. To do this the following two assertions play crucial roles.

**Lemma B.1.** Let  $u : Q \to \mathbf{R}$  be continuous.

- (1) Assume that u satisfies the following property:
  - (U1) For all  $\hat{t} \in (0,T)$  there exist some  $d > 0, \delta > 0$  and  $C \ge 0$  such that  $u|_{x=x'} + Ct^2$  is convex in  $(\hat{t} \delta, \hat{t} + \delta)$  for each  $x' \in B_d(0)$ .

Then

$$\tau \in D^{-}(u|_{x=0})(\hat{t}) \quad for \ all \ (p,\tau) \in \overline{D}^{-}u(0,\hat{t}) \ with \ \hat{t} \in (0,T).$$
(B.3)

(2) Assume that  $H_0$  and r satisfies (B.2). Assume furthermore that u is a Lipschitz continuous  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution of (4.1). Then

$$\tau + H(0,0) \ge 0$$
 for all  $\tau \in D^{-}(u|_{x=0})(\hat{t})$  with  $\hat{t} \in (0,T)$ . (B.4)

A function  $f : \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}$  is said to be *semiconvex* if  $f(x) + C|x|^2$  is convex for some C > 0. Thus the condition (U1) requires some kind of semiconvexity of u with respect to t. We remark that, when  $f(x) + C|x|^2$  is convex, functions  $f(x)+C|x-a|^2$  are also convex for all  $a \in \mathbf{R}^n$ . Indeed, we have  $f(x)+C|x-a|^2 =$  $f(x)+C|x|^2-2C\langle x,a\rangle+C|a|^2$ , and the right hand side is the sum of two convex functions. This implies the convexity of  $f(x) + C|x-a|^2$ .

Proof. (1) Let  $(p,\tau) \in \overline{D}^{-}u(0,\hat{t})$ . Take an approximate sequence  $(p_m,\tau_m) \in D^{-}u(x_m,t_m)$  for  $(p,\tau)$  and their test functions  $\phi_m \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n \times (0,T))$ . We may assume that  $\phi_m$  is of the separated form, i.e,  $\phi_m(x,t) = \psi_m(x) + g_m(t)$  for some  $\psi_m \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $g_m \in C^1(0,T)$ . Since  $u|_{x=x_m} - g_m$  attains its minimum at  $t_m$ , we see that  $t_m$  is also a minimum point of  $u|_{x=x_m} + C(t-t_m)^2 - g_m$ , where C is the constant in (U1). As we remarked after the statement of Lemma B.1, the function  $u|_{x=x_m} + C(t-t_m)^2 - g'(t_m)t$  over  $(\hat{t}-\delta,\hat{t}+\delta)$ . Thus  $t_m$  is a minimum point of  $u|_{x=x_m} + C(t-t_m)^2 - g'(t_m)t$  over  $(\hat{t}-\delta,\hat{t}+\delta)$ . We now apply  $g'(t_m) = \tau_m$  and send  $m \to \infty$ . Then, from the continuity of u at  $(0,\hat{t})$ , it follows that the function  $u|_{x=0} + C(t-\hat{t})^2 - \tau t$  attains its minimum over  $(\hat{t}-\delta,\hat{t}+\delta)$  at  $\hat{t}$ . This implies

$$D^{-}(u|_{x=0})(\hat{t}) \ni \left. \frac{d}{dt} \{ \tau t - C(t-\hat{t})^{2} \} \right|_{t=\hat{t}} = \tau,$$

which is the desired conclusion.

(2) Choose any  $\tau \in D^-(u|_{x=0})(\hat{t})$ , and take a test function  $g \in C^1(0,T)$  for  $\tau$ . We may assume that  $u|_{x=0}-g$  attains its strict minimum at  $\hat{t}$ . For  $\varepsilon > 0$  we define  $\gamma := \operatorname{Lip}_x[u]+1, \psi(x) := -\gamma |x|, \phi(x,t) := \psi(x)+g(t), \psi^{\varepsilon}(x) := -\gamma \sqrt{|x|^2 + \varepsilon}$  and  $\phi^{\varepsilon}(x,t) := \psi^{\varepsilon}(x)+g(t)$ . Then  $u-\phi$  attains its strict minimum at  $(0,\hat{t})$ , and  $u-\phi^{\varepsilon}$  converges to  $u-\phi$  uniformly as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . Thus there exists a sequence  $\{(x^{\varepsilon},t^{\varepsilon})\}_{\varepsilon>0}$  such that  $(x^{\varepsilon},t^{\varepsilon}) \to (0,\hat{t})$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$  and that  $u-\phi^{\varepsilon}$  attains its local minimum at  $(x^{\varepsilon},t^{\varepsilon})$  for each  $\varepsilon > 0$  ([21, Lemma 2.2.5]). Now, since  $|\nabla\psi^{\varepsilon}| \leq \gamma$  for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ , taking a subsequence if necessarily, we may let  $\nabla\psi^{\varepsilon}(x^{\varepsilon})$  converge to some  $\bar{p} \in \mathbf{R}^n$ . Moreover  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} g'(t^{\varepsilon}) = g'(\hat{t}) = \tau$ , and so we see  $(\bar{p},\tau) \in \overline{D}^- u(0,\hat{t})$ . Since u is a  $\overline{D}$ -supersolution of (4.1), we conclude  $0 \leq \tau + \hat{H}(0,\bar{p}) \leq \tau + H(0,0)$ .

- Remark B.2. (1) If a function u is of the form (4.8), then u satisfies (U1) with C = 0. Thus, when a Hamiltonian is given as (1.3), we conclude that (4.7) is a sufficient condition for (U1) since (4.7) implies (4.8). For more general Hamiltonians, as far as the author knows, there is no convenient sufficient condition on the initial data which guarantees (U1) for envelope solutions u of (HJ0).
  - (2) The conclusion (B.3) in Lemma B.1 (1) may not hold if we remove (U1). To see this, let us consider the solution u given by (4.6). Concerning its subdifferentials, we have  $0 \notin D^{-}(u|_{x=0})(2)$  and  $(0,0) \in \overline{D}^{-}u(0,2)$ ; that is, (B.3) is violated. We also notice that u does not satisfy (U1) at  $\hat{t} = 2$ .

Remark B.3. If we assume

$$\limsup_{(x,p)\to(0,\infty), \ x\neq 0} H(x,p) \le H(0,0)$$
(B.5)

in Lemma B.1 (2) instead of the Lipschitz continuity of u, the same conclusion follows. In this case we take  $\psi$  and  $\psi^{\varepsilon}$  in the proof as

$$\psi(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & (x=0) \\ -\infty & (x\neq 0) \end{cases}, \quad \psi^{\varepsilon}(x) = -\frac{|x|^2}{\varepsilon}.$$

Since  $\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0}^* \psi^\varepsilon = \psi$ , it follows from [21, Lemma 2.2.5] that there exists a sequence  $\{(x^\varepsilon, t^\varepsilon)\}_{\varepsilon>0}$  satisfying the same properties as in the proof of Lemma B.1 (2) by taking a subsequence if necessary. Set  $p^\varepsilon := \nabla \psi^\varepsilon (x^\varepsilon) = -2x^\varepsilon/\varepsilon$  and assume that the sequence  $\{p^\varepsilon\}_{\varepsilon>0}$  is not bounded; otherwise the same proof runs as before. By the unboundedness of  $p^\varepsilon$  we notice  $x^\varepsilon \neq 0$  for very small  $\varepsilon$ . Since  $(p^\varepsilon, g'(t^\varepsilon)) \in D^-u(x^\varepsilon, t^\varepsilon)$  and u is a supersolution of (4.1), we have  $g'(t^\varepsilon) + H(x^\varepsilon, p^\varepsilon) \ge 0$ . Taking  $\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0}^*$  in the inequality, we obtain  $\tau + H(0, 0) \ge 0$  by (B.5).

**Proposition B.4** (Existence of  $\overline{D}$ -solutions). Assume that  $H_0$  and r satisfies (B.2). Let u be a continuous envelope solution of (HJ0) such that  $u = \inf_{w \in S} w$  for some S which consists of Lipschitz continuous  $\overline{D}$ -supersolutions of (B.1). Assume furthermore that u satisfies (U1). Then u is a  $\overline{D}$ -solution of (r.HJ).

*Proof.* From Lemma 4.4 and the inequality  $H \leq \hat{H}$  it follows that u is an envelope solution of (r.HJ).

Let  $(p,\tau) \in \overline{D}^{-}u(\hat{x},\hat{t})$ . When  $\hat{x} \neq 0$  or  $p \notin P$ , we apply the stability result under infimum for standard supersolutions ([11, Lemma 4.2]) to obtain

$$0 \leq \tau + (\hat{H})^*(\hat{x}, p) = \tau + \hat{H}(\hat{x}, p)$$

since  $\hat{H}$  is continuous at  $(\hat{x}, p)$ . We next study the case where  $\hat{x} = 0$  and  $p \in P$ . By the definition of P our goal is to show

$$\tau + H(0,0) \ge 0.$$
 (B.6)

Since u satisfies (U1), Lemma B.1 (1) implies

$$\tau \in D^{-}(u|_{x=0})(\hat{t}).$$
 (B.7)

We next apply Lemma B.1 (2) to each  $w \in S$ . It then follows that  $\partial_t(w|_{x=0}) + H(0,0) \ge 0$  in (0,T) in the standard viscosity sense. Thus, by the stability under infimum we see  $\partial_t(u|_{x=0}) + H(0,0) \ge 0$  in (0,T) in the standard viscosity sense. Using (B.7), we finally deduce (B.6).

# C On effects of discontinuity and measures

If we see source terms with jump discontinuity such as I(x) with respect to the Lebesgue measure, we cannot observe the discontinuity since, in the case of I(x), it is equal to zero in the almost everywhere sense. However, if we use another measure, say the counting measure, we may not neglect such discontinuity at a singleton. It is thus reasonable to establish a notion of envelope solutions depending on a given measure. For this purpose we introduce an essential semicontinuous envelope as follows. Let  $\mu$  be a Borel (regular) measure on  $\mathbf{R}^n$ . Assume that  $0 < \mu(B) \leq \infty$  for any open ball  $B = B_r(x)$  with radius r > 0 centered at  $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$ . For a Borel measurable function  $f : \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}$  we define an essential lower semicontinuous envelope of f with respect to  $\mu$  as

$$f_{\mu*}(x) := \lim_{\delta \to 0} \left( \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{\overline{B}_{\delta}(x)} f \right),$$

where  $\operatorname{ess\,inf}_{\overline{B}_{\delta}(x)} f := \sup\{\lambda \in \mathbf{R} \mid \mu(\{x \in \mathbf{R}^n \mid f(x) < \lambda\} \cap \overline{B}_{\delta}(x)) = 0\}$ . In other words, we modify a set of discontinuity of f with  $\mu$ -zero measures. Assuming that all balls have positive measure, we see that  $f_{\mu*}$  is well-defined as a real-valued function provided that f is locally bounded. Also, as we will see below,  $f_{\mu*}$  is a lower semicontinuous function.

We apply this essential envelope to the original Hamiltonian H, and solve (HJ) with  $H_{\mu*}$  instead of H. We then obtain an envelope solution on which the measure  $\mu$  has an effect. When a Hamiltonian is of the form (1.10), we have  $H_{\mu*}(x,p) = H_0(x,p) - r^{\mu*}(x)$  with  $r^{\mu*} := -(-r)_{\mu*}$ . For instance, when the source term r is given as (1.12), we have  $r^{\mu*} = 0$  if  $\mu$  is the *n*-dimensional Lebesgue measure while  $r^{\mu*} = r$  if  $\mu$  is the counting measure. The former example implies that the inequality  $r \leq r^{\mu*}$  does not necessarily hold although we always have  $r \leq r^*$  for the usual upper semicontinuous envelope.
We prove that  $f_{\mu*}$  is lower semicontinuous. Take  $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$  and  $\delta > 0$ . We also choose  $y \in B_{\delta}(x)$  and d > 0 small so that  $\overline{B}_d(y) \subset \overline{B}_{\delta}(x)$ . This inclusion relation implies  $\operatorname{ess\,inf}_{\overline{B}_d(y)} f \geq \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{\overline{B}_{\delta}(x)} f$ . We send  $d \to 0$  and then take  $\liminf_{y\to x} in$  the inequality to obtain  $\liminf_{y\to x} f_{\mu*}(y) \geq \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{\overline{B}_{\delta}(x)} f$ . Finally, sending  $\delta \to 0$  gives  $\liminf_{y\to x} f_{\mu*}(y) \geq f_{\mu*}(x)$ , which means that  $f_{\mu*}$  is lower semicontinuous at x.

#### References

- M. Bardi, S. Bottacin, On the Dirichlet problem for nonlinear degenerate elliptic equations and applications to optimal control, Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Politec. Torino 56 (1998), no. 4, 13–39.
- [2] M. Bardi, I. Capuzzo-Dolcetta, Optimal control and viscosity solutions of Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman equations, With appendices by Maurizio Falcone and Pierpaolo Soravia, Systems & Control: Foundations & Applications, Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1997.
- [3] G. Barles, P. E. Souganidis, On the large time behavior of solutions of Hamilton-Jacobi equations, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 31 (2000), no. 4, 925– 939.
- [4] E. N. Barron, R. Jensen, Semicontinuous viscosity solutions for Hamilton-Jacobi equations with convex Hamiltonians, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 15 (1990), no. 12, 1713–1742.
- [5] A. Briani, A. Davini, Monge solutions for discontinuous Hamiltonians, ESAIM Control Optim. Calc. Var. 11 (2005), no. 2, 229–251.
- [6] W. K. Burton, N. Cabrera, F. C. Frank, The growth of crystals and the equilibrium structure of their surfaces, Philos. Trans. Roy. Soc. London. Ser. A. 243 (1951), 299–358.
- [7] L. A. Caffarelli, M. G. Crandall, M. Kocan, A. Swięch, On viscosity solutions of fully nonlinear equations with measurable ingredients, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 49 (1996), no. 4, 365–397.
- [8] F. Camilli, An Hopf-Lax formula for a class of measurable Hamilton-Jacobi equations, Nonlinear Anal. 57 (2004), no. 2, 265–286.
- [9] F. Camilli, A. Siconolfi, Time-dependent measurable Hamilton-Jacobi equations, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 30 (2005), no. 4–6, 813–847.
- [10] X. Chen, B. Hu, Viscosity solutions of discontinuous Hamilton-Jacobi equations, Interfaces Free Bound. 10 (2008), no. 3, 339–359.
- [11] M. G. Crandall, H. Ishii, P. L. Lions, User's guide to viscosity solutions of second order partial differential equations, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 27 (1992), no. 1, 1–67.

- [12] A. Davini, A. Siconolfi, A generalized dynamical approach to the large time behavior of solutions of Hamilton-Jacobi equations, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 38 (2006), no. 2, 478–502.
- [13] K. Deckelnick, C. M. Elliott, Uniqueness and error analysis for Hamilton-Jacobi equations with discontinuities, Interfaces Free Bound. 6 (2004), no. 3, 329–349.
- [14] K. Deckelnick, C. M. Elliott, Propagation of graphs in two-dimensional inhomogeneous media, Appl. Numer. Math. 56 (2006), no. 9, 1163–1178.
- [15] C. De Zan, P. Soravia, Cauchy problems for noncoercive Hamilton-Jacobi-Issacs equations with discontinuous coefficients, Interfaces Free Bound. 12 (2010), no. 3, 347–368.
- [16] K. Ecker, G. Huisken, Mean curvature evolution of entire graphs, Ann. of Math. (2) 130 (1989), no. 3, 453–471.
- [17] C. M. Elliott, Y. Giga, S. Goto, Dynamic boundary conditions for Hamilton-Jacobi equations, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 34 (2003), no. 4, 861–881.
- [18] L. C. Evans, Periodic homogenisation of certain fully nonlinear partial differential equations. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A 120 (1992), no. 3-4, 245–265.
- [19] L. C. Evans, Partial differential equations. Second edition, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, 19. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2010, xxii+749 pp.
- [20] A. Fathi, Sur la convergence du semi-groupe de Lax-Oleinik, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 327 (1998), no. 3, 267–270.
- [21] Y. Giga, Surface evolution equations: A level set approach, Monographs in Mathematics, 99, Birkhauser Verlag, Basel, 2006, xii+264 pp.
- [22] M.-H. Giga, Y. Giga, J. Saal, Nonlinear partial differential equations, Asymptotic behavior of solutions and self-similar solutions, Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications, 79. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 2010, xviii+294 pp.
- [23] Y. Giga, P. Górka, P. Rybka, A comparison principle for Hamilton-Jacobi equations with discontinuous Hamiltonians, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 139 (2011), no. 5, 1777–1785.
- [24] Y. Giga, Q. Liu, H. Mitake, Large-time asymptotics for one-dimensional Dirichlet problems for Hamilton-Jacobi equations with noncoercive Hamiltonians, J. Differential Equations 252 (2012), no. 2, 1263–1282.
- [25] Y. Giga, Q. Liu, H. Mitake, Singular Neumann Problems and large-time behavior of solutions of noncoercive Hamilton-Jacobi equations, to appear in Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.

- [26] H. Ishii, Hamilton-Jacobi equations with discontinuous Hamiltonians on arbitrary open sets, Bull. Fac. Sci. Engrg. Chuo Univ. 28 (1985), 33–77.
- [27] N. Ishimura, Curvature evolution of plane curves with prescribed opening angle, Bull. Austral. Math. Soc. 52 (1995), no. 2, 287–296.
- [28] S. Koike, A beginner's guide to the theory of viscosity solutions, MSJ Memoirs, 13, Mathematical Society of Japan, Tokyo, 2004.
- [29] P. -L. Lions, G. Papanicolaou, S. R. S. Varadhan, Homogenization of Hamilton-Jacobi Equations, preprint.
- [30] S. A. Molchanov, D. Surgailis, W. A. Woyczynski, The large-scale structure of the universe and quasi-Voronoi tessellation of shock fronts in forced Burgers turbulence in R<sup>d</sup>, Ann. Appl. Probab. 7 (1997), no. 1, 200–228.
- [31] G. Namah, J. M. Roquejoffre, Remarks on the long time behaviour of the solutions of Hamilton-Jacobi equations, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 24 (1999), no. 5-6, 883–893.
- [32] R. T. Newcomb II, J. Su, Eikonal equations with discontinuities. Differential Integral Equations 8 (1995), no. 8, 1947–1960.
- [33] T. Ohtsuka, Y. -H. R. Tsai, Y. Giga, A level set approach reflecting sheet structure with single auxiliary function for evolving spirals on crystal surfaces, preprint, Hokkaido University Preprint Series in Mathematics # 1025.
- [34] N. Ostrov, Extending viscosity solutions to eikonal equations with discontinuous spatial dependence, Nonlinear Anal. 42 (2000), no. 4, Ser. A: Theory Methods, 709–736.
- [35] J. M. Roquejoffre, Convergence to steady states or periodic solutions in a class of Hamilton-Jacobi equations, J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 80 (2001), no. 1, 85–104.
- [36] G. Sazaki, S. Zepeda, S. Nakatsubo, E. Yokoyama, Y. Furukawa, Elementary steps at the surface of ice crystals visualized by advanced optical microscopy, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA. 107 (2010), no. 46, 19702–19707.
- [37] T. P. Schulze, R. V. Kohn, A geometric model for coarsening during spiralmode growth of thin films, Phys. D 132 (1999), no. 4, 520–542.
- [38] P. Smereka, Spiral crystal growth, Phys. D 138 (2000), no. 3–4, 282–301.
- [39] P. Soravia, Boundary value problems for Hamilton-Jacobi equations with discontinuous Lagrangian, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 51 (2002), no. 2, 451– 477.
- [40] P. Soravia, Degenerate eikonal equations with discontinuous refraction index, ESAIM Control Optim. Calc. Var. 12 (2006), no. 2, 216–230.

- [41] P. E. Souganidis, Stochastic homogenization of Hamilton-Jacobi equations and some applications, Asymptot. Anal. 20 (1999), no. 1, 1–11.
- [42] E. Yokoyama, Y. Giga, P. Rybka, A microscopic time scale approximation to the behavior of the local slope on the faceted surface under a nonuniformity in supersaturation, Phys. D 237 (2008), no. 22, 2845–2855.

## Chapter 2

# Asymptotically self-similar solutions to curvature flow equations with prescribed contact angle and their applications to groove profiles due to evaporation-condensation

#### Introduction 1

We are concerned with the asymptotic behavior of solutions to second order parabolic equations with the Neumann boundary condition of the form

(NP) 
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u(x,t) = F(\nabla u(x,t), \nabla^2 u(x,t)) & \text{in } \Omega \times (0,\infty), \\ u(x,0) = u_0(x) & \text{on } \overline{\Omega}, \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

$$= u_0(x) \qquad \qquad \text{on } \Omega, \qquad (1.2)$$

$$(\partial_{x_1} u(x,t)|_{x_1=0} = \beta > 0 \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0,\infty), \quad (1.3)$$

which we also denote by (NP;  $F, u_0$ ). Here  $\Omega = \{(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in \mathbf{R}^n \mid x_1 > 0\}$ is the half space,  $\nabla u$  and  $\nabla^2 u$  denote, respectively, the gradient and Hessian matrix of u with respect to x, and the initial data  $u_0$  is bounded and uniformly continuous, i.e.,  $u_0 \in BUC(\overline{\Omega})$ . A given real-valued function F is continuous and degenerate elliptic. Our goal in this paper is to prove that (viscosity) solutions of (NP) asymptotically converge to a self-similar solution of the associated problem, and study properties of a profile function of the self-similar solution.

Our study is motivated by evaporation-condensation model which was first proposed by a material scientist Mullins in [43]. Consider the situation that there are two crystal grain regions (solid phases) on the plane which consist of the same matter and differ only in their relative crystalline orientation. Let the two region be  $\{(x, y) \mid x \ge 0, y \le u(x, t)\}$  and  $\{(x, y) \mid x \le 0, y \le \tilde{u}(x, t)\}$  at time  $t \ge 0$ , where we assume  $u(0,t) = \tilde{u}(0,t)$  so that a triple junction appears at the point (0, u(0,t)); see Figure 1. Moreover, we assume the symmetry, i.e.,  $u(x,t) = \tilde{u}(-x,t)$  for x > 0. The rest part on the plane is filled by gas. The intersection between the two crystal regions, which is called a grain boundary, is assumed to be stable on the line x = 0. We suppose that due to evaporation and condensation crystal atoms move between solid phases and gas phase. This mechanism leads development of a surface groove at the grain boundary, which we call a thermal groove, as in Figure 1. In this setting we study evolution of



Figure 1: The thermal groove develops due to evaporation-condensation.

interfaces between crystal grains and gas. By symmetry we consider the interface only in the right region, which we represent as  $\Gamma_t := \{(x, u(x, t)) \in \mathbf{R}^2 \mid x \ge 0\}$ . According to Mullins' theory in [43] the evolution equation for  $\Gamma_t$  is given as

$$V_n = C_0 \left( 1 - e^{-C_1 k} \right) \quad \text{on } \Gamma_t, \tag{1.4}$$

where  $V_n$  is the upward normal velocity of  $\Gamma_t$ , k is the upward (mean) curvature, and  $C_0, C_1$  are positive constants. Thus, taking  $C_0 = C_1 = 1$  for simplicity, we obtain the following partial differential equation for u:

$$\frac{u_t}{\sqrt{1+u_x^2}} = 1 - e^{-k} \tag{1.5}$$

in  $\{x > 0\} \times \{t > 0\}$ , where  $(u_t, u_x, u_{xx}) = (\partial_t u, \partial_x u, \partial_{xx} u)$ . Here we have invoked the formula  $V_n = u_t / \sqrt{1 + u_x^2}$ , and also the curvature k is represented by  $k = u_{xx} / \sqrt{1 + u_x^2}^3$  ([22, Chapter 1.2, 1.4]). In this model a boundary condition on u at x = 0 is given as

$$u_x(0,t) \equiv \beta > 0, \tag{1.6}$$

which is the prescribed angle condition and results from equilibrium of tensions at the triple junction point (0, u(0, t)). Hence solving the Cauchy problem for (1.5) under the Neumann boundary condition (1.6) gives the surface profile due to evaporation-condensation. The problem (NP) is a generalized multidimensional case of this model.

In [43] Mullins approached the equation (1.5) via two approximations. He first applies the linear approximation of the exponential term, which is

$$1 - e^{-k} \approx k. \tag{1.7}$$

Then the original equation (1.5) simplifies to

$$v_t = \frac{v_{xx}}{1 + v_x^2},$$
(1.8)

which is the usual mean curvature flow equation for graphs. To solve (1.8) Mullins next applies the second approximation that

$$v_x \approx 0. \tag{1.9}$$

This condition comes from physical assumption that slopes on the surface are sufficiently small, which especially implies  $\beta \ll 1$ . Applying (1.9) to (1.8) finally yields

$$w_t = w_{xx}.\tag{1.10}$$

Since this is the simple heat equation, its classical solution w with the initialboundary conditions  $w(x, 0) \equiv 0$  and  $w_x(0, t) \equiv \beta > 0$  exists and has the explicit form; see Example 2.3. In this way Mullins concludes that the groove profile due to evaporation-condensation is given by the solution w. In particular, putting x = 0, Mullins computes the depth of the developing thermal groove at the origin, which is

$$-w(0,t) = 2\beta \sqrt{\frac{t}{\pi}} \approx 1.13\beta \sqrt{t}.$$
(1.11)

In this paper we aim at justifying these two approximations by Mullins. Namely, we rigorously discuss a relation among the three solutions u, v and w. The point in our study is that the solutions v of (1.8) and w of (1.10) are (forward) *self-similar*, i.e., they are of the form

$$v(x,t) = \sqrt{t}V\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{t}}\right), \quad w(x,t) = \sqrt{t}W\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{t}}\right).$$

The functions V and W are called *profile functions* of v and w, respectively. Then, as a justification for the first approximation, we prove

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{t}}u(\sqrt{t}x,t) \to V(x) \quad \text{as } t \to \infty \tag{1.12}$$

in Theorem 3.4. This convergence result says that if we rescale the solution u of (1.5) in the above way, then it converges to the profile function V of the approximated equation. In other words, u itself is not necessarily self-similar, but it is asymptotically self-similar in the above sense.

We prove such an asymptotic result for more general problems of the form (NP) in Section 3. As a special structure of the equation (1.1) we direct our attention to homogeneity of F. Here we say F (or (1.1)) is homogeneous if F is positively homogeneous of degree 1 with respect to X, i.e.,  $F(p, X) = \lambda F(p, X/\lambda)$  for  $\lambda > 0$ . Evidently, the equation (1.8) is homogeneous. It also turns out that solutions of the homogeneous equations with the zero initial data are self-similar. Thus (1.8) can be generalized to homogeneous equations. In order to explain how we generalize (1.5) to the equation (1.1) with  $G : \mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{S}^n \to \mathbf{R}^n$ , we shall

give an idea of the proof of (1.12). Let u and v be, respectively, a solution of  $(NP; G, u_0)$  and (NP; F, 0), where F is homogeneous. We prove the result (1.12) by showing that rescaled functions of u converge to v; namely,

$$u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) := \frac{1}{\lambda} u(\lambda x, \lambda^2 t) \to v(x,t) \quad \text{as } \lambda \to \infty.$$
(1.13)

It is easy to see that this rescaled function  $u_{(\lambda)}$  is a solution to the rescaled equation  $(\operatorname{NP}; G_{\lambda}, (u_0)_{(\lambda)})$  with  $G_{\lambda}(p, X) = \lambda G(p, X/\lambda)$  and  $(u_0)_{(\lambda)}(x) = u_0(\lambda x)/\lambda$ . Since  $(u_0)_{(\lambda)} \to 0$  as  $\lambda \to \infty$ , we can conclude that if  $G_{\lambda}$  converges to F, then the limit of  $u_{(\lambda)}$  solves  $(\operatorname{NP}; F, 0)$ . By uniqueness the limit should be v, and hence we obtain (1.13). Note that our convergence result (1.13) holds for a solution uof  $(\operatorname{NP}; G, u_0)$  with an arbitrary initial data  $u_0 \in BUC(\overline{\Omega})$ .

In this way we are led to introduce a notion that G is asymptotically homogeneous, which roughly means that G approximates some homogeneous function in a suitable sense. To be more precise, we require that  $G_{\lambda}(p, x) := \lambda G(p, X/\lambda)$ converge to some homogeneous F as  $\lambda \to \infty$ . By a simple calculation we see that (1.5) is asymptotically homogeneous with the limit (1.8). Accordingly the asymptotic homogeneity is a generalized notion containing (1.5), and the Mullins' first approximation is then generalized to

 $G \approx F.$ 

To show the convergence of  $u_{(\lambda)}$  to v rigorously we employ stability results of viscosity solutions. Due to comparison principle for (NP), we see that the upper and lower relaxed limit of  $u_{(\lambda)}$ , which are a sub- and supersolution respectively, should agree with v provided that the relaxed limits exist. Thus the remaining problem, which is our main difficulty, is to show the existence of the relaxed limits. This is achieved by constructing suitable barriers which are of order  $O(\sqrt{t})$  as  $t \to \infty$ ; see Lemma 3.5 and the proof of Theorem 3.4.

We turn to the second approximation by Mullins, to which we dedicate Section 5. Since the solution v of (1.8) and w of (1.10) are self-similar, we consider only their profile functions. Our main interest is to examine adequateness of Mullins' conclusion (1.11) concerning the depth of the thermal groove at the origin. For this purpose we compare the depths of two profile functions at the origin; one is the original depth -V(0)(=-v(0,1)) which comes from (1.8) and the other is the approximated depth -W(0)(=-w(0,1)) corresponding to (1.10). Recall that -W(0) has the explicit form that  $-W(0) = 2\beta/\sqrt{\pi}$  by (1.11). We prove among other results that, in Mullins' problem, -W(0) is the third order approximation of -V(0), i.e.,

$$-V(0) = -W(0) + O(\beta^3)$$
 as  $\beta \to 0.$  (1.14)

In this paper we discuss such comparison of the two depths for more general equations. From results for the general case we deduce (1.14). To discuss the general case let us consider (NP) with a homogeneous F. Since the problem (NP; F, 0) does not include the variables  $x_2, \ldots, x_n$ , its self-similar solution depends only on  $x_1$  and t. Thus, in what follows we let the spatial dimension n

be one so that the profile function V is defined on **R**. Then it turns out that V satisfies the ordinary differential equation of the form

$$V(\xi) - \xi V'(\xi) = a(V'(\xi))V''(\xi) \quad \text{in } (0,\infty), \tag{1.15}$$

where a is given by a(p) := -2F(p, -1). Note that  $a(p) = 2/(1+p^2)$  in Mullins' case since  $F(p, X) = X/(1+p^2)$  for (1.8). Let us recall the Mullins' second approximation which replaces the first derivative  $v_x$  by zero. As its analogue, for the general equation (1.15) we replace  $a(V'(\xi))$  in the right hand side by a(0), i.e., we apply

$$a(V'(\xi)) \approx a(0)$$

This is a generalized Mullins' second approximation. The resulting approximated equation is

$$W(\xi) - \xi W'(\xi) = a(0)W''(\xi) \quad \text{in } (0,\infty), \tag{1.16}$$

which represents the heat equation if we return (1.16) to the parabolic problem. Let V and W be, respectively, the unique viscosity solution of (1.15) and (1.16) with the boundary conditions that  $V'(0) = \beta$  and  $V(\infty) = 0$ . A well-posedness of these equations in the viscosity sense is a consequence of that of parabolic equations (NP). We also remark that W has the explicit form. In this general setting we prove that the estimate

$$0 \le \frac{V(0) - W(0)}{\beta} \le C\left(a(0) - \min_{[0,\beta]} a\right)$$
(1.17)

holds for some positive constant C independent of  $\beta$ . This result implies  $-V(0) = -W(0) + o(\beta)$  as  $\beta \to 0$  for general equations and (1.14) for Mullins' case where  $a(p) = 2/(1+p^2)$ . The main tool for the proof of (1.17) is comparison principle. Namely, if we have a subsolution  $V_1$  and a supersolution  $V_2$ , then we obtain an inequality  $V_1 \leq V_2$  and in particular  $-V_1(0) \geq -V_2(0)$ . To this end we seek a suitable sub- or supersolution of the ordinary differential equation. We also deduce a couple of other estimates on the depth by the comparison method.

Our another interest is degenerate cases. We study (1.15) when a(p) is allowed to be zero. Even in such degenerate cases the unique solution to (1.15) exists in the viscosity sense. As an instructive example, we now let a(p) = 0 for  $p \in [q^-, q^+]$  and a(p) > 0 otherwise. Then a simple observation indicates



Figure 2: The profile function V has a corner when the equation is degenerate.

that the unique solution V has a corner whose angles are determined by  $q^-$  and  $q^+$ . Indeed, if we admit that V is negative and increasing (these properties are shown in Proposition 4.3), we notice by (1.15) that  $0 > a(V'(\xi))V''(\xi)$ . This implies  $V'(\xi) \notin [q^-, q^+]$ ; in other words, the derivative of V jumps over the interval  $[q^-, q^+]$ . Rigorous statement and its proof on the corner of the viscosity solution V are given in Theorem 4.10, where we prove that there exists a unique  $\xi_0 \in (0, \infty)$  such that the left and right derivatives of V at  $\xi_0$  are, respectively,  $q^+$  and  $q^-$ ; see Figure 2.

Since the solution V of (1.15) is a profile function of the (forward) selfsimilar solution, it is natural to expect relation between V and the Wulff shape, which minimizes the total surface energy among all sets with the same volume. Although our interface  $\Gamma_t$  is now unbounded, we are able to relate the corner of the profile function V to that of the associated Wulff shape in the following way. For a given surface energy density  $\gamma : S^{n-1} = \{x \in \mathbf{R}^n \mid |x| = 1\} \to (0, \infty)$  we define a Wulff shape associated with  $\gamma$  by

Wulff
$$(\gamma) = \bigcap_{|q|=1} \{ x \in \mathbf{R}^n \mid \langle x, q \rangle \leq \gamma(q) \},\$$

where  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  is the standard inner product in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Let us consider the evolution equation of the form

$$V_n = M(\mathbf{n})k_\gamma \quad \text{on } \Gamma_t, \tag{1.18}$$

where  $M: S^{n-1} \to (0, \infty)$  is the mobility, **n** is the oriented normal vector on  $\Gamma_t$ , and  $k_{\gamma}$  is the anisotropic curvature with respect to the surface energy density  $\gamma$ . See, e.g., [22, Chapter 1.3] for the definition of  $k_{\gamma}$ . We now let n = 2 and assume that  $\Gamma_t$  is represented by a graph, i.e.,  $\Gamma_t = \{(x, u(x, t)) \in \mathbf{R}^2\}$ . Then, choosing **n** as the upward normal vector and using the formula

$$k_{\gamma} = (\tilde{\gamma}''(\arg \mathbf{n}) + \tilde{\gamma}(\arg \mathbf{n}))k,$$

where  $\arg \mathbf{n}$  is the argument of  $\mathbf{n}$  and  $\tilde{\gamma}(\theta) := \gamma(\cos \theta, \sin \theta)$ , we see that (1.18) is rewritten as

$$\frac{u_t}{\sqrt{1+u_x^2}} = M\left(\frac{(-u_x,1)}{\sqrt{1+u_x^2}}\right) \left(\tilde{\gamma}''(\arg(-u_x,1)) + \tilde{\gamma}(\arg(-u_x,1))\right) \frac{u_{xx}}{\sqrt{1+u_x^2}^3}.$$

The profile function of the self-similar solution of this equation satisfies the ordinary differential equation (1.15) with a of the form

$$a(p) = 2M\left(\frac{(-p,1)}{\sqrt{1+p^2}}\right) \left(\tilde{\gamma}''(\arg(-p,1)) + \tilde{\gamma}(\arg(-p,1))\right) \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+p^2}^3}.$$

Therefore we see that a(p) = 0 for all  $p \in [q^-, q^+]$  if and only if  $\tilde{\gamma}''(\theta) + \tilde{\gamma}(\theta) = 0$  for all  $\theta \in [\arg(-q^-, 1), \arg(-q^+, 1)]$ . The latter condition on  $\gamma$  leads the corner point of Wulff( $\gamma$ ) at which the slope of each tangent line is in  $[q^-, q^+]$ . This agrees with the corner of our profile function shown in Figure 2.

Let us explain why the equation (1.5) (or (1.4)) and the boundary condition (1.6) appear in Mullins' model. The exponential term in (1.4) comes from the Gibbs-Thompson formula in physics. This formula asserts that the vapor pressure p in equilibrium with the surface is given as

$$\log\left(\frac{p}{p_0}\right) = -C_1 k,\tag{1.19}$$

where  $p_0$  is the atmospheric pressure and  $C_1$  is a positive constant. Now, recall that the only mechanism operative in the transport of matter is evaporationcondensation. Thereby the normal velocity  $V_n$  is determined by the difference between the effect by condensation and that by evaporation. According to kinetic theory their effects are in proportion to pressures  $p_0$  and p, respectively, and thus

$$V_n = C_2(p_0 - p) \tag{1.20}$$

with  $C_2 > 0$ . It is now clear that (1.19) and (1.20) lead the equation (1.4) by letting  $C_0 = C_2 p_0$ . The prescribed angle condition (1.6) is a consequence of equilibrium of tensions. More precisely, the resultant of the grain boundary tension  $(0, -\gamma_b) \in \mathbf{R}^2$  and two surface tensions  $(\pm \gamma_s \cos \theta, \gamma_s \sin \theta) \in \mathbf{R}^2$  is assumed to vanish at (0, u(0, t)), where  $\gamma_b > 0$  and  $\gamma_s > 0$  are, respectively, the boundary free energy and the surface free energy per unit area and  $\theta$  is the slope angle of u at x = 0. Thus we have  $2\gamma_s \sin \theta = \gamma_b$ , which implies (1.6).

In [43] Mullins proposes another mechanism for the development of surface groove, which is surface diffusion. If we take the surface diffusion into account, the resulting equation describing the surface profile becomes a fourth order nonlinear parabolic equation. In this paper, however, we do not discuss such effect by surface diffusion so that only second order equations appear in our study. As a result, we are able to apply the viscosity solution theory ([16]) to study the problem. Mullins gives a criterion for judging which mechanism dominates the development of surface. According to [43] for magnesium under high pressure the profile is completely shaped by evaporation-condensation after a very short time while surface diffusion plays a dominant role for a very long time for gold under low pressure. See, e.g., [11, 32, 42, 58] for the studies of fourth order equations related to the surface diffusion.

We next state previous work related to our study. Many authors investigate asymptotic behaviors of solutions to curvature flow type equations. We first refer the reader to [26], where surfaces evolving by the mean curvature over a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  are studied under the zero Neumann boundary condition. It is shown that the solution converges to a constant function as  $t \to \infty$ . In [2] Altschuler and Wu study Cauchy problems for quasilinear equations of the form  $u_t = (a(u_x))_x$  on  $\{0 \le x \le d\} \times [0, \infty)$ . They prove that solutions of the problem asymptotically converge to a solution which moves at a constant speed. The same authors obtain in [3] a similar convergence result for surfaces over a convex domain in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , but they deal with only the curvature flow equation.

Asymptotic behaviors of graph solutions to free boundary problems are also studied in the literature. The paper [13] treats a quasilinear parabolic equation  $u_t = (a(u_x))_x$  under a two point free boundary condition. (The same problem restricted to the equation (1.8) can be found in [15].) In [13] two half-lines are given radially from the origin and solutions are required to have intersections with them, which are the free boundary points, at prescribed contact angles. A global existence and uniqueness of solutions to the parabolic problem are established. A convergence result to a self-similar solution is deduced together with its convergence rate in the sense of the Hausdorff metric. The parabolic equation in [13] is not allowed to be degenerate, but our results concerning a well-posedness and the asymptotic behavior include degenerate cases. A similar setting to [13] is found in [39], where a one-point free boundary problem is considered. The paper [13] deals with expanding interfaces while the preserving case and the shrinking case for the same problem are discussed in [24].

For graphs defined on a whole space, their convergence results to a self-similar solution are obtained in [20, 31]. The paper [20] studies mean curvature evolutions written as graphs over  $\mathbf{R}^n$ . Under a suitable rescaling the convergence result is obtained for initial data satisfying a linear growth condition and further assumptions. Ishimura, the author of [31], considers the spatially one dimensional equation (1.8) in  $\mathbf{R} \times (0, \infty)$  with prescribed opening angle conditions; that is,  $v_x \to K_1$  as  $x \to \infty$  and  $v_x \to -K_2$  as  $x \to -\infty$  for given constants  $K_1, K_2 > 0$ .

Curvature flow equations with constant driving force

$$\frac{v_t}{\sqrt{1+v_x^2}} = \frac{v_{xx}}{\sqrt{1+v_x^2}^3} + c \tag{1.21}$$

and asymptotic convergences to traveling fronts are studied in several works. In [17] the authors consider (1.21) for  $(x,t) \in (0,\infty) \times (0,\infty)$  with the zero Neumann condition at x = 0 and the opening angle condition at  $x = \infty$ . It is shown that the solution v converges to a traveling wave solution as  $t \to \infty$ when c is positive, while for a negative c convergence to a self-similar solution is proven in the sense that  $t^{-1}|v(x,t) - tQ(x/t)| \to 0$  as  $t \to \infty$ , where tQ(x/t) is a solution of (1.21). The explicit form of Q is also found in [17]. Note that the way of rescaling is different from ours. The papers [48, 45] studies asymptotics of solutions to (1.21) on  $\mathbf{R} \times (0, \infty)$  when c is positive. Convergence results to a traveling V-shaped solution are obtained for spatially decaying and non-decaying initial perturbations in [48] and [45], respectively. For the explicit form of the V-shaped front, see [47]. The reader is also referred to [44] for convergence to a traveling line.

The paper [46] is related to the Mullins' second approximation (1.9) and asymptotic stability of constant solutions. There it is shown that

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbf{R}} |v(x,t) - w(x,t)| = O(1/\sqrt{t}) \quad \text{as } t \to \infty, \tag{1.22}$$

where v and w are, respectively, the solution of the Cauchy problem for (1.8) and (1.10) in  $\mathbf{R} \times (0, \infty)$  with the same initial data. Moreover, using the results, the authors of [46] obtain a necessary and sufficient condition on initial data that ensures  $u \to 0$  uniformly or pointwisely as  $t \to \infty$ . In our Neumann problem on the half space, however, a similar convergence result to (1.22) does not hold

since

$$\sup_{x \in [0,\infty)} |v(x,t) - w(x,t)| = \sqrt{t} \sup_{\xi \in [0,\infty)} |V(\xi) - W(\xi)| \to \infty \quad \text{as } t \to \infty$$

for two different self-similar solutions v and w of the forms  $v(x,t) = \sqrt{t}V(x/\sqrt{t})$ and  $w(x,t) = \sqrt{t}W(x/\sqrt{t})$ .

Asymptotic shapes of expanding interfaces represented by a level set function are obtained in [29]. There the evolution equation  $V_n = -\text{tr}(E(\mathbf{n})D\mathbf{n}) + \nu(\mathbf{n})$ on  $\Gamma_t$  is considered, and it is shown that  $\Gamma_t/t \to \partial \text{Wulff}(\nu)$  as  $t \to \infty$  in the Hausdorff metric. We remark that the limit is not the Wulff shape of the surface energy density in this work. To prove this large time asymptotics the authors study the limit of rescaled viscosity solutions of second order parabolic equations, and consider the corresponding stationary equations which the limit function satisfies. The result says that if u is a viscosity subsolution (resp. supersolution) of  $\partial_t u + F_1(\nabla u, \nabla^2 u) + F_2(\nabla u) = 0$ , then the (relaxed) limit of u(tx, t) as  $t \to \infty$ is a viscosity subsolution (resp. supersolution) of  $-\langle x, \nabla u \rangle + F_2(\nabla u) = 0$ . Note that this limit equation is first order while the second order equation (1.15), which V in (1.12) should satisfy, appears in our study.

Motion by curvature with triple junctions such as the point (0, u(0, t)) in Mullins' model is studied in [14]. There a planar domain surrounded by other phase domains is considered, and at each junction point three intersection angles are assumed to satisfy the Herring condition which is determined by interfacial energies. The authors of [14] give conditions for existence of self-similar stationary, expanding or shrinking solutions to the problem. Plane curves having the triple junction are also treated in [57], where the authors study evolving three curves by curvature forming 120 degree angles at their common start point. The authors of [57] derive several properties of solutions to (1.15) with  $a(p) = 1/(1 + p^2)$  and prove the unique existence of self-similar expanding solutions. As a study of expanding self-similar solutions we finally refer the reader to [21] for evolution by a crystalline curvature flow.

A generalized Mullins' model is proposed in [56, 49]. The author of [56] considers the model including a strain energy. In [49] Ogasawara studies evaporationcondensation model under a temperature gradient and proves an existence of stationary solutions to the resulting parabolic equation of the form  $u_t = F(u, u_x, u_{xx})$ . See also [50] for flattening properties of solutions to the generalized problem. Such flattening properties are also studied in [33, 37, 34, 38] for equations of the type (1.8) and in [35, 36] for those of the type (1.5).

Interestingly, an exact representation of the solution to (1.8) with  $v_x(0,t) \equiv \beta$ and  $v(x,0) \equiv 0$  is obtained by Broadbridge in [10]. However, we do not employ the formula in the present paper since generalization of the problem is one of our aims and the formula is rather complicated to handle. In [5] the authors obtain upper and lower bounds on the solution to (1.15) of the Mullins' case by solving two auxiliary problems which are relatively easily solvable and employing the comparison principle. They conclude accurate estimates of the depth when  $\beta$  is large, but an estimate allowing  $\beta$  to be small such as (1.17) is not stated in [5]. See Remark 5.3 for comparison with our results concerning the depth. The paper [52] gives exact solutions to wider classes of nonlinear equations, but solutions to (1.8) constructed there do not satisfy the prescribed angle condition (1.6). In [53, 12] exact solutions of the separated form  $\phi(x) + \psi(t)$  are investigated. We also refer [1] for solvability of the equation (1.8) on  $I \times (0, \infty)$ , where I is a bounded interval. Under the zero Dirichlet or Neumann boundary condition, the authors of [1] establish the existence of weak, strong and classical solutions and asymptotic behaviors of the classical solutions. The paper [40] shows the existence of classical solutions to more general degenerate parabolic equations.

A well-posedness of the problem (NP) is established in the sense of viscosity solutions in Section 2. We thus interpret the boundary condition (1.3) in the viscosity sense, that is, we require solutions to satisfy either (1.1) or (1.3) on the boundary. As a result, we observe that the unique solution may not satisfy (1.3) in the classical sense when the equation is degenerate (Proposition 4.6 (1)). Such generalized boundary conditions, which naturally appear when we take the limit in the vanishing viscosity method, was first introduced by Lions in [41]; see also [51]. The well-posedness is obtained in [41] for first order equations with Neumann or oblique conditions involving applications to optimal control, differential games and ergodic problems. After their works, uniqueness and existence results for oblique boundary problems in the viscosity sense were established in [9] for first order cases and in [28, 27, 6] for second order cases. In [18, 19] the authors approach oblique problems on domains involving corners. All of these studies treat continuous equations while equations with singularity in  $\nabla u$  like the mean curvature flow equation for level sets are discussed in [23, 54] under the zero Neumann boundary condition. As relatively general results for second order singular equations with nonlinear boundary conditions, we refer the reader to [7, 30]. Compared with [30], the paper [7] deals with more general equations and boundary conditions, but domains are more restrictive.

Unfortunately, all the above results treat a bounded domain with respect to the space variables. As far as the author know, [55] is the only paper which proves a well-posedness of the Neumann type problems on an unbounded domain. In [55] Sato established comparison and existence results for second order singular equations under the capillary boundary condition:

$$\partial_{x_1} u = k |\nabla u|$$
 with  $-1 < k < 1$ ,

which does not cover our boundary condition (1.3). Although it might be possible to extend the previous results for bounded domains to our problem (NP) by modifying their proofs suitably, we give in the present paper complete proofs of comparison and existence theorem for (NP) to make the paper self-contained. Neumann problems in half-space type domains are also treated in [4, 8], where the authors studies ergodic problems and homogenization.

This chapter is organized as follows. In Section 2 we establish comparison and existence results of viscosity solutions to (NP). Section 3 is devoted to the asymptotic profile. We prove (1.13), i.e., asymptotic self-similarity of the solution to the equation of the type (1.5). In Section 4 we consider the ordinary differential equation (1.15) and its solution. We show the solution has a corner if the equation is degenerate. Section 5 concerns the depth of the thermal groove at the origin. Several estimates for the depth including (1.17) are obtained.

#### 2 A well-posedness of Neumann problems

#### 2.1 Definition of solutions

Throughout this chapter we set  $\Omega := \{(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in \mathbf{R}^n \mid x_1 > 0\}$ . We first introduce a notion of viscosity solutions for (NP). The boundary condition (1.3) is interpreted in the (weak) viscosity sense. Our basic assumption on F is

(F0)  $F: \mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{S}^n \to \mathbf{R}$  is continuous and degenerate elliptic.

Here  $\mathbf{S}^n$  denotes the space of real  $n \times n$  symmetric matrices with the usual ordering, i.e.,  $X \leq Y$  if  $\langle X\xi, \xi \rangle \leq \langle Y\xi, \xi \rangle$  for all  $\xi \in \mathbf{R}^n$ . We say F is degenerate elliptic if  $F(p, X) \leq F(p, Y)$  for all  $p \in \mathbf{R}^n$  and  $X, Y \in \mathbf{S}^n$  with  $X \leq Y$ .

**Definition 2.1** (Viscosity solution). We say  $u : \overline{\Omega} \times [0, \infty) \to \mathbf{R}$  is a viscosity subsolution (resp. supersolution) of (NP) if u is bounded from above (resp. below) on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0, T)$  for every T > 0,  $u^*(\cdot, 0) \leq u_0$  (resp.  $u_*(\cdot, 0) \geq u_0$ ) on  $\overline{\Omega}$  and

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \phi(x,t) - F(\nabla \phi(x,t), \nabla^2 \phi(x,t)) \leq 0 \text{ (resp. } \geq 0) & \text{if } x_1 > 0, \\ \partial_t \phi(x,t) - F(\nabla \phi(x,t), \nabla^2 \phi(x,t)) \leq 0 \text{ (resp. } \geq 0) & \text{(2.1)} \\ \text{or } \beta - \partial_{x_1} \phi(x,t) \leq 0 \text{ (resp. } \geq 0) & \text{if } x_1 = 0 \end{cases}$$

whenever  $u^* - \phi$  (resp.  $u_* - \phi$ ) attains its maximum (resp. minimum) at (x, t) for  $\phi \in C^{2,1}(\overline{\Omega} \times [0, \infty))$ . If u is both a viscosity sub- and supersolution, u is said to be a viscosity solution.

Here by a  $C^{2,1}$  function we mean that derivatives  $\partial_t \phi$ ,  $\nabla \phi$  and  $\nabla^2 \phi$  are continuous. If  $u^* < \infty$  (resp.  $u_* > -\infty$ ) on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0, \infty)$  and u satisfies (2.1), uis said to be a viscosity subsolution (resp. supersolution) of (1.1) and (1.3). In the definition above,  $u^*$  and  $u_*$  stand for an *upper* and *lower semicontinuous envelope* of u respectively. Namely,

$$u^*(x,t) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \sup\{u(y,s) \mid (y,s) \in \overline{\Omega} \times [0,\infty), \ |x-y| + |t-s| \le \delta\},$$
$$u_*(x,t) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \inf\{u(y,s) \mid (y,s) \in \overline{\Omega} \times [0,\infty), \ |x-y| + |t-s| \le \delta\}.$$

As a boundary condition we consider not  $\partial_{x_1}\phi(x,t)-\beta = 0$  but  $\beta - \partial_{x_1}\phi(x,t) = 0$  so that consistency between a classical subsolution (resp. supersolution) and a viscosity subsolution (resp. supersolution) holds.

**Proposition 2.2** (Consistency). Assume (F0). Let  $u \in C^{2,1}(\overline{\Omega} \times (0,\infty))$  and assume that

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u(x,t) \le F(\nabla u(x,t), \nabla^2 u(x,t)) & \text{if } x_1 > 0, \end{cases}$$
(2.2)

$$\int \beta - \partial_{x_1} u(x, t) \leq 0 \qquad \qquad if \quad x_1 = 0. \tag{2.3}$$

Then u is a viscosity subsolution of (1.1) and (1.3).

Proof. Take any  $\phi \in C^{2,1}(\overline{\Omega} \times (0,\infty))$  such that  $u - \phi$  attains its maximum at  $(x,t) \in \overline{\Omega} \times (0,\infty)$ . In the case where  $x_1 > 0$ , the inequality  $\partial_t \phi(x,t) \leq F(\nabla \phi(x,t), \nabla^2 \phi(x,t))$  follows from (2.2) and the degenerate ellipticity of F. If  $x_1 = 0$ , we see at once that  $\partial_{x_1} \phi(x,t) \geq \partial_{x_1} u(x,t)$ , and consequently  $\beta - \partial_{x_1} \phi(x,t) \leq 0$  by (2.3). It is known that for a general boundary condition  $B(x, u(x), \nabla u(x)) = 0$  the consistency holds if a map  $\lambda \mapsto B(x, r, p - \lambda \nu(x))$  is nonincreasing on  $[0, \infty)$ , where  $\nu(x)$  is the unit outward normal vector at a boundary point x. We refer the reader to [16, Proposition 7.2] or [22, Proposition 2.3.3] for more details.

**Example 2.3.** We consider the heat equation

$$\partial_t u(x,t) = A \Delta u(x,t), \qquad (2.4)$$

i.e.,  $F(p, X) = A \cdot tr(X)$  with A > 0, where tr(X) denotes the trace of  $X \in \mathbf{S}^n$ . Then the unique solution of (NP; F, 0), which is also given by Mullins in [43], is

$$u(x,t) = h_{\beta,A}(x_1,t) := -2\beta\sqrt{At} \cdot \operatorname{ierfc}\left(\frac{x_1}{2\sqrt{At}}\right).$$
(2.5)

Here  $\operatorname{ierfc}(x)$  is the integral error function

$$\operatorname{ierfc}(x) = \int_x^\infty \operatorname{erfc}(z) dz,$$

and  $\operatorname{erfc}(x)$  is the error function

$$\operatorname{erfc}(x) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{\pi}} \int_{x}^{\infty} e^{-z^2} dz$$

We now differentiate  $h = h_{\beta,A}$  to obtain

$$\partial_t h(x_1, t) = -\beta \sqrt{\frac{A}{t}} \cdot \operatorname{ierfc}\left(\frac{x_1}{2\sqrt{At}}\right) - \frac{\beta x_1}{2t} \cdot \operatorname{erfc}\left(\frac{x_1}{2\sqrt{At}}\right),$$
$$\partial_{x_1} h(x_1, t) = \beta \cdot \operatorname{erfc}\left(\frac{x_1}{2\sqrt{At}}\right), \quad \partial_{x_1x_1} h(x_1, t) = \frac{-\beta}{\sqrt{\pi At}} e^{-x_1^2/(4At)}.$$

Employing the formula

$$\operatorname{ierfc}(\xi) + \xi \cdot \operatorname{erfc}(\xi) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} e^{-\xi^2}$$

with  $\xi = x_1/(2\sqrt{At})$ , we observe that h indeed solves (2.4) in the classical sense. Thus h is also a viscosity solution of (NP; F, 0) by Proposition 2.2. By the formula (2.5) or the derivatives of h we notice that  $h(\cdot, t)$  is negative, increasing and (strictly) concave on  $[0, \infty)$ . It turns out that these properties still hold for viscosity solutions of more general equations; see Proposition 4.3.

**Example 2.4.** We seek viscosity sub- and supersolutions of (NP; F, 0) which have the form of (2.5). Assume (F0) and

(F1) 
$$F(p, X) = \lambda F(p, X/\lambda)$$
 for all  $(p, X) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{S}^n$  and  $\lambda > 0$ .

We simply say F is homogeneous if F satisfies (F1). For  $\gamma \geq 0$  we set

$$m(\gamma) = \min_{0 \le \theta \le 1} \{ -F(\theta \gamma e_1, -I_{1,1}) \}, \quad M(\gamma) = \max_{0 \le \theta \le 1} \{ -F(\theta \gamma e_1, -I_{1,1}) \}, \quad (2.6)$$

where  $e_1 = (1, 0, ..., 0)$  and  $I_{1,1}$  denotes the matrix with 1 in the (1, 1) entry and 0 elsewhere. We then notice that  $m(\gamma) \ge 0$  since F is degenerate elliptic by (F0) and satisfies F(p, O) = 0 for all  $p \in \mathbf{R}^n$  by (F1), where O is the zero matrix. For the function  $h = h_{\gamma,A}$  given as (2.5) we observe

$$\begin{split} F(\nabla h, \nabla^2 h) &= F(\partial_{x_1} h \cdot e_1, \partial_{x_1 x_1} h \cdot I_{1,1}) = -\partial_{x_1 x_1} h \cdot F(\partial_{x_1} h \cdot e_1, -I_{1,1}) \\ \begin{cases} \leq m(\gamma) \cdot \partial_{x_1 x_1} h = (m(\gamma)/A) \cdot \partial_t h, \\ \geq M(\gamma) \cdot \partial_{x_1 x_1} h = (M(\gamma)/A) \cdot \partial_t h. \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Taking account of the boundary condition (1.3), we conclude that  $h_{\gamma,A}$  is a viscosity subsolution of (NP; F, 0) if  $\gamma \geq \beta$  and  $A \geq M(\gamma)$  while  $h_{\gamma,A}$  is a viscosity supersolution of (NP; F, 0) if  $0 \leq \gamma \leq \beta$  and  $0 < A \leq m(\gamma)$ .

#### 2.2 Comparison principle

We show uniqueness of viscosity solutions to (NP) via comparison principle. Define  $U_T := \overline{\Omega} \times \overline{\Omega} \times [0, T)$  for T > 0.

**Theorem 2.5** (Comparison principle). Assume (F0). Let u and v be, respectively, a viscosity subsolution and a viscosity supersolution of (NP). Then

$$K = K[u, v] := \lim_{\theta \to 0} \sup\{u^*(x, t) - v_*(y, t) \mid (x, y, t) \in U_T, |x - y| < \theta\} \le 0$$

for every T > 0. In particular,  $u^* \leq v_*$  on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0, \infty)$ .

In the proof of Theorem 2.5 we use an auxiliary function  $\mathcal{F}: \overline{U_T} \to \mathbf{R} \cup \{-\infty\}$  of the form

$$\mathcal{F}(x,y,t) = u^*(x,t) - v_*(y,t) - \Psi(x,y,t)$$

with

$$\Psi(x,y,t) = \frac{|x-y|^2}{2\varepsilon} + \beta(x_1-y_1) + \delta\{\rho(x_1) + \rho(y_1)\} + \gamma(|x|^2 + |y|^2) + \frac{\alpha}{T-t}.$$

Here  $\alpha, \gamma, \delta, \varepsilon \in (0, 1)$  are constants and  $\rho$  is given by  $\rho(r) = (1 + r)^{-1}$ . Note that  $\rho'(0) = -1$ . It then follows from an elementary calculation that for all  $(x, y, t) \in U_T$ 

$$\beta - \partial_{x_1} \Psi(x, y, t) \ge \delta \quad \text{if } x_1 = 0, \tag{2.7}$$

$$\beta + \partial_{y_1} \Psi(x, y, t) \le -\delta \quad \text{if } y_1 = 0 \tag{2.8}$$

and

$$\lim_{(\gamma,\delta)\to(0,0)} \nabla^2_{(x,y)} \Psi(x,y,t) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \begin{pmatrix} I & -I \\ -I & I \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.9)

where I is the identity matrix with dimension n.

**Lemma 2.6.** Assume the same hypotheses of Theorem 2.5. Let T > 0 and suppose K = K[u, v] > 0. Then,

- (1)  $\mathcal{F}$  attains a maximum on  $\overline{U_T}$  at some  $(\hat{x}, \hat{y}, \hat{t})$  with  $\hat{t} < T$ .
- (2) There exists a constant  $\eta \in (0,1]$  such that

$$\max_{\overline{U_T}} \mathcal{F} > K' \tag{2.10}$$

for all  $\alpha, \gamma, \delta \in (0, \eta)$ , where K' := K/7.

- (3)  $\sup_{\gamma,\delta,\varepsilon\in(0,\eta)} |\hat{x} \hat{y}| < \infty$  and  $\lim_{\varepsilon\to 0} \sup_{\gamma,\delta\in(0,\eta)} |\hat{x} \hat{y}| = 0.$
- (4)  $\lim_{(\gamma,\delta)\to(0,0)}(\gamma \hat{x},\gamma \hat{y}) = (0,0)$  for all  $\varepsilon \in (0,\eta)$ .
- (5) There exists a constant  $\eta_0 \in (0, \eta)$  such that  $\hat{t} > 0$  for all  $\gamma, \delta, \varepsilon \in (0, \eta_0)$ .

*Proof.* (1) This follows from an upper semicontinuity of  $\mathcal{F}$  and the facts that  $\mathcal{F}(x, y, T) = -\infty$  and  $\mathcal{F} \to -\infty$  as  $|x| \to \infty$  or  $|y| \to \infty$ .

(2) By the definition of K there exists some  $\theta_0 > 0$  such that for all  $\theta \in (0, \theta_0]$ 

$$u^*(x_{\theta}, t_{\theta}) - v_*(y_{\theta}, t_{\theta}) > 6K'$$
 (2.11)

holds for some  $(x_{\theta}, y_{\theta}, t_{\theta}) \in U_T$  with  $|x_{\theta} - y_{\theta}| < \theta$ . Take

$$\theta = \min \left\{ \theta_0, \sqrt{2K'\varepsilon}, K'/\beta \right\}.$$

By this choice we have

$$\frac{|x_{\theta} - y_{\theta}|^2}{2\varepsilon} \le K', \quad \beta(x_{\theta 1} - y_{\theta 1}) \le K'.$$
(2.12)

We next choose  $\eta \in (0, 1]$  as

$$\eta = \min\left\{1, \ K'/2, \ K'(|x_{\theta}|^2 + |y_{\theta}|^2 + 1)^{-1}, \ K'(T - t_{\theta})\right\},\$$

and then for  $\alpha, \gamma, \delta \in (0, \eta)$ 

$$\delta\{\rho(x_{\theta 1}) + \rho(y_{\theta 2})\} \le K', \quad \gamma(|x_{\theta}|^2 + |y_{\theta}|^2) \le K', \quad \frac{\alpha}{T - t_{\theta}} \le K'.$$
(2.13)

Thus (2.11)-(2.13) yield (2.10).

(3) Take M > 0 so that  $u^* - v_* \leq M$  on  $\overline{U_T}$ . By (2.10) we have

$$K' < u^*(\hat{x}, \hat{t}) - v_*(\hat{y}, \hat{t}) - \Psi(\hat{x}, \hat{y}, \hat{t}) \le M - \frac{|\hat{x} - \hat{y}|^2}{2\varepsilon} + \beta |\hat{x} - \hat{y}|.$$

Thus by an elementary calculation

$$|\hat{x} - \hat{y}| \le \varepsilon\beta + \sqrt{\varepsilon^2 \beta^2 + 2\varepsilon M},$$

which implies our assertions.

(4) By (2.10) again we see

$$K' \le M + \beta |\hat{x} - \hat{y}| - \gamma (|\hat{x}|^2 + |\hat{y}|^2).$$

Therefore  $\sup_{\gamma,\delta\in(0,\eta)}\gamma(|\hat{x}|^2+|\hat{y}|^2)<\infty$ , and so

$$\gamma(|\hat{x}| + |\hat{y}|) \leq \sqrt{2\gamma}\sqrt{\gamma(|\hat{x}|^2 + |\hat{y}|^2)} \to 0 \quad \text{as } (\gamma, \delta) \to (0, 0).$$

(5) Suppose by contradiction that there were some sequence  $\{(\varepsilon_j, \delta_j, \gamma_j)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ which satisfies  $\lim_{j\to\infty} (\varepsilon_j, \delta_j, \gamma_j) = (0, 0, 0)$  and  $\hat{t} = \hat{t}(\varepsilon_j, \delta_j, \gamma_j) = 0$ . Then

$$\mathcal{F}(\hat{x}, \hat{y}, \hat{t}) = u^*(\hat{x}, 0) - v_*(\hat{y}, 0) - \Psi(\hat{x}, \hat{y}, 0) \le u_0(\hat{x}) - u_0(\hat{y}) - \beta(\hat{x}_1 - \hat{y}_1),$$

and the right hand side converges to 0 as  $j \to \infty$  by (3) and the uniform continuity of  $u_0$ . This is a contradiction to (2.10).

Proof of Theorem 2.5. By virtue of (3) in Lemma 2.6 we may assume

$$\lim_{(\gamma,\delta)\to(0,0)} (\hat{x} - \hat{y}) = \bar{p}$$

for some  $\bar{p} \in \mathbf{R}^n$  by taking a subsequence if necessary. We now apply the Crandall-Ishii lemma ([16, Theorem 8.3]) to  $\mathcal{F}$ . Since (2.7) and (2.8) hold, there exists  $(X, Y) \in \mathbf{S}^n \times \mathbf{S}^n$  such that

$$\partial_t \Psi(\hat{x}, \hat{y}, \hat{t}) \leq F(\nabla_x \Psi(\hat{x}, \hat{y}, \hat{t}), X) - F(-\nabla_y \Psi(\hat{x}, \hat{y}, \hat{t}), -Y)$$
(2.14)

and

$$-\left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon}+|A|\right)I \leq \begin{pmatrix} X & O\\ O & Y \end{pmatrix} \leq A+\varepsilon A^2.$$
(2.15)

Here  $A := \nabla_{(x,y)}^2 \Psi(\hat{x}, \hat{y}, \hat{t})$  and  $|A| := \sup\{|\langle A\xi, \xi\rangle| \mid \xi \in \mathbf{R}^n, \ |\xi| = 1\}$ . Note that

$$\nabla_x \Psi(\hat{x}, \hat{y}, \hat{t}) = \frac{\hat{x} - \hat{y}}{\varepsilon} + \{\beta + \delta \rho'(\hat{x}_1)\}e_1 + 2\gamma \hat{x},$$
  
$$\nabla_y \Psi(\hat{x}, \hat{y}, \hat{t}) = -\frac{\hat{x} - \hat{y}}{\varepsilon} - \{\beta - \delta \rho'(\hat{y}_1)\}e_1 + 2\gamma \hat{y},$$
  
$$\partial_t \Psi(\hat{x}, \hat{y}, \hat{t}) = \frac{\alpha}{(T - \hat{t})^2}.$$

In view of (2.9) and (2.15) we may assume that (X, Y) converges to some  $(\bar{X}, \bar{Y}) \in \mathbf{S}^n \times \mathbf{S}^n$  as  $(\gamma, \delta) \to (0, 0)$ . Then the limit  $(\bar{X}, \bar{Y})$  satisfies

$$\begin{pmatrix} \bar{X} & O \\ O & \bar{Y} \end{pmatrix} \leq \frac{3}{\varepsilon} \begin{pmatrix} I & -I \\ -I & I \end{pmatrix},$$

and in particular  $\bar{X} + \bar{Y} \leq O$ . Letting  $(\gamma, \delta) \to (0, 0)$  in (2.14), we have

$$\frac{\alpha}{T^2} \le F\left(\frac{\bar{p}}{\varepsilon} + \beta e_1, \bar{X}\right) - F\left(\frac{\bar{p}}{\varepsilon} + \beta e_1, -\bar{Y}\right).$$

This is a contradiction since F is degenerate elliptic.

**Corollary 2.7** (Uniqueness). Assume (F0). Then (NP) admits at most one viscosity solution, and the solution is continuous on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0, \infty)$ .

*Proof.* If u and v are two viscosity solutions of (NP), we have  $u^* \leq v_*$  and  $v^* \leq u_*$  on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0, \infty)$  by Theorem 2.5. These inequalities imply our assertions.  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 2.8** (Contraction property). Assume (F0). Let  $u_{01}, u_{02} \in BUC(\overline{\Omega})$ . Let  $u_1$  and  $u_2$  be, respectively, a viscosity solution of (NP;  $F, u_{01}$ ) and that of (NP;  $F, u_{02}$ ). Then we have  $\sup_{\overline{\Omega} \times [0,\infty)} |u_1 - u_2| \leq \sup_{\overline{\Omega}} |u_{01} - u_{02}|$ .

Proof. Let  $d = \sup_{\overline{\Omega}} |u_{01} - u_{02}|$ . Then it is easily seen that  $u_2 + d$  is a viscosity solution of  $(NP; F, u_{02} + d)$ . Since  $u_{01} \leq u_{02} + d$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ , Theorem 2.5 gives  $u_1 \leq u_2 + d$  on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0, \infty)$ . In the same manner we obtain  $u_2 \leq u_1 + d$  on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0, \infty)$ .

#### 2.3 Existence result

We prove the existence of viscosity solutions by *Perron's method* ([16, Section 4]). An important step is to construct a *lower* and *upper barrier*, which are a viscosity sub- and supersolution of (NP) satisfying the given initial data. We first prepare stability results for viscosity solutions. For the proofs we refer the reader to [16, Lemma 4.2, Lemma 6.1] or [22, Lemma 2.4.1, Theorem 2.3.5].

**Proposition 2.9** (Stability). Assume (F0).

(1) Let S be a nonempty subset of

 $\{v \mid v \text{ is a viscosity subsolution of } (1.1) \text{ and } (1.3)\}.$ 

Let  $u(x,t) := \sup_{v \in S} v(x,t)$ . If  $u^* < \infty$  on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0,\infty)$ , then u is a viscosity subsolution of (1.1) and (1.3)

(2) Assume that  $F^{\varepsilon}$  satisfies (F0), and let  $u^{\varepsilon}$  be a viscosity subsolution of (1.1) with  $F = F^{\varepsilon}$  and (1.3) for each  $\varepsilon > 0$ . If  $F \ge \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0}^{*} F^{\varepsilon}$  on  $\mathbf{R}^{n} \times \mathbf{S}^{n}$  and  $\overline{u} := \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0}^{*} u^{\varepsilon} < \infty$  on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0, \infty)$ , then  $\overline{u}$  is a viscosity subsolution of (1.1) and (1.3).

To apply Perron's method we need only (1) while (2) plays an important role in Section 3, where we discuss a local uniform convergence of solutions. We recall a notion of relaxed limits appearing in (2). For a subset  $L \subset \mathbf{R}^N$  and functions  $h^{\varepsilon} : L \to \mathbf{R}$  with  $\varepsilon > 0$  we define an *upper relaxed limit*  $\overline{h} = \limsup_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0}^* h^{\varepsilon}$  (resp. *lower relaxed limit*  $\underline{h} = \liminf_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} h^{\varepsilon}$ ) :  $\overline{L} \to \mathbf{R} \cup {\pm \infty}$  as

$$\overline{h}(z) := \limsup_{(\varepsilon,y)\to(0,z)} h^{\varepsilon}(y) = \limsup_{\delta\downarrow 0} \sup\{h^{\varepsilon}(y) \mid y \in L, \ |y-z| < \delta, \ 0 < \varepsilon < \delta\}$$

 $(\text{resp. }\underline{h}(z) := \liminf_{(\varepsilon, y) \to (0, z)} h^{\varepsilon}(y) = \liminf_{\delta \downarrow 0} \{h^{\varepsilon}(y) \mid y \in L, \ |y - z| < \delta, \ 0 < \varepsilon < \delta\}).$ 

If  $\overline{h} = \underline{h}$  in L, then  $h^{\varepsilon}$  converges to  $h := \overline{h} = \underline{h}$  locally uniformly in L as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ .

**Proposition 2.10** (Barriers). Assume (F0). Then (NP) has a viscosity subsolution  $w^-$  and a viscosity supersolution  $w^+$  such that  $w^-(x,t) \leq u_0(x) \leq w^+(x,t)$ for all  $(x,t) \in \overline{\Omega} \times [0,\infty)$  and  $u_0(x) = w^{\pm}(x,0) = \lim_{(z,t)\to(x,0)} w^{\pm}(z,t)$  for all  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . *Proof.* We give the proof only for a subsolution since a similar argument applies for a supersolution.

1. Let  $\omega(r) = \sup_{|x-y| \leq r} |u_0(x) - u_0(y)|$  and  $f(r) = r - \arctan r$ . Then for each  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists  $C_0(\varepsilon) > 0$  such that  $\omega(r) \leq \varepsilon + C_0(\varepsilon)f(r)$  for all  $r \geq 0$ . Set  $C(\varepsilon) := \max\{4C_0(\varepsilon), 4C_0(\varepsilon)/\beta, 1\} \geq 1$ . Since  $f(r+s) \leq 4\{f(r) + f(s)\}$  for  $r, s \geq 0$ , we see that

$$\omega(|x-y|) \le \varepsilon + \beta C(\varepsilon) f(|x_1-y_1|) + C(\varepsilon) f(|x'-y'|)$$
(2.16)

for all  $x = (x_1, x') \in \mathbf{R}^n$  and  $y = (y_1, y') \in \mathbf{R}^n$ . We also remark that  $f \in C^2(\mathbf{R})$ ,  $f(0) = f'(0) = f''(0) = 0, 0 \le f' \le 1$  and  $0 \le f'' \le 1/2$  in **R**.

2. For  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$  and  $y \in \Omega$  we define

$$v_{\varepsilon,y}(x,t) := u_0(y) - \varepsilon - \frac{\beta C(\varepsilon)}{f'(y_1)} f(|x_1 - y_1|) - C(\varepsilon) f(|x' - y'|) - Mt,$$

where  $M = M(\varepsilon, y) > 0$  is a large constant. Then  $v_{\varepsilon,y} \in C^{2,1}(\overline{\Omega} \times [0,\infty))$  and  $v_{\varepsilon,y}(x,t) \leq u_0(x)$  on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0,\infty)$  from (2.16). By the boundedness of f' and f'' we see that  $|\nabla_x v_{\varepsilon,y}|$  and  $|\nabla_x^2 v_{\varepsilon,y}|$  are also bounded on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0,\infty)$ . We thus have

$$-M \leq F(\nabla_x v_{\varepsilon,y}(x,t), \nabla_x^2 v_{\varepsilon,y}(x,t))$$

for sufficiently large M. We also compute

$$\partial_{x_1} v_{\varepsilon,y}(x,t)|_{x_1=0} = -\frac{\beta C(\varepsilon)}{f'(y_1)} \{-f'(y_1)\} \ge \beta,$$

and therefore  $v_{\varepsilon,y}$  is a viscosity subsolution of (1.1) and (1.3) by Proposition 2.2. Consequently Proposition 2.9 (2) ensures that the supremum of  $v_{\varepsilon,y}$ 

$$w^{-}(x,t) = \sup\{v_{\varepsilon,y}(x,t) \mid \varepsilon \in (0,1), y \in \Omega\}$$

is also a viscosity subsolution of (1.1) and (1.3). By definition  $w^-$  is lower semicontinuous and satisfies  $w^-(x,t) \leq u_0(x)$  on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0,\infty)$ . In particular  $w^-$  is bounded from above.

3. We next show  $w^{-}(x,0) \geq u_{0}(x)$  for all  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . We see  $w^{-}(x,0) \geq v_{\varepsilon,x}(x,0) = u_{0}(x) - \varepsilon$  if  $x \in \Omega$ , and so  $w^{-}(x,0) \geq u_{0}(x)$  holds. Let  $x \in \partial\Omega$ . Taking  $y = (y_{1}, x')$ , we then have

$$w^{-}(x,0) \ge v_{\varepsilon,y}(x,0) \ge u_0(x) - \varepsilon - \frac{\beta C(\varepsilon)}{f'(y_1)} f(y_1).$$

Letting  $y_1 \to 0$  first and then  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , we obtain  $w^-(x,0) \ge u_0(x)$ .

4. Since  $w^-$  is lower semicontinuous, for all  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ 

$$u_0(x) = w^-(x,0) \le \liminf_{(z,t)\to(x,0)} w^-(z,t) \le \limsup_{(z,t)\to(x,0)} w^-(z,t)$$
$$\le \limsup_{(z,t)\to(x,0)} u_0(z) = u_0(x).$$

Hence  $\lim_{(z,t)\to(x,0)} w^-(z,t) = u_0(x)$ . We thus conclude that  $w^-$  satisfies the required properties.

Remark 2.11. By the same way as in Step 3 we obtain a more general estimate that  $w^-(x,t) \ge u_0(x) - Mt$  for all  $(x,t) \in \overline{\Omega} \times [0,\infty)$ . This implies that  $w^-$  is bounded from below on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0,T)$  for every T > 0. Similarly, we are able to construct  $w^+$  in Proposition 2.10 such that it is bounded from above on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0,T)$  for every T > 0.

**Theorem 2.12** (Existence by Perron's method). Assume (F0). Then (NP) admits at least one viscosity solution.

*Proof.* Let

$$\mathcal{S} = \left\{ v \mid v \text{ is a viscosity subsolution of (NP)} \\ \text{such that } w^- \leq v \leq w^+ \text{ on } \overline{\Omega} \times [0, \infty) \right\}$$

where  $w^-$  and  $w^+$  are functions in Proposition 2.10. Since  $w^- \in S$ , the set S is nonempty. We demonstrate that  $u(x) := \sup_{v \in S} v(x)$  is a viscosity solution of (NP). By definition we have  $w^- \leq u \leq w^+$  on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0, \infty)$ . We then notice that  $u^*(\cdot, 0) = u_*(\cdot, 0) = u_0$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$  and that u is bounded on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0, T)$  for all T > 0 by Remark 2.11. Proposition 2.9 (1) ensures that u is a subsolution of (NP). We also see that u is a viscosity supersolution of (NP) since u is a maximal subsolution in the sense that  $u(x_0, t_0) < v(x_0, t_0)$  for some  $v \in S$  and  $(x_0, t_0) \in \overline{\Omega} \times (0, \infty)$  if u were not a supersolution. See [22, Lemma 2.4.2] for more details.

#### 3 Asymptotic behavior

To study the asymptotic behavior self-similar solutions of (NP) play an important role in our study.

**Definition 3.1.** Let  $u: \overline{\Omega} \times [0, \infty) \to \mathbf{R}$ .

- (1) We define a rescaled function  $u_{(\lambda)}$  of u as  $u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) := u(\lambda x, \lambda^2 t)/\lambda$  for  $\lambda > 0$ .
- (2) We say u is self-similar if  $u = u_{(\lambda)}$  for all  $\lambda > 0$ , or equivalently  $u(x,t) = \sqrt{t}U(x/\sqrt{t})$  for some  $U : [0, \infty) \to \mathbf{R}$ . We call U a profile function of u.

Note that, if u is self-similar, the profile function U of u is represented by U(x) = u(x, 1). We next introduce a notion of asymptotic homogeneity. We consider  $G : \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{S}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  such that G is not necessarily homogeneous but it approximates some homogeneous F in a suitable sense. To state the rigorous meaning of the approximation we define

$$G_{\lambda}(p,X) := \lambda G\left(p,\frac{X}{\lambda}\right)$$

for  $\lambda > 0$ . We say G is asymptotically homogeneous if G satisfies the following:

(F2)  $G_{\lambda}$  converges to some  $F : \mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{S}^n \to \mathbf{R}$  as  $\lambda \to \infty$  locally uniformly in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{S}^n$ .

We call F in (F2) the limit of G. We also remark that the limit F satisfies (F0) and (F1) whenever G satisfies (F0) and (F2). Thus the limit F is always homogeneous. The function  $G(p, X) = \sqrt{1 + p^2}(1 - e^{-k})$  with  $k = X/\sqrt{1 + p^2}^3$ , which represents (1.5) in Mullins' case, is indeed asymptotically homogeneous with the limit  $F(p, X) = X/(1 + p^2)$  corresponding to (1.8). This follows from the fact that  $f_{\lambda}(z) := \lambda(1 - e^{-z/\lambda}) - z$  converges to 0 as  $\lambda \to \infty$  locally uniformly in **R**.

Remark 3.2. If u is a viscosity solution of (NP;  $G, u_0$ ), then the rescaled function  $u_{(\lambda)}$  is a viscosity solution of (NP;  $G_{\lambda}, (u_0)_{(\lambda)}$ ), where

$$(u_0)_{(\lambda)}(x) = \frac{1}{\lambda}u_0(\lambda x).$$

Indeed, noting that

$$\begin{split} \partial_t u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) &= \lambda \partial_t u(\lambda x, \lambda^2 t), \\ \nabla u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) &= \nabla u(\lambda x, \lambda^2 t), \quad \nabla^2 u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) = \lambda \nabla^2 u(\lambda x, \lambda^2 t), \end{split}$$

we compute

$$\partial_t u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) = \lambda G(\nabla u(\lambda x, \lambda^2 t), \nabla^2 u(\lambda x, \lambda^2 t)) = \lambda G\left(\nabla u_{(\lambda)}(x,t), \frac{1}{\lambda} \nabla^2 u_{(\lambda)}(x,t)\right)$$

and

$$\partial_{x_1} u_{(\lambda)}(x,t) = \partial_{x_1} u(\lambda x, \lambda^2 t) = \beta$$

if u is a classical solution. In the case where u is not smooth, taking elements of semijets, we see that  $u_{(\lambda)}$  solves  $(NP; G_{\lambda}, (u_0)_{(\lambda)})$  in the viscosity sense. We also remark that if G is homogeneous, then  $u_{(\lambda)}$  solves  $(NP; G, (u_0)_{(\lambda)})$ .

We prove that the unique solution of the homogeneous equation with the zero initial data is always self-similar. Several properties of the self-similar solution are also discussed.

**Proposition 3.3** (Self-similar solution). Assume (F0) and (F1). Let u be the unique viscosity solution of (NP; F, 0). Then

(1) u is self-similar.

(2) 
$$u \leq 0$$
 on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0,\infty)$ . If  $F(0,-I_{1,1}) < 0$ , then  $u < 0$  on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0,\infty)$ .

- (3)  $u(x,t) = u(x_1, 0, ..., 0, t)$  for all  $(x,t) \in \overline{\Omega} \times [0, \infty)$ .
- (4)  $\lim_{x_1\to\infty} u(x,t) = 0$  for all  $t \ge 0$ .

Proof. By Remark 3.2 we see that  $u_{(\lambda)}$  is a viscosity solution of (NP; F, 0) for every  $\lambda > 0$ . Applying Theorem 2.5, we obtain  $u = u_{(\lambda)}$ . This implies (1). Combining Example 2.4 with Theorem 2.5, we observe that  $h_{\beta,M(\beta)} \leq u \leq h_{\beta,m(\beta)}$  on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0,\infty)$ , where h is the function in (2.5) and  $m(\beta)$ ,  $M(\beta)$  are defined as (2.6). Thus the first assertion in (2) and (4) hold. If  $F(0, -I_{1,1}) < 0$ , then we have  $m(\gamma) < 0$  for sufficiently small  $\gamma \in (0,\beta]$ . Then a supersolution  $h_{\gamma,m(\gamma)}$  is negative on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0,\infty)$ , so that u is also negative. We finally prove (3). For  $a \in \mathbf{R}^{n-1}$  we set  $w_a(x,t) := u(x_1, x'-a, t)$ , where  $x' = (x_2, \ldots, x_n)$ . Then it is easy to see that  $w_a$  is also a viscosity solution of (NP; F, 0) since F and the initial-boundary conditions do not depend on x'. By the uniqueness we obtain  $u = w_a$ . In particular, for fixed  $(x,t) \in \overline{\Omega} \times [0,\infty)$  we have  $u(x,t) = w_{x'}(x,t) =$  $u(x_1, 0, \ldots, 0, t)$ .

Our main result on asymptotic convergence is

**Theorem 3.4** (Asymptotic behavior). Assume that G satisfies (F0) and (F2) with the limit F. Let u and v be, respectively, the unique viscosity solution of  $(NP; G, u_0)$  and that of (NP; F, 0). Then  $u_{(\lambda)}$  converges to v as  $\lambda \to \infty$  locally uniformly on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0, \infty)$ .

By Theorem 3.4 we see that  $u_{(\sqrt{t})}(x,1)$  converges to v(x,1) as  $t \to \infty$  uniformly on every compact subset of  $\overline{\Omega}$ . This implies that (1.12) holds locally uniformly with respect to  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ .

As is pointed out in Remark 3.2, the rescaled function  $u_{(\lambda)}$  is a solution of  $(\operatorname{NP}; G_{\lambda}, (u_0)_{(\lambda)})$ . Since the local uniform convergence of  $G_{\lambda}$  to F is assumed, in view of Proposition 2.9 (2) the relaxed limits  $\overline{u}$  and  $\underline{u}$  of  $u_{(\lambda)}$  becomes a suband supersolution of  $(\operatorname{NP}; F, 0)$ , respectively, provided that the limits exist. To guarantee the existence of the relaxed limits we construct suitable barriers of  $(\operatorname{NP}; G, u_0)$  whose rescaled families are locally uniformly bounded. Recalling Remark 2.11, we have rough estimates for u that  $u_0(x) - Mt \leq u(x, t) \leq u_0(x) + Mt$ . Then  $u_0(\lambda x)/\lambda - M\lambda t \leq u_{(\lambda)}(x, t) \leq u_0(\lambda x)/\lambda + M\lambda t$ , but this does not yields that  $\overline{u}$  and  $\underline{u}$  are real-valued. We construct the barriers so that they have the order  $O(\sqrt{t})$  as  $t \to \infty$ .

**Lemma 3.5.** (1) Assume that  $g: [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfies

$$|g(t)| \le M(\sqrt{t+1}) \quad on \ [0,\infty) \tag{3.1}$$

for some M > 0. Set  $g_{(\lambda)}(t) := g(\lambda^2 t)/\lambda$ ,  $\underline{g} := \liminf_{*\lambda \to \infty} g_{(\lambda)}$  and  $\overline{g} := \limsup_{\lambda \to \infty} g_{(\lambda)}$ . Then we have  $-M\sqrt{t} \leq \overline{g}(t) \leq \overline{g}(t) \leq M\sqrt{t}$  on  $[0,\infty)$ .

(2) Assume that G satisfies (F0) and (F2). Then there exists  $M_0 > 0$  such that

$$\rho(t) := \sup_{|\theta|, |\sigma| \le 1} \left| G\left(\theta \beta e_1, \frac{\sigma I_{1,1}}{\sqrt{t}} \right) \right| \le \frac{M_0}{\sqrt{t}}$$
(3.2)

for all  $t \geq 1$ . Moreover

$$g(t) := \begin{cases} 0 & (0 \le t \le 1), \\ \int_1^t \rho(s) ds & (t > 1) \end{cases}$$
(3.3)

satisfies (3.1) with  $M = 2M_0$ .

Obviously, the estimate (3.2) holds if G is homogeneous. For a general G, roughly speaking, (3.2) still holds since G is approximately homogeneous.

*Proof.* (1) Fix  $t_0 \ge 0$ . Let  $\delta > 0$  and take  $t \ge 0$ ,  $\lambda > 0$  such that  $|t - t_0| \le \delta$ ,  $\lambda \ge 1/\delta$ . We then observe

$$|g_{(\lambda)}(t)| = \frac{1}{\lambda} |g(\lambda^2 t)| \le \frac{1}{\lambda} M(\sqrt{\lambda^2 t} + 1) = M\left(\sqrt{t} + \frac{1}{\lambda}\right) \le M(\sqrt{t_0 + \delta} + \delta).$$

Thus, sending  $\delta \to 0$  gives  $-M\sqrt{t_0} \leq \underline{g}(t_0) \leq \overline{g}(t_0) \leq M\sqrt{t_0}$ .

(2) The second assertion is obvious if (3.2) holds. For  $t \ge 1$  we observe

$$\sqrt{t}\rho(t) \leq \sup_{|\theta|, |\sigma| \leq 1} \left| \sqrt{t}G\left(\theta\beta e_1, \frac{\sigma I_{1,1}}{\sqrt{t}}\right) - F(\theta\beta e_1, \sigma I_{1,1}) \right| + \sup_{|\theta|, |\sigma| \leq 1} |F(\theta\beta e_1, \sigma I_{1,1})|.$$

The first term of the right hand side converges to 0 as  $t \to \infty$  by assumption while the second term is a constant independent of t. Therefore (3.2) follows.  $\Box$ 

Proof of Theorem 3.4. Let  $w^-$  and  $w^+$  be barriers constructed in the proof of Proposition 2.10. Then there exists C > 0 such that  $-C \leq w^- \leq w^+ \leq C$  on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0,2]$  by Remark 2.11. Define  $\Phi : \overline{\Omega} \times [0,\infty) \to \mathbf{R}$  as

$$\Phi(x,t) := -C + h(x_1,t) - g(t).$$

Here h and g are the functions given by (2.5) and (3.3), respectively. We choose  $A = \beta^2/\pi$  in (2.5) so that  $0 \leq \partial_{x_1}h \leq \beta$  and  $-1/\sqrt{t} \leq \partial_{x_1x_1}h \leq 0$  in  $\overline{\Omega} \times (0, \infty)$ . By the definition of g, we then find that  $\Phi$  and  $-\Phi$  are, respectively, a viscosity subsolution and a viscosity supersolution of

$$\partial_t u(x,t) = G(\nabla u(x,t), \nabla^2 u(x,t)) \tag{3.4}$$

in  $\Omega \times (1, \infty)$  and (1.3). Indeed, the boundary condition is easy to check, and for  $(x, t) \in \Omega \times (1, \infty)$  we compute

$$\partial_t \Phi(x,t) \leq -g'(t) = -\sup_{|\theta|, |\sigma| \leq 1} \left| G\left(\theta \beta e_1, \frac{\sigma I_{1,1}}{\sqrt{t}}\right) \right| \leq G(\nabla \Phi(x,t), \nabla^2 \Phi(x,t)).$$

Here we have used the facts that  $\partial_t h \leq 0, 0 \leq \partial_{x_1} h \leq \beta$  and  $-1/\sqrt{t} \leq \partial_{x_1x_1} h \leq 0$ . A similar argument yields that  $-\Phi$  is a supersolution. Since  $\Phi \leq w^- \leq w^+ \leq -\Phi$  on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0,2]$ , we see that  $\tilde{w}^- := \max\{w^-, \Phi\}$  and  $\tilde{w}^+ := \min\{w^+, -\Phi\}$  are, respectively, a viscosity subsolution and a viscosity supersolution of (3.4) in  $\Omega \times (0,\infty)$  and (1.3). Noting that  $(\tilde{w}^-)^*(x,0) = u_0(x) = (\tilde{w}^+)_*(x,0)$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ , we see by Theorem 2.5 that  $(\tilde{w}^-)^* \leq u \leq (\tilde{w}^+)_*$  in  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0,\infty)$ . In particular, we have  $\Phi_{(\lambda)} \leq u_{(\lambda)} \leq -\Phi_{(\lambda)}$ . Taking  $\liminf_{*\lambda\to\infty}$  and  $\limsup_{\lambda\to\infty}^{*}$ , we obtain

$$h(x_1,t) - \overline{g}(t) \le \underline{u}(x,t) \le \overline{u}(x,t) \le -h(x_1,t) + \overline{g}(t)$$
 in  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0,\infty)$ ,

where  $\underline{u} := \liminf_{*\lambda\to\infty} u_{(\lambda)}$  and  $(\overline{u},\overline{g}) := \limsup_{\lambda\to\infty}^* (u_{(\lambda)},g_{(\lambda)})$ . Therefore Lemma 3.5 implies that  $\underline{u}$  and  $\overline{u}$  are bounded on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0,T)$  for every T > 0 and that  $\underline{u}(x,0) = \overline{u}(x,0) = 0$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

Now, since  $u_{(\lambda)}$  is a viscosity solution of  $(NP; G_{\lambda}, (u_0)_{(\lambda)})$  for every  $\lambda > 0$ , Proposition 2.9 (2) and (F2) imply that  $\overline{u}$  and  $\underline{u}$  are, respectively, a viscosity subsolution and a viscosity supersolution of (NP; F, 0). By Theorem 2.5 we have  $\overline{u} \leq \underline{u}$  in  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0, \infty)$ , and therefore  $\overline{u} \equiv \underline{u} \equiv v$  since v is now the unique solution of (NP; F, 0). As a result,  $u_{(\lambda)}$  converges to v locally uniformly in  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0, \infty)$ .  $\Box$  *Remark* 3.6. If G is homogeneous in Theorem 3.4, i.e.,  $G \equiv F$ , then  $u_{(\lambda)}$  converges to v uniformly on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0, \infty)$ . Indeed, since  $u_{(\lambda)}$  solves  $(NP; F, (u_0)_{(\lambda)})$ , the contraction property (Corollary 2.8) ensures

$$\sup_{\overline{\Omega}\times[0,\infty)}|u_{(\lambda)}-v|\leq \sup_{\overline{\Omega}}|(u_0)_{(\lambda)}-0|=\frac{1}{\lambda}\sup_{\overline{\Omega}}|u_0|.$$

We thus obtain the uniform convergence of  $u_{(\lambda)}$  together with its convergence rate.

Remark 3.7. We derive a sufficient condition for (F2). Let  $G : \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{S}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ and consider a linear approximation of G such as (1.7). Suppose that G is of the form G(p, X) = H(p, f(p, X)) with some continuous and homogeneous f. We expand H as  $H(p, z) = z \cdot \partial_z H(p, 0) + z \cdot r(p, z)$ , where we have assumed H(p, 0) = 0. Then

$$\lambda G\left(p, \frac{X}{\lambda}\right) = \lambda H\left(p, \frac{1}{\lambda}f(p, X)\right) = f(p, X) \cdot \partial_z H(p, 0) + f(p, X) \cdot r\left(p, \frac{1}{\lambda}f(p, X)\right)$$

Thus G satisfies (F2) with the limit  $F(p, X) = f(p, X) \cdot \partial_z H(p, 0)$  if the reminder term  $r(p, z/\lambda)$  converges to zero as  $\lambda \to \infty$  locally uniformly with respect to (p, z). This setting includes Mullins' problem, which corresponds to the case where  $H(p, X) = \sqrt{1 + p^2}(1 - e^{-z})$  and  $f(p, X) = X/\sqrt{1 + p^2}^3$ .

### 4 Profile functions

In this section we study the profile function of the unique self-similar solution to (NP; F, 0) with a homogeneous F. Our main interest is the configuration of its graph, especially the corner of the graph when F(p, X) is allowed to be 0 even if  $X \neq 0$ .

We first derive the ordinary differential equation which the profile function should solve. Assume (F0) and (F1). Let v be a viscosity solution of (NP; F, 0). According to Proposition 3.3 (3), v(x, t) is independent of  $(x_2, \ldots, x_n)$ . Thus we hereafter assume n = 1 so that u and F are, respectively, defined on  $\mathbf{R} \times [0, \infty)$ and  $\mathbf{R} \times \mathbf{R}$ . We let  $V : [0, \infty) \to \mathbf{R}$  be the profile function of v, i.e.,

$$V(x) = v(x, 1).$$
 (4.1)

Since v is self-similar, we have

$$v(x,t) = \sqrt{t}v\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{t}},1\right) = \sqrt{t}V\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{t}}\right).$$
(4.2)

We now differentiate v to find

$$\partial_t v(x,t) = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{t}} V\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{t}}\right) - \frac{x}{2t} V'\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{t}}\right),$$
$$\partial_x v(x,t) = V'\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{t}}\right), \quad \partial_{xx} v(x,t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} V''\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{t}}\right)$$

provided that v is smooth. Substituting these derivatives for (1.1), we have

$$\frac{1}{2\sqrt{t}}\left\{V\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{t}}\right) - \frac{x}{\sqrt{t}}V'\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{t}}\right)\right\} = F\left(V'\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{t}}\right), \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}}V''\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{t}}\right)\right)$$

Multiplying the both sides by  $2\sqrt{t}$  and letting  $\xi = x/\sqrt{t}$ , we are led to

$$V(\xi) - \xi V'(\xi) = 2F(V'(\xi), V''(\xi)).$$

Here we have used (F1). We consider this equation with the boundary condition at  $\xi = 0$  and  $\xi = \infty$ :

$$\int V(\xi) - \xi V'(\xi) = 2F(V'(\xi), V''(\xi)) \quad \text{in } (0, \infty), \quad (4.3)$$

(FODE) 
$$\begin{cases} V'(0) = \beta > 0, \end{cases}$$
 (4.4)

$$\lim_{\xi \to \infty} V(\xi) = 0. \tag{4.5}$$

To impose (4.5) is natural in terms of Proposition 3.3 (4). Since F is now defined on  $\mathbf{R} \times \mathbf{R}$  and satisfies (F1), we notice that F is written as

$$F(p,X) = \begin{cases} F(p,1)X & \text{if } X \ge 0, \\ -F(p,-1)X & \text{if } X \le 0. \end{cases}$$

Thus the right hand side of (4.3) is linear with respect to  $V''(\xi)$  as long as the sign of  $V''(\xi)$  does not change. By (F0) we also find that F(p, 1) and -F(p, -1) are nonnegative continuous functions of p.

We say a function  $V : [0, \infty) \to \mathbf{R}$  is a *classical solution* of (FODE) if  $V \in C^2(0, \infty) \cap C^1[0, \infty)$  and V satisfies (4.3)–(4.5). Here we define V'(0) as the right derivative:

$$V'(0) := \lim_{\xi \downarrow 0} \frac{V(\xi) - V(0)}{\xi}$$

A viscosity subsolution of (FODE) is a function  $V : [0, \infty) \to \mathbf{R}$  such that V is bounded from above on  $[0, \infty)$ ,  $V^*$  satisfies (4.5) and

$$\begin{cases} V^*(\xi) - \xi p \leq 2F(p, X) & \text{if } \xi > 0, \\ V^*(0) \leq 2F(p, X) & \text{or } \beta - p \leq 0 & \text{if } \xi = 0 \end{cases}$$

for all  $(p, X) \in J^{2,+}V^*(\xi)$  with  $\xi \geq 0$ . The definitions of a viscosity supersolution and a viscosity solution of (FODE) are similar so are omitted. The set of all second order superjets and subjets of V at  $\xi$  on  $[0, \infty)$  are denoted by  $J^{2,+}V(\xi)$ and  $J^{2,-}V(\xi)$ , respectively. Namely,

$$J^{2,+}V(\xi) = \{ (\phi'(\xi), \phi''(\xi)) \mid \phi \in C^2[0, \infty) \text{ and } V - \phi \text{ attains its maximum at } \xi \}, \\ J^{2,-}V(\xi) = \{ (\phi'(\xi), \phi''(\xi)) \mid \phi \in C^2[0, \infty) \text{ and } V - \phi \text{ attains its minimum at } \xi \}.$$

Remark 4.1. Assume (F0) and (F1). Although (4.3) was derived under the assumption that v is smooth, the consistency between (NP; F, 0) and (FODE) holds in the viscosity sense as well.

• (Consistency) If V is a viscosity subsolution of (FODE), then v given as (4.2) is a viscosity subsolution of (NP; F, 0). Conversely, if v is a viscosity subsolution of (NP; F, 0), then V given as (4.1) is a viscosity subsolution of (FODE). Similar statements hold for supersolutions.

Due to this consistency we have the comparison and existence of viscosity solutions to (FODE). These assertions follow from the results for the time-dependent case in Section 2.

- (Comparison principle) If U and V are, respectively, a viscosity subsolution and supersolution of (FODE), then  $U^* \leq V_*$  on  $[0, \infty)$ .
- (Existence) There exists a continuous viscosity solution of (FODE).

Example 4.2. Let us consider the linearized equation

(LODE) 
$$\begin{cases} V(\xi) - \xi V'(\xi) = BV''(\xi) & \text{in } (0, \infty), \\ (4.4), (4.5) \end{cases}$$
(4.6)

with B > 0. This equation corresponds to the case that 2F(p, 1) = -2F(p, -1) = B for all  $p \in \mathbf{R}$  in (FODE). Choosing A = B/2 in (2.5), we see that the unique classical solution of (LODE) is

$$H_{\beta,B}(\xi) := -\beta \sqrt{2B} \cdot \operatorname{ierfc}\left(\frac{\xi}{\sqrt{2B}}\right).$$
(4.7)

Note that the derivatives of  $H_{\beta,B}$  up to the second order are

$$H'_{\beta,B}(\xi) = \beta \cdot \operatorname{erfc}\left(\frac{\xi}{\sqrt{2B}}\right), \quad H''_{\beta,B}(\xi) = -\beta \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi B}} \cdot e^{-\xi^2/2B}.$$
(4.8)

In the rest of this section we consider the problem of the form

(ODE) = (ODE; 
$$a, \beta$$
)   

$$\begin{cases}
V(\xi) - \xi V'(\xi) = a(V'(\xi))V''(\xi) & \text{in } (0, \infty), (4.9) \\
(4.4), (4.5)
\end{cases}$$

with nonnegative  $a \in C(\mathbf{R})$ . Although (ODE) is a special case of (FODE), it turns out that the both problems are equivalent; see Remark 4.8. Our basic assumption on a is

(A1)  $a \in C(\mathbf{R}), a \ge 0$  in  $\mathbf{R}$  and a(0) > 0.

Recall that Mullins' equation (1.8) corresponds to (ODE) with  $a(p) = 2/(1+p^2)$ . We list fundamental properties of a viscosity solution to (ODE).

**Proposition 4.3.** Assume (A1). Let V be the unique viscosity solution of (ODE). Let  $(p, X) \in J^{2,-}V(\xi_0)$  with  $\xi_0 > 0$ . Then

- (1) V < 0 on  $[0, \infty)$ .
- (2) V is increasing on  $[0, \infty)$ , i.e.,  $V(\xi_1) < V(\xi_2)$  if  $0 \le \xi_1 < \xi_2$ .
- (3) p > 0 and X < 0.

- (4) *V* is strictly concave on  $[0, \infty)$ , i.e.,  $V((1 \lambda)\xi_1 + \lambda\xi_2) > (1 \lambda)V(\xi_1) + \lambda V(\xi_2)$  for all  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$  and  $\xi_1, \xi_2 \in [0, \infty)$  with  $\xi_1 < \xi_2$ .
- (5) a(p) > 0.

*Proof.* (1) This is a consequence of the second assertion of Proposition 3.3 (2).

(2) We suppose that  $0 > V(\xi_1) \ge V(\xi_2)$  with  $\xi_1 < \xi_2$ . In view of (4.5) we then have  $\min_{[\xi_1,\infty)} V = V(\eta) < 0$  for some  $\eta \in (\xi_1,\infty)$ . Thus  $(0,0) \in J^{2,-}V(\eta)$ , so that  $V(\eta) - \eta \cdot 0 \ge a(0) \cdot 0 = 0$  since V is a supersolution. However, this is contract to (1).

(3) (5) The monotonicity of V yields that  $p \ge 0$ . We then notice that a(p) must be positive and that X must be negative since  $0 > V(\xi) - \xi p \ge a(p)X$ . We show that p > 0 after the proof of (4).

(4) We suppose that  $V((1-\lambda)\xi_1 + \lambda\xi_2) \leq (1-\lambda)V(\xi_1) + \lambda V(\xi_2)$  for some  $\lambda \in (0,1)$  and  $\xi_1, \xi_2 \in [0,\infty)$  with  $\xi_1 < \xi_2$ . We now take the parabola  $\phi \in C^2(\mathbf{R})$  which passes through three points  $(\xi_1, V(\xi_1)), ((1-\lambda)\xi_1 + \lambda\xi_2, V((1-\lambda)\xi_1 + \lambda\xi_2))$  and  $(\xi_2, V(\xi_2))$ . Then  $\phi''$  is a nonnegative constant c and  $\min_{[\xi_1,\xi_2]}(V - \phi) = (V - \phi)(\eta)$  for some  $\eta \in (\xi_1, \xi_2)$ . Thus  $(\phi'(\eta), c) \in J^{2,-}V(\eta)$ , which contradicts (3) since  $c \geq 0$ .

(3) Let  $\xi_1, \xi_2 > 0$  with  $\xi_1 < \xi_0 < \xi_2$ . Since V is concave and increasing, we observe that

$$\frac{V(\xi_0) - V(\xi_1)}{\xi_0 - \xi_1} \ge \frac{V(\xi_2) - V(\xi_0)}{\xi_2 - \xi_0} > 0.$$

We next take  $\phi \in C^2(0,\infty)$  such that  $\min_{(0,\infty)}(V-\phi) = (V-\phi)(\xi_0)$  and  $(p,X) = (\phi'(\xi_0), \phi''(\xi_0))$ . Then

$$\frac{\phi(\xi_0) - \phi(\xi_1)}{\xi_0 - \xi_1} \ge \frac{V(\xi_0) - V(\xi_1)}{\xi_0 - \xi_1}.$$

Combining the two inequalities above and letting  $\xi_1 \uparrow \xi_0$ , we obtain p > 0.  $\Box$ 

Remark 4.4. Since V is concave on  $[0, \infty)$ , we see by Aleksandrov's theorem ([16, Theorem A.2]) that V is twice differentiable almost everywhere on  $[0, \infty)$ . Namely,  $J^{2,+}V(\xi) \cap J^{2,-}V(\xi)$  is nonempty a.e.  $\xi \in [0, \infty)$ . Accordingly, V solves (4.9) almost everywhere in the classical sense.

Remark 4.5. Although the viscosity solution V in Proposition 4.3 may not be differentiable, we are able to deduce several properties of its one-side derivatives mainly from the strict concavity of V. We define the right derivative  $V'_r$  of V and the left derivative  $V'_l$  of V as follows:

$$V'_{r}(\xi_{0}) := \lim_{\xi \downarrow \xi_{0}} \frac{V(\xi) - V(\xi_{0})}{\xi - \xi_{0}} \quad \text{for } \xi_{0} \in [0, \infty),$$
$$V'_{l}(\xi_{0}) := \lim_{\xi \uparrow \xi_{0}} \frac{V(\xi) - V(\xi_{0})}{\xi - \xi_{0}} \quad \text{for } \xi_{0} \in (0, \infty).$$

Under the same hypotheses of Proposition 4.3 these limits indeed exist and enjoy the following properties.

(a) (One-side continuity)  $V'_r(\xi_0) = \lim_{\xi \downarrow \xi_0} V'_r(\xi)$  for all  $\xi_0 \in [0, \infty)$  and  $V'_l(\xi_0) = \lim_{\xi \uparrow \xi_0} V'_r(\xi)$  for all  $\xi_0 \in (0, \infty)$ .

- (b) (Monotonicity)  $\beta \ge V'_r(\xi_1) > V'_l(\xi_2) \ge V'_r(\xi_2) > V'_l(\xi_3) > 0$  if  $0 \le \xi_1 < \xi_2 < \xi_3$ .
- (c) (Limit as  $\xi \to \infty$ )  $\lim_{\xi\to\infty} V'_r(\xi) = \lim_{\xi\to\infty} V'_l(\xi) = 0$ . (If the limit were positive,  $V(\xi)$  would not converge to zero as  $\xi \to \infty$ .)

If V is a classical solution, it is obvious that the range of V' on  $[0, \infty)$  is  $(0, \beta]$ . In Corollary 4.12 we will determine the range of  $V'_r$  and  $V'_l$  when V is not necessarily a classical solution.

We discuss the angle V'(0) at the origin for a viscosity solution V of (ODE).

**Proposition 4.6** (Angle at the origin). Assume (A1). Let V be the unique viscosity solution of (ODE).

(1) We have

$$V'(0) = q^{-} := \begin{cases} \beta & \text{if } a(\beta) > 0, \\ \inf\{q \in (0, \beta] \mid a = 0 \text{ on } [q, \beta]\} & \text{if } a(\beta) = 0. \end{cases}$$

(2) Let  $\beta_1 > \beta$  and  $V_1$  be the unique viscosity solution of (ODE;  $a, \beta_1$ ). If a = 0 on  $[\beta, \beta_1]$ , then  $V = V_1$  on  $[0, \infty)$ .

Proof. (1) 1. We first prove that V'(0) exists and  $0 < V'(0) \leq \beta$ . Since V is strictly concave, we see that  $(V(\xi) - V(0))/\xi$  is increasing as  $\xi \downarrow 0$ . Thus V'(0) exists and  $V'(0) \in (0, \infty]$  by the monotonicity of V. Suppose  $V'(0) > \beta$ . Then  $(p,0) \in J^{2,-}V(0)$  for every  $p \in (\beta, V'(0))$ ; however,  $V(0) - 0 \cdot p < a(p) \cdot 0$  and  $\beta - p < 0$ . This is a contradiction.

2. We next show that  $V'(0) \ge q^-$ . Suppose  $0 < V'(0) < q^-$ . Then, by the definition of  $q^-$  there exists some  $p \in (V'(0), \beta)$  such that a(p) > 0. We let  $\phi(\xi) = -c\xi^2 + p\xi + V(0)$  for c > 0. Since  $\phi(0) = V(0)$  and  $\phi'(0) = p$ , it follows that  $(p, -2c) \in J^{2,+}V(0)$ . We thus have  $V(0) - 0 \cdot p \le a(p) \cdot (-2c)$ , which is a contradiction for large c > 0.

3. If  $q^- = \beta$ , the proof has already been completed. Let  $q^- < \beta$  and suppose that  $q^- < V'(0) \leq \beta$ . Since  $V'_r(\xi) \to V'(0)$  as  $\xi \downarrow 0$ , we see that  $q^- < V'_r \leq \beta$ on  $[0,\varepsilon]$  for some small  $\varepsilon > 0$ . We now take  $(p,X) \in J^{2,+}V(\xi_0) \cap J^{2,-}V(\xi_0)$ with  $\xi_0 \in (0,\varepsilon)$ ; see Remark 4.4 for the existence of such  $\xi_0$ . Then  $p = V'_r(\xi_0)$ . However, we reach a contradiction that  $0 > V(\xi_0) - \xi_0 \cdot p \geq a(p)X = 0$  since  $q^- .$ 

(2) If we prove that V is a viscosity solution of (ODE;  $a, \beta_1$ ), the conclusion follows. We only need to consider the boundary condition. Evidently, V is a supersolution of (ODE;  $a, \beta_1$ ) since  $\beta_1 - p \ge \beta - p \ge 0$  whenever  $(p, X) \in J^{2,-}V(0)$ ; see Remark 4.7. We next take  $(p, X) \in J^{2,+}V(0)$  and let  $p < \beta_1$ ; otherwise  $\beta_1 - p \le 0$  holds. In (1) we have shown  $V'(0) = \inf\{q \in (0, \beta] \mid a = 0 \text{ on } [q, \beta]\}$ . Since  $V'(0) \le p < \beta_1$ , we now have a(p) = 0 and therefore  $V(0) - 0 \cdot p \le 0 = a(p)X$ .

Remark 4.7. Since  $0 < V'(0) \leq \beta$  by (1) above, we always have  $\beta - p \geq 0$  if  $(p, X) \in J^{2,-}V(0)$  for a viscosity solution V. Indeed, if  $V - \phi$  has its minimum at the origin, then  $\phi'(0) \leq V'(0) \leq \beta$ .

Remark 4.8. Let  $F : \mathbf{R} \times \mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{R}$  satisfy (F0), (F1) and F(0, -1) < 0. It is not difficult to see that, if we replace a(p) by -2F(p, -1), the assertions in Proposition 4.3 and 4.6 still hold for a viscosity solution of the general problem (FODE). We thus find that (FODE) and (ODE) are equivalent in the following sense.

- (i) If V is a viscosity solution of (FODE) with F satisfying (F0), (F1) and F(0,-1) < 0, then V is also a viscosity solution of (ODE) with a(p) = -2F(p,-1).
- (ii) If V is a viscosity solution of (ODE) with a satisfying (A1), then V is also a viscosity solution of (FODE) with F(p, X) = a(p)X/2 if  $X \leq 0$ , and F(p, X) = b(p)X for some nonnegative  $b \in C(\mathbf{R})$  if  $X \geq 0$ .

Indeed, when V is concave, we have 2F(p, X) = a(p)X for  $(p, X) \in J^{2,-}V(\xi)$ with  $\xi > 0$ . We next let  $(p, X) \in J^{2,+}V(\xi)$  with  $\xi \ge 0$ . If  $X \le 0$ , then 2F(p, X) = a(p)X. If X > 0, we see  $(p, 0) \in J^{2,+}V(\xi)$  by concavity. Since  $a(p) \cdot 0 \le a(p)X$  and  $2F(p, 0) \le 2F(p, X)$ , we finally conclude (i) and (ii). (It is easy to check the boundary condition by virtue of Remark 4.7.) Also, similar assertions to (i) and (ii) hold for classical solutions.

We next establish a unique existence result of classical solutions to (ODE). Recalling the property (5) in Proposition 4.3, we see that there is no classical solution of (ODE) if  $a(\beta_0) = 0$  for some  $\beta_0 \in (0, \beta)$ . We thus need the positivity of *a* for the existence. Conversely, it turns out that a viscosity solution of (ODE), for which we have already known the unique existence, is actually a classical solution of (ODE) if *a* is positive.

**Proposition 4.9** ( $C^2$ -regularity of viscosity solutions). Assume (A1). Let V be the unique viscosity solution of (ODE). If a > 0 on  $[0, \beta]$ , then V is a classical solution of (ODE).

*Proof.* 1. By virtue of Proposition 4.6 (1) the boundary condition (4.4) is now fulfilled. Since  $V_r$  is right continuous, the condition  $V \in C^1[0,\infty)$  is satisfied if we prove  $V \in C^1(0,\infty)$ . In the rest of the proof we show  $V \in C^2(0,l)$  for every l > 0.

2. Let

$$\psi(r) := \begin{cases} V(0) & \text{if } r \leq V(0), \\ r & \text{if } V(0) \leq r \leq \beta, \\ \beta & \text{if } \beta \leq r \end{cases}$$

and

$$b(p) := \max\{a(p), m_{\beta}\}$$
 with  $m_{\beta} = \min_{q \in [0,\beta]} a(q)$ 

Then we observe that V also satisfies

$$\psi(W(\xi)) - \xi \psi(W'(\xi)) = b(W'(\xi))W''(\xi) \quad \text{in } (0,l)$$
(4.10)

in the viscosity sense because  $V(0) \leq V \leq 0$  and  $0 \leq p \leq \beta$  for every  $p \in J^{2,+}V(\xi) \cup J^{2,-}V(\xi)$  with  $\xi \in (0,l)$ ; recall Proposition 4.3 (1), (2) and Remark

4.5 (b). We now solve the ordinary differential equation (4.10) with the boundary condition

$$W(0) = V(0)$$
 and  $W(l) = V(l)$ . (4.11)

According to [25, Theorem XII.4.2] there exists  $U \in C^2(0,l) \cap C[0,l]$  which satisfies (4.10) and (4.11) in the classical sense. The reason why we introduced (4.10) is to guarantee that

$$f(\xi, r, p) := \frac{\psi(r) - \xi \psi(p)}{b(p)}$$

is continuous and bounded on  $[0, l] \times (-\infty, \infty) \times (-\infty, \infty)$ , which is assumed in [25, Theorem XII.4.2].

3. We assert that  $V(0) \leq U \leq 0$  on [0, l]. If  $U(\eta) > 0$  at a maximum point  $\eta \in (0, l)$  of U, noting that  $U'(\eta) = 0$  and  $U''(\eta) \leq 0$ , we would reach a contradiction that

$$\psi(U(\eta)) - \eta \psi(U'(\eta)) > 0 \ge b(U'(\eta))U''(\eta).$$

Thus  $U \leq 0$ . A similar argument yields  $V(0) \leq U$ .

4. By Step 3 we find that U satisfies

$$W(\xi) - \xi \psi(W'(\xi)) = b(W'(\xi))W''(\xi) \quad \text{in } (0,\infty)$$
(4.12)

in the classical sense, and therefore in the viscosity sense. We now apply the comparison principle for a viscosity subsolution and a viscosity supersolution of (4.12). Such a comparison is ensured by [16, Theorem 3.3]; indeed, if we set  $G(\xi, r, p, X) = r - \xi \psi(p) - b(p)X$ , we have  $G(\xi, r, p, X) - G(\xi, s, p, X) \ge r - s$  for  $r \ge s$  and  $G(\eta, r, \alpha(\xi - \eta), Y) - G(\xi, r, \alpha(\xi - \eta), X) \le \alpha |\xi - \eta|^2$  for  $X \le Y$ . We thus obtain V = U on [0, l], which implies  $V \in C^2(0, l)$ .

Approximating a viscosity solution by classical solutions, we prove that its derivative takes the value p if a(p) > 0 and that the value of the derivative jumps over p if a(p) = 0. In other words, the solution has a corner when the equation is degenerate.

**Theorem 4.10** (Corner of profile functions). Assume (A1). Let V be the unique viscosity solution of (ODE). Let  $p \in (0, \beta)$ .

- (1) Assume that a(p) > 0. Then there exists a unique  $\xi_p \in (0, \infty)$  such that  $V \in C^2(I)$  and  $V'(\xi_p) = p$  for some open interval I with  $\xi_p \in I \subset (0, \infty)$ .
- (2) Assume that a(p) = 0. Let

$$\begin{aligned} q^+ &:= \sup\{q \in [p,\beta] \mid a = 0 \ on \ [p,q]\}, \\ q^- &:= \inf\{q \in (0,p] \mid a = 0 \ on \ [q,p]\}. \end{aligned}$$

If  $q^+ < \beta$ , then there exists a unique  $\xi_p \in (0, \infty)$  such that  $V'_l(\xi_p) = q^+$ and  $V'_r(\xi_p) = q^-$ . If  $q^+ = \beta$ , then we have  $V'(0) = q^-$ . Remark 4.11. If  $q^- = q^+ = p$  in (2), then V is differentiable at  $\xi_p$  but not twice differentiable at  $\xi_p$  since a(p) = 0. See Proposition 4.3 (5).

*Proof.* The uniqueness assertions in (1) and (2) follow from the monotonicities of  $V'_r$  and  $V'_l$ , which are ensured by Remark 4.5 (b). If a > 0 on  $[0, \beta]$ , the assertion in (1) is obvious since V' is bijection from  $[0, \infty)$  to  $(0, \beta]$ ; recall Remark 4.5 (b), (c) and Proposition 4.6 (1). Also, when  $q^+ = \beta$  in (2), we have already proved  $V'(0) = q^-$  in Proposition 4.6 (1).

(1) 1. Set  $a_{\delta}(q) = \max\{a(q), \delta\}$  for  $\delta \in (0, a(0)]$ . Owing to the positivity of  $a_{\delta}$  the unique solution  $V_{\delta}$  of (ODE;  $a_{\delta}, \beta$ ) is smooth. Since  $a_{\delta}$  converges to auniformly, we see that  $V_{\delta}$  converges to V as  $\delta \to 0$  locally uniformly on  $[0, \infty)$ by stability (Proposition 2.9 (2)).

2. Take  $\varepsilon > 0$  small so that  $[p - \varepsilon, p + \varepsilon] \subset (0, \beta)$  and a > 0 on  $[p - \varepsilon, p + \varepsilon]$ . Since  $V_{\delta}$  is a classical solution of (ODE;  $a_{\delta}, \beta$ ) with a positive  $a_{\delta}$ , there exist  $\xi_{\delta}^-, \eta_{\delta}, \xi_{\delta}^+ \in (0, \infty)$  such that  $\xi_{\delta}^- < \eta_{\delta} < \xi_{\delta}^+$  and  $(V_{\delta}'(\xi_{\delta}^-), V_{\delta}'(\eta_{\delta}), V_{\delta}'(\xi_{\delta}^+)) = (p + \varepsilon, p, p - \varepsilon)$  for each  $\delta > 0$ . Then we observe

$$(p-\varepsilon)\xi_{\delta}^{+} \leq \int_{0}^{\xi_{\delta}^{+}} V_{\delta}'(\xi)d\xi = V_{\delta}(\xi_{\delta}^{+}) - V_{\delta}(0) \leq -V_{\delta}(0).$$

Since  $V_{a(0)}(0) \leq V_{\delta}(0)$  by the comparison principle, we obtain  $\xi_{\delta}^+ \leq -V_{a(0)}(0)/(p-\varepsilon)$ . Therefore we may assume that  $(\xi_{\delta}^-, \eta_{\delta}, \xi_{\delta}^+) \to (\bar{\xi}^-, \bar{\eta}, \bar{\xi}^+)$  as  $\delta \to 0$  by taking a subsequence if necessary.

3. We show that  $-M \leq V_{\delta}'' \leq 0$  on  $[\xi_{\delta}^-, \xi_{\delta}^+]$  for some M > 0 independent of  $\delta$ . Take c > 0 such that  $c \leq a$  on  $[p - \varepsilon, p + \varepsilon]$ . Then, for  $\xi \in [\xi_{\delta}^-, \xi_{\delta}^+]$  we have

$$V_{\delta}''(\xi) = \frac{V_{\delta}(\xi) - \xi V_{\delta}'(\xi)}{a(V_{\delta}'(\xi))} \ge \frac{V_{a(0)}(0) - \xi_{\delta}^+(p+\varepsilon)}{c}.$$

Since  $\{\xi_{\delta}^{+}\}_{\delta}$  is bounded by Step 2, we conclude that  $V_{\delta}'' \geq -M$  for some M > 0.

4. We next claim that  $\bar{\xi}^- < \bar{\eta} < \bar{\xi}^+$ . In fact, we compute

$$-\varepsilon = V_{\delta}'(\eta_{\delta}) - V_{\delta}'(\xi_{\delta}^{-}) = \int_{\xi_{\delta}^{-}}^{\eta_{\delta}} V_{\delta}''(\xi) d\xi \ge -M(\eta_{\delta}^{-} - \xi_{\delta}^{-}),$$

which implies that  $\bar{\xi}^- < \bar{\eta}$ . The same argument yields that  $\bar{\eta} < \bar{\xi}^+$ .

5. Choose  $\theta > 0$  small so that  $J := [\bar{\eta} - \theta, \bar{\eta} + \theta] \subset (\bar{\xi}^-, \bar{\xi}^+)$ . We then have  $-M \leq V_{\delta}'' \leq 0$  on J for sufficiently small  $\delta$ . Thus the Ascoli-Arzelà theorem ensures that  $V_{\delta}'$  converges to some  $U \in C(J)$  as  $\delta \to 0$  uniformly on J by taking a subsequence. In particular, we have  $U(\bar{\eta}) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} V_{\delta}'(\eta_{\delta}) = p$ . Since  $V^{\delta}$  converges to V pointwise, we learn that  $V \in C^1(\bar{\eta} - \theta, \bar{\eta} + \theta)$  and V' = U. Consequently  $V'(\bar{\eta}) = p$ .

6. We are able to show the  $C^2$ -regularity of V in the same way as in the proof of Proposition 4.9. Let  $I = (a, b) := (\bar{\eta} - \theta/2, \bar{\eta} + \theta/2)$ . Since  $V \in C^1(\bar{\eta} - \theta, \bar{\eta} + \theta)$ , for every  $\xi \in I$  and  $(p, X) \in J^{2,+}V(\xi) \cup J^{2,-}V(\xi)$  we have  $V'(a) \ge p \ge V'(b)$ and  $a(p) \ge m$  for some m > 0. Thus V solves

$$\psi(W(\xi)) - \xi \psi(W'(\xi)) = b(W'(\xi))W''(\xi) \quad \text{in } I$$
(4.13)

in the viscosity sense. Here  $\psi(r)$  and b(p) are suitable modification of functions r and a(p) respectively; see the proof of Proposition 4.9. Then V must agree with a classical solution of (4.13) with the boundary condition W(a) = V(a) and W(b) = V(b). Hence  $V \in C^2(I)$ .

(2) 1. Let  $q^+ < \beta$ . By the definitions of  $q^-$  and  $q^+$  there exist sequences  $\{q_n^-\}_n$  and  $\{q_n^+\}_n$  such that  $0 < q_n^- < q^- \leq q^+ < q_n^+ < \beta$ ,  $a(q_n^-) > 0$ ,  $a(q_n^+) > 0$ ,  $q_n^- \uparrow q^-$  as  $n \to \infty$  and  $q_n^+ \downarrow q^+$  as  $n \to \infty$ . Then we see by (1) that  $(V'(\xi_n^-), V'(\xi_n^+)) = (q_n^-, q_n^+)$  for some  $\xi_n^-, \xi_n^+ \in (0, \infty)$  such that  $0 < \xi_n^+ \leq \xi_{n+1}^+ \leq \xi_{n+1}^- \leq \xi_n^-$ . By this monotonicity we let  $\lim_{n\to\infty} (\xi_n^-, \xi_n^+) = (\bar{\xi}^-, \bar{\xi}^+)$ , and then we have

$$V_{l}'(\bar{\xi}^{+}) = \lim_{\xi \uparrow \bar{\xi}^{+}} V_{l}'(\xi) = \lim_{n \to \infty} V_{l}'(\xi_{n}^{+}) = q^{+},$$
  
$$V_{r}'(\bar{\xi}^{-}) = \lim_{\xi \downarrow \bar{\xi}^{-}} V_{r}'(\xi) = \lim_{n \to \infty} V_{r}'(\xi_{n}^{-}) = q^{-}.$$

2. It remains to prove that  $\bar{\xi}^+ = \bar{\xi}^-$ . Suppose that  $\bar{\xi}^+ < \bar{\xi}^-$ . We take  $(p_0, X) \in J^{2,-}V(\eta_0)$  with  $\eta_0 \in (\bar{\xi}^+, \bar{\xi}^-)$ ; recall Remark 4.4. We then have

$$p_0 \le V'_r(\eta_0) \le V'_r(\xi_n^+) = q_n^+$$
 and  $p_0 \ge V'_l(\eta_0) \ge V'_l(\xi_n^-) = q_n^-$ .

Sending  $n \to \infty$  yields that  $q^- \leq p_0 \leq q^+$ , and hence  $a(p_0) = 0$ . This is contrary to Proposition 4.3 (5).

We are now in a position to determine the range of  $V'_r$  and  $V'_l$ . Define  $R(V'_r) := \{V'_r(\xi) \mid \xi \ge 0\}, R(V'_l) := \{V'_l(\xi) \mid \xi > 0\}$  and

$$\overline{\{a>0\}}^r := \left\{ p \in (0,\beta] \middle| \begin{array}{c} \text{there exists } \{q_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subset (0,p] \text{ such that} \\ a(q_n) > 0 \text{ and } q_n \to p \text{ as } n \to \infty \end{array} \right\},\\ \overline{\{a>0\}}^l := \left\{ p \in (0,\beta) \middle| \begin{array}{c} \text{there exists } \{q_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subset [p,\beta) \text{ such that} \\ a(q_n) > 0 \text{ and } q_n \to p \text{ as } n \to \infty \end{array} \right\}.$$

**Corollary 4.12** (Range of derivatives). Assume (A1). Let V be the unique viscosity solution of (ODE). Then we have  $R(V'_r) = \overline{\{a > 0\}}^r$  and  $R(V'_l) = \overline{\{a > 0\}}^l$ .

Proof. The inclusion  $R(V'_r) \supset \overline{\{a > 0\}}^r$  follows immediately from Theorem 4.10 (1) and (2). Let  $p \in R(V'_r)$ , that is  $p = V'_r(\xi)$  for some  $\xi \ge 0$ . Evidently, we have  $p \in \overline{\{a > 0\}}^r$  if a(p) > 0. We let a(p) = 0. When  $\beta = q^+ := \sup\{q \in [p, \beta] \mid a = 0 \text{ on } [p, q]\}$ , Proposition 4.6 implies  $V'(0) = q^- := \inf\{q \in (0, p] \mid a = 0 \text{ on } [p, q]\}$ . By definition  $q^- \le p$ . Since we also have  $q^- \ge V'_r$  on  $[0, \infty)$  by monotonicity, it follows that  $p = q^- \in \overline{\{a > 0\}}^r$ . In the case where  $\beta > q^+$ , by Theorem 4.10 (2) we have  $V'_l(\xi_p) = q^+$  and  $V'_r(\xi_p) = q^-$  for some  $\xi_p > 0$ . Since  $V'_r(\xi_p) = q^- \le p = V'_r(\xi)$ , we see  $\xi_p \ge \xi$ . If  $\xi_p > \xi$ , we would reach a contradiction that  $V'_r(\xi) > V'_l(\xi_p) = q^+ \ge p = V'_r(\xi)$ . Thus  $\xi = \xi_p$  and then  $p = q^-$ . This means  $p \in \overline{\{a > 0\}}^r$ . We have thus proved  $R(V'_r) = \overline{\{a > 0\}}^r$ . A similar argument yields  $R(V'_l) = \overline{\{a > 0\}}^l$ . □

#### 5 Depth of the thermal groove

We investigate the depth of the thermal groove. For a viscosity solution V of (ODE) we define

$$d(\beta) := -V(0).$$
(5.1)

This is the depth of the corresponding self-similar solution v in (4.2) at the origin when t = 1. Similarly, for the classical solution W of the linearized equation (LODE) with B = a(0) > 0 we define

$$L(\beta) := -W(0) = \beta \sqrt{\frac{2a(0)}{\pi}},$$
(5.2)

where the second equality is due to (4.7) since  $W = H_{\beta,a(0)}$ .

**Theorem 5.1** (Depth of the groove). Assume (A1). Assume furthermore that  $a(p) \leq a(0)$  for all p > 0. Let V and W be, respectively, the unique viscosity solution of (ODE) and that of (LODE) with B = a(0). Define d and L as in (5.1) and (5.2). Then

- (1)  $0 < d \leq L$  in  $(0, \infty)$ .
- (2) d is nondecreasing in  $(0, \infty)$ .

(3) 
$$e_1(\beta) := \beta \sqrt{(2\min_{[0,\beta]} a)/\pi} \le d(\beta) \text{ for all } \beta > 0.$$

$$0 \leq \frac{L(\beta) - d(\beta)}{\beta} \leq C\left(a(0) - \min_{[0,\beta]} a\right)$$

with  $C = \sqrt{2/(\pi a(0))}$  for all  $\beta > 0$ . In particular,  $\lim_{\beta \downarrow 0} (L(\beta) - d(\beta))/\beta = 0$ .

(5) If a is nonincreasing on  $[0, \infty)$ , then  $\lambda d(\beta) \leq d(\lambda\beta)$  for all  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$  and  $\beta > 0$ .

(6) 
$$e_2(\beta) := \sqrt{\int_0^\beta a(p)pdp} \le d(\beta) \text{ for all } \beta > 0.$$

(7) If  $a(p) \ge c/(1+p^2)$  on  $[M, \infty)$  for some c, M > 0, then  $\lim_{\beta \to \infty} d(\beta) = \infty$ .

The estimate in (4) yields (1.14), which asserts that the depth of the linearized problem is the third order approximation in Mullins' case, i.e,  $a(p) = 2/(1 + p^2)$ . The main tool for the proof of (1)–(5) is the comparison principle while we calculate integrals to show (6) and (7).

*Proof.* (1) Fix  $\beta > 0$ . By Proposition 4.3 (1) the depth  $d(\beta)$  is positive. We next observe that  $W - \xi W' = a(0)W'' \leq a(W')W''$  on  $(0,\infty)$  since  $W' \geq 0$  and  $W'' \leq 0$ . This inequality means that W is a subsolution of (ODE). We thus find by the comparison principle that  $W \leq V$  on  $[0,\infty)$ , and hence  $d(\beta) \leq L(\beta)$ .



Figure 3: The assertions in Theorem 5.1 on the depth  $d(\beta)$ .

(2) Take  $\beta_1, \beta_2 > 0$  with  $\beta_1 < \beta_2$ . Let  $V_1$  and  $V_2$  be, respectively, the unique viscosity solution of (ODE;  $a, \beta_1$ ) and that of (ODE;  $a, \beta_2$ ). It is then easily seen that  $V_1$  is a supersolution of (ODE;  $a, \beta_2$ ), and so  $V_2 \leq V_1$  on  $[0, \infty)$  by the comparison principle. As a result we see that  $d(\beta_1) \leq d(\beta_2)$ .

(3) Fix  $\beta > 0$  and take  $\beta_0 > 0$  such that  $\min_{[0,\beta]} a = a(\beta_0)$ . Clearly the claim holds if  $a(\beta_0) = 0$ . In the case where  $a(\beta_0) > 0$  we consider the linearized equation (LODE) with  $B = a(\beta_0)$ . Then the unique classical solution is

$$U(\xi) := H_{\beta, a(\beta_0)}(\xi) = -\beta \sqrt{2a(\beta_0)} \cdot \operatorname{ierfc}\left(\frac{\xi}{\sqrt{2a(\beta_0)}}\right)$$

Since  $0 \leq U' \leq \beta$  and  $U'' \leq 0$ , we observe that  $U - \xi U' = a(\beta_0)U'' \geq a(U')U''$  on  $(0,\infty)$ . Thus U is a supersolution of (ODE;  $a, \beta$ ). We now apply the comparison principle to obtain  $V \leq U$  on  $[0,\infty)$ . In particular, we have

$$d(\beta) \ge -U(0) = \beta \sqrt{\frac{2a(\beta_0)}{\pi}} = e_1(\beta).$$

(4) It follows from (3) that

$$0 \leq L(\beta) - d(\beta) \leq \beta \sqrt{\frac{2a(0)}{\pi}} - \beta \sqrt{\frac{2\min_{[0,\beta]} a}{\pi}} \leq C\beta \left(a(0) - \min_{[0,\beta]} a\right).$$

The second assertion in (4) is now obvious.

(5) Fix  $\beta > 0$  and  $\lambda \in (0,1)$ . Let  $V_{\lambda}$  be the unique viscosity solution of (ODE;  $a, \lambda\beta$ ). Set  $\tilde{V} = \lambda V$ . We now claim that  $\tilde{V}$  is a supersolution of (ODE;  $a, \lambda\beta$ ). Let  $(p, X) \in J^{2,-}\tilde{V}(\xi)$ , i.e.,  $(p/\lambda, X/\lambda) \in J^{2,-}V(\xi)$ . If  $\xi = 0$ , we derive  $\beta - (p/\lambda) \geq 0$  from Remark 4.7. This means  $\lambda\beta - p \geq 0$ . If  $\xi > 0$ , noting that  $p \geq 0$ ,  $X \leq 0$  and  $V(\xi) - \xi \cdot (p/\lambda) \geq a(p/\lambda)X/\lambda$ , we have  $\tilde{V}(\xi) - \xi p \geq a(p/\lambda)X \geq a(p)X$  since a is monotone. We thus conclude that  $\tilde{V}$  is a supersolution of (ODE;  $a, \lambda\beta$ ). Hence  $V_{\lambda} \leq \tilde{V}$  on  $[0, \infty)$ , and so  $d(\lambda\beta) \geq \lambda d(\beta)$ .

(6) 1. We first let a > 0 on  $[0, \infty)$ . Then V is a classical solution of (ODE) by Proposition 4.9. We multiply the both sides of (4.9) by  $V'(\xi)$  and integrate
over  $[0, \eta]$ . We then have

$$I_{1} := \int_{0}^{\eta} \{V(\xi) - \xi V'(\xi)\} V'(\xi) d\xi = \left[\{V(\xi) - \xi V'(\xi)\} V(\xi)\right]_{0}^{\eta} + \int_{0}^{\eta} \xi V''(\xi) V(\xi) d\xi$$
$$= \{V(\eta)\}^{2} - \eta V'(\eta) V(\eta) - \{V(0)\}^{2} + \int_{0}^{\eta} \xi V''(\xi) V(\xi) d\xi$$

from the left hand side while the right hand side becomes

$$I_2 := \int_0^{\eta} a(V'(\xi))V''(\xi)V'(\xi)d\xi = \int_{\beta}^{V'(\eta)} a(p)pdp = -\int_{V'(\eta)}^{\beta} a(p)pdp,$$

where we have used the change of variables that  $p = V'(\xi)$ . Since  $V \leq 0$ ,  $V' \geq 0$ and  $V'' \leq 0$ , we see that  $I_1 \geq -\{V(0)\}^2 = -\{d(\beta)\}^2$ . Thus

$$\{d(\beta)\}^2 \ge -I_1 = -I_2 = \int_{V'(\eta)}^{\beta} a(p)pdp.$$

Letting  $\eta \to \infty$  and recalling Remark 4.5 (c), we obtain the estimate in (6).

2. If a is not necessarily positive, we set  $a_{\delta}(p) := \max\{a(p), \delta\}$  for  $\delta > 0$ . Then Step 1 yields  $\int_0^{\beta} a_{\delta}(p)pdp \leq \{V_{\delta}(0)\}^2$ , where  $V_{\delta}$  is the unique classical solution of (ODE;  $a_{\delta}, \beta$ ). Letting  $\delta \to 0$  gives the desired conclusion since  $V_{\delta}(0) \to V(0)$  by the stability; recall the argument in Step1 in the proof of Theorem 4.10 (1).

(7) For  $\beta \geq M$  we observe that

$$\{e_2(\beta)\}^2 = \int_0^\beta a(p)pdp \ge \int_M^\beta \frac{cp}{1+p^2}dp = \frac{c}{2}\log\frac{1+\beta^2}{1+M^2}.$$

Thus (6) yields the claim.

Remark 5.2. (1) We have actually derived several estimates not only at the origin but also on the whole  $[0, \infty)$ . In particular, by the proof of (1) and (3) we notice

$$0 \leq V(\xi) - W(\xi)$$
$$\leq \beta \left\{ \sqrt{2a(0)} \cdot \operatorname{ierfc}\left(\frac{\xi}{\sqrt{2a(0)}}\right) - \sqrt{2a(\beta_0)} \cdot \operatorname{ierfc}\left(\frac{\xi}{\sqrt{2a(\beta_0)}}\right) \right\}$$

for all  $\xi \in [0, \infty)$ , where  $\beta_0 > 0$  is chosen so that  $a(\beta_0) = \min_{[0,\beta]} a$ .

(2) By virtue of Proposition 4.6 (2) we see that  $\lim_{\beta\to\infty} d(\beta) \neq \infty$  if a = 0 on  $[M, \infty)$  for some M > 0. Namely, the depth does not necessarily go to infinity.

Remark 5.3. In [5] the authors gives upper and lower bounds on the solution V of (ODE) with  $a(p) = 1/2(1+p^2)$ . There two auxiliary (ODE) with  $a_1(p) = 1/(1+p)^2$  and  $a_2(p) = 1/2(1+p)^2$  are considered, and the exact solution  $V_1$  of (ODE;  $a_1, \beta$ ) and  $V_2$  of (ODE;  $a_2, \beta$ ) are given in the implicit forms. Since  $a_1 \ge a \ge a_2$ ,

employing the comparison theorem, the authors conclude  $V_1 \leq V \leq V_2$ , and in particular they derive the estimate at the origin of the form

$$\sqrt{2\log\left(\frac{\beta}{\sqrt{\pi}}\right)} \ge d(\beta) \ge \sqrt{\log\left(\frac{\beta}{2\sqrt{\pi}}\right) + \frac{1}{4}} - \frac{1}{2} =: l_1(\beta).$$

The both sides of the above inequality are of order  $O(\sqrt{\log \beta})$  as  $\beta \to \infty$ . Our result (6) also gives a lower bound on  $d(\beta)$ , which is

$$d(\beta) \ge \sqrt{\int_0^\beta \frac{p}{2(1+p^2)} dp} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{4} \log(1+\beta^2)} =: l_2(\beta).$$

The right hand side  $l_2(\beta)$  is of order  $O(\sqrt{\log \beta})$ , the same order as in [5]; however, by a direct calculation we see  $\lim_{\beta \to \infty} (l_1(\beta) - l_2(\beta)) = \infty$ . Thus our estimate (6) in Theorem 5.1 is rough in this sense, but it is shown more simply and directly by integration and is enough to prove  $d(\beta) \to \infty$  as  $\beta \to \infty$  in the Mullins' example.

# References

- H. -D. Alber, P. Zhu, Global solutions to an initial boundary value problem for the Mullins equation, J. Partial Differential Equations 20 (2007), no. 1, 30–44.
- [2] S. J. Altschuler, L. F. Wu, Convergence to translating solutions for a class of quasilinear parabolic boundary problems, Math. Ann. 295 (1993), no. 4, 761–765.
- [3] S. J. Altschuler, L. F. Wu, Translating surfaces of the non-parametric mean curvature flow with prescribed contact angle, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 2 (1994), no. 1, 101–111.
- [4] M. Arisawa, Long time averaged reflection force and homogenization of oscillating Neumann boundary conditions, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 20 (2003), no. 2, 293–332.
- [5] D. J. Arrigo, P. Broadbridge, P. Tritscher, Y. Karciga, The depth of a steep evaporating grain boundary groove: application of comparison theorems, Math. Comput. Modelling 25 (1997), no. 10, 1–8.
- [6] G. Barles, Fully nonlinear Neumann type boundary conditions for secondorder elliptic and parabolic equations, J. Differential Equations 106 (1993), no. 1, 90–106.
- [7] G. Barles, Nonlinear Neumann boundary conditions for quasilinear degenerate elliptic equations and applications, J. Differential Equations 154 (1999), no. 1, 191–224.

- [8] G. Barles, F. Da Lio, P. -L. Lions, P. E. Souganidis, Ergodic problems and periodic homogenization for fully nonlinear equations in half-space type domains with Neumann boundary conditions, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 57 (2008), no. 5, 2355–2375.
- [9] G. Barles, P. -L. Lions, Fully nonlinear Neumann type boundary conditions for first-order Hamilton-Jacobi equations, Nonlinear Anal. 16 (1991), no. 2, 143–153.
- [10] P. Broadbridge, Exact solvability of the Mullins nonlinear diffusion model of groove development, J. Math. Phys. 30 (1989), no. 7, 1648–1651.
- [11] P. Broadbridge, P. Tritscher, An integrable fourth-order nonlinear evolution equation applied to thermal grooving of metal surfaces, IMA J. Appl. Math. 53 (1994), no. 3, 249–265.
- [12] P. Broadbridge, P. Vassiliou, The role of symmetry and separation in surface evolution and curve shortening, SIGMA Symmetry Integrability Geom. Methods Appl. 7 (2011), Paper 052, 19 pp.
- [13] Y.-L. Chang, J.-S. Guo, Y. Kohsaka, On a two-point free boundary problem for a quasilinear parabolic equation, Asymptot. Anal. 34 (2003), no. 3–4, 333–358.
- [14] X. Chen, J. -S. Guo, Self-similar solutions of a 2-D multiple-phase curvature flow, Phys. D 229 (2007), no. 1, 22–34.
- [15] H. -H. Chern, J. -S. Guo, C. -P. Lo, The self-similar expanding curve for the curvature flow equation, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 131 (2003), no. 10, 3191–3201.
- [16] M. G. Crandall, H. Ishii, P. L. Lions, User's guide to viscosity solutions of second order partial differential equations, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 27 (1992), no. 1, 1–67.
- [17] K. Deckelnick, C. M. Elliott, G. Richardson, Long time asymptotics for forced curvature flow with applications to the motion of a superconducting vortex, Nonlinearity 10 (1997), no. 3, 655–678.
- [18] P. Dupuis, H. Ishii, On oblique derivative problems for fully nonlinear second-order elliptic partial differential equations on nonsmooth domains, Nonlinear Anal. 15 (1990), no. 12, 1123–1138.
- [19] P. Dupuis, H. Ishii, On oblique derivative problems for fully nonlinear second-order elliptic PDEs on domains with corners, Hokkaido Math. J. 20 (1991), no. 1, 135–164.
- [20] K. Ecker, G. Huisken, Mean curvature evolution of entire graphs, Ann. of Math. (2) 130 (1989), no. 3, 453–471.

- [21] M. -H. Giga, Y. Giga, H. Hontani, Self-similar expanding solutions in a sector for a crystalline flow, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 37 (2005), no. 4, 1207– 1226.
- [22] Y. Giga, Surface evolution equations: A level set approach, Monographs in Mathematics, 99, Birkhauser Verlag, Basel, 2006, xii+264 pp.
- [23] Y. Giga, M. -H. Sato, Neumann problem for singular degenerate parabolic equations, Differential Integral Equations 6 (1993), no. 6, 1217–1230.
- [24] J. -S. Guo, B. Hu, On a two-point free boundary problem, Quart. Appl. Math. 64 (2006), no. 3, 413–431.
- [25] P. Hartman, Ordinary Differential Equations (the second edition), Classics in Applied Mathematics 38, Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, Philadelphia, 1982.
- [26] G. Huisken, Nonparametric mean curvature evolution with boundary conditions, J. Differential Equations 77 (1989), no. 2, 369–378.
- [27] H. Ishii, Fully nonlinear oblique derivative problems for nonlinear secondorder elliptic PDEs, Duke Math. J. 62 (1991), no. 3, 633–661.
- [28] H. Ishii, P. -L. Lions, Viscosity solutions of fully nonlinear second-order elliptic partial differential equations, J. Differential Equations 83 (1990), no. 1, 26–78.
- [29] H. Ishii, G. E. Pires, P. E. Souganidis, Threshold dynamics type approximation schemes for propagating fronts, J. Math. Soc. Japan 51 (1999), no. 2, 267–308.
- [30] H. Ishii, M. -H. Sato, Nonlinear oblique derivative problems for singular degenerate parabolic equations on a general domain, Nonlinear Anal. 57 (2004), no. 7–8, 1077–1098.
- [31] N. Ishimura, Curvature evolution of plane curves with prescribed opening angle, Bull. Austral. Math. Soc. 52 (1995), no. 2, 287–296.
- [32] J. Kanel, A. Novick-Cohen, A. Vilenkin, Coupled surface and grain boundary motion: a travelling wave solution, Nonlinear Anal. 59 (2004), no. 8, 1267–1292.
- [33] A. Kitada, On a property of a classical solution of the nonlinear mass transport equation  $u_t = u_{xx}/(1+u_x^2)$ , J. Math. Phys. 27 (1986), no. 5, 1391–1392.
- [34] A. Kitada, Comment on: "On a property of a classical solution of the nonlinear mass transport equation  $u_t = u_{xx}/(1+u_x^2)$ . II", J. Math. Phys. 28 (1987), no. 3, 536–537.
- [35] A. Kitada, S. Nakamura, An exact form of the Mullins model and a property of its classical solution, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 67 (1998), 693–694.

- [36] A. Kitada, S. Nakamura, K. Ito, Addendum to "An exact form of the Mullins model and a property of its classical solution", J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 67 (1998), 2149–2149.
- [37] A. Kitada, H. Umehara, On a property of a classical solution of the nonlinear mass transport equation  $u_t = u_{xx}/(1 + u_x^2)$ . II, J. Math. Phys. 28 (1987), no. 3, 536–537.
- [38] A. Kitada, H. Umehara, A rapid proof for a flattening property of a classical solution of the Mullins equation, J. Math. Phys. 32 (1991), no. 6, 1478–1479.
- [39] Y. Kohsaka, Free boundary problem for quasilinear parabolic equation with fixed angle of contact to a boundary, Nonlinear Anal. 45 (2001), no. 7, Ser. A: Theory Methods, 865–894.
- [40] M. Lavrentiev Jr., P. Broadbridge, V. Belov, Boundary value problems for strongly degenerate parabolic equations, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 22 (1997), no. 1–2, 17–38.
- [41] P. -L. Lions, Neumann type boundary conditions for Hamilton-Jacobi equations, Duke Math. J. 52 (1985), no. 4, 793–820.
- [42] P. A. Martin, Thermal grooving by surface diffusion: Mullins revisited and extended to multiple grooves, Quart. Appl. Math. 67 (2009), no. 1, 125–136.
- [43] W. W. Mullins, Theory of thermal grooving, J. Appl. Phys. 28 (1957), no. 3, 333–339.
- [44] M. Nara, M. Taniguchi, Stability of a traveling wave in curvature flows for spatially non-decaying initial perturbations, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 14 (2006), no. 1, 203–220.
- [45] M. Nara, M. Taniguchi, Convergence to V-shaped fronts in curvature flows for spatially non-decaying initial perturbations, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 16 (2006), no. 1, 137–156.
- [46] M. Nara, M. Taniguchi, The condition on the stability of stationary lines in a curvature flow in the whole plane, J. Differential Equations 237 (2007), no. 1, 61–76.
- [47] H. Ninomiya, M. Taniguchi, Traveling curved fronts of a mean curvature flow with constant driving force, Free boundary problems: theory and applications, I (Chiba, 1999), 206–221, GAKUTO Internat. Ser. Math. Sci. Appl., 13, Gakkōtosho, Tokyo, 2000.
- [48] H. Ninomiya, M. Taniguchi, Stability of traveling curved fronts in a curvature flow with driving force, Methods Appl. Anal. 8 (2001), no. 3, 429–449.
- [49] Y. Ogasawara, On the existence of stationary solutions of a generalized Mullins equation, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 72 (2003), 1871–1873.

- [50] Y. Ogasawara, Flattening properties of the mechanism of evaporationcondensation under a temperature gradient, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 72 (2004), 1703–1705.
- [51] B. Perthame, R. Sanders, The Neumann problem for nonlinear second order singular perturbation problems, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 19 (1988), no. 2, 295– 311.
- [52] C. Qu, Exact solutions to nonlinear diffusion equations obtained by a generalized conditional symmetry method, IMA J. Appl. Math. 62 (1999), no. 3, 283–302.
- [53] C. Qu, S. Zhang, R. Liu, Separation of variables and exact solutions to quasilinear diffusion equations with nonlinear source, Phys. D 144 (2000), no. 1–2, 97–123.
- [54] M. -H. Sato, Interface evolution with Neumann boundary condition, Adv. Math. Sci. Appl. 4 (1994), no. 1, 249–264.
- [55] M. -H. Sato, Capillary problem for singular degenerate parabolic equations on a half space, Differential Integral Equations 9 (1996), no. 6, 1213–1224.
- [56] D. J. Srolovitz, On the stability of surfaces of stressed solids, Acta metall. 37 (1989), no. 2, 621–625.
- [57] O. C. Schnürer, F. Schulze, Self-similarly expanding networks to curve shortening flow, Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5) 6 (2007), no. 4, 511–528.
- [58] P. Zhu, Asymptotic stability of the stationary solution to an initial boundary value problem for the Mullins equation of fourth order, J. Math. Phys. 50 (2009), no. 10, 102707, 12 pp.

# Chapter 3

# A discrete isoperimetric inequality on lattices

# 1 Introduction

The classical isoperimetric inequality asserts that for any bounded  $E \subset \mathbf{R}^n$  we have

$$\frac{|\partial E|^n}{|E|^{n-1}} \ge \frac{|\partial \mathbf{B}_1|^n}{|\mathbf{B}_1|^{n-1}},\tag{1.1}$$

where |E| and  $|\partial E|$  denote, respectively, the volume of E and the perimeter of E, and  $\mathbf{B}_r := \{x \in \mathbf{R}^n \mid |x| < r\}$  is a ball. This inequality says that among all sets a ball is the best shape to minimize the ratio given as the left-hand side of (1.1). Topics related to the classical isoperimetric problem or arguments on its generalization can be found in the book [5] and the survey paper [22]. See also the recent book [27] for connections with Sobolev inequalities and optimal transport.

In this paper we are concerned with the case where E is a collection of rectangular parallelepipeds with a common shape. To describe the situation more precisely we first define a weighted lattice. For each  $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$  we fix a positive constant  $h_i > 0$  as a step size in the direction of  $x_i$ . Then the resulting lattice is

$$h\mathbf{Z}^n := (h_1\mathbf{Z}) \times \cdots \times (h_n\mathbf{Z}) = \{(h_1x_1, \dots, h_nx_n) \in \mathbf{R}^n \mid (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in \mathbf{Z}^n\}.$$

Consider a subset  $\Omega \subset h\mathbf{Z}^n$ . We define  $\overline{\Omega}$ , the closure of  $\Omega$ , as

$$\overline{\Omega} := \{ x + \sigma h_i e_i \mid x \in \Omega, \ i \in \{1, \dots, n\}, \ \sigma \in \{-1, 0, 1\} \}$$

where  $\{e_i\}_{i=1}^n \subset \mathbf{R}^n$  is the standard orthogonal basis of  $\mathbf{R}^n$ , e.g.,  $e_1 = (1, 0, \dots, 0)$ . Note that  $\overline{\Omega}$  is not a closure in  $\mathbf{R}^n$ . We also set  $\partial\Omega := \overline{\Omega} \setminus \Omega$ , the boundary of  $\Omega$ . Given a bounded  $\Omega \subset h\mathbf{Z}^n$ , we define the volume of  $\Omega$  and the perimeter of  $\Omega$  as, respectively,

$$\operatorname{Vol}(\Omega) := h^n \times (\#\Omega), \quad \operatorname{Per}(\Omega) := h^n \times \left(\sum_{i=1}^n \frac{\omega_i}{h_i}\right)$$

$$\omega_i = \omega_i[\Omega] = \sum_{x \in \Omega} \#(\{x \pm h_i e_i\} \cap \partial \Omega),$$

where  $h^n := h_1 \times \cdots \times h_n$  and #A stands for the number of elements of a set A. The number  $\omega_i$  counts the edges that are parallel to the  $x_i$ -direction and are connecting points of  $\Omega$  with points of  $\partial\Omega$ . Our definitions of the volume and the perimeter are natural in that if we let

$$E = E[\Omega] := \bigcup_{(x_1, \dots, x_n) \in \Omega} \left[ x_1 - \frac{h_1}{2}, x_1 + \frac{h_1}{2} \right] \times \dots \times \left[ x_n - \frac{h_n}{2}, x_n + \frac{h_n}{2} \right]$$
(1.2)

for a given  $\Omega \subset h\mathbf{Z}^n$ , we then have  $\operatorname{Vol}(\Omega) = \mathcal{L}^n(E)$ , the *n*-dimensional Lebesgue measure of E, and  $\operatorname{Per}(\Omega) = \mathcal{H}^{n-1}(\partial E)$ , the (n-1)-dimensional Hausdorff measure of  $\partial E$  (the boundary of E in  $\mathbf{R}^n$ ). We say  $\Omega \subset h\mathbf{Z}^n$  is connected if for all  $x, y \in \Omega$  there exist  $m \in \{1, 2, \ldots\}$  and  $z_1, \ldots, z_m \in \Omega$  such that  $z_1 \in \overline{\{x\}}$ ,  $z_{k+1} \in \overline{\{z_k\}}$   $(k = 1, \ldots, m-1)$  and  $y \in \overline{\{z_m\}}$ .

We denote by  $\mathbf{Q}_r$  and  $\bar{\mathbf{Q}}_r$ , respectively, the open and closed cube in  $\mathbf{R}^n$ centered at 0 with side-length 2r > 0, i.e.,  $\mathbf{Q}_r := (-r, r)^n \subset \mathbf{R}^n$  and  $\bar{\mathbf{Q}}_r := [-r, r]^n \subset \mathbf{R}^n$ . Let  $\bar{\mathbf{Q}}_r(a) := a + \bar{\mathbf{Q}}_r$  for  $a \in \mathbf{R}^n$ . The volume and perimeter of  $\mathbf{Q}_r$  are, respectively,  $|\mathbf{Q}_r| = (2r)^n$  and  $|\partial \mathbf{Q}_r| = 2n(2r)^{n-1}$ . We are now in a position to state our main result.

**Theorem 1.1** (Discrete isoperimetric inequality). For any nonempty, bounded and connected  $\Omega \subset h\mathbb{Z}^n$  we have

$$\frac{\operatorname{Per}(\Omega)^n}{\operatorname{Vol}(\Omega)^{n-1}} \ge \frac{|\partial \mathbf{Q}_1|^n}{|\mathbf{Q}_1|^{n-1}}.$$
(1.3)

Moreover, the equality in (1.3) holds if and only if  $E[\Omega]$  is a cube, i.e.,  $E[\Omega] = \overline{\mathbf{Q}}_r(a)$  for some r > 0 and  $a \in \mathbf{R}^n$ .

The isoperimetric constant for the cube is  $|\partial \mathbf{Q}_1|^n/|\mathbf{Q}_1|^{n-1} = (2n)^n$ . Although (1.3) can be regarded as a "continuous" isoperimetric inequality if we identify  $\Omega$  with  $E[\Omega]$  in (1.2), we call (1.3) a "discrete" isoperimetric inequality since our approach to Theorem 1.1 uses numerical techniques which study functions defined on the lattice  $h\mathbf{Z}^n$ . Note that our result is different from the classical one in that the minimizer of the left-hand side of (1.3) is a cube. This is a consequence of the constraint by square lattices; see Example 2.4. We also remark that the equality in (1.3) does not necessarily hold; consider the two dimensional case where  $h_1 = 1$  and  $h_2 = \sqrt{2}$ .

Isoperimetric problems on discrete spaces are studied by many authors. The paper [1] gives a survey, and in the recent book [13, Chaper 8] isoperimetric problems are studied on graphs (networks). Various results including discrete Sobolev inequalities on finite graphs are also found in [9]. Isoperimetric problems concerning lattices are discussed in several previous works; however, their settings and problems are different from ours. The authors of [2, 15] study planar convex subsets and lattice points lying in them. In [4] isoperimetric inequalities for lattice-periodic sets are derived. The reader is also referred to its related

with

work [14, 3, 24]. Properties of planar subsets with constraint by a triangular lattice are discussed in [11].

For the proof of our discrete isoperimetric inequality we employ the idea by Cabré. As an application of the technique used in a proof of the Aleksandrov-Bakelman-Pucci (ABP for short) maximum principle, Cabré pointed out in [8] (and the original paper [7] in Catalan) that the ABP method gives a simple proof of the classical isoperimetric inequality (1.1). The ABP maximum principle ([12, Theorem 9.1], [6, Theorem 3.2]) is a pointwise estimate for solutions of elliptic partial differential equations. In a typical case the principle asserts that if u is a (sub)solution of the equation  $F(\nabla^2 u) = f(x)$  in  $E \subset \mathbf{R}^n$ , where F is a possibly nonlinear elliptic operator and  $\nabla^2 u$  denotes the Hessian of u, then we have

$$\max_{\overline{E}} u \leq \max_{\partial E} u + C \|f\|_{L^n(\Gamma)}.$$

Here C > 0,  $||f||_{L^n(\Gamma)} = (\int_{\Gamma} |f(x)|^n dx)^{1/n}$  and  $\Gamma$  is an upper contact set of u which is defined as the set of points in E where the graph of u has a tangent plane that lies above u in E. Discrete versions of the ABP estimate are also established in a series of studies by Kuo and Trudinger; see [16, 21] for linear equations, [17] for nonlinear operators, [18, 20] for parabolic cases and [19, 20] for general meshes.

Unfortunately, the result in [8] does not cover subsets having corners such as (1.2) since domains E in [8] is assumed to be smooth in order to solve Neumann problems on E. To be more precise, the author of [8] takes a function u which solves the Poisson-Neumann problem

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta u = \frac{|\partial E|}{|E|} & \text{in } E, \\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} = -1 & \text{on } \partial E, \end{cases}$$
(1.4)

and proves (1.1) by studying the *n*-dimensional Lebesgue measure of  $\nabla u(\Gamma)$ , the image of the upper contact set of *u* under the gradient of *u*. Here  $\nu$  is the outward unit normal vector to  $\partial E$ . In this paper we solve a finite difference version of (1.4) instead of the continuous equation. Considering such discrete equations and their discrete solutions enables us to deal with non-smooth domains.

Our proof is similar to that in [8] except that the minimizers are not balls but cubes and that a superdifferential of u, which is the set of all slopes of hyperplanes touching u from above, is used instead of the gradient of u ([16]). However, there are some extra difficulties in our case. One is a solvability of the discrete Poisson-Neumann problem. Such problems are discussed in the previous work [26, 23, 25, 28], but domains are restricted to rectangles [26, 23, 28] or their collections [25]. For the proof of our discrete isoperimetric inequality, fortunately, it is enough to require u to be a subsolution of the Poisson equation in (1.4) and to satisfy the Neumann condition in (1.4) with some direction  $\nu$ . For this reason we are able to construct such solutions on general subsets of  $h\mathbb{Z}^n$ . Solutions of (1.4) are not unique in our discrete case as well as the continuous case since adding a constant gives another solution. Accordingly, the resulting coefficient matrix of a linear system which corresponds to the discrete (1.4) is not invertible. Thus an existence of solutions to the problem will be established by determining the kernel of the matrix. We will give a proof of this existence result separately from that of the isoperimetric inequality to increase readability. Another difficulty is to study a necessary and sufficient condition which leads to the equality in (1.3). This is not discussed in [8].

This chapter is organized as follows. In Section 2 we give a proof of the discrete isoperimetric inequality. Since we use a discrete solution of the Poisson-Neumann problem in the proof, we show the existence of such solutions in Section 3. In Appendix we present two results on maximum principles; one is an ABP maximum principle shown by a similar method to the isoperimetric inequality, and the other is a strong maximum principle which is used in Section 3.

# 2 A proof of the discrete isoperimetric inequality

Throughout this chapter we always assume

 $\Omega \subset h\mathbf{Z}^n$  is nonempty, bounded and connected.

We first introduce a notion of superdifferentials and upper contact sets, and then study their properties. Let  $u: \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbf{R}$ . We denote by  $\partial^+ u(z)$  a superdifferential of u on  $\Omega$  at  $z \in \Omega$ , which is given as

$$\partial^+ u(z) := \{ p \in \mathbf{R}^n \mid u(x) \le \langle p, x - z \rangle + u(z), \ \forall x \in \overline{\Omega} \},\$$

where  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  stands for the Euclidean inner product in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . It is easy to see that  $\partial^+ u(z)$  is a closed set in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . We next define  $\Gamma[u]$ , an upper contact set of u on  $\Omega$ , as

$$\Gamma[u] := \{ z \in \Omega \mid \partial^+ u(z) \neq \emptyset \}$$
  
=  $\{ z \in \Omega \mid \exists p \in \mathbf{R}^n \text{ such that } u(x) \leq \langle p, x - z \rangle + u(z), \ \forall x \in \overline{\Omega} \}.$ 

For  $x \in \Omega$  and  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  we define discrete differential operators as follows:

$$\begin{split} \delta_i^+ u(x) &:= \frac{u(x+h_i e_i) - u(x)}{h_i}, \qquad \delta_i^- u(x) := -\frac{u(x-h_i e_i) - u(x)}{h_i}, \\ \delta_i^2 u(x) &:= \frac{\delta_i^+ u(x) - \delta_i^- u(x)}{h_i} = \frac{u(x+h_i e_i) + u(x-h_i e_i) - 2u(x)}{h_i^2}, \\ \Delta' u(x) &:= \sum_{j=1}^n \delta_j^2 u(x) = \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{u(x+h_j e_j) + u(x-h_j e_j)}{h_j^2} - \left(2\sum_{j=1}^n \frac{1}{h_j^2}\right) u(x). \end{split}$$

**Lemma 2.1.** Let  $u : \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbf{R}$ . For all  $z \in \Gamma[u]$  we have  $\delta_i^+ u(z) \leq \delta_i^- u(z)$  for every  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  and

$$\partial^+ u(z) \subset [\delta_1^+ u(z), \delta_1^- u(z)] \times \dots \times [\delta_n^+ u(z), \delta_n^- u(z)].$$
(2.1)

*Proof.* Let  $p = (p_1, \ldots, p_n) \in \partial^+ u(z)$ . From the definition of the superdifferential it follows that  $u(x) \leq \langle p, x - z \rangle + u(z)$  for all  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . In particular, taking  $x = z \pm h_i e_i \in \overline{\Omega}$ , we have

$$u(z \pm h_i e_i) \le \langle p, \pm h_i e_i \rangle + u(z);$$

that is,

$$\frac{u(z+h_ie_i)-u(z)}{h_i} \le p_i \le -\frac{u(z-h_ie_i)-u(z)}{h_i}.$$

This implies  $\delta_i^+ u(z) \leq \delta_i^- u(z)$  and (2.1).

Remark 2.2. Since  $\delta_i^+ u(z) \leq \delta_i^- u(z)$  at  $z \in \Gamma[u]$  by Lemma 2.1, we see that  $\delta_i^2 u(z) \leq 0$  for all  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ .

In the proof of the classical isoperimetric inequality proposed by Cabré [7, 8], solutions of the Poisson-Neumann problem (1.4) are studied, and actually the proof still works for a subsolution u of (1.4), i.e.,  $-\Delta u \leq |\partial E|/|E|$  in E and  $\partial u/\partial \nu = -1$  on  $\partial E$ . Similarly to this classical case, for the proof of Theorem 1.1 we consider the discrete version of (1.4) on  $\Omega$ , which is

$$(\text{NP}) \begin{cases} -\Delta u \leq \frac{\text{Per}(\Omega)}{\text{Vol}(\Omega)} & \text{in } \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.2)

$$\left\{ \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} = -1 \qquad \text{on } \partial\Omega.$$
 (2.3)

The meaning of solutions of (NP) is given as follows. We say  $u: \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbf{R}$  is a *discrete solution* of (NP) if

- (a)  $-\Delta' u(x) \leq \operatorname{Per}(\Omega)/\operatorname{Vol}(\Omega)$  for all  $x \in \Omega$ ;
- (b) For all  $x \in \partial \Omega$  there exist some  $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$  and  $\sigma \in \{-1, 1\}$  such that  $x + \sigma h_i e_i \in \Omega$  and

$$\frac{u(x) - u(x + \sigma h_i e_i)}{h_i} = -1.$$

The condition (b) requires that the outward normal derivative of u be -1 for some direction  $\nu = \pm e_i$ . This boundary condition is also explained by saying that  $\delta_i^+ u(x) = 1$  or  $\delta_i^- u(x) = -1$  for all  $x \in \partial \Omega$ . We will prove the existence of discrete solutions of (NP) in the next section (Proposition 3.2).

Proof of Theorem 1.1. 1. Let  $u: \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbf{R}$  be a discrete solution of (NP) and let  $\Gamma[u]$  be the upper contact set of u on  $\Omega$ . We claim

$$\mathbf{Q}_1 \subset \bigcup_{z \in \Gamma[u]} \partial^+ u(z). \tag{2.4}$$

Let  $p \in \mathbf{Q}_1$ . We take a maximum point  $\hat{x} \in \overline{\Omega}$  of  $u(x) - \langle p, x \rangle$  over  $\overline{\Omega}$ . To show (2.4) it is enough to prove that  $\hat{x} \in \Omega$  since we then have  $\hat{x} \in \Gamma[u]$  and  $p \in \partial^+ u(\hat{x})$ . Suppose by contradiction that  $\hat{x} \in \partial \Omega$ . Take any  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ 

and  $\sigma \in \{-1, 1\}$  such that  $y := \hat{x} + \sigma h_i e_i \in \Omega$ . Since  $u(x) - \langle p, x \rangle$  attains its maximum at  $\hat{x}$  and since p lies in the open cube  $Q_1$ , we compute

$$\frac{u(\hat{x}) - u(y)}{h_i} \ge \frac{\langle p, \hat{x} \rangle - \langle p, y \rangle}{h_i} = \frac{\langle p, -\sigma h_i e_i \rangle}{h_i} \ge -|p_i| > -1.$$

This implies that u does not satisfy the boundary condition (2.3) at  $\hat{x} \in \partial\Omega$ , a contradiction. Therefore (2.4) follows. We also remark that (2.4) guarantees  $\Gamma[u]$  is nonempty.

2. By (2.4) we see

$$|\mathbf{Q}_1| = \mathcal{L}^n(\mathbf{Q}_1) \le \mathcal{L}^n\left(\bigcup_{z \in \Gamma[u]} \partial^+ u(z)\right) \le \sum_{z \in \Gamma[u]} \mathcal{L}^n(\partial^+ u(z)).$$
(2.5)

Also, for each  $z \in \Gamma[u]$  Lemma 2.1 implies

$$\mathcal{L}^{n}(\partial^{+}u(z)) \leq \mathcal{L}^{n}([\delta_{1}^{+}u(z),\delta_{1}^{-}u(z)] \times \cdots \times [\delta_{n}^{+}u(z),\delta_{n}^{-}u(z)])$$
  
$$= (\delta_{1}^{-}u(z) - \delta_{1}^{+}u(z)) \times \cdots \times (\delta_{n}^{-}u(z) - \delta_{n}^{+}u(z))$$
  
$$= h^{n}(-\delta_{1}^{2}u(z)) \times \cdots \times (-\delta_{n}^{2}u(z)).$$
(2.6)

We next apply the arithmetic-geometric mean inequality to obtain

$$(-\delta_1^2 u(z)) \times \dots \times (-\delta_n^2 u(z)) \le \left(\frac{-\delta_1^2 u(z) - \dots - \delta_n^2 u(z)}{n}\right)^n = \left(\frac{-\Delta' u(z)}{n}\right)^n.$$
(2.7)

Consequently, combining (2.5)-(2.7) yields

$$|\mathbf{Q}_1| \le \sum_{z \in \Gamma[u]} h^n \left(\frac{-\Delta' u(z)}{n}\right)^n \le \sum_{z \in \Gamma[u]} h^n \frac{\operatorname{Per}(\Omega)^n}{n^n \operatorname{Vol}(\Omega)^n} \le \frac{\operatorname{Per}(\Omega)^n}{n^n \operatorname{Vol}(\Omega)^{n-1}}.$$
 (2.8)

Since  $n = |\partial \mathbf{Q}_1| / |\mathbf{Q}_1|$ , it follows that

$$\frac{\operatorname{Per}(\Omega)^n}{\operatorname{Vol}(\Omega)^{n-1}} \ge n^n |\mathbf{Q}_1| = \frac{|\partial \mathbf{Q}_1|^n}{|\mathbf{Q}_1|^n} |\mathbf{Q}_1| = \frac{|\partial \mathbf{Q}_1|^n}{|\mathbf{Q}_1|^{n-1}}.$$

3. We next assume that the equality in (1.3) holds. In view of Step 2, we then have  $\Gamma[u] = \Omega$  by (2.8) and

$$\mathcal{L}^{n}(\mathbf{Q}_{1}) = \mathcal{L}^{n}\left(\bigcup_{x\in\Omega}\partial^{+}u(x)\right),$$
(2.9)

$$\mathcal{L}^{n}(\partial^{+}u(x)) = \mathcal{L}^{n}([\delta_{1}^{+}u(x), \delta_{1}^{-}u(x)] \times \dots \times [\delta_{n}^{+}u(x), \delta_{n}^{-}u(x)]) \quad \text{for all } x \in \Omega,$$
(2.10)

$$\delta_1^2 u(x) = \dots = \delta_n^2 u(x) =: \mu(x) \ (\leq 0) \quad \text{for all } x \in \Omega$$
(2.11)

by (2.5), (2.6) and (2.7), respectively. Here we have derived (2.11) from the equality case of the arithmetic-geometric mean inequality. We claim

$$\partial^+ u(x) = [\delta_1^+ u(x), \delta_1^- u(x)] \times \dots \times [\delta_n^+ u(x), \delta_n^- u(x)] \quad \text{for all } x \in \Omega.$$
 (2.12)

One inclusion is known by (2.1). Also, the both sets in (2.12) are closed and have the same measure by (2.10). Thus they have to be the same set. For the same reason it follows from (2.4) and (2.9) that

$$\bar{\mathbf{Q}}_1 = \bigcup_{x \in \Omega} \partial^+ u(x). \tag{2.13}$$

4. Let  $x, y \in \Omega$  be such that  $y = x + h_i e_i$  for some  $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ . Then we show  $\mu(x) = \mu(y)$  and

$$\partial^+ u(y) = \partial^+ u(x) + h_i \mu_0 e_i \tag{2.14}$$

with  $\mu_0 := \mu(x)$ , where  $\mu(\cdot)$  is the function in (2.11). Without loss of generality we may assume x = 0,  $y = h_1e_1$  and u(x) = 0. We then notice that  $u(y) = h_1\delta_1^+u(0)$ . Fix  $i \in \{2, \ldots, n\}$  and set  $p^{\pm} := \delta_1^+u(0)e_1 + \delta_i^{\pm}u(0)e_i$ . Because of (2.12) we see that  $p^{\pm}$  belong to  $\partial^+u(0)$ . Since  $x = 0 \in \Gamma[u]$ , we observe that  $u(z) \leq \langle p^{\pm}, z \rangle$  for all  $z \in \overline{\Omega}$ . In particular, letting  $z = h_1e_1 \pm h_ie_i$ , we deduce  $u(z) \leq h_1\delta_1^+u(0) \pm h_i\delta_i^{\pm}u(0) = u(y) \pm h_i\delta_i^{\pm}u(0)$ , i.e.,  $\delta_i^+u(y) \leq \delta_i^+u(0)$  and  $\delta_i^-u(0) \leq \delta_i^-u(y)$ . Changing the role of x and y we also have  $\delta_i^+u(y) \geq \delta_i^+u(0)$ and  $\delta_i^-u(0) \geq \delta_i^-u(y)$ . Thus

$$\delta_i^+ u(y) = \delta_i^+ u(0) \quad \text{and} \quad \delta_i^- u(0) = \delta_i^- u(y) \tag{2.15}$$

for all  $i \in \{2, ..., n\}$ . By (2.11) these equalities imply  $\mu(x) = \mu(y)$ , and then  $\delta_1^{\pm} u(y)$  are computed as

$$\delta_1^- u(y) = \delta_1^+ u(x) = \delta_1^- u(x) + h_1 \mu_0, \quad \delta_1^+ u(y) = \delta_1^- u(y) + h_1 \mu_0 = \delta_1^+ u(x) + h_1 \mu_0.$$

Namely, we have  $[\delta_1^- u(y), \delta_1^+ u(y)] = [\delta_1^- u(x), \delta_1^+ u(x)] + h_1 \mu_0$ , which together with (2.15) shows (2.14).

5. By translation we may let  $0 \in \Omega$ . Set  $R := [-h_1/2, h_1/2] \times \cdots \times [-h_n/2, h_n/2]$  and in view of (2.11) and (2.12) there exists  $z \in \mathbf{R}^n$  such that  $\partial^+ u(0) = z + \mu R$  with  $\mu := \mu(0)$ . Since  $\Omega$  is now connected, as a consequence of Step 4 we see  $\mu(x) \equiv \mu$  and  $\partial^+ u(x) = \partial^+ u(0) + \mu x = z + \mu x + \mu R$  for all  $x \in \Omega$ . Therefore (2.13) implies

$$\bar{\mathbf{Q}}_1 = \bigcup_{x \in \Omega} (z + \mu x + \mu R).$$

Finally, from translation and rescaling it follows that

$$\bar{\mathbf{Q}}_{1/|\mu|}(-z/\mu) = \bigcup_{x \in \Omega} (x+R) = E[\Omega],$$

which is the desired conclusion.

Remark 2.3. If a nonempty and bounded subset  $\Omega' \subset h\mathbf{Z}^n$  is not connected, then we have the strict inequality

$$\frac{\operatorname{Per}(\Omega')^n}{\operatorname{Vol}(\Omega')^{n-1}} > \frac{|\partial \mathbf{Q}_1|^n}{|\mathbf{Q}_1|^{n-1}}.$$
(2.16)

This is shown by docking one connected component with another one. To be more precise, translating two connected components  $\Omega_1$  and  $\Omega_2$ , we are able to construct one connected set whose volume is equal to that of  $\Omega_1 \cup \Omega_2$  and whose perimeter is strictly less than that of  $\Omega_1 \cup \Omega_2$ . Iterating this procedure, we finally obtain a connected set  $\Omega$  such that  $\operatorname{Vol}(\Omega') = \operatorname{Vol}(\Omega)$  and  $\operatorname{Per}(\Omega') > \operatorname{Per}(\Omega)$ . These relations and Theorem 1.1 imply (2.16).

**Example 2.4.** In the planar case (n = 2) it is easily seen that round-shaped subsets are not optimal. Let  $h_1 = h_2 = 1$  for simplicity, and consider  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{Z}^2$ which is nonempty, bounded and connected. We choose  $R = \{a, a + 1, \ldots, a + M-1\} \times \{b, b+1, \ldots, b+N-1\} \subset \mathbb{Z}^2$  as the minimal rectangle such that  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}$ . Obviously,  $\operatorname{Vol}(\Omega) < \operatorname{Vol}(R)$  if  $\Omega \neq R$ . We next consider their perimeters. Since  $\Omega$  is connected, for each  $x \in \{a, a+1, \ldots, a+M-1\}$  there exist  $(x, y_-), (x, y_+) \in$  $\Omega$  such that  $(x, y_- - 1), (x, y_+ + 1) \notin \Omega$ . This implies  $\omega_1[\Omega] \geq 2M = \omega_1[R]$ . Similarly, we obtain  $\omega_2[\Omega] \geq 2N = \omega_2[R]$ , and therefore  $\operatorname{Per}(\Omega) \geq \operatorname{Per}(R)$ . We thus conclude that  $\operatorname{Per}(\Omega)^2/\operatorname{Vol}(\Omega) > \operatorname{Per}(R)^2/\operatorname{Vol}(R)$ , i.e.,  $\Omega$  is not optimal. Moreover, we see that, among all rectangles  $R = \{a, a + 1, \ldots, a + M - 1\} \times \{b, b + 1, \ldots, b + N - 1\}$ , a square is the best shape since

$$\frac{\operatorname{Per}(R)^2}{\operatorname{Vol}(R)} = \frac{\{2(M+N)\}^2}{MN} = 4\left(\frac{M}{N} + \frac{N}{M} + 2\right) \ge 4(2+2) = 16$$

by the arithmetic-geometric mean inequality. Therefore, in the planar case Theorem 1.1 is easily shown. However, the above argument is not valid for  $n \geq 3$ since the inequalities  $\omega_i[\Omega] \geq \omega_i[R]$  do not necessarily hold.

On the contrary, if we define a volume and a perimeter of  $\Omega$  as  $\#\Omega$  and  $\#(\partial\Omega)$ , respectively, then a cube is not an optimal shape. This can be seen in the following simple example. Let n = 2,  $h_1 = h_2 = 1$  again and consider planar subsets  $\Omega_1 = \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \mid |x| \leq 1, |y| \leq 1\}$  and  $\Omega_2 = \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \mid |x| + |y| \leq 2\}$ . We then have  $\#\Omega_1 = 9$ ,  $\#\Omega_2 = 13$  and  $\#(\partial\Omega_1) = \#(\partial\Omega_2) = 12$ . Thus the square  $\Omega_1$  is not a minimizer of the functional  $(\#(\partial\Omega))^2/(\#\Omega)$ . In the article [10] the author asserts that if  $\Omega$  has a minimal  $\#\partial\Omega$ , then  $\Omega$  is roughly diamond-shaped. The author of [10] also observes inequalities  $(\#(\partial\Omega))^2/(\#\Omega) > 8$  for the two dimensional case and  $(\#(\partial\Omega))^3/(\#\Omega)^2 > 36$  for the three dimensional case without detailed argument. We do not discuss such problems concerning the functional  $(\#(\partial\Omega))^n/(\#\Omega)^{n-1}$  in the present paper.

# 3 An existence result for the Poisson-Neumann problem

We shall prove the solvability of (NP), the Poisson equation with the Neumann boundary condition which appeared in the proof of the discrete isoperimetric inequality. Before starting the proof, using a simple example, we explain how to construct the solutions.

**Example 3.1.** Consider  $\Omega \subset h\mathbb{Z}^2$  which consists of three points  $P_1$ ,  $P_2$  and  $P_3$  in the left lattice of Figure 1. We also denote by  $S_1, \ldots, S_7$  all points on

 $\partial\Omega$  as in the same figure. In order to determine values of u on  $\overline{\Omega}$  we solve a system of linear equations of the matrix form  $L\vec{a} = \vec{b}$  which corresponds to the finite difference equation (NP). However, if we require u to satisfy the Neumann condition (2.3) at  $S_1$  toward the both adjacent points  $P_1$  and  $P_3$ , the linear system may not be solvable since the number of the unknowns is less than that of equations; in the present example they are 10 and 11, respectively. Thus we are tempted to consider the Neumann condition toward either  $P_1$  or  $P_3$  since we are now allowed to relax (2.3) in this way by the meaning of solutions. Then the number of equations decreases to 10, but, unfortunately, it becomes difficult to study the linear system since the new matrix L is not symmetric. In addition, we do not know a priori how to choose the adjacent point toward which the Neumann condition is satisfied.



Figure 1:  $\Omega = \{P_i\}_{i=1}^3$  and  $\partial \Omega = \{S_i\}_{i=1}^7$ . We solve a system of linear equations for the right lattice, and then define  $u(S_1) := \max\{u(S_{1,1}), u(S_{1,2})\}$ .

To avoid these situations we regard  $S_1$  as two different points  $S_{1,1}$  and  $S_{1,2}$ which are connected to  $P_1$  and  $P_3$ , respectively, and consider a modified system with new unknowns  $u(S_{1,1})$  and  $u(S_{1,2})$  instead of  $u(S_1)$ ; see the right lattice in Figure 1. Then the number of the unknowns in our example becomes 11. Thanks to this increase of the unknowns, it turns out that the modified linear system admits at least one solution  $(u(P_1), u(P_2), u(P_3), u(S_{1,1}), u(S_{1,2}), u(S_2), \ldots, u(S_7))$ . (In the notation of the proof below we write  $u(S_{1,1}) = \beta(1,1)$  and  $u(S_{1,2}) = \beta(1,2)$ .) In the process of proving the solvability we find that the right-hand side of (2.2) should be  $Per(\Omega)/Vol(\Omega)$ . Also, for its proof we employ the strong maximum principle for the discrete Laplace equation.

The remaining problem is how to define  $u(S_1)$ . We define  $u(S_1)$  as the maximum of  $u(S_{1,1})$  and  $u(S_{1,2})$ , so that, if  $u(S_{1,1}) \ge u(S_{1,2})$ , we have  $-\Delta' u(P_3) \le$  $\operatorname{Per}(\Omega)/\operatorname{Vol}(\Omega)$  since  $u(S_1) \ge u(S_{1,2})$  and  $\{u(S_1) - u(P_1)\}/h_2 = -1$  since  $u(S_1) = u(S_{1,1})$ . In this way we obtain a solution of (NP).

#### **Proposition 3.2.** The problem (NP) admits at least one discrete solution.

Proof. 1. We first introduce notations. Let  $\Omega = \{P_1, \ldots, P_M\}$  and  $\partial\Omega = \{S_1, \ldots, S_{N_0}\}$ , where  $M := \#\Omega$  and  $N_0 := \#(\partial\Omega)$ . For each  $i \in \{1, \ldots, M\}$  we define subsets  $\mathcal{M}(i) \subset \{1, \ldots, M\}$  and  $\mathcal{N}(i) \subset \{1, \ldots, N_0\}$  so that  $\overline{\{P_i\}} \setminus \{P_i\} = \{P_j\}_{j \in \mathcal{M}(i)} \cup \{S_j\}_{j \in \mathcal{N}(i)}$ . We also set  $s_i := \#(\overline{\{S_i\}} \cap \Omega)$  for  $i \in \{1, \ldots, N_0\}$ , which stands for the number of points of  $\Omega$  adjacent to  $S_i$ , and  $N := \sum_{j=1}^{N_0} s_j$ .

Next, for  $i \in \{1, \ldots, N_0\}$  we define a map  $n_i : \{1, \ldots, s_i\} \to \{1, \ldots, M\}$  such that  $n_i(1) < n_i(2) < \cdots$  and  $\overline{\{S_i\}} \cap \Omega = \{P_{n_i(j)}\}_{j=1}^{s_i}$ . We denote by  $n_i^{-1}$  the inverse map of  $n_i$ ; that is,  $P_j$  is the  $n_i^{-1}(j)$ -th point of  $(P_{n_i(1)}, \ldots, P_{n_i(s_i)})$  if  $P_j \in \overline{\{S_i\}} \cap \Omega$ .

For  $x, y \in \overline{\Omega}$  such that  $y = x + \sigma h_i e_i$  with  $\sigma = \pm 1$  and  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  we set  $h(x, y) := h_i$ . Obviously, we then have h(x, y) = h(y, x). We denote by E(i, j) the  $(M + N) \times (M + N)$  matrix with 1 in the (i, j) entry and 0 elsewhere. Given a vector

$$\vec{a} = {}^{t}(\alpha(1), \dots, \alpha(M), \beta(1, 1), \dots, \beta(1, s_{1}), \dots, \beta(N_{0}, 1), \dots, \beta(N_{0}, s_{N_{0}})) \in \mathbf{R}^{M+N},$$
(3.1)

where  ${}^t\vec{v}$  means the transpose of a vector  $\vec{v}$ , we define  $u = u[\vec{a}]: \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbf{R}$  as

$$u(x) := \begin{cases} \alpha(i) & (x = P_i \in \Omega, \ i \in \{1, \dots, M\}), \\ \max\{\beta(i, j) \mid 1 \le j \le s_i\} & (x = S_i \in \partial\Omega, \ i \in \{1, \dots, N_0\}). \end{cases}$$

2. We consider the following system of linear equations

$$L\vec{a} = \vec{b},\tag{3.2}$$

where  $\vec{a} \in \mathbf{R}^{M+N}$  is the unknown vector and  $\vec{b} = (b_k)_{k=1}^{M+N} \in \mathbf{R}^{M+N}$  is given as

$$b_{k} = \begin{cases} \frac{\operatorname{Per}(\Omega)}{\operatorname{Vol}(\Omega)} & (k = 1, \dots, M), \\ \frac{-1}{h(S_{j}, P_{n_{j}(i)})} & (k = M + \sum_{l=0}^{j-1} s_{l} + i \text{ with } j \in \{1, \dots, N_{0}\}, \ i \in \{1, \dots, s_{j}\}). \end{cases}$$

Here  $s_0 = 0$ . Also, the  $(M + N) \times (M + N)$  matrix L is defined by

$$\begin{split} L &:= \\ \begin{pmatrix} \theta I_M & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} - \sum_{i=1}^M \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathcal{M}(i)} \frac{E(i,j)}{h(P_i,P_j)^2} + \sum_{j \in \mathcal{N}(i)} \frac{E\left(i,M + \sum_{l=0}^{j-1} s_l + n_j^{-1}(i)\right)}{h(P_i,S_j)^2} \right\} \\ + \sum_{j=1}^{N_0} \sum_{i=1}^{s_j} \frac{E\left(M + \sum_{l=0}^{j-1} s_l + i,M + \sum_{l=0}^{j-1} s_l + i\right) - E\left(M + \sum_{l=0}^{j-1} s_l + i,n_j(i)\right)}{h(S_j,P_{n_j(i)})^2} \end{split}$$

where  $I_M$  is the identity matrix of dimension M and  $\theta := 2\sum_{i=1}^{n} (1/h_i^2)$ . (See Example 3.4, where we will give a small sized matrix L along the example of Figure 1.) By definition L is symmetric. To check the symmetricity we first take  $i \in \{1, \ldots, M\}$  and  $j \in \mathcal{M}(i)$ . Then the (i, j) entry of L is  $-1/h(P_i, P_j)^2$ . Since  $j \in \mathcal{M}(i)$ , we see  $P_j \in \overline{\{P_i\}}$ . Thus  $P_i \in \overline{\{P_j\}}$  and this implies  $i \in \mathcal{M}(j)$ . As a result, it follows that the (j, i) entry of L is  $-1/h(P_j, P_i)^2$ . We next let  $i \in \{1, \ldots, M\}$  and  $j \in \mathcal{N}(i)$ , so that the  $(i, M + \sum_{l=0}^{j-1} s_l + n_j^{-1}(i))$  entry of L is  $-1/h(P_i, S_j)^2$ . In this case we have  $S_j \in \overline{\{P_i\}}$ , and so  $P_i \in \overline{\{S_j\}}$ . Then from the definition of  $n_j$  it follows that  $n_j(t) = i$  for some  $t \in \{1, \ldots, s_j\}$ , i.e.,  $t = n_j^{-1}(i)$ . Since  $(M + \sum_{l=0}^{j-1} s_l + n_j^{-1}(i), i) = (M + \sum_{l=0}^{j-1} s_l + t, n_j(t))$ , we conclude that the  $(M + \sum_{l=0}^{j-1} s_l + n_j^{-1}(i), i)$  entry of *L* is  $-1/h(S_j, P_{n_j(t)})^2 = -1/h(S_j, P_i)^2$ . Hence the symmetricity of *L* is proved.

3. We claim that if  $\vec{a} \in \mathbf{R}^{M+N}$  is a solution of (3.2), then  $u = u[\vec{a}]$  is a discrete solution of (NP). Let  $x \in \Omega$ , i.e.,  $x = P_i$  for some *i*. Without loss of generality we may assume  $x = P_1$ . Since  $\vec{a}$  satisfies (3.2), comparing the first coordinates of the both sides in (3.2), we observe

$$\frac{\operatorname{Per}(\Omega)}{\operatorname{Vol}(\Omega)} = \theta \alpha(1) - \sum_{j \in \mathcal{M}(1)} \frac{\alpha(j)}{h(P_1, P_j)^2} - \sum_{j \in \mathcal{N}(1)} \frac{\beta(j, n_j^{-1}(1))}{h(P_1, S_j)^2}$$
$$\geq \theta u(P_1) - \sum_{j \in \mathcal{M}(1)} \frac{u(P_j)}{h(P_1, P_j)^2} - \sum_{j \in \mathcal{N}(1)} \frac{u(S_j)}{h(P_1, S_j)^2}$$
$$= -\Delta' u(P_1).$$

We next let  $x \in \partial \Omega$ . Again we may assume  $x = S_1$ . We also let  $\beta(1, j_0) = \max\{\beta(1, j) \mid 1 \leq j \leq s_1\}$ . Then the  $(M + j_0)$ -th coordinates in (3.2) implies

$$\frac{\beta(1, j_0) - \alpha(n_1(j_0))}{h(S_1, P_{n_1(j_0)})^2} = \frac{-1}{h(S_1, P_{n_1(j_0)})}$$

that is,

$$\frac{u(S_1) - u(P_{n_1(j_0)})}{h(S_1, P_{n_1(j_0)})} = -1.$$

Consequently, we see that u is a discrete solution of (NP) in our sense.

4. We shall show that (3.2) is solvable. For this purpose, we first assert that  $\text{Ker}L = \mathbf{R}\vec{\xi}$ , where KerL is the kernel of L and

$$\vec{\xi} = {}^t(1,\ldots,1) \in \mathbf{R}^{M+N}$$

By the definition of L we see that the sum of each row of L is zero. This implies  $\operatorname{Ker} L \supset \mathbf{R} \vec{\xi}$ . We next let  $\vec{a} \in \operatorname{Ker} L$ , i.e.,  $L\vec{a} = 0$ . We represent each component of  $\vec{a}$  as in (3.1). Now, by the same argument as in Step 3 we see that  $u = u[\vec{a}]$  is a discrete solution of

$$(3.3)$$

$$(\text{NP0}) \begin{cases} \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(3.4)

where the notion of a discrete solution of (NP0) is the same as that of (NP). We take a maximum point  $z \in \overline{\Omega}$  of u over  $\overline{\Omega}$ . If  $z \in \partial\Omega$ , there exists some  $y \in \overline{\{z\}} \cap \Omega$  such that u(y) = u(z) since u satisfies the Neumann boundary condition (3.4) at z. Thus u attains its maximum at some point in  $\Omega$ . Since  $\Omega$  is now bounded and connected, the strong maximum principle for the Laplace equation (Corollary A.5) ensures that u must be some constant  $c \in \mathbf{R}$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . From this it follows that  $\alpha(1) = \cdots = \alpha(M) = c$ . Also, since  $L\vec{a} = 0$ , we have  $\beta(i, j) = \alpha(n_i(j))$  for all  $i \in \{1, \ldots, N_0\}$  and  $j \in \{1, \ldots, s_i\}$ . As a result, we see  $\vec{a} = c\vec{\xi} \in \mathbf{R}\vec{\xi}$ . 5. Since *L* is symmetric and Ker $L = \mathbf{R}\vec{\xi}$ , we see that  $(\mathrm{Im}L)^{\perp} = \mathbf{R}\vec{\xi}$ , where  $(\mathrm{Im}L)^{\perp}$  stands for the orthogonal complement of Im*L*, the image of *L*. Thus, for  $\vec{b}' \in \mathbf{R}^{M+N}$  it follows that  $\vec{b}' \in \mathrm{Im}L$  if and only if  $\langle \vec{\xi}, \vec{b}' \rangle = 0$ . Noting that  $-1/h_i$  appears  $\omega_i$  times in a sequence  $\{b_k\}_{k=M+1}^{M+N}$  for each  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ , we compute

$$\langle \vec{\xi}, \vec{b} \rangle = \frac{\operatorname{Per}(\Omega)}{\operatorname{Vol}(\Omega)} \times M + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( \frac{-1}{h_i} \times \omega_i \right) = \frac{\operatorname{Per}(\Omega)}{h^n} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\omega_i}{h_i} = 0.$$

Consequently  $\vec{b} \in \text{Im}L$ , and therefore the problem (3.2) has at least one solution  $\vec{a} \in \mathbf{R}^{M+N}$ . Hence by Step 3 the corresponding  $u = u[\vec{a}]$  solves (NP).

Remark 3.3. We have actually proved that u, which we constructed as a subsolution, is a solution of (2.2) in  $\Omega \setminus \overline{\partial \Omega}$ . Namely, we have  $-\Delta' u(x) = \operatorname{Per}(\Omega)/\operatorname{Vol}(\Omega)$  for all  $x \in \Omega \setminus \overline{\partial \Omega}$ . This is clear from the construction of u.

**Example 3.4.** We revisit Example 3.1 and consider  $\Omega$  given in Figure 1. Let us solve the system (3.2). For simplicity we assume  $h_1 = h_2 =: h > 0$ . In the notation used in the proof of Proposition 3.2, the unknown vector  $\vec{a}$  is given as

$${}^{t}\vec{a} = \left( \begin{array}{ccc} \alpha(1) & \alpha(2) & \alpha(3) \\ \end{array} \middle\| \begin{array}{c} \beta(1,1) & \beta(1,2) \\ \end{array} \middle\| \begin{array}{c} \beta(2,1) & \beta(3,1) \\ \end{array} \right) \dots \quad \beta(7,1) \end{array} \right).$$

Here  $\alpha(i)$  (i = 1, 2, 3) represents the value of  $u(P_i)$ . Also,  $\beta(1, j)$  (j = 1, 2) and  $\beta(k, 1)$  (k = 2, 3, ..., 7) represent the values of  $u(S_{1,j})$  and  $u(S_k)$ , respectively. Since  $\operatorname{Vol}(\Omega) = 3h^2$  and  $\operatorname{Per}(\Omega) = 8h$  in this example, we see

and the coefficient matrix L is

$$L = \frac{1}{h^2} \begin{pmatrix} 4 & -1 & | & -1 & | & -1 & -1 & | \\ -1 & 4 & -1 & | & & -1 & | \\ -1 & 4 & -1 & | & & -1 & -1 \\ \hline -1 & | & 1 & | & & \\ -1 & | & 1 & | & & \\ -1 & | & 1 & | & & \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & 1 & | \\ -1 & | & 1 & | \\ -1 &$$

The rest entries in L are zeros. A direct computation shows that  $\vec{a_0}$  given as

is a particular solution of (3.2). Since the kernel of L is known, we conclude that the general solution of (3.2) is  $\vec{a} = \vec{a_0} + c^t(1, \ldots, 1)$  with  $c \in \mathbf{R}$ .

## A Maximum principles

#### A.1 An ABP maximum principle

In Appendix we consider the second order fully nonlinear elliptic equations of the form

$$F(\partial_{x_1}^2 u, \dots, \partial_{x_n}^2 u) = f(x) \quad \text{in } \Omega, \tag{A.1}$$

where  $F : \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}$  and  $f : \Omega \to \mathbf{R}$  are given function such that  $F(0, \ldots, 0) = 0$ . Let  $\overline{\delta}^2 u(x) := (\delta_1^2 u(x), \ldots, \delta_n^2 u(x))$ . We say  $u : \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbf{R}$  is a discrete subsolution of (A.1) if  $F(\overline{\delta}^2 u(x)) \leq f(x)$  for all  $x \in \Omega$ . As an ellipticity condition on F for our ABP estimate, we use the following:

(F1)  $-\lambda \sum \vec{X} \leq F(\vec{X})$  for all  $\vec{X} \in \mathbf{R}^n$  with  $\vec{X} \leq 0$ .

Here  $\lambda > 0$ . Also,  $\sum \vec{X} := \sum_{i=1}^{n} X_i$  for  $\vec{X} = (X_1, \dots, X_n) \in \mathbf{R}^n$  and the inequality  $\vec{X} \leq 0$  means that  $X_i \leq 0$  for every  $i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$ . For  $K \subset h\mathbf{Z}^n$  and  $g: K \to \mathbf{R}$  the *n*-norm of *g* over *K* is given as  $\|g\|_{\ell^n(K)} := \left(\sum_{x \in K} h^n |g(x)|^n\right)^{1/n}$ . We also set diam $(\Omega) := \max_{x \in \Omega, y \in \partial\Omega} |x - y|$  and  $|\mathbf{B}_r| := \mathcal{L}^n(\mathbf{B}_r)$ .

**Theorem A.1** (ABP maximum principle). Assume (F1). Let  $u : \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbf{R}$  be a discrete subsolution of (A.1). Then the estimate

$$\max_{\overline{\Omega}} u \le \max_{\partial\Omega} u + C_A \operatorname{diam}(\Omega) \|f\|_{\ell^n(\Gamma[u])}$$
(A.2)

holds, where  $C_A = C_A(\lambda, n)$  is given as  $C_A = (\lambda n | \mathbf{B}_1 |^{1/n})^{-1}$ .

A crucial estimate to prove Theorem A.1 is

**Proposition A.2.** For all  $u: \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbf{R}$  we have

$$\max_{\overline{\Omega}} u \leq \max_{\partial \Omega} u + \frac{\operatorname{diam}(\Omega)}{n|\mathbf{B}_1|^{1/n}} \| - \Delta' u \|_{\ell^n(\Gamma[u])}.$$
(A.3)

Proof. 1. We first prove  $\mathbf{B}_d \subset \bigcup_{z \in \Gamma[u]} \partial^+ u(z)$ , where d is a constant given as  $d = (\max_{\overline{\Omega}} u - \max_{\partial\Omega} u)/\operatorname{diam}(\Omega)$ . If d = 0, the assertion is obvious. We assume d > 0, i.e.,  $u(\hat{x}) = \max_{\overline{\Omega}} u > \max_{\partial\Omega} u$  for some  $\hat{x} \in \Omega$ . Let  $p \in \mathbf{B}_d$  and set  $\phi(x) := \langle p, x - \hat{x} \rangle$ . We take a maximum point z of  $u - \phi$  over  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Then we have  $z \in \Omega$ . Indeed, for all  $x \in \partial\Omega$  we observe

$$u(x) - \phi(x) \le \max_{\partial \Omega} u + |p| \cdot |x - \hat{x}| < \max_{\partial \Omega} u + d \cdot \operatorname{diam}(\Omega) = \max_{\overline{\Omega}} u = u(\hat{x}) - \phi(\hat{x}).$$

Thus  $z \in \Omega$ , and so we conclude that  $z \in \Gamma[u]$  and  $p \in \partial^+ u(z)$ .

2. By Step 1 the estimate (2.5) with  $\mathbf{B}_d$  instead of  $\mathbf{Q}_1$  holds. Thus the same argument as in the proof of Theorem 1.1 yields

$$|\mathbf{B}_d| \leq \sum_{z \in \Gamma[u]} h^n \left(\frac{-\Delta' u(z)}{n}\right)^n = \frac{1}{n^n} \| -\Delta' u \|_{\ell^n(\Gamma[u])}^n.$$

Applying  $|\mathbf{B}_d| = d^n |\mathbf{B}_1|$  to the above inequality, we obtain (A.3) by the choice of d.

Proof of Theorem A.1. By Remark 2.2 we have  $\vec{\delta}^2 u(z) \leq 0$  for  $z \in \Gamma[u]$ , and therefore the condition (F1) yields  $-\lambda \Delta' u(z) = -\lambda \sum \vec{\delta}^2 u(z) \leq F(\vec{\delta}^2 u(z))$ . Since u is a discrete subsolution of (A.1), we also have  $F(\vec{\delta}^2 u(z)) \leq f(z)$ . Applying these two inequalities to (A.3), we obtain (A.2).

#### A.2 A strong maximum principle

Although the strong maximum principle for the Laplace equation is enough for the proof of Proposition 3.2, we consider a wider class of equations in this subsection. We study homogeneous equations of the form

$$F(\partial_{x_1}^2 u, \dots, \partial_{x_n}^2 u) = 0 \quad \text{in } \Omega.$$
(A.4)

From the ABP maximum principle (A.2) we learn that all discrete subsolutions u of (A.4) satisfy

$$\max_{\overline{\Omega}} u \leq \max_{\Omega} u$$

if (F1) holds. This is the so-called weak maximum principle. Our aim in this subsection is to prove that a certain weaker condition on F actually leads to the strong maximum principle and conversely the weaker condition is necessary for it. Here the rigorous meaning of the strong maximum principle is

(SMP) If  $u : \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbf{R}$  is a discrete subsolution of (A.4) such that  $\max_{\overline{\Omega}} u = \max_{\Omega} u$ , then u must be constant on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

Following the classical theory of partial differential equations, we consider bounded and connected subsets  $\Omega \subset h\mathbb{Z}^n$  for (SMP). It turns out that the strong maximum principle holds if and only if F satisfies the following weak ellipticity condition (F2). It is easily seen that (F1) implies (F2).

(F2) If  $\vec{X} \in \mathbf{R}^n$ ,  $\vec{X} \leq 0$  and  $F(\vec{X}) \leq 0$ , then  $\vec{X}$  must be zero, i.e.,  $\vec{X} \equiv 0$ .

**Theorem A.3** (Strong maximum principle). The two conditions (SMP) and (F2) are equivalent.

To show this theorem we first study discrete quadratic functions. They will be used when we prove that (SMP) implies (F2).

**Example A.4.** Let  $(A_1, \ldots, A_n) \in \mathbf{R}^n$ . We define a quadratic function  $q : h\mathbf{Z}^n \to \mathbf{R}$  as

$$q(x) := \sum_{j=1}^{n} (h_j x_j)^2 A_j$$
 for  $x = (h_1 x_1, \dots, h_n x_n) \in h \mathbf{Z}^n$ .

Then  $\delta_i^2 q$  is a constant for each  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ . Indeed, we observe

$$\delta_i^2 q(x) = \frac{q(x+h_i e_i) + q(x-h_i e_i) - 2q(x)}{h_i^2}$$
$$= \frac{h_i^2 (x_i+1)^2 A_i + h_i^2 (x_i-1)^2 A_i - 2h_i^2 x_i^2 A_i}{h_i^2} = 2A_i$$

for all  $x = (h_1 x_1, \ldots, h_n x_n) \in h \mathbf{Z}^n$ .

Proof of Theorem A.3. 1. We first assume (F2). Let  $u : \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbf{R}$  is a discrete subsolution of (A.4) such that  $u(\hat{x}) = \max_{\overline{\Omega}} u$  for some  $\hat{x} \in \Omega$ . This maximality implies that for each  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ 

$$\delta_i^2 u(\hat{x}) = \frac{u(\hat{x} + h_i e_i) + u(\hat{x} - h_i e_i) - 2u(\hat{x})}{h_i^2} \le \frac{u(\hat{x}) + u(\hat{x}) - 2u(\hat{x})}{h_i^2} = 0.$$

Thus  $\vec{\delta}^2 u(\hat{x}) \leq 0$ . Since u is a discrete subsolution, we also have  $F(\vec{\delta}^2 u(\hat{x})) \leq 0$ . It now follows from (F2) that  $\vec{\delta}^2 u(\hat{x}) \equiv 0$ , and hence we see that  $u(\hat{x}) = u(\hat{x} \pm h_i e_i)$  for all i. We next apply the above argument with the new central point  $\hat{x} \pm h_i e_i$  if the point is in  $\Omega$ . Iterating this procedure, we finally conclude that  $u \equiv u(\hat{x})$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$  since  $\Omega$  is now connected.

2. We next assume (SMP). Take any  $\vec{X} = (X_1, \ldots, X_n) \in \mathbf{R}^n$  such that  $\vec{X} \leq 0$  and  $F(\vec{X}) \leq 0$ . We may assume  $0 \in \Omega$ . Now, we take the quadratic function q in Example A.4 with  $A_i = X_i/2 \leq 0$ . By the calculation in Example A.4 we then have  $\delta_i^2 q(x) = X_i$  for all i, i.e.,  $\vec{\delta}^2 q(x) = \vec{X}$ . Thus  $F(\vec{\delta}^2 q(x)) = F(\vec{X}) \leq 0$ , which means that q is a discrete subsolution of (A.4). Next, we deduce from the nonpositivity of each  $A_i$  that q attains its maximum over  $\overline{\Omega}$  at  $0 \in \Omega$ . Therefore (SMP) ensures that  $q \equiv q(0) = 0$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ , which implies that  $A_i = 0$  for all  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ . Consequently, we find  $\vec{X} \equiv 0$ .

A simple example of F satisfying (F2) is  $F(\vec{X}) = -\sum \vec{X}$ , and then (A.4) represents the Laplace equation for u. We therefore have

**Corollary A.5.** Let  $u : \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbf{R}$ . If  $-\Delta' u(x) \leq 0$  for all  $x \in \Omega$  and  $\max_{\overline{\Omega}} u = \max_{\Omega} u$ , then u is constant on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

## References

- S. L. Bezrukov, Isoperimetric problems in discrete spaces. Extremal problems for finite sets, Bolyai Soc. Math. Stud., vol. 3 (1994), 59–91.
- [2] H. D. Block, Discrete isoperimetric-type inequalities. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 8 (1957), 860–862.
- [3] J. Bokowski, H. Hadwiger and J. M. Wills, Eine Ungleichung zwischen Volumen, Oberfläche und Gitterpunktanzahl konvexer Körper im ndimensionalen euklidischen Raum. Math. Z. 127 (1972), 363–364.
- [4] P. Brass, Isoperimetric inequalities for densities of lattice-periodic sets. Monatsh. Math. 127 (1999), no. 3, 177–181.
- [5] Y. D. Burago and V. A. Zalgaller, Geometric inequalities, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, 285, Springer Series in Soviet Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1988.
- [6] L. A. Caffarelli and X. Cabré, Fully nonlinear elliptic equations, American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications, vol. 43, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1995.

- [7] X. Cabré, Partial differential equations, geometry and stochastic control. Butl. Soc. Catalana Mat. 15 (2000), no. 1, 7–27.
- [8] X. Cabré, Elliptic PDE's in probability and geometry: symmetry and regularity of solutions. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 20 (2008), no. 3, 425–457.
- [9] F. Chung, Discrete isoperimetric inequalities. Surv. Differ. Geom. IX (2004), 53-82.
- [10] D. E. Daykin, An Isoperimetric Problem on a Lattice. Math. Mag. 46 (1973), no. 4, 217–219.
- [11] J. A. M. S. Duarte and M. C. A. M. Marques, An approach to the isoperimetric problem on some lattices. Nuovo Cimento B (11) 54 (1979), no. 2, 508–516.
- [12] D. Gilbarg and N. S. Trudinger, Elliptic partial differential equations of second order, Reprint of the 1998 edition, Classics in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2001.
- [13] L. J. Grady and J. R. Polimeni, Discrete calculus, Applied analysis on graphs for computational science, Springer-Verlag London, Ltd., London, 2010.
- [14] H. Hadwiger, Gitterperiodische Punktmengen und Isoperimetrie. Monatsh. Math. 76 (1972), 410–418.
- [15] P. W. Hillock and P. R. Scott, Inequalities for lattice constrained planar convex sets. J. Inequal. Pure Appl. Math. 3 (2002), no. 2, Article 23, 10 pp.
- [16] H.-J. Kuo and N. S. Trudinger, Linear elliptic difference inequalities with random coefficients. Math. Comp. 55 (1990), no. 191, 37–53.
- [17] H.-J. Kuo and N. S. Trudinger, Discrete methods for fully nonlinear elliptic equations. SIAM J. Numer. Anal. 29 (1992), no. 1, 123–135.
- [18] H.-J. Kuo and N. S. Trudinger, On the discrete maximum principle for parabolic difference operators. RAIRO Modél. Math. Anal. Numér. 27 (1993), no. 6, 719–737.
- [19] H.-J. Kuo and N. S. Trudinger, Positive difference operators on general meshes. Duke Math. J. 83 (1996), no. 2, 415–433.
- [20] H.-J. Kuo and N. S. Trudinger, Evolving monotone difference operators on general space-time meshes. Duke Math. J. 91 (1998), no. 3, 587–607.
- [21] H.-J. Kuo and N. S. Trudinger, A note on the discrete Aleksandrov-Bakelman maximum principle. Proceedings of 1999 International Conference on Nonlinear Analysis (Taipei), Taiwanese J. Math. 4 (2000), no. 1, 55–64.

- [22] R. Osserman, The isoperimetric inequality. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 84 (1978), no. 6, 1182–1238.
- [23] J. B. Rosser, Finite-difference solution of Poisson's equation in rectangles of arbitrary proportions. Z. Angew. Math. Phys. 28 (1977), no. 2, 186–196.
- [24] U. Schnell and J. M. Wills, Two isoperimetric inequalities with lattice constraints. Monatsh. Math. 112 (1991), no. 3, 227–233.
- [25] U. Schumann and J. Benner, Direct solution of the discretized Poisson-Neumann problem on a domain composed of rectangles. J. Comput. Phys. 46 (1982), no. 1, 1–14.
- [26] U. Schumann and R. A. Sweet, A direct method for the solution of Poisson's equation with Neumann boundary conditions on a staggered grid of arbitrary size. J. Comput. Phys. 20 (1976), no. 2, 171–182.
- [27] C. Villani, Optimal transport, Old and new, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, 338. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2009.
- [28] Y. Zhuang and X.-H. Sun, A high-order fast direct solver for singular Poisson equations. J. Comput. Phys. 171 (2001), no. 1, 79–94.

# Chapter 4

# An improved level set method for Hamilton-Jacobi equations

# 1 Introduction

In the classical level set method, a motion of an interface  $\{\Gamma(t)\}_t$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is studied by representing the interface  $\Gamma(t)$  as the zero level set of an auxiliary function u(x, t), that is,

$$\Gamma(t) = \{ x \in \mathbf{R}^n \mid u(x,t) = 0 \},\$$

and solving the associated initial value problem of a partial differential equation for u. In this paper we are concerned with the case where the associated problem is given as the Hamilton-Jacobi equation of the form

$$\partial_t u(x,t) + H(x, \nabla u(x,t)) = 0 \quad \text{in } \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T)$$

$$(1.1)$$

with the initial condition

$$u(x,0) = u_0(x)$$
 in  $\mathbf{R}^n$ . (1.2)

Here H is a continuous Hamiltonian and  $\nabla u = (\partial_{x_i} u)_{i=1}^n$  denotes the gradient of u with respect to x. In practice, it might be difficult to compute the zero level set of u because the spatial gradient of u can be close to zero near  $\Gamma(t)$  as time develops even if the initial gradient is large. To overcome this issue, in this paper we propose an improved equation of the form

$$\partial_t u(x,t) + H(x, \nabla u(x,t)) = u(x,t)G(x, \nabla u(x,t))$$
(1.3)

with a continuous G. Our goal is to demonstrate that a solution u of (1.3) with a suitably defined G gives the same zero level set as (1.1), and that, globally in time, the slope of u is preserved near the zero level set.

We illustrate our approach on a typical example of (1.1), the transport equation of the form

$$\partial_t u(x,t) + \langle X(x), \nabla u(x,t) \rangle = 0, \tag{1.4}$$

where  $X : \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}^n$  is a vector field and  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  denotes the standard inner product in  $\mathbf{R}^n$ . In this case, as we will see in Section 2, a formal argument implies that the slope of a solution u of

$$\partial_t u(x,t) + \langle X(x), \nabla u(x,t) \rangle = u(x,t) \frac{\langle X'(x) \nabla u(x,t), \nabla u(x,t) \rangle}{|\nabla u(x,t)|^2}$$
(1.5)

is preserved along the flow determined by the vector field X. Here X'(x) stands for the Jacobian matrix of  $X(x) = (X_i(x))_{i=1}^n$ , i.e.,  $X'(x) = (\partial_{x_j} X_i(x))_{ij}$ . Our general theory for (1.3) will be constructed so that, in the case of transport equations, G agrees with the function appearing on the right-hand side of (1.5) except on a small neighborhood of the singular point at  $|\nabla u(x,t)| = 0$ .

We employ the theory of viscosity solutions to solve the improved equation (1.3) since it is a nonlinear equation. However, viscosity solutions are not smooth in general, and so it is an issue how to show that the "slope" of the viscosity solution of (1.3) is preserved near the zero level set. In this paper we establish the preservation of the slope of the solution by comparing it with the signed distance function d(x,t) to the zero level set, which is defined as

$$d(x,t) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{dist}(x,\Gamma(t)) & \text{if } u(x,t) > 0, \\ 0 & \text{if } u(x,t) = 0, \\ -\operatorname{dist}(x,\Gamma(t)) & \text{if } u(x,t) < 0. \end{cases}$$

Here  $dist(x, \Gamma(t)) = inf\{|x - y| \mid y \in \Gamma(t)\}$ . The distance function is known to be a solution of the eikonal equation

$$|\nabla d(x,t)| = 1,$$

both in the almost everywhere sense and in the viscosity sense. It is thus reasonable to use the signed distance function in order to guarantee that the slope of u remains one. It turns out that, if the initial data  $u_0$  in (1.2) is equal to the signed distance function near the initial interface and if d is smooth near  $\Gamma(t)$ , then, for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ , the estimates

$$\begin{cases} e^{-\varepsilon t}d(x,t) \leq u(x,t) \leq e^{\varepsilon t}d(x,t) & \text{if } d(x,t) \geq 0, \\ e^{\varepsilon t}d(x,t) \leq u(x,t) \leq e^{-\varepsilon t}d(x,t) & \text{if } d(x,t) \leq 0 \end{cases}$$
(1.6)

hold near  $\Gamma(t)$ . In this sense the slope of u is preserved near the zero level set.

This chapter is organized as follows. In Section 2 we formally explain how to derive the improved equation (1.5) in the case of transport equations. Section 3 contains a brief summary of the theory of viscosity solutions and the level set method. In Section 4 we prove that the zero level set of a solution of (1.3) agrees with that of a solution of (1.1), and finally Section 5 establishes the estimates (1.6) near the zero level set of a solution u of (1.3) with a suitably defined G.

# 2 Transport equations

Let us show how the improved equation (1.5) is formally derived in the case of transport equations. Assume that a smooth function u(x, t) solves

$$\partial_t u(x,t) + \langle X(x), \nabla u(x,t) \rangle = u(x,t)G(x, \nabla u(x,t))$$

with (1.2). Let  $\xi_x : (-\infty, \infty) \to \mathbf{R}^n$  be a solution of the ordinary differential equation

$$\begin{cases} \xi'_x(t) = X(\xi_x(t)) & \text{in } (-\infty, \infty), \\ \xi_x(0) = x. \end{cases}$$

This is the flow determined by X. Then the solution w of the original problem, (1.4) and (1.2), is given as  $w(x,t) = u_0(\xi_x(-t))$ . We now compute

$$\frac{d}{dt}u(\xi_x(t),t) = \langle \nabla u(\xi_x(t),t), \xi'_x(t) \rangle + \partial_t u(\xi_x(t),t) \\ = \langle \nabla u(\xi_x(t),t), X(\xi_x(t)) \rangle + \partial_t u(\xi_x(t),t) \\ = u(\xi_x(t),t)G(x, \nabla u(\xi_x(t),t)).$$

Thus we notice that

$$u(\xi_x(t), t) = 0$$
 if  $u_0(x) = 0$ ,  $u(\xi_x(t), t) > 0$  if  $u_0(x) > 0$  (2.1)

for all  $t \in (-\infty, \infty)$ . This implies that the zero level set of u agrees with that of the solution w of (1.4) and (1.2).

We now define  $\phi(x,t) := |\nabla u(x,t)|^2$  and assume that

$$\partial_t \phi(x,t) + \langle X(x), \nabla \phi(x,t) \rangle = 0 \quad \text{on } \{ u(x,t) = 0 \}.$$
(2.2)

(We denote the set  $\{(x,t) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T) \mid u(x,t) = 0\}$  briefly by  $\{u(x,t) = 0\}$ unless confusion can occur.) If (2.2) holds, it then follows that  $\phi$  is constant along each flow. Indeed, for  $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$  such that  $u_0(x) = 0$ , we have

$$\frac{d}{dt}\phi(\xi_x(t),t) = \langle \nabla\phi(\xi_x(t),t), X(\xi_x(t)) \rangle + \partial_t\phi(\xi_x(t),t) = 0$$

since  $u(\xi_x(t), t) = 0$  by (2.1). Thus we see that  $|\nabla u|$  is constant along the flow. Let us study a condition on G which leads to (2.2). We have

$$\partial_t \phi(x,t) = 2 \langle \nabla u(x,t), \partial_t (\nabla u(x,t)) \rangle, \nabla \phi(x,t) = 2 \langle \nabla^2 u(x,t), \partial_t (\nabla u(x,t)) \rangle.$$

Here  $\nabla^2 u = (\partial_{x_i x_j}^2 u)_{ij}$  denotes the Hessian matrix with respect to x. The second derivative  $\partial_t (\nabla u)$  is computed as

$$\partial_t (\nabla u) = \nabla (\partial_t u)$$
  
=  $\nabla (uG(x, \nabla u) - \langle X(x), \nabla u \rangle)$   
=  $G(x, \nabla u) \nabla u + u \nabla (G(x, \nabla u)) - {}^t (X'(x)) \nabla u - (\nabla^2 u) X(x),$ 

where  ${}^{t}(X'(x))$  stands for the transposed matrix of X'(x). On  $\{u(x,t)=0\}$  we have  $u\nabla(G(x,\nabla u))=0$ , and therefore

$$\frac{1}{2}(\partial_t \phi + \langle X(x), \nabla \phi \rangle) 
= \langle \nabla u, G(x, \nabla u) \nabla u - {}^t(X'(x)) \nabla u - (\nabla^2 u) X(x) \rangle + \langle X(x), (\nabla^2 u) \nabla u \rangle 
= G(x, \nabla u) |\nabla u|^2 - \langle X'(x) \nabla u, \nabla u \rangle.$$

In the last equality we have used the relations  $\langle t(X'(x))\nabla u, \nabla u \rangle = \langle X'(x)\nabla u, \nabla u \rangle$ and  $\langle X(x), (\nabla^2 u)\nabla u \rangle = \langle \nabla u, (\nabla^2 u)X(x) \rangle$ . We thus conclude that, if

$$G(x, \nabla u) = \frac{\langle X'(x)\nabla u, \nabla u \rangle}{|\nabla u|^2}$$

then (2.2) holds, and hence the slope of u is preserved along the flow. This choice of G yields (1.5).

# **3** Viscosity solutions

In this section we first recall a notion of viscosity solutions and then describe basic results of the level set method. For the theory of viscosity solutions we refer the reader to [1] and [2, Section 2, 3], while analytic foundations of the level set method are presented in [2, Section 4].

We consider a general first order equation of the form

$$\partial_t u(x,t) + F(x,u(x,t),\nabla u(x,t)) = 0, \qquad (3.1)$$

where  $F : \mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R} \times \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}$  is a continuous function. Let us introduce notions of a sub- and superdifferential. For a function  $u : \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T) \to \mathbf{R}$  we define a superdifferential  $D^+u(z,s)$  of u at  $(z,s) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T)$  by

$$D^{+}u(z,s) := \left\{ (p,\tau) \in \mathbf{R}^{n} \times \mathbf{R} \mid \begin{array}{c} \exists \phi \in C^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{n} \times (0,T)) \text{ such that} \\ (p,\tau) = (\nabla \phi, \partial_{t} \phi)(z,s) \text{ and} \\ \max_{\mathbf{R}^{n} \times (0,T)} (u-\phi) = (u-\phi)(z,s) \end{array} \right\}.$$

$$(3.2)$$

A subdifferential  $D^-u(z,s)$  is defined by replacing "max" by "min" in (3.2). We call  $\phi$  appearing in (3.2) a corresponding test function for  $(p,\tau) \in D^+u(z,s)$ .

**Definition 3.1** (Viscosity solution). We say an upper semicontinuous (resp. lower semicontinuous) function  $u : \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T) \to \mathbf{R}$  is a viscosity subsolution (resp. viscosity supersolution) of (3.1) if

$$\tau + F(z, u(z, s), p) \leq 0 \text{ (resp. } \geq 0)$$

for all  $(z,s) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T)$  and  $(p,\tau) \in D^+u(z,s)$  (resp.  $(p,\tau) \in D^-u(z,s)$ ). If u is both a viscosity sub- and supersolution, then it is called a viscosity solution.

A class of viscosity subsolutions and supersolutions are known to be closed under the operation of supremum and infimum respectively.

**Proposition 3.2** (Stability). Let S be a nonempty subset of viscosity subsolutions (resp. supersolutions) of (3.1). Set  $u(x,t) := \sup_{v \in S} v(x,t)$ . If u is upper semicontinuous (resp. lower semicontinuous) in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T)$ , then u is a viscosity subsolution (resp. supersolution) of (3.1).

We next present a comparison principle, which guarantees uniqueness of viscosity solutions of the initial value problem. We make the following two assumptions on F.

(F1) There exists some nondecreasing function  $\omega \in C([0,\infty))$  satisfying  $\omega(0) = 0$  such that

$$|F(x, r, p) - F(x, r, q)| \le \omega(|p - q|),$$
  
|F(x, r, p) - F(y, r, p)| \le \omega((1 + |p|)|x - y|)

for all  $x, y, p, q \in \mathbf{R}^n$  and  $r \in \mathbf{R}$ .

(F2) There exists some constant  $\gamma \in \mathbf{R}$  such that  $F(x, r, p) + \gamma r$  is nondecreasing in  $r \in \mathbf{R}$ .

**Theorem 3.3** (Comparison principle). Assume (F1) and (F2). Let  $u, v : \mathbf{R}^n \times [0,T) \to \mathbf{R}$  and assume that u and -v are upper semicontinuous and bounded from above on  $\mathbf{R}^n \times [0,T)$ . Assume that u and v are, respectively, a viscosity sub- and supersolution of (3.1). If  $u(x,0) \leq v(x,0)$  for all  $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$ , then  $u(x,t) \leq v(x,t)$  for all  $(x,t) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T)$ .

When F is written as F(x, r, p) = H(x, p) - rG(x, p), which represents the equation (1.3), the following conditions imply (F1) and (F2).

(CP) (i) H and G satisfy (F1).

(ii) G is bounded in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}^n$ , i.e.,  $||G|| := \sup_{\mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}^n} |G| < \infty$ .

Indeed, (F1) is obvious while (F2) is fulfilled with  $\gamma = ||G||$ .

Existence of viscosity solutions is shown by Perron's method, but we omit it in this paper; see [1, Section 4] or [2, Section 2.4].

We turn to the level set method for (1.1). To carry out the level set method, the geometricity (H1) is a basic assumption on H.

(H1)  $H(x, \lambda p) = \lambda H(x, p)$  for all  $(x, p) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}^n$  and  $\lambda > 0$ .

Note that (H1) implies that H(x, 0) = 0 for all  $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$ . One of important properties of geometric equations is invariance under change of dependent variables. This invariance property as well as the comparison principle play a crucial role for the proof of uniqueness of evolutions.

**Theorem 3.4** (Invariance). Assume (H1). Let  $\theta$  :  $\mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{R}$  be a nondecreasing and upper semicontinuous (resp. lower semicontinuous) function. If u is a viscosity subsolution (resp. supersolution) of (1.1), then  $\theta \circ u$  is a viscosity subsolution (resp. supersolution) of (1.1).

The next theorem guarantees that, for a given initial surface, the evolution is independent of a choice of the initial auxiliary function, which is  $u_0$  in (1.2). Let us denote by  $BUC(\mathbf{R}^n)$  the set of all bounded and uniformly continuous functions in  $\mathbf{R}^n$ .

**Theorem 3.5** (Uniqueness of evolutions). Assume that H satisfies (F1) and (H1). Let  $u_{01}, u_{02} \in BUC(\mathbf{R}^n)$  and assume that  $\{u_{01}(x) = 0\} = \{u_{02}(x) = 0\}$ ,  $\{u_{01}(x) > 0\} = \{u_{02}(x) > 0\}$  and that  $\{u_{01}(x) > 0\}$  is compact. Let  $w_1$  and  $w_2$  be a viscosity solution of (1.1) with the initial data  $u_{01}$  and  $u_{02}$  respectively. Then we have  $\{w_1(x,t) = 0\} = \{w_2(x,t) = 0\}$  and  $\{w_1(x,t) > 0\} = \{w_2(x,t) > 0\}$ .

We conclude this section by giving simple sub- and supersolutions of (1.3). In the proof we use the fact that a classical subsolution (resp. supersolution) of (3.1) is always a viscosity subsolution (resp. supersolution) of (3.1).

**Lemma 3.6.** Assume (ii) in (CP) and (H1). Let c > 0,  $M \ge ||G||$  and define  $w^+(x,t) = ce^{Mt}$ ,  $w^-(x,t) = ce^{-Mt}$ . Then  $w^+$  (resp.  $w^-$ ) is a supersolution (resp. subsolution) of (1.3), and  $-w^+$  (resp.  $-w^-$ ) is a subsolution (resp. supersolution) of (1.3).

*Proof.* Since H(x, 0) = 0 by (H1), we compute

$$\partial_t w^+ + H(x, \nabla w^+) = M c e^{Mt} + H(x, 0) = M w^+ + 0 \ge w^+ G(x, \nabla w^+),$$

which implies that  $w^+$  is a supersolution. The rest assertions also follows from similar calculations.

### 4 Preservation of the zero level set

We demonstrate that a solution of the improved problem (1.3) gives the same zero level set of a solution of the original problem (1.1).

**Proposition 4.1** (Preservation of the zero level set). Assume (CP) and (H1). Let w and u be, respectively, a viscosity solution of (1.1) and (1.3) with the same initial data. Then we have  $\{w(x,t) = 0\} = \{u(x,t) = 0\}$  and  $\{w(x,t) > 0\} = \{u(x,t) > 0\}$ .

Since we have already known uniqueness of evolutions for (1.1), Proposition 4.1 yields uniqueness of evolutions for (1.3). Namely, the same conclusion in Theorem 3.5 holds if we replace "(1.1)" by "(1.3)" and add the assumption (CP) in the statement of Theorem 3.5.

*Proof.* 1. We define

$$v^{+}(x,t) = \begin{cases} e^{\|G\|t}u(x,t) & \text{if } u(x,t) \ge 0, \\ e^{-\|G\|t}u(x,t) & \text{if } u(x,t) < 0 \end{cases}$$

and

$$v^{-}(x,t) = \begin{cases} e^{-\|G\|t}u(x,t) & \text{if } u(x,t) \ge 0, \\ e^{\|G\|t}u(x,t) & \text{if } u(x,t) < 0 \end{cases}$$

for  $(x,t) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times [0,T)$ . We claim that  $v^+$  and  $v^-$  are, respectively, a viscosity supersolution and subsolution of (1.1).

2. We shall show that  $v^+$  is a supersolution. If u is smooth and u(x,t) > 0, we compute

$$\partial_t v^+ + H(x, \nabla v^+) = \|G\| e^{\|G\|} u + e^{\|G\|} \partial_t u + H(x, e^{\|G\|} \nabla u)$$
  
=  $\|G\| e^{\|G\|} u + e^{\|G\|} \{\partial_t u + H(x, \nabla u)\}$   
=  $\|G\| e^{\|G\|} u + e^{\|G\|} u G(x, \nabla u) \ge 0.$ 

In the general case where u is not necessarily smooth, taking an element of the subdifferential of u, we see that  $v^+$  is a viscosity supersolution of (1.1). Since similar arguments apply to the case when u(x,t) < 0, it follows that  $v^+$  is a supersolution in  $\{u(x,t) > 0\} \cup \{u(x,t) < 0\}$ .

3. It remains to prove that  $v^+$  is a supersolution on  $\{u(x,t)=0\}$ . For this purpose, we first claim that  $v_0^+$  defined by

$$v_0^+(x,t) = \max\{v^+(x,t), 0\} = \begin{cases} e^{\|G\|t}u(x,t) & \text{if } u(x,t) \ge 0, \\ 0 & \text{if } u(x,t) < 0 \end{cases}$$

is a supersolution of (1.1). Fix  $\varepsilon > 0$  and define  $\theta^{\varepsilon} : \mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{R}$  by  $\theta^{\varepsilon}(r) := \max\{r, \varepsilon\}$ . Since  $v^+$  is a supersolution of (1.1) in  $\{u(x,t) > 0\}$ , Theorem 3.4 implies that  $\theta^{\varepsilon} \circ v^+ = \max\{v^+, \varepsilon\}$  is also a supersolution of (1.1) in  $\{u(x,t) > 0\}$ . Now, the constant  $\varepsilon$  is a solution of (1.1) and  $\theta^{\varepsilon} \circ v^+ = \varepsilon$  in  $\{0 < u(x,t) < \varepsilon e^{-\|G\|t}\}$ . Thus we see that  $\theta^{\varepsilon} \circ v^+$  is a supersolution of (1.1) on the whole of  $\mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T)$ . Finally, by Proposition 3.2, taking the infimum over  $\{\varepsilon > 0\}$  implies that  $v_0^+ = \inf_{\varepsilon > 0}(\theta^{\varepsilon} \circ v^+)$  is a supersolution of (1.1).

4. Let  $(z,s) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T)$  be a point such that u(z,s) = 0, and take  $(p,\tau) \in D^-v^+(z,s)$ . Since  $v^+(z,s) = v_0^+(z,s) = 0$  and  $v^+ \leq v_0^+$  in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T)$ , it is easily seen that  $(p,\tau) \in D^-v_0^+(z,s)$ . In the previous step we proved that  $v_0^+$  is a supersolution, and thus we have  $\tau + H(z,p) \geq 0$ . Summarizing the above argument, we conclude that  $v^+$  is a supersolution of (1.1). Also, in the same manner we are able to prove that  $v^-$  is a subsolution of (1.1).

5. Since  $v^{\pm}(x,0) = u_0(x)$  for all  $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$ , the comparison principle (Theorem 3.3) yields  $v^-(x,t) \leq w(x,t) \leq v^+(x,t)$  for all  $(x,t) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T)$ . In particular, we have  $\{v^-(x,t) > 0\} \subset \{w(x,t) > 0\} \subset \{v^+(x,t) > 0\}$ . Since  $\{v^{\pm}(x,t) > 0\} = \{u(x,t) > 0\}$  by the definition of  $v^{\pm}$ , we conclude that  $\{w(x,t) > 0\} = \{u(x,t) > 0\}$ . Similarly, we obtain  $\{w(x,t) < 0\} = \{u(x,t) < 0\}$ , and hence  $\{w(x,t) = 0\} = \{u(x,t) = 0\}$ .

## 5 Comparison with the signed distance function

We study a bounded evolution  $\{(\Gamma(t), D(t))\}_{0 \le t < T}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , Namely, we assume

- (I)  $\Gamma(t) \cup D(t)$  is a bounded set in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  for every  $t \in [0, T)$ ;
- (II) there exists a continuous viscosity solution  $w : \mathbf{R}^n \times [0,T) \to \mathbf{R}$  of (1.1) such that

$$\Gamma(t) = \{ x \in \mathbf{R}^n \mid w(x,t) = 0 \},\$$
  
$$D(t) = \{ x \in \mathbf{R}^n \mid w(x,t) > 0 \}$$

for all  $t \in [0, T)$ .

For this evolution we define the signed distance function  $d: \mathbf{R}^n \times [0,T) \to \mathbf{R}$  by

$$d(x,t) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{dist}(x,\Gamma(t)) & \text{if } x \in D(t), \\ 0 & \text{if } x \in \Gamma(t), \\ -\operatorname{dist}(x,\Gamma(t)) & \text{if } x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus (D(t) \cup \Gamma(t)). \end{cases}$$

We intend to prove that a viscosity solution u of the improved problem (1.3) satisfies the estimate (1.6) which involves the signed distance function d to the interface. This shows that the slope of u is preserved near the zero level set. For this purpose, we first derive the equation for the signed distance function d. In this paper we assume that d is smooth near the zero level set, and so the derivatives of d are interpreted in the classical sense. It is future work to extend the theory presented in this paper to the case of non-smooth signed distance functions. Our assumption concerning smoothness is

- (SM) There exist a constant  $\delta > 0$  and a function  $w_0 : \mathbf{R}^n \times (0, T) \to \mathbf{R}$  such that
  - (i)  $d, w_0 \in C^1$  on  $\{|d(x,t)| < \delta\}$  as a function of (x,t);
  - (ii)  $\Gamma(t) = \{w_0(x,t) = 0\}$  and  $D(t) = \{w_0(x,t) > 0\}$  for all  $t \in (0,T)$ ;
  - (iii) for all  $(x,t) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T)$  such that d(x,t) = 0,  $w_0$  solves (1.1) and  $|\nabla w_0(x,t)| \neq 0$ ;
  - (iv) for all  $(x,t) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T)$  such that  $|d(x,t)| < \delta$ ,

$$\bar{x} := x - d(x, t) \nabla d(x, t) \in \Gamma(t)$$

and

$$\partial_t d(x,t) = \frac{\partial_t w_0(\bar{x},t)}{|\nabla w_0(\bar{x},t)|}, \quad \nabla d(x,t) = \frac{\nabla w_0(\bar{x},t)}{|\nabla w_0(\bar{x},t)|}.$$
 (5.1)

It is known that, under a suitable smoothness assumption on the interface, the time derivative and the spatial gradient of d are, respectively, the normal velocity and the normal vector to the interface. (See, e.g., [3].) Instead of assuming that the interface possesses sufficient smoothness, we assume that the formulas (5.1) hold for d.

Lemma 5.1. Assume (SM) and (H1). Then

$$\partial_t d(x,t) + H(x - d(x,t)\nabla d(x,t), \nabla d(x,t)) = 0$$
(5.2)

for all  $(x,t) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T)$  such that  $|d(x,t)| < \delta$ .

*Proof.* Set  $\bar{x} := x - d(x, t) \nabla d(x, t)$ . Using the formulas in (5.1), we compute

$$\begin{split} &\partial_t d(x,t) + H(x - d(x,t)\nabla d(x,t), \nabla d(x,t)) \\ &= & \frac{\partial_t w_0(\bar{x},t)}{|\nabla w_0(\bar{x},t)|} + H\left(\bar{x}, \frac{\nabla w_0(\bar{x},t)}{|\nabla w_0(\bar{x},t)|}\right) \\ &= & \frac{1}{|\nabla w_0(\bar{x},t)|} \{\partial_t w_0(\bar{x},t) + H(\bar{x}, \nabla w_0(\bar{x},t))\}. \end{split}$$

Here we have used (H1) in the last equality. Since  $w_0$  solves (1.1) at  $(\bar{x}, t)$ , the last quantity is zero.

The equation (5.2) is equivalent to

$$\partial_t d + H(x, \nabla d) = H(x, \nabla d) - H(x - d\nabla d, \nabla d).$$
(5.3)

If H is smooth and |d| is sufficiently small, the right-hand side of (5.3) is approximated by  $d\langle \nabla_x H(x, \nabla d), \nabla d \rangle$ . It is thus reasonable to study the equation of the form

$$\partial_t d + H(x, \nabla d) = d \langle \nabla_x H(x, \nabla d), \nabla d \rangle$$

as an improved problem for (1.1). In this paper we define G as a suitably modified function of  $\langle \nabla_x H(x,p), p \rangle$ .

We shall give our assumptions on H and G precisely. Concerning differentiablity of H with respect to x, we require the following condition (H2). We denote by  $S^{n-1}$  the unit sphere in  $\mathbf{R}^n$ , i.e.,  $S^{n-1} = \{x \in \mathbf{R}^n \mid |x| = 1\}$ .

(H2) For any compact set  $K \subset \mathbf{R}^n$ 

$$\lim_{\mathbf{R} \ni h \to 0} \sup_{(x,p) \in K \times S^{n-1}} \frac{|H(x,p) - H(x-hp,p) - h\langle \nabla_x H(x,p), p \rangle|}{|h|} = 0.$$
(5.4)

For later use we state (5.4) in an equivalent way as follows:

For all 
$$r > 0$$
 there exists some  $a(r) > 0$  such that,  
if  $|h| < a(r)$  and  $(x, p) \in K \times S^{n-1}$ , then
$$|H(x, p) - H(x - hp, p) - h\langle \nabla_x H(x, p), p \rangle| \leq r|h|.$$
(5.5)

The function  $a: (0, \infty) \to (0, \infty)$  in (5.5) may depend on a choice of the compact set K. We next state how to define a function  $G: \mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}$  appearing in the improved problem (1.3).

(G1) There exists some  $\sigma \in (0,1)$  such that  $G(x,\lambda p) = \langle \nabla_x H(x,p), p \rangle$  for all  $(x,p) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times S^{n-1}$  and  $\lambda \geq \sigma$ .

**Example 5.2.** We consider the transport equation (1.4), in which the Hamiltonian H is given by  $H(x,p) = \langle X(x),p \rangle$ . The gradient of H with respect to x is  $\nabla_x H(x,p) = X'(x)p$ . We next let  $G : \mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}$  be a continuous function such that

$$G(x,p) = \frac{\langle X'(x)p,p \rangle}{|p|^2} \quad \text{if } |p| \ge \sigma$$

for some  $\sigma \in (0, 1)$ . This is the function appearing in the right-hand side of (1.5). Now, for  $(x, p) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times S^{n-1}$  and  $\lambda \geq \sigma$ , we compute

$$G(x,\lambda p) = \frac{\langle X'(x)\lambda p,\lambda p\rangle}{|\lambda p|^2} = \frac{\langle X'(x)p,p\rangle}{|p|^2} = \langle X'(x)p,p\rangle = \langle \nabla_x H(x,p),p\rangle.$$

Thus we see that G satisfies (G1).

**Example 5.3.** We study the equation

$$\partial_t u(x,t) + b(x)|\nabla u(x,t)| = 0,$$

where  $b \in C^1(\mathbf{R}^n)$ . The corresponding Hamiltonian H(x,p) = b(x)|p| satisfies (H1), and its spatial gradient is  $\nabla_x H(x,p) = |p| \cdot \nabla b(x)$ . Let  $\sigma \in (0,1)$  and define

$$G(x,p) := \frac{\langle \nabla b(x), p \rangle}{|p|} \quad \text{if } |p| \ge \sigma.$$

Then G satisfies (G1) since, for all  $(x, p) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times S^{n-1}$  and  $\lambda \geq \sigma$ , we have

$$G(x,\lambda p) = \frac{\langle \nabla b(x),\lambda p \rangle}{|\lambda p|} = \langle |p| \cdot \nabla b(x), p \rangle = \langle \nabla_x H(x,p), p \rangle.$$

Therefore the improved equation is given as

$$\partial_t u(x,t) + b(x) |\nabla u(x,t)| = u(x,t) \frac{\langle \nabla b(x), \nabla u(x,t) \rangle}{|\nabla u(x,t)|}$$

when  $|\nabla u(x,t)| \geq \sigma$ .

Our next assertion is that functions  $e^{\varepsilon t}d(x,t)$  and  $e^{-\varepsilon t}d(x,t)$ , which appear in our objective estimates (1.6), are a subsolution and a supersolution of (1.3) near the zero level set respectively.

**Proposition 5.4** (Sub- and supersolutions near the zero level set). Assume (SM), (H1), (H2) and (G1). Let  $\varepsilon \in (0, -(\log \sigma)/T]$  and define

$$d^+(x,t) := e^{\varepsilon t} d(x,t), \quad d^-(x,t) := e^{-\varepsilon t} d(x,t).$$
 (5.6)

Let  $K \subset \mathbf{R}^n$  be a compact set such that  $\{d(x,t) < \delta\} \subset K$ , and let a be the function in (5.5). Let r > 0 be a constant satisfying  $a(r) \leq \delta$ . Then, for all  $(x,t) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T)$  such that |d(x,t)| < a(r), we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial_t d^+(x,t) + H(x, \nabla d^+(x,t)) - d^+(x,t) \{ G(x, \nabla d^+(x,t)) + \varepsilon \} | &\leq r |d^+(x,t)|, \\ (5.7) \\ |\partial_t d^-(x,t) + H(x, \nabla d^-(x,t)) - d^-(x,t) \{ G(x, \nabla d^-(x,t)) - \varepsilon \} | &\leq r |d^-(x,t)|. \\ (5.8) \end{aligned}$$

In particular, if  $r \leq \varepsilon$ , then  $d^+$  is a supersolution (resp. subsolution) of (1.3) on  $\{0 \leq d(x,t) < a(r)\}$  (resp. on  $\{-a(r) < d(x,t) \leq 0\}$ ), and  $d^-$  is a subsolution (resp. supersolution) of (1.3) on  $\{0 \leq d(x,t) < a(r)\}$  (resp. on  $\{-a(r) < d(x,t) \leq 0\}$ ).

*Proof.* By the choice of  $\varepsilon$  we have  $e^{-\varepsilon t} > e^{-\varepsilon T} \ge \sigma$  for every  $t \in (0,T)$ . Thus the assumption (G1) implies

$$G(x, \nabla d^{\pm}) = G(x, e^{\pm \varepsilon t} \nabla d) = \langle \nabla_x H(x, \nabla d), \nabla d \rangle.$$
(5.9)

Let us fix  $(x,t) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T)$  such that |d(x,t)| < a(r). Since  $a(r) \leq \delta$ , choosing h = d(x,t) and  $p = \nabla d(x,t)$  in (5.5), we have

$$|H(x,\nabla d) - H(x - d\nabla d, \nabla d) - d\langle \nabla_x H(x,\nabla d), \nabla d \rangle| \le r|d|.$$

Now, we apply (5.9) to the left-hand side and multiply the both sides by  $e^{\pm \varepsilon t}$  to get

$$|e^{\pm\varepsilon t}\{H(x,p) - H(x - d\nabla d, \nabla d)\} - d^{\pm}G(x, \nabla d^{\pm})| \le r|d^{\pm}|.$$
(5.10)

Using (H1) and (5.3), we compute

$$\partial_t d^{\pm} + H(x, \nabla d^{\pm}) = \pm \varepsilon d^{\pm} + e^{\pm \varepsilon t} \partial_t d + H(x, e^{\pm \varepsilon t} \nabla d)$$
  
$$= \pm \varepsilon d^{\pm} + e^{\pm \varepsilon t} \{ \partial_t d + H(x, \nabla d) \}$$
  
$$= \pm \varepsilon d^{\pm} + e^{\pm \varepsilon t} \{ H(x, \nabla d) - H(x - d\nabla d, \nabla d) \}.$$
(5.11)

Finally, combining (5.10) and (5.11), we arrive at both (5.7) and (5.8). The assertions in the case  $r \leq \varepsilon$  are clear from (5.7) and (5.8).

In order to derive the estimates (1.6) by the comparison principle, we need to extend a local subsolution and supersolution  $d^{\pm}$  in Proposition 5.4 so that they are a subsolution and supersolution on the whole of  $\mathbf{R}^n \times (0, T)$ . To do this, we first study superdifferentials of a function which is written as the minimum of two functions.

**Lemma 5.5.** Let  $f_1, f_2 : \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}$  and define  $g(x) := \min\{f_1(x), f_2(x)\}$ . Let  $z \in \mathbf{R}^n$  be a point such that  $f_1(z) = f_2(z)$ . Assume that  $f_1, f_2 \in C^1$  near z. If  $p \in D^+g(z)$ , then  $p = \lambda \nabla f_1(z) + (1-\lambda) \nabla f_2(z)$  for some  $\lambda \in [0,1]$ .

*Proof.* 1. We first give the proof in the case  $f_2 \equiv 0$ . If p = 0, the assertion is obvious because we have  $p = \lambda \nabla f_1(z) + (1 - \lambda) \nabla f_2(z)$  with  $\lambda = 0$ . Assume  $p \neq 0$ . Take a corresponding test function  $\phi \in C^1(\mathbf{R}^n)$  for  $p \in D^+g(z)$  such that  $\phi(z) = 0$ . Since  $\nabla \phi(z) = p \neq 0$ , we may assume  $\partial_{x_n} \phi(z) > 0$  without loss of generality.

2. We claim

$$\partial_{x_n} f_1(z) \ge \partial_{x_n} \phi(z) \ (>0). \tag{5.12}$$

Let us write  $z = (z', z_n) \in \mathbf{R}^{n-1} \times \mathbf{R}$ . Since  $\partial_{x_n} \phi(z) > 0$ , we see that  $\phi(z', z_n - h) < 0$  for sufficiently small h > 0. Thus  $0 \ge (g - \phi)(z', z_n - h) > g(z', z_n - h)$ , which implies  $g(z', z_n - h) = f_1(z', z_n - h)$ . Now, we compute

$$\partial_{x_n} f_1(z) = \lim_{h \downarrow 0} \frac{f_1(z', z_n - h) - f_1(z)}{-h}$$
$$= \lim_{h \downarrow 0} \frac{g(z', z_n - h) - g(z)}{-h}$$
$$\ge \lim_{h \downarrow 0} \frac{\phi(z', z_n - h) - \phi(z)}{-h}$$
$$= \partial_{x_n} \phi(z).$$

We thus obtain (5.12).

3. By (5.12) the zero level sets  $\{f_1(x) = 0\}$  and  $\{\phi(x) = 0\}$  are written as the graphs of implicit functions on some open neighborhood U of z'. We represent  $\{f_1(x) = 0\}$  as  $x_n = h(x')$  and  $\{\phi(x) = 0\}$  as  $x_n = \psi(x')$ , where  $x' = (x_1, \ldots, x_{n-1}) \in U$ . We then have  $h \ge \psi$  on U. Indeed, if  $h(x') < \psi(x')$  for some  $x' \in U$ , we would have  $f_1(x', h(x')) = 0$  and  $\phi(x', h(x')) < \phi(x', \psi(x')) = 0$ . This is a contradiction to the fact that  $f_1 - \phi$  takes its maximum value 0 at z. Since  $h \ge \psi$  on U and  $h(z') = \psi(z')$ , we have

$$\nabla_{x'}h(z') = \nabla_{x'}\psi(z'). \tag{5.13}$$

The derivatives of implicit functions are given as

$$\nabla_{x'}h(z') = -\frac{\nabla_{x'}f_1(z)}{\partial_{x_n}f_1(z)}, \quad \nabla_{x'}\psi(z') = -\frac{\nabla_{x'}\phi(z)}{\partial_{x_n}\phi(z)}.$$
(5.14)

Substituting (5.14) for (5.13) and setting  $\lambda := \partial_{x_n} \phi(z) / \partial_{x_n} f_1(z)$ , we see

$$\nabla_{x'}\phi(z) = \frac{\partial_{x_n}\phi(z)}{\partial_{x_n}f_1(z)}\nabla_{x'}f_1(z) = \lambda\nabla_{x'}f_1(z).$$

By the definition of  $\lambda$  and (5.12), we also have  $\partial_{x_n}\phi(z) = \lambda \partial_{x_n}f_1(z)$  and  $0 < \lambda \leq 1$ . Thus the proof is complete when  $f_2 \equiv 0$ .

4. For a general  $f_2$  we study the function  $(g - f_2)(x) = \min\{(f_1 - f_2)(x), 0\}$ . Since  $p \in D^+g(z)$ , we have  $p - \nabla f_2(z) \in D^+(g - f_2)(z)$ . Thus the result in the case  $f_2 \equiv 0$  implies that there exists some  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$  such that  $p - \nabla f_2(z) = \lambda \nabla (f_1 - f_2)(z)$ , i.e.,  $p = \lambda \nabla f_1(z) + (1 - \lambda) \nabla f_2(z)$ . This is precisely the assertion of the lemma.

Using Lemma 5.5, we construct a global subsolution and supersolution of (1.3) which equal to  $d^+$  or  $d^-$  near the zero level set.

**Proposition 5.6** (Extension of sub- and supersolutions). Assume (SM), (H1), (H2) and (G1). Assume the same hypotheses of Proposition 5.4 concerning  $\varepsilon$  and a. Let  $c, L, M \in \mathbf{R}$  be positive constants such that

$$0 < c \leq \min\{a(\varepsilon), \ \delta\}, \quad L \geq c, \quad M \geq \frac{2\|G\|}{1 - \sigma e^{\varepsilon T}}, \quad M > \varepsilon.$$

Define  $d^{\pm}(x,t)$  as in (5.6) and

$$V(x,t) := \frac{3L}{c} e^{\|G\|t} d^+(x,t).$$

We further define

$$u^{+}(x,t) = \begin{cases} \min\left\{\max\{d^{+}(x,t), V(x,t) - L\}, Le^{\|G\|t}\right\} & \text{if } d(x,t) \ge 0, \\ \max\left\{d^{-}(x,t), -ce^{-Mt}\right\} & \text{if } d(x,t) < 0 \end{cases}$$
(5.15)

and

$$u^{-}(x,t) = \begin{cases} \min\left\{d^{-}(x,t), \ ce^{-Mt}\right\} & \text{if } d(x,t) \ge 0, \\ \max\left\{\min\{d^{+}(x,t), \ V(x,t) + L\}, \ -Le^{\|G\|t}\right\} & \text{if } d(x,t) < 0. \end{cases}$$
(5.16)

Then  $u^+$  and  $u^-$  are, respectively, a viscosity supersolution and a viscosity subsolution of (1.3) in  $\mathbb{R}^n \times (0,T)$ .



Figure 1: Definitions of  $u^+$  and  $u^-$ .

*Proof.* 1. We only prove that  $u^+$  and  $u^-$  are, respectively, a supersolution and a subsolution of (1.3) on  $\{d(x,t) \ge 0\}$ , because the same arguments work in  $\{d(x,t) < 0\}$ . On  $\{d(x,t) \ge 0\}$  we see that  $u^+$  and  $u^-$  are represented as follows:

$$u^{+}(x,t) = \begin{cases} d^{+}(x,t) & \text{if } 0 \leq d^{+}(x,t) \leq cL/(3Le^{||G||t} - c), \\ V(x,t) - L & \text{if } cL/(3Le^{||G||t} - c) \leq d^{+}(x,t) \leq c(1 + e^{-||G||t})/3, \\ Le^{||G||t} & \text{if } c(1 + e^{-||G||t})/3 \leq d^{+}(x,t) \end{cases}$$

and

$$u^{-}(x,t) = \begin{cases} d^{-}(x,t) & \text{if } 0 \leq d^{-}(x,t) \leq c e^{-Mt}, \\ c e^{-Mt} & \text{if } c e^{-Mt} \leq d^{-}(x,t). \end{cases}$$

(See also Figure 1.) When  $0 \le d^+(x,t) \le c(1+e^{-\|G\|t})/3$ , we have

$$0 \leq d(x,t) \leq \frac{c(1+e^{-\|G\|t})e^{-\varepsilon t}}{3} \leq \frac{2}{3}c \leq \frac{2}{3}\min\{a(\varepsilon), \delta\},$$

which implies that  $d^+$  is a supersolution of (1.3) on  $\{0 \leq d^+(x,t) \leq c(1 + e^{-\|G\|t})/3\}$ . Also, if  $0 \leq d^-(x,t) \leq ce^{-Mt}$ , then

$$0 \le d(x,t) \le c e^{(\varepsilon - M)t} < c \le \min\{a(\varepsilon), \ \delta\}$$

since  $M > \varepsilon$ . Thus  $d^-$  is a subsolution of (1.3) on  $\{0 \le d^-(x,t) \le ce^{-Mt}\}$ .

2. We prove that  $u^-$  is a viscosity subsolution of (1.3) in  $\{0 < d^-(x,t)\}$ . As we stated in Step 1,  $u(x,t) = d^-(x,t)$  is a subsolution in  $\{0 < d^-(x,t) < ce^{-Mt}\}$ . Also, since we have

$$M \ge \frac{2\|G\|}{1 - \sigma e^{\varepsilon T}} > 2\|G\| \ge \|G\|,$$

Lemma 3.6 guarantees that  $u(x,t) = ce^{-Mt}$  is a subsolution in  $\{ce^{-Mt} < d^{-}(x,t)\}$ . What is left is to show that  $u^{-}$  is a subsolution on  $\{d^{-}(x,t) = ce^{-Mt}\}$ .
Let  $(z,s) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T)$  be a point such that  $d^-(z,s) = ce^{-Ms} =: \alpha$ , and take any  $(p,\tau) \in D^+u^-(z,s)$ . Our goal is to show that

$$I := \tau + H(z, p) - \alpha G(z, p) \le 0.$$

We apply Lemma 5.5 to  $u^-$ . It then follows that

$$p = \lambda \nabla d^{-}(z, s) + (1 - \lambda) \nabla (ce^{-Mt})(z, s)$$
  
=  $\lambda \nabla d^{-}(z, s),$   
 $\tau = \lambda \partial_{t} d^{-}(z, s) + (1 - \lambda) \partial_{t} (ce^{-Mt})(z, s)$   
=  $\lambda \partial_{t} d^{-}(z, s) - M(1 - \lambda) \alpha$ 

for some  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ , and thus

$$\begin{split} I &= \lambda \partial_t d^- - M(1-\lambda)\alpha + H(z,\lambda \nabla d^-) - \alpha G(z,\lambda \nabla d^-) \\ &= \lambda \{\partial_t d^- + H(z,\nabla d^-)\} - \alpha G(z,\lambda \nabla d^-) - M(1-\lambda)\alpha \\ &\leq \lambda \alpha G(z,\nabla d^-) - \alpha G(z,\lambda \nabla d^-) - M(1-\lambda)\alpha. \end{split}$$

We now divide the situation into two different cases.

**Case 1**:  $|\lambda \nabla d^-(z,s)| \ge \sigma$ . In this case, we have  $G(z,\lambda \nabla d^-(z,s)) = G(z,\nabla d^-(z,s))$  by (G1). Thus

$$I/\alpha = \lambda G(z, \nabla d^{-}) - G(z, \nabla d^{-}) - M(1 - \lambda)$$
  
=  $(1 - \lambda) \{-G(z, \nabla d^{-}) - M\}.$ 

Recalling  $M \ge ||G||$ , we see that  $I \le 0$ .

**Case 2**:  $|\lambda \nabla d^{-}(z,s)| < \sigma$ . We first remark that

$$\lambda < \sigma / |\nabla d^{-}(z, s)| = \sigma e^{\varepsilon s} < \sigma e^{\varepsilon T}.$$

Using this estimate, we observe

$$I/\alpha \leq \lambda \|G\| + \|G\| - M(1 - \sigma e^{\varepsilon T}) \leq 2\|G\| - M(1 - \sigma e^{\varepsilon T})$$

The right-hand side is nonpositive by the choice of M, and therefore  $I \leq 0$ . As a result, we conclude that  $u^-$  is a subsolution in  $\{0 < d^-(x, t)\}$ .

3. We assert that  $u^-$  is a subsolution on  $\{d^-(x,t) = 0\}$ . Let us define  $\theta_1(r) = 0$  if  $r \ge 0$ ,  $\theta_1(r) = -Le^{\|G\|T}$  if r < 0 and

$$w_1(x,t) = (\theta_1 \circ w)(x,t) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } d^-(x,t) \ge 0, \\ -Le^{\|G\|T} & \text{if } d^-(x,t) < 0, \end{cases}$$

where w is the viscosity solution of (1.1) which appears in (II) at the beginning of this section. Since  $\theta_1$  is nondecreasing and upper semicontinuous, Theorem 3.4 implies that  $w_1$  is a viscosity subsolution of (1.1). We now fix a point  $(z,s) \in$  $\{d^-(x,t)=0\}$  and take  $(p,\tau) \in D^+u^-(z,s)$ . Then, since  $u^-(z,s) = w_1(z,s) = 0$ and  $w_1 \leq u^-$  in  $\mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T)$ , we see that  $(p,\tau) \in D^+w_1(z,s)$ . Therefore

$$\tau + H(z, p) \le 0 = u^{-}(z, s)G(z, p),$$

which shows our assertion.

4. We next prove that  $u^+$  is a viscosity supersolution of (1.3) in  $\{0 < d^+(x,t)\}$ . To do this, we first claim that

$$V_0(x,t) = K e^{\|G\|t} d^+(x,t) - \eta$$

is a supersolution of (1.3) on  $\{V_0(x,t) \ge 0\} \cap \{d(x,t) < c\}$  for all  $K \ge 1$  and  $\eta > 0$ . Fix  $(x,t) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T)$  such that  $V_0(x,t) \ge 0$  and d(x,t) < c. We then have  $|\nabla V_0| = Ke^{||G||t} |\nabla d^+| \ge |\nabla d^+| \ge 1$ , which yields  $G(x, \nabla V_0) = G(x, \nabla d^+)$  by (G1). Since  $d^+$  is a supersolution, we calculate

$$\partial_t V_0 + H(x, \nabla V_0) = K\{ \|G\| e^{\|G\| t} d^+ + e^{\|G\| t} \partial_t d^+ \} + H(x, K e^{\|G\| t} \nabla d^+)$$
  
=  $\|G\| (V_0 + \eta) + K e^{\|G\| t} \{ \partial_t d^+ + H(x, \nabla d^+) \}$   
 $\geq \|G\| (V_0 + \eta) + K e^{\|G\| t} d^+ G(x, \nabla d^+)$   
=  $(V_0 + \eta) \{ \|G\| + G(x, \nabla V_0) \}.$ 

Noting that  $||G|| + G \ge 0$  and  $V_0(x, t) \ge 0$ , we conclude

$$\partial_t V_0 + H(x, \nabla V_0) \ge V_0 \{ \|G\| + G(x, \nabla V_0) \} \ge V_0 G(x, \nabla V_0)$$

which shows our claim. Hereafter we choose K = 3L/c and  $\eta = L$ , so that  $V_0(x,t) = V(x,t) - L$ .

5. We shall show that  $u^+$  is a viscosity supersolution of (1.3) in  $\{0 < d^+(x,t)\}$ . Since we have already shown that  $d^+$ ,  $V_0$  and  $Le^{\|G\|t}$  are supersolutions, we only need to study  $u^+$  on  $\{d^+(x,t) = V_0(x,t)\}$  and  $\{V_0(x,t) = Le^{\|G\|t}\}$ .

On  $\{V_0(x,t) = Le^{\|G\|t}\}$  it is easily seen that subdifferentials  $D^-u^+$  are empty, and so  $u^+$  is a supersolution. (Applying Proposition 3.2 also shows that  $u^+$  is a supersolution on  $\{V_0(x,t) = Le^{\|G\|t}\}$  because  $u^+$  is written as the infimum of two supersolutions  $V_0$  and  $Le^{\|G\|t}$  near  $\{V_0(x,t) = Le^{\|G\|t}\}$ .)

We next let  $(z,s) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T)$  be a point such that  $d^+(z,s) = V_0(z,s) =: \beta$ , and take any  $(p,\tau) \in D^-u^+(z,s)$ . Our goal is to show that

$$J := \tau + H(z, p) - \beta G(z, p) \ge 0.$$

Similarly to the case of subsolutions in Step 2, Lemma 5.5 implies that there exists some  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$  such that

$$p = \lambda \nabla d^{+}(z,s) + (1-\lambda) \nabla V_{0}(z,s)$$
  
=  $\lambda \nabla d^{+}(z,s) + (1-\lambda) K e^{||G||s} \nabla d^{+}(z,s),$   
 $\tau = \lambda \partial_{t} d^{+}(z,s) + (1-\lambda) \partial_{t} V_{0}(z,s)$   
=  $\lambda \partial_{t} d^{+}(z,s) + (1-\lambda) \{ ||G|| (\beta + \eta) + K e^{||G||s} \partial_{t} d^{+}(z,s) \}.$ 

Set  $\lambda' := \lambda + (1 - \lambda) K e^{\|G\|s}$ . Then

$$p = \lambda' \nabla d^+(z, s),$$
  

$$\tau = \lambda' \partial_t d^+(z, s) + (1 - \lambda) \|G\|(\beta + \eta).$$

We also see  $\lambda' \ge \lambda + (1 - \lambda) = 1$ , which gives  $G(z, \lambda' \nabla d^+) = G(z, \nabla d^+)$ . We thus have

$$J = \lambda' \partial_t d^+ + (1 - \lambda) \|G\| (\beta + \eta) + H(z, \lambda' \nabla d^+) - \beta G(z, \lambda' \nabla d^+)$$
  
=  $\lambda' \{\partial_t d^+ + H(z, \nabla d^+)\} + (1 - \lambda) \|G\| (\beta + \eta) - \beta G(z, \nabla d^+)$   
\ge  $\lambda' \beta G(z, \nabla d^+) + (1 - \lambda) \|G\| (\beta + \eta) - \beta G(z, \nabla d^+)$   
=  $-(1 - \lambda') \beta G(z, \nabla d^+) + (1 - \lambda) \|G\| (\beta + \eta).$ 

The definition of  $\lambda'$  and  $\beta$  implies

$$-(1-\lambda')\beta = (1-\lambda)(Ke^{\|G\|s}\beta - \beta) = (1-\lambda)\eta,$$

and so we see

$$J \ge (1 - \lambda)\eta G(z, \nabla d^{+}) + (1 - \lambda) \|G\| (\beta + \eta)$$
  
=  $(1 - \lambda) [\eta \{G(z, \nabla d^{+}) + \|G\|\} + \beta \|G\|]$   
\ge 0.

6. Finally, in a similar way to Step 3, we see that  $u^+$  is a viscosity supersolution of (1.3) on  $\{d^+(x,t)=0\}$  by studying the composite function  $w_2 := \theta_2 \circ w$  with  $\theta_2$  defined by  $\theta_2(r) = Le^{\|G\|T}$  if r > 0,  $\theta_2(r) = 0$  if  $r \leq 0$ .

Remark 5.7. Define

$$\rho_0 := \min\left\{\frac{cLe^{-\varepsilon T}}{3Le^{\|G\|T} - c}, \ ce^{(\varepsilon - M)T}\right\}.$$
(5.17)

Then, by the definition of  $u^+$  and  $u^-$  we see

$$(u^{+}(x,t),u^{-}(x,t)) = \begin{cases} (e^{\varepsilon t}d(x,t),e^{-\varepsilon t}d(x,t)) & \text{if } 0 \leq d(x,t) \leq \rho_{0}, \\ (e^{-\varepsilon t}d(x,t),e^{\varepsilon t}d(x,t)) & \text{if } -\rho_{0} \leq d(x,t) \leq 0. \end{cases}$$
(5.18)

We are now in a position to state our main theorem. As the initial data  $u_0$ , we take a bounded and uniformly continuous function in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  which agrees with the signed distance function near  $\Gamma(0)$ . Namely, we assume that there exists some m > 0 such that

$$\begin{cases} u_0(x) = d_0(x) & \text{if } |d_0(x)| \le m, \\ u_0(x) \ge m & \text{if } d_0(x) > m, \\ u_0(x) \le m & \text{if } d_0(x) < -m, \end{cases}$$
(5.19)

where we set  $d_0(x) := d(x, 0)$ .

**Theorem 5.8** (Comparison with the signed distance function near the zero level set). Assume that the initial data  $u_0 \in BUC(\mathbf{R}^n)$  satisfies (5.19) for some m > 0. Assume (SM), (CP), (H1), (H2) and (G1). Let u be a viscosity solution of (1.3) with (1.2). Then for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists a positive constant  $\rho(\varepsilon) > 0$  such that

$$e^{-\varepsilon t}d(x,t) \leq u(x,t) \leq e^{\varepsilon t}d(x,t) \quad if \ 0 \leq d(x,t) \leq \rho(\varepsilon),$$
$$e^{\varepsilon t}d(x,t) \leq u(x,t) \leq e^{-\varepsilon t}d(x,t) \quad if \ -\rho(\varepsilon) \leq d(x,t) \leq 0.$$

*Proof.* Fix  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Since it suffices to show the theorem for small  $\varepsilon$ , we may assume that  $\varepsilon \leq -(\log \sigma)/T$ , where  $\sigma$  appears in (G1). We also choose a compact set  $K \subset \mathbf{R}^n$  so that  $\{|d(x,t)| < \delta\} \subset K$ , and then take the function a in (5.5). Here  $\delta$  is the constant in (SM). We define

$$c := \min\{\delta, \ a(\varepsilon), \ m\},\$$

$$L := \|u_0\| = \sup_{x \in \mathbf{R}^n} |u_0(x)|,\$$

$$M := \max\left\{\frac{2\|G\|}{1 - \sigma e^{\varepsilon T}}, \ \frac{3\varepsilon}{2}\right\},\$$

and let  $u^{\pm} : \mathbf{R}^n \times [0,T) \to \mathbf{R}$  be the functions in (5.15) and (5.16) with these constants. We then have

$$u^{-}(x,0) \le u_{0}(x) \le u^{+}(x,0)$$
 for all  $x \in \mathbf{R}^{n}$ . (5.20)

We shall prove (5.20) on  $\{d_0(x) \ge 0\}$ ; similar arguments work in  $\{d_0(x) < 0\}$ . Let  $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$  be a point such that  $d_0(x) \ge 0$ . We notice that

$$u^{+}(x,0) = \min\left\{\max\left\{d_{0}(x), \frac{3\|u_{0}\|}{c}d_{0}(x) - \|u_{0}\|\right\}, \|u_{0}\|\right\}, \\ u^{-}(x,0) = \min\left\{d_{0}(x), c\right\}$$

by definitions. When  $0 \leq d_0(x) \leq m$ , noting that  $u_0(x) = d_0(x)$  by (5.19), we compute

$$u^{+}(x,0) \ge \min \{ d_{0}(x), \|u_{0}\| \} = \min \{ u_{0}(x), \|u_{0}\| \} = u_{0}(x), u^{-}(x,0) \le \min \{ d_{0}(x), m \} = d_{0}(x) = u_{0}(x).$$

In the case where  $d_0(x) > m$ , we estimate

$$u^{+}(x,0) \ge \min\left\{\frac{3\|u_{0}\|}{c}d_{0}(x) - \|u_{0}\|, \|u_{0}\|\right\}$$
$$\ge \min\left\{2\|u_{0}\|, \|u_{0}\|\right\}$$
$$\ge u_{0}(x)$$

and

$$u^{-}(x,0) \le \min\{d_0(x), m\} = m \le u_0(x).$$

Therefore (5.20) is proved.

By (5.20) the comparison principle (Theorem 3.3) implies

$$u^{-}(x,t) \le u(x,t) \le u^{+}(x,t)$$
 for all  $(x,t) \in \mathbf{R}^{n} \times (0,T)$ . (5.21)

We set  $\rho(\varepsilon) := \rho_0$ , where  $\rho_0$  is the constant in (5.17) with c, L and M given as above. Finally, combing (5.18) and (5.21) gives the conclusion of the theorem.

*Remark* 5.9. In view of the proof we notice that the constant  $\rho(\varepsilon)$  also depends on T, ||G||,  $\sigma$ , a, m and  $||u_0||$ .

**Corollary 5.10.** Assume the same hypotheses of Theorem 5.8. Let  $(z,s) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T)$  be a point such that d(z,s) = 0.

(1) We have

$$\lim_{\substack{(x,t)\to(z,s)\\d(x,t)\neq 0}}\frac{u(x,t)}{d(x,t)} = 1.$$

(2) The solution u is differentiable at (z, s), and the derivatives are given as

 $\partial_t u(z,s) = \partial_t d(z,s), \quad \nabla u(z,s) = \nabla d(z,s).$ 

*Proof.* (1) For a fixed  $\varepsilon > 0$  we have

$$\frac{u(x,t)}{d(x,t)} \le \frac{e^{\varepsilon t}d(x,t)}{d(x,t)} = e^{\varepsilon t}$$

for all  $(x,t) \in \mathbf{R}^n \times (0,T)$  such that  $0 < |d(x,t)| \le \rho_0(\varepsilon)$ . Thus

$$\limsup_{\substack{(x,t)\to(z,s)\\d(x,t)\neq 0}}\frac{u(x,t)}{d(x,t)} \leq e^{\varepsilon s}.$$

Since  $\varepsilon$  is arbitrary, we see that

$$\limsup_{\substack{(x,t)\to(z,s)\\d(x,t)\neq 0}}\frac{u(x,t)}{d(x,t)} \le 1.$$

Similarly, we obtain

$$\liminf_{\substack{(x,t)\to(z,s)\\d(x,t)\neq 0}}\frac{u(x,t)}{d(x,t)} \ge 1.$$

and hence the assertion follows.

(2) We only give the proof for the time derivative since a similar argument applies to the spatial derivative. Fix  $\varepsilon > 0$  and let  $h \in \mathbf{R}$ . If |h| is sufficiently small, we have

$$\frac{u(z,s+h)-u(z,s)}{h} \leq \frac{e^{\varepsilon(s+h)}d(z,s+h)-e^{\varepsilon(s+h)}d(z,s)}{h},$$

which yields

$$\limsup_{h \to 0} \frac{u(z, s+h) - u(z, s)}{h} \le e^{\varepsilon s} \partial_t d(z, s).$$

The rest of the proof runs as in (1).

1	4	3
---	---	---

## References

- M. G. Crandall, H. Ishii, P. L. Lions, User's guide to viscosity solutions of second order partial differential equations, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 27 (1992), no. 1, 1–67.
- [2] Y. Giga, Surface evolution equations: A level set approach, Monographs in Mathematics, 99, Birkhauser Verlag, Basel, 2006, xii+264 pp.
- [3] M. Kimura, Geometry of hypersurfaces and moving hypersurfaces in R<sup>m</sup> for the study of moving boundary problems, Topics in mathematical modeling, 39–93, Jindřich Nečas Cent. Math. Model. Lect. Notes, 4, Matfyzpress, Prague, 2008.